LIST

A

O F

SUBSCRIBERS.

The QUEEN's Most Excellent MAJESTY. His Royal Highness the Duke of YOR K. His Royal Highness the Duke of GLOUCESTER.

A.

E A R L of Anglesey Earl of Aberdeen Duchefs of Argyle Countels of Albemarle Countels of Abercorn Lady Arundel Lady Mary Archer Lady Armitage Hon. Mils Archer Sir Stephen Anderfon, Bart. Sir Thomas Adams, Bart. Sir Jeffrey Amherft Lany Anderfon Mrs. Anderfon Thomas Ashby, Esq; William Armftrong, Efq; Latham Arnold, Efq; David Andre, Efq; James Pettit Andrews, Efq; Michael Adolphus, Efq; Charles Allix, Elq; Mr. Standby Alchorne William Hawkins Alfter Earl of Befborough

B.

Earl of Barrymore Lord Vifcount Barrington Lord Bingley Countefs of Buckinghamshire Lady Charlotte Burgoyne Lady Caroline Burdett Lady Frances Burgoyne Hon. Mrs. Bathurft Hon. Mrs. Brudenell Hon. Colonel Boyd Hon. Mrs. Bland. Duchefs Dowager of Beaufort Lord Blayney Vifcountefs Bolingbroke Sir Charles William Blount, Bart. Sir Henry Bridgeman, Bart. Lady Bridgeman Lord Viscount Beauchamp Lord Bellatye Lady Bellafye Lady Beaulieu Lady Jane Brydges Lady Mary Bowlby ****

Lady

A LIST OF SUBSCRIBERS.

General Burton Baron Behr Hon. Captain Bertie John Blake, Efg; George Barker, Efq; Rich. Henry Alexander Bennet, Efq; Wm. Matthew Burt, Efq; . George Blackquier, Elq; John Peter Blackquier, Efq; Richard Wilbraham Bootle, Efg; Patrick Blake, Elg; J. Boddington, Efg; Thomas Bradyll, Efq; Charles Burney, Efq; Ofmond Beauvoir, Efq; Charles Boone, Efg: ****

Captain Banks Captain Buchanan Captain Bethell Captain Brereton

Dr. Brockelfby Mrs. Bludworth Miß Blanchard Miß Burdett Mrs. Brodie ****

Governor Boone Com. Barely **** **** Mirs. Beaucannon

Mrs. Boyd Mrs. Bright

Captain Bremer Mifs Bowes Lieutenant Byam-

С.

Marquis of Carmarthen Marchionels of Carnarvon Earl of Carlifle Countels of Carlifle Countels of Cardigan Earl of Chefterfield Countels of Chefterfield Lord Vifcount Courtenay Vifcountels Courtenay Lord George Cavendifh Earl of Cardigan Countels of Cowper

Earl of Charlemont Lady Clive Earl of Corke Lord William Campbell Lord Vifcount Cunningham Lady Margaret Compton Earl of Cornwallis Lady Curzon Earl of Clanbraffil Lady Crofs Lady Cuft Lord Chedworth Lord Charles Cavendifh Lord Cardrofs Right Hon. Thomas Conolly, Efg; Hon. Colonel Muir-Campbell Hon. James Creffet, Efg; Hon. Miss Chudleigh Hon. John Chichefter, Efq; Sir Charles Coote, K. B. Captain St. John Chinnery Robert Cary, Elq; John Hart Cotton, Efg; John Clarke, Efg; Richard Clive, Elg; William Clayton, Efq; Patrick Crauford, Efg; Archibald Cochran, Efg; George Clarke, Efq; Grey Cowper, Efq; William Cartwright, Efg; John Croft, Efq; John Crauford, Efq; Charles Lewis Corant, Efq; Lewis Chauvel, Efq; William Coleman, Efq; * * * * * * * * * Elq; Philip Cade, Efq; William Challoner, Efg; James Comyn, Elq; Stephen Cottrcl, Esq;

Mrs. Caillaud General Carpenter Miß Claxton Captain Cowper

Captain Compton Captai n ornwall Mrs. Charlton Mrs. Conyers **** ****

Mrs. Crew Captain Clements

Charles

Chailes Crowle, Efq; John Chute, Efq; James Coutts, Efq; Richard Cox, Efq; Mrs. Clarke **** **** Mrs. Colby

D.

Duke of Devonshire Duke of Dorfet, dead Duke of Dorfet Earl of Donnegal Countefs of Donnegal Earl of Dunmore Earl of Denbigh Lady Drake Lady Charlotte Dundaís Lady Mary Douglas Lady Julian Dawkins Lady Delves Sir Samuel Duckenfield, Bart. Sir Lawrence Dundafs, Bart. Sir James M'Donald Sir Francis Blake Delaval, K. B. Hon. Captain Digby Mrs. Durell George Durant, Efq; Thomas Dundaís, Eíq; James Dewar, Efq; Colonel Dalling George Dudley, Efq; Major Deaken Lewis Devall, Elq; Peter Devall, Efq; John Devall, Efq; Henry Dagge, Efq;

Rowland Dace, Efq; John Douglas, Efq; Mrs. Degge

E.

Earl of Effingham Countels of Effingham Lord Edgecumbe Lady Edgecumbe Lord Elibank Lady Jane Edwards Mrs. Evelyn Captain Edwards Roger Hope Elleton, Efq; Lieut, General Ellifon

F.

Earl of Fife Countels Dowager of Ferrers Vifcountels Falmouth Vifcountels Folkeftone Lady Fawkener Dowager Vifcountels Fitzwilliams Countels of Fife Hon. Captain William Fielding Mrs. Frederick William Frafer, Efq; Henry Flitcroft, Efq; Richard Fitzpatrick, Efq; Brice Fifher, Efq; Coulfon Fellowes, Efq;

G.

Duke of Gordon Duchels of Gordon Lord William Gordon Lord George Gordon Lady Sufan Gordon Lady Ann Gordon Lady Catherine Gordon Duke of Grafton Marquis of Granby Earl of Gainfborough Earl of Guilford Earl of Godolphin, dead Lord Grofvenor Vifcountefs Grandifon Lady Berty Germain Lady Gould Lady Gooch Lady Gressly Right. Hon. George Grenville, Efq; Hon. Henry Grenville, Efq; Hon, William De Grey, Efq; Sir John Griffin Griffin, K. B. William Gardiner, Efq;

Andrew

A LIST OF SUBSCRIBERS.

Andrew Grote, Efq; Alexander Geddis, Efq; Daniel Giles, Efq; Charles Gordon, Efq; William Payne Georges, Efq; Jofeph Gulfton, Jun. Efq; William Gregory, Efq;

Mrs. Grant General Græme Miß Gore Mrs. Goodlad Mr. Gannand **** **** Captain Alan Gardner

H.

Duchefs of Hamilton Lord Archibald Hamilton Lord Spencer Hamilton Lady Anne Hamilton Earl of Holderness Countess of Holderness Earl of Hertford Countels of Hertford Viscountels Hinchinbroke Lady Holland Lady Frances Harper Lady Hervey Lady Honeywood H.n. Thomas Howard, Efq; Hon, Mrs. Harris Hon. M s. Howe Sir Lister Holte, Bart. Lady Holte John Hudson, Esq; Thomas Hall, Esq; Mrs. Harvey Robert Hucks, Efq; Edward Harman, Efq; Patrick Home, Efq; Robert Hayes, Elq; Nicholas Heath, Efq; Benjamin Hayes, Efq; Lieut. Gen. Howard Captain Heron Captain Harrifon Mrs. Hutchinfon Mrs. Hodges Captain Hopkins Captain Thomas Hervey

Captain Benjamin Hooke Mr. Herring Mrs. Henley Mrs. Hawley

I.

Earl of Ilchefter Hon. Capt. St. John Lady Ann Jekyll Sir John Johnson, Knt. Haughton James, Esq; John I'Anson, Esq; Rice James, Esq; Col. James Johnson

Captain Jekyll Mrs. Jeffreys

Κ.

Lord King Lady King Lord Vifcount Kilmoray Countefs of Kerry Lord Robert Ker Thomas Kent, Efq; Anthony James Keck, Efq; Captain Keith Captain King Mr. Kirkpatrick Mrs. Kennion

\mathbf{L}_{i}^{*}

Duke of Leeds Duchels Dowager of Leeds Lord Vilcount Ligonier Countels of Leicetter Lord Lauderdale Lady Mary Lowther Lady Lake Sir Herbert Lloyd, Bart. Sir Peter Leicetter, Bart. Sir Robert Lawley, Bart. Thomas Lucas, Efq; John Luther, Efq; Baker John Littlehales, Efq;

William

OF

William Ludlow, Efq; Jofeph Lucas, Efq; Henry Lyell, Efq; Thomas Lockwood, Efq; Governor Lawton General Lyman Hon. Colonel Ligonier Captain Langdon Captain Logie Captain Loring Captain Charles Leffie Mifs Lawes Mifs Lockwood

M.

Duke of Marlborough Duchefs of Marlborough Countefs of Montrath, dead Countefs of Maffarene Lord James Manners Lady Betty Montagu Lady Carolina Montagu Lady Monfon Lady Caroline Mackenzie Hon. Kenneth Mackenzie, Efq; Hon, Capt. Frederick Maitland Hon. Col. Montgomery Sir John Mordaunt, K. B. Sir John Major, Bart. Sir John Moore, Bart. Right Hon. Sir Wm. Mayne, Bart. Sir Joseph Mawby, Bart. Sir Francis Molineux, Bart. William Moorhead, Efq; dead Charles Morgan, Efq; Hugo Meynell, Efq; George Mackay, Efq; Paul Methuen, Efq; Owen Merrick, Efq; Horatio Mann, Efq; Arnold Mello, Efq; A. Mavil, Efq; Thomas Hutchins Medlycot, Efq; Peter Matthew Mills, Efq; Corbine Morris, Efq; John Monck, Elg; M. P. Morien, Efq; Herbert Mackworth, Efq; Thomas Mead, Efq;

SUBSCRIBERS.

Stephen John Maule, Efq; Mrs. Elizabeth Moyftou Mrs. Montgomery Monf. Mallet Mrs. Matthews Mrs. Manwaring Mrs. Merry Mrs. Ben. Matthew Captain Martin Lieut. Col. Hector Monro Colonel Mackay **** * ***

Colonel Mackenzie Captain Matthew Smith Mrs. Molineux

N:

Earl of Northumberland Countefs of Northumberland Vifcountefs Newnham Earl of Northefk Lord Newbattle Hon. Mrs. Nefbitt Arnold Nefbitt, Efq; Michael Newton, Efq; General Napier Dr. MacNamara Mrs. Nailor

0.

Earl of Orford Countefs Dowager of Oxford Lord Offery Hon. Mifs O'Hara J. Ralph Ocks, Efq; Captain Ofborn Captain Ourry

Ρ.

Lord Vifcount Palmerftone Earl of Pembroke Countefs of Pembroke

d

Lord

A LIST OF SUBSCRIBERS.

Lord Petre Lady Petre **Countefs** Powis Countefs of Pomfret Countels of Plymouth Lady Julian Penn Hon. Thomas Pelham, Eig; Sir George Pocock, K. B. Lord Pigot Hon. Thomas Pitt, Efg; Hon. George Pitt, Efq; R. Hon. Sir Rich. Phillips Hon. Mrs. Pitt Hon. Mifs Pelham Admiral Parry Admiral Pye John Purling, Efq; Ralph Payne, Efq; James Petty, Efq; Mofes Park, Efq; David Papillion, Efq; Major Gen. Peirfon. Lieut. Col. Robert Pigot Mad. la Baroness Viry de la Periere Mrs. Plunkett William Pitt, Efg; Mifs Powlett Mrs. Mary Pitt Mrs. Pratt Mrs. Pownall ****

Q.

Duke of Queensberry Hon. George Quarme, Esq;

R.

Duke of Roxborough Lord Viscount Russborough Marchioness of Rockingham Lady Charlotte Rich Lady Ranelagh Sir William Richardson Sir John Read, Bart. Hon. Thomas Robinson, Escaption, Dennis Rolle, Escaption William Richardson, Esq; Matthew Ridley, Esq; John Christopher Roberts, Esq; Colonel Reynolds Colonel Roy Colonel Ramsden

s.

Earl of Sandwich Earl of Shaftefbury Countefs of Shaftefbury Lord Robert Spencer Countels of Spencer Earl of Scarborough Countefs of Scarborough Countels of Suffex Lord George Sackville Earl of Strathmore Lady Sondes Lord Mount Stewart Lady Sufan Stewart Lady Jane Stewart Hon. Col. St. John Lady Lucy Strangewayes Lady Shaw Lady Catherine Stanhope, two Books Alderman Stephenion Mils Stephenson Philip Stephens, Efg; James Scawen, Efq; Herbert Sawyer, Efq; Joseph Smith, Esq; Lawrence Sullivan, Efq; George Lewis Scott, Elq; Edward Shepherd, Efq. William Sampfon, Efq; Harry Spencer, Efq; John Smith, Efg; Robert Scott, Efq; Samuel Swabey, Efq; Colonel Scott Colonel John Scott Captain Matthew Smith Mr. Smith Fane Wm. Sharpe, Efq; Mrs. Siddall Mr. Schutz **** **** Capt. Sawbridge

Charles

Charles Boothby Scrymfher, Efq; Powel Snell, Efq; Mrs. F. St. John Gen. Sandford John Shackleton, Efq;

Т.

Marquis of Taviftock Marchionels of Taviftock Earl of Temple Marchionefs of Tweedale Vifcountefs Townfhend Viscounters 'Forrington Countefs of Tryconnel Countefs of Tankerville Countels Talbot Sir Edward Turner, Bart. William Turner, Efq; Hen. St. George Darrel Trelawney, Efq; John Tucker, Eíq; Thomas Tracy, Eíq; Herbert Taylor, Eíq; J. Sigifmund Tanner, Eíq; Richard Townfhend, Eíq; Admiral Tyrrel Colonel Thomas Captain Talbot Mifs Sophia Tryon Mr. Townley Mrs. Thornton Mr. Tullie

Mr. Tullie Mr. Townfhend Mrs. Thomaffet Mifs Turnpenny

v.

Hon. Geo. Ven. Vernon, Eíq; Hon. Mifs Vanfittart Lady Vernon Lady Henrietta Vernon Lieutenant Vincent Governor Vanfittart

W.

Earl of Waldegrave Countefs Dowager of Waldegrave

Lady Wheate Lord Waltham Lady Warkworth Hon. Mrs. Welton Hon. Horatio Walpole Hon. Thomas Walpole Hon. Mrs. Walter Hon. Mifs Ifabella Wingfield Sir Cecil Wray, Bart. His Excellency Count Weldren Sir Rowland Wynne, Bart. Admiral Ward ***** Lieut. Colonel Warrender General Warburton Captain Wilkinfon Captain Andrew Wilkinfon Roll Walter, Efq; Daniel Walton, Efq; John Walter, Efq; Simon Wilfon, Efq; J. Williams, Efq; Thomas Wood, Efq; John Wentworth, Efq; Courtnay Williams, Efq; Daniel Wier, Efq; Thomas Wiggens, Efq; Mrs. Woollafton Mrs. Waller Mr. Winfloe Mr. Worthington Miss E. Williams Col. Woollafton Capt. Woollafton Mrs. Wyndham A. Wharton, Elq; Stephen Wright, Efq;

Ŷ.

Admiral Yonge Hon. Mrs. Yonge Lady Yonge



ТНЕ

ANALOGY OF RELIGION, Natural and Revealed,

ΤΟΤΗΕ

Conftitution and Course of NATURE.

To which are added

Two brief DISSERTATIONS:

I. Of PERSONAL IDENTITY.

II. Of the NATURE of VIRTUE.

ΒY

JOSEPH BUTLER, LL. D. Rector of Stanhope, in the Bifhoprick of Durham.

Ejus (Analogiæ) bæc vis est, ut id quod dubium est, ad aliquid simile de quo non quæritur, referat; ut incerta certis probet. Quint. Inst. Orat. L. I. c. vi.

LONDON:

Printed for JAMES, JOHN and PAULKNAPTON, at the Crown in Ludgate Street. MDCCXXXVI.



To the Right Honourable

CHARLES Lord TALBOT Baron of HENSOL,

Lord High Chancellor of GREAT BRITAIN,

The following TREATISE is, with all Refpect, Infcribed, in Acknowledgment of the Higheft Obligations to the late Lord Bifhop of DURHAM and to HIMSELF,

By His LORDSHIP's

most dutiful,

most devoted,

and most humble Servant,

(b)

2 10 de inglich 13 4 17.35

ISLUT ADD TO DO

period and a second sec

ADVERTISEMENT.

F the Reader fhould meet here with any thing, which he had not before attended to, it will not be in the Obfervations upon the Conflictution and Courfe of Nature, thefe being all obvious; but in the Application of them: In which, though there is nothing but what appears to me of fome real Weight, and therefore of great Importance; yet he will obferve feveral things, which will appear to him of very little, if he can think things to be of little Importance, which are of any real Weight at all, upon fuch a Subject as Religion. However, the proper Force of the following Treatife, lies in the whole general Analogy confidered together.

It is come, I know not how, to be taken for granted, by many Perfons, that Chriftianity is not fo much as a Subject of Inquiry; but that it is, now at (b 2) length,

A D V E R T I S E M E N T.

length, difcovered to be fictitious. And accordingly they treat it, as if, in the prefent Age, this were an agreed Point, among all People of Difcernment; and nothing remained, but to fet it up as a principal Subject of Mirth and Ridicule, as it were, by Way of Reprifals, for its having fo long interrupted the Pleafures of the World. On the contrary, thus much, at least, will be here found, not taken for granted, but proved, that any reafonable Man, who will thoroughly confider the Matter, may be as much affured, as he is of his own Being, that, however, it is not fo clear a Cafe, that there is nothing in it. There is, I think, ftrong Evidence of its Truth; but it is certain no one can, upon Principles of Reafon, be fatisfied of the contrary. And the practical Confequence to be drawn from this, is not attended to, by every one who is concerned in it.

May, 1736.

CON-

CONTENTS.

INTRODUCTION.Page jPART I.CHAP. I.Of a Future Life.11

CHAP. II.

Of the Government of God by Rewards and Punifiments; and particularly of the latter. 31

CHAP. III.

Of the Moral Government of God. 44

CHAP. IV.

Of a State of Probation, as implying Trial, Difficulties and Danger. 70

CHAP. V.

Of a State of Probation, as intended for moral Difcipline and Improvement. 79

CHAP.

CONTENTS.

CHAP. VI.

Of the Opinion of Necessity, considered as influencing Practice. Page 104

CHAP. VII.

Of the Government of God, confidered as a Scheme or Constitution, imperfectly comprehended. 121

Conclusion.

133

PART II. CHAP. I.

Of the Importance of Christianity. 141

CHAP. II.

Of the supposed Presumption against a Revelation, considered as miraculous. 161

CHAP. III.

Of our Incapacity of judging, what were to be expected in a Revelation; and the Credibility, from Analogy, that it must contain things appearing liable to Objections. 169

CHAP. IV.

Of Christianity, considered as a Scheme or Constitution, imperfectly comprehended. 185

CHAP.

CONTENTS.

CHAP. V.

Of the particular System of Christianity; the Appointment of a Mediator, and the Redemption of the World by him. 194

CHAP. VI.

Of the Want of Universality in Revelation; and of supposed Deficiency in the Proof of it. 215

CHAP. VII.

Of the particular Evidence for Christianity. 236

CHAP. VIII.

Of the Objections which may be made against arguing, from the Analogy of Nature, to Religion. 275

Conclusion.

DISSERT. I.

Of personal Identity.

DISSERT. II.

Of the Nature of Virtue.

p. Page 29 33 46 69 76 113 243	refers to Page $\begin{cases} $ 162, \&c. 167. \\ 171. \&c. \\ 125. \\ 113. \\ 113. \\ 203. \\ 314. \\ 1. 236. 272, \&c. \end{cases}$
---	---

THE

301

289

309

. .

Robable Evidence is effentially diftinguished from demonftrative by this, that it admits of Degrees; and of all Variety of them, from the higheft moral Certainty, to the very lowest Prefumption. We cannot indeed fay a thing is probably true upon one very flight Prefumption for it; becau e, as there may be Probabilities on both fides of a Queftion, there may be fome against it : and though there be not, yet a flight Prefumption does not beget that Degree of Conviction, which is implied in faying a thing is probably true. But that the flighteft poffible Prefumption, is of the nature of a Probability, appears from hence; that fuch low Prefumption often repeated, will amount even to moral Certainty. Thus a Man's having observed the Ebb and Flow of the Tide to Day, affords fome fort of Prefumption, though the loweft imaginable, that it may happen again to Morrow: But the observation of this Event for fo many Days, and Months, and Ages together, as it has been observed by Mankind, gives us a full affurance that it will.

B

(i)

That

That which chiefly conftitutes Probability is expressed in the Word Likely, i. e. like fome Truth , or true Event; like it, in itfelf, in its Evidence, in fome more or fewer of its Circumflances. For when we determine a thing to be probably true, fuppofe that an Event has or will come to pafs, 'tis from the Mind's remarking in it a Likeness to fome other Event, which we have observed has come to pass. And this observation forms. in numberless daily Instances, a Prefumption, Opinion, or full Conviction, that fuch Event has or will come to pafs; according as the obfervation is, that the like Event has fometimes, most commonly, or always fo far as our observation reaches, come to pass at like distances of Time, or Place, or upon like Occafions. Hence arifes the Belief, that a Child, if it lives twenty years, will grow up to the stature and strength of a Man; that Food will contribute to the prefervation of its Life, and the want of it for fuch a number of days, be its certain Destruction. So likewife the rule and meafure of our Hopes and Fears concerning the fuccefs of our Purfuits; our Expectations that Others will act fo and fo in fuch Circumstances; and our Judgment that fuch Actions proceed from fuch Principles; all Thefe rely upon our having observed the like to what we hope, fear, expect, judge, I fay upon our having obferved the like either with respect to Others or Ourselves. And thus, whereas the Prince b who had always lived in a warm Climate, naturally concluded in the way of Analogy, that there was no fuch thing as Water's becoming hard; becaufe he had always obferved it to be fluid and yielding: We on the contrary, from Analogy conclude, that there is no Prefumption at all against This: that 'tis supposeable, there may be Frost in England any given day in January next; probable that there will on fome day of the month; and that there is a moral Certainty, i. e. Ground for an expectation without any doubt of it, in fome part or other of the Winter.

^a Verifimile.

Probable

^b The Story is told by Mr. Lock in the Chapter of Probability.

Probable Evidence, in its very nature, affords but an imperfect kind of Information; and is to be confidered as relative only to Beings of limited Capacities. For nothing which is the poffible object of Knowledge, whether paft, prefent, or future, can be probable to an infinite Intelligence; fince it cannot but be differed abfolutely as it is in itfelf, certainly true, or certainly falfe: But to us, Probability is the very Guide of Life.

From these things it follows, that in Questions of Difficulty or fuch as are thought fo, where more fatisfactory Evidence cannot be had, or is not feen; if the refult of Examination be, that there appears upon the whole, any the lowest Prefumption on One fide, and none on the Other, or a greater Prefumption on One fide, though in the lowest Degree greater; this determines the Queflion, even in matters of Speculation; and in matters of Practice, will lay us under an abfolute and formal Obligation, in point of Prudence and of Intereft, to act upon that Prefumption or low Probability, though it be fo low as to leave the mind in very great Doubt which is the Truth. For furely a Man is as really bound in Prudence, to do what upon the whole appears, according to the beft of his Judgment, to be for his Happiness, as what he certainly knows to be fo. Nay further, in Questions of great confequence, a reasonable Man will think it concerns him to remark lower Probabilities and Prefumptions than these; such as amount to no more than fhowing One fide of a Queflion to be as fuppofeable and credible as the Other: nay fuch as but amount to much lefs even than this. For numberless Inftances might be mentioned respecting the common Pursuits of Life, where a Man would be thought, in a literal fense, distracted, who would not act, and with great application too, not only upon an even Chance, but upon much lefs, and where the Probability or Chance was greatly againft his fucceeding ^c.

See Chap, vi. Part II,

B 2

It is not my Defign to enquire further into the Nature, the Foundation, and Meafure of Probability; or whence it proceeds that Likene/s fhould beget that Prefumption, Opinion, and full Conviction, which the human Mind is formed to receive from it, and which it does neceffarily produce in every one; or to guard against the Errors to which, Reasoning from Analogy is liable. This belongs to the Subject of Logick; and is a part of that Subject which has not yet been thoroughly confidered. Indeed I shall not take upon me to fay, how far the Extent, Compass, and Force, of analogical Reasoning, can be reduced to general Heads and Rules; and the Whole be formed into a Syftem. But though fo little in this way has been attempted by those who have treated of our intellectual Powers, and the Exercife of them; this does not hinder but that we may be, as we unqueftionably are, affured, that Analogy is of weight, in various Degrees, towards determining our Judgment, and our Practice. Nor does it in any wife ceafe to be of weight in those cafes, becaufe Perfons either given to difpute, or who require things to be flated with greater Exactness than our Faculties appear to admit of in practical Matters, may find other Cafes in which 'tis not eafy to fay, whether it be, or be not, of any weight; or inftances of feeming Analogies which are really of none. It is enough to the prefent purpose to observe, that this general way of arguing is evidently natural, just and conclufive. For there is no Man can make a Queftion but that the Sun will rife to morrow, and be feen, where it is feen at all, in the Figure of a Circle, and not in that of a Square.

Hence, namely from analogical Reafoning, Origen ⁴ has with fingular Sagacity observed, that he who believes the Scripture to have proceeded from Him who is the Author of Nature, may well expect to find the fame fort of Difficulties in it, as are

found

iv

⁴ Χρή μέν τοι γε τον άπαζ παραδέζάμενον τε κτίσαντος τον κόσμιον ειναι ταύτας τὰς γραφάς πεπειως, ότι όσα περί της κτίσεως ἀπαντῷ τοῖς ζητέσι τὸν περί αὐτῆς λόγον, τῶυτα τὸ περί τῶν γραφῶν. Phil. p. 23. Ed. Cant.

found in the Conflitution of Nature. And in a like way of Reflexion it may be added, that he who denies the Scripture to have been from God upon account of these difficulties, may, for the very fame Reason, deny the World to have been formed by Him. On the other hand, if there be an Analogy or Likeness between the System of things, and Dispensation of Providence, which Revelation informs us of, and that System of Things and Dispensation of Providence, which Experience together with Reason informs us of, *i. e.* the known Course of Nature; this is a Prefumption, that they have both the fame Author and Cause; at least so answer objections against the former's being from God, drawn from any thing which is analogical or fimilar to what is in the latter, which is acknowledged to be from Him: for an Author of Nature is here solved.

Forming our Notions of the Conftitution and Government of the World upon Reafoning, without Foundation for the Principles which we allume, whether from the Attributes of God or any thing elfe; is building a World upon Hypothesis, like Da Cartes. Forming our Notions upon Reafoning from Principles which are certain, but applied to Cafes to which we have no ground to apply them, like those who explain the Structure of the human Body, and the Nature of all Difeafes and Medicines from mere Mathematicks; is an Error much a-kin to the former: fince what is affumed in order to make the Reafoning applicable, is Hypothesis. But it is allowed just, to join abstract Reafonings with the observation of Facts, and argue from fuch Facts as are known, to others that are like them; from that Part of the Divine Government over intelligent Creatures which comes under our view, to that larger and more general Government over them, which is beyond it; and from what is prefent, to collect, what is likely, credible, or not incredible, will be hereafter.

This method then of concluding and determining being practical, and what, if we will act at all, we cannot but act upon in the

the common Purfuits of Life; being evidently conclusive, in various Degrees, proportionable to the Degree and Exactnefs of the whole Analogy or Likeness; and having fo great Authority for introducing it into the Subject of Religion, even revealed Religion; my Design is to apply it to that Subject in general, both natural and revealed: taking for proved, that there is an intelligent Author of Nature, and natural Governor of the World. For as there is no Prefumption against This prior to the Proof of it: fo it has been often proved with accumulated Evidence; from this Argument of Analogy and final Causes; from abstract Reasonings; from the most ancient Tradition and Teftimony; and from the general Confent of Mankind. Nor does it appear, fo far as I can find, to be denied, by the Generality of those who profess themselves disfatisfied with the Evidence of Religion.

As there are Some, who, inftead of thus attending to what is in Fact the Constitution of Nature, form their notions of God's Government upon Hypothesis; fo there are Others, who indulge themfelves in vain and idle speculations, how the World might poffibly have been framed otherwife than it is; and upon fuppolition that things might, in imagining that they should, have been difposed and carried on after a better Model, than what appears in the prefent Disposition and Conduct of them. Suppose now a person of such a Turn of Mind, to go on with his Reveries, till he had at length fixt upon fome particular Plan of Nature, as appearing to him the beft. - One shall fcarce be thought guilty of Detraction against human Understanding, if one should fay, even beforehand, that the Plan which this speculative Perfon would fix upon, though he were the wifeft of the Sons of men, probably would not be the very beft, even according to his own Notions of best; whether he thought That to be fo, which afforded Occasions and Motives for the Exercife of the greatest Virtue, or which was productive of the greatest Happiness, or that These two were necessarily connected.

ed, and run up into one and the fame Plan. However, it may not be amifs once for all to fee, what would be the Amount of these Emendations and imaginary Improvements upon the System of Nature, or how far they would miflead us. And it feems there could be no ftopping, till we came to fome fuch Conclufions as thefe: That all Creatures should at first be made as perfect and as happy as they were capable of ever being: That nothing to be fure of Hazard or Danger should be put upon them to do; fome indolent Perfons would perhaps think nothing at all: Or certainly, that effectual care should be taken, that they fhould, whether neceffarily or not, yet eventually and in fact, always do what was Right and most conducive to Happinefs, which would be thought eafy for infinite Power to effect; either by not giving them any Principles which would endanger their going wrong; or by laying the right motive of Action in every inftance before their Minds continually in fo ftrong a manner, as would never fail of inducing them to act conformably to it: And that the whole method of Government by Punishments should be rejected, as abfurd; as an awkard round-about method of carrying things on; may as contrary to a principal Purpofe, for which it would be fuppofed Creatures were made, namely Happinefs.

Now without confidering what is to be faid in particular to the feveral Parts of this Train of Folly and Extravagance, what has been above intimated, is a full direct general Anfwer to it, namely, that we may fee before-hand that we have not Faculties for this kind of Speculation. For though it be admitted, that from the firft Principles of our Nature, we unavoidably judge or determine Some Ends to be abfolutely in themfelves preferable to Others, and that the Ends now mentioned, or if they run up into one, that this One is abfolutely the beft; and confequently that we must conclude the ultimate End defigned, in the Conftitution of Nature and Conduct of Providence, is the most Virtue and Happiness possible: Yet we are far from being

being able to judge, what particular Disposition of things, would be most friendly and affistant to Virtue, or what Means might be abfolutely neceffary to produce the most Happiness in a System of fuch Extent as our own World may be, taking in all that is past and to come; though we should suppose it detached from the whole of things. Indeed we are fo far from being able to judge of this; that we are not Judges what may be the necelfary means of raifing and conducting one Perfon to the higheft Perfection and Happiness of his Nature. Nay even in the little Affairs of the prefent Life, we find men of different Educations and Ranks are not competent Judges of the Conduct of each other. Our whole Nature leads us to afcribe all moral Perfection to God, and to deny all Imperfection of him. And this will for ever be a practical Proof of his moral Character. to fuch as will confider what a practical Proof is; becaufe it is the Voice of God fpeaking in us. And from hence we conclude, that Virtue must be the Happiness, and Vice the Mifery, of every Creature; and that Regularity and Order and Right cannot but prevail finally in a Universe under His Government. But we are in no fort Judges, what are the neceffary Means of accomplifying this End.

Let us then, inftead of that idle and not very innocent Employment of forming imaginary Models of a World, and Schemes of governing it, turn our Thoughts to what we experience to be the Conduct of Nature with respect to intelligent Creatures; which may be resolved into general Laws or Rules of Administration, in the same way as many of the Laws of Nature respecting inanimate Matter may be collected from Experiments. And let us compare the known Constitution and Course of Things, with what is faid to be the moral System of Nature; the acknowledged Dispensations of Providence, or that Government which we find ourselves under, with what Religion teaches us to believe and expect; and see whether they are not analogous and of a piece. And upon such a comparison, it

viij

it will I think be found, that they are very much fo; that both may be traced up to the fame general Laws, and refolved into the fame Principles of divine Conduct.

The Analogy here proposed to be confidered, is of pretty large Extent, and confists of feveral Parts; in Some, more, in Others, lefs, exact. In fome few inftances perhaps it may amount to a real practical Proof; in others not fo. Yet in these it is a Confirmation of what is proved other ways. It will undeniably show, what too many want to have showed them, that the System of Religion both natural and revealed, confidered only as a System, and prior to the Proof of it, is not a Subject of Ridicule, unless That of Nature be so too. And it will afford an Answer to almost all Objections against the System both of natural and revealed Religion; though not perhaps an Answer in so great a Degree, yet in a very confiderable Degree an Answer, to the Objections against the Evidence of it: For Objections against a Proof, and Objections against what is faid to be proved, the Reader will observe are different things.

Now the divine Government of the World, implied in the Notion of Religion in general and of Chriftianity, contains in it; That Mankind is appointed to live in a future State^c; That There, every one fhall be rewarded or punifhed ^f; rewarded or punifhed refpectively for all that Behaviour Here, which we comprehend under the Words Virtuous or Vitious, morally good or evil⁵: That our prefent Life is a Probation, a State of Trial^h, and of Difciplineⁱ, for that future one; Notwithftanding the Objections, which men may fancy they have, from Notions of Neceffity, againft there being any fuch moral Plan as this at all^k; And whatever Objections may appear to lie againft the Wifdom and Goodnefs of it, as it ftands fo imperfectly made known to us at prefent¹: That this World being in a State of Apoftacy and Wickednefs, and confequently of Ruin, and the Senfe both of their Condition and Duty being fo

• Ch. i. ^f Chap. ii. ^g Ch. iii. ^b Ch. iv. ¹ Ch. v. ^k Ch. vi. ¹ Ch. vii. C greatly

greatly corrupted amongst Men, this gave occasion for an additional Dispensation of Providence; of the utmost Importance m; proved by Miraclesⁿ; but containing in it many things appearing to us ftrange and not to have been expected °; a Dispensation of Providence, which is a Scheme or System of things P; carried on by the Mediation of a divine Perfon, the Mefliah, in order to the Recovery of the World 9; yet not revealed to all Men, nor proved with the ftrongest possible Evidence to all those to whom it is revealed; but only to fuch a Part of Mankind, and with fuch particular Evidence as the Wifdom of God thought fit ". The Defign then of the following Treatife will be to fhew, that the feveral Parts principally objected against in this Moral and Christian Dispensation, including its Scheme, its Publication, and the Proof which God has afforded us of its Truth; that the particular Parts principally objected against in this whole Difpenfation, are analogous to what is experienced in the Conflitution and Courfe of Nature, or Providence; that the chief Objections themfelves which are alledged against the former, are no other, than what may be alledged with like Juftnefs against the latter, where they are found in Fact to be inconclusive; and that this Argument from Analogy is in general, unanfwerable, undoubtedly of Weight, and very material on the fide of Religion^f, notwithstanding the Objections which may feem to lie against it, and the real Ground which there may be, for Difference of Opinion, as to the particular Degree of Weight which is to be laid upon it. This is a general Account of what may be looked for in the following Treatife. And I shall begin it with That which is the Foundation of all our Hopes and of all our Fears; all our Hopes and Fears, which are of any Confideration; I mean a future Life.

Part II. Ch. i. ⁿ Ch. ii ^o Ch. iii. ^p Ch. iv. ^g Ch. v. ^r Ch. vi, vii. ^f Ch. viii.

THE

(11)

THE ANALOGY OF RELIGION TOTHE

Conftitution and Course of NATURE.

PART I.

Of NATURAL RELIGION.

CHAP. I.

Of a Future Life.

TRANGE Difficulties have been raifed by fome con-CHAP. cerning perfonal Identity, or the Samenefs of living Agents, implied in the Notion of our exifting Now and Hereafter, or in any two fucceflive Moments; which whoever C 2 thinks

PART thinks it worth while, may fee confidered in the first Differta-I. tion at the End of this Treatife. But without Regard to any of them here, let us confider what the Analogy of Nature, and the feveral Changes which we have undergone, and those which we know we may undergo without being destroyed, suggest, as to the Effect which Death may, or may not have upon us; and whether it be not from thence probable, that we may furvive this Change, and exist in a future State of Life and Perception.

> I. From our being born into the prefent World in the helplefs imperfect State of Infancy, and having arrived from thence to mature Age, we find it to be a general Law of Nature in our own Species, that the fame Creatures, the fame Individuals, should exist in Degrees of Life and Perception, with Capacities of Action, of Enjoyment and Suffering, in one Period of their Being, greatly different from those appointed them in another Period of it. And in other Creatures the fame Law holds. For the Difference of their Capacities and States of Life at their Birth, to go no higher, and in Maturity; the Change of Worms into Flies, and the vaft Enlargement of their locomotive Powers by fuch Change: and Birds and Infects burfting the Shell their Habitation, and by this means entring into a new World, furnished with new Accommodations for them, and finding a new Sphere of Action affigned them; thefe are Instances of this general Law of Nature. And all the various and wonderful Transformations of Animals are to be taken into Confideration here. But the States of Life in which we ourfelves exifted formerly in the Womb and in our Infancy, are almost as different from our prefent in mature age, as it is possible to conceive any two States or Degrees of Life can be. Therefore, that we are to exist hereafter in a State as different suppose from our present, as This is from our former, is but according to the Analogy of Nature; according to a natural Order or Appointment of the very fame Kind with what we save already experienced. II. We

II. We know we are endued with Capacities of Action, of C H A P. Happiness and Milery; for we are confcious of acting, of injoy- \sim ing Pleafure and fuffering Pain. Now that we have thefe Powers and Capacities before Death, is a Prefumption that we shall retain them through and after Death; indeed a Probability of it abundantly fufficient to act upon, unlefs there be fome pofitive Reafon to think that Death is the Deftruction of those living Powers: Becaufe there is in every Cafe a Probability, that all things will continue as we experience they are, in all Refpects, except those in which we have some Reason to think they will be altered. This is that Kind a of Prefumption or Probability from Analogy, express'd in the very word Continuance, which feems our only natural Reafon for believing the Courfe of the World will continue to morrow, as it has done fo far as our Experience or Knowledge of Hiftory can carry us back. Nay it feems our only Reafon for believing, that any one Substance now exifting, will continue to exift a Moment longer ; the Self-exiftent Substance only excepted. Thus if Men were affured that the unknown Event, Death, was not the Destruction of our Faculties of Perception and of Action, there would be no Apprehenfion, that any other Power or Event unconnected with this of Death, would destroy these Faculties just at the instant of each Creature's Death; and therefore no doubt but that they would remain after it: which shows the high Probability that our living Powers will continue after Death, unlefs there be fome Ground to think that Death is their Destruction^b. For, if

^b Defruction of living Powers, is a manner of Expression unavoidably ambiguous; and may signify either, the Destruction of a living Being, so as that the same living Being shall be uncapable of ever perceiving or acting again at all: Or the Destruction of those Means and Instruments by which it is capable of its present Life, of its present State of Perception and of Action. It is here used in the former Sense. When it is used in the latter, the Epithet present

^a I fay *Kind* of Prefumption or Probability; for I do not mean to affirm that there is the fame *Degree* of Conviction, that our living Powers will continue after Death, as there is, that our Subfrances will.

PART if it would be in a manner certain that we fhould furvive Death;
 I. provided it were certain that Death would not be our Deftruction, it must be highly probable we fhall furvive it, if there be no Ground to think Death will be our Deftruction.

14

Now though I think it must be acknowledged, that prior to the natural and moral Proofs of a future Life commonly infisted upon, there would arife a general confused Suspicion, that in the great Shock and Alteration which we shall undergo by Death, We, *i. e.* our living Powers, might be wholly destroyed; yet even prior to those Proofs, there is really no particular distinct Ground or Reason for this Apprehension at all, fo far as I can find. If there be, it must arife either, from the Reafon of the thing, or from the Analogy of Nature.

But we cannot argue from the Reafon of the thing, that Death is the Deftruction of living Agents, becaufe we know not at all what Death is in itfelf; but only fome of its Effects, fuch as the Diffolution of Flefh, Skin, and Bones. And thefe Effects do in no wife appear to imply the Deftruction of a living Agent. And befides, as we are greatly in the Dark, upon what the Exercife of our living Powers depends, fo we are wholly ignorant what the Powers themfelves depend upon; the Powers themfelves as diftinguifhed, not only from their actual Exercife, but alfo from the prefent Capacity of exercifing them; and as oppofed to their Deftruction: For Sleep, or however a Swoon, fhews us, not only that thefe Powers exift when they are not exercifed, as the paffive Power of Motion does in inanimate Matter; but fhews alfo that they exift, when there is no prefent

Capacity

prefent is added. The Lofs of a Man's Eye, is a Deftruction of living Powers in the latter Senfe. But we have no Reafon to think the Deftruction of living Powers, in the former Senfe, to be poffible. We have no more Reafon to think a Being endued with living Powers, ever lofes them during its whole Existence, than to believe that a Stone ever acquires them.

Capacity of exercifing them: or that the Capacities of exerci- C H A P. fing them for the prefent, as well as the actual Exercise of Ś them, may be fuspended, and yet the Powers themselves remain undeftroyed. Since then we know not at all upon what the Existence of our living Powers depends, this shews further, there can no Probability be collected from the Reafon of the thing, that Death will be their Destruction: because their Existence may depend, upon fomewhat in no Degree affected by Death; upon fomewhat quite out of the reach of this King of Terrors. So that there is nothing more certain, than that the Reafon of the thing flews us no Connection between Death, and the Deftruction of living Agents. Nor can we find any thing throughout the whole Analogy of Nature, to afford us even the flighteft Prefumption, that Animals ever lofe their living Powers; much lefs, if it were possible, that they lose them by Death: for we have no Faculties wherewith to trace any beyond or through it, fo as to fee what becomes of them. This Event removes them from our View. It deftroys the fenfible Proof, which we had before their Death, of their being poffeffed of living Powers, but does not appear to afford the least Reason to believe that they are, then, or by that Event, deprived of them.

And our knowing, that they were poffeffed of these Powers, up to the very Period to which we have Faculties capable of tracing them, is itself a Probability of their retaining them, beyond it. And this is confirmed, and a fensible Credibility is given to it, by observing the very great and aftonishing Changes which we have experienced; fo great, that our Existence in another State of Life, of Perception and of Action, will be but according to a Method of providential Conduct, the like to which, has been already exercised even with regard to Ourfelves; according to a Course of Nature, the like to which, we have already gone through,

However

15

PART However as one cannot but be greatly fenfible, how difficult I. it is to filence Imagination enough to make the Voice of Reafon even diffinctly heard in this Cafe; as we are accuftomed, from our Youth up, to indulge that forward delufive Faculty, ever obtruding beyond its Sphere; of fome Affiftance indeed to Apprehenfion, but the Author of all Error: As we plainly lofe Ourfelves in groß and crude Conceptions of things, taking for granted that we are acquainted with, what indeed we are wholly ignorant of; it may be proper to confider the imaginary Prefumptions, that Death will be our Deftruction, arifing from thefe Kinds of early and lafting Prejudices; and to fhew how little they can really amount to, even though we cannot wholly deveft Ourfelves of Them. And,

> I. All Prefumption of Death's being the Deftruction of living Beings, must go upon supposition that they are compounded and fo difcerptible. But fince Confciousness is a fingle and indivisible Power, it should feem that the Subject in which it refides, must be fo too. For were the Motion of any Particle of Matter absolutely one and indivisible, fo as that it should imply a Contradiction to fuppose Part of this Motion to exist, and Part not to exist, i. e. Part of this Matter to move, and Part to be at reft; then its Power of Motion would be indivisible; and fo alfo would the Subject in which the Power inheres, namely the Particle of Matter : for if this could be divided into two, one Part might be moved and the other at reft, which is contrary to the Supposition. In like manner it has been argued, and, for any thing appearing to the contrary, juftly, that fince the Perception or Confcioufnefs, which we have of our own Exiftence, is indivisible, so as that it is a Contradiction to suppose one Part of it should be here and the other there, the perceptive Power, or the Power of Confcioufnefs, is indivisible too, and confequently the

Subject

See Dr. Clarke's Letter to Mr. Dedwell, and the Defences of it.

Subject in which it refides, i. e. the confcious Being. Now C H A P. upon Supposition That living Agent each Man calls himfelf, is 1. thus a fingle Being, which there is at leaft no more Difficulty $\sim\sim\sim$ in conceiving than in conceiving it to be a Compound, and of which there is the Proof now mentioned, it follows, that our organized Bodies are no more ourfelves or Part of ourfelves than any other Matter around us. And it is as eafy to conceive, how Matter, which is no part of ourfelves, may be appropriated to us in the manner which our prefent Bodies are; as how we can receive Imprefions from, and have power over any Matter. It is as eafy to conceive, that we may exift out of Bodies as in them: and that we might have animated Bodies of any other Organs and Senfes wholly different from thefe now given us; that we may hereafter animate these fame or new Bodies variously modified and organized; as to conceive how we can animate fuch Bodies as our prefent. And laftly, the Diffolution of all these feveral organized Bodies, supposing ourfelves to have fucceffively animated them, would have no more conceivable Tendency to deftroy the living Beings Ourfelves, or deprive us of living Faculties, the Faculties of Perception and of Action; than the Diffolution of any foreign Matter, which we are capable of receiving Impressions from, and making use of for the common Occasions of Life.

II. The Simplicity and abfolute Onenefs of a living Agent cannot, from the Nature of the thing, be properly proved by experimental Obfervations: But as thefe *fall in* with the Suppofition of its Unity, fo they plainly lead us to *conclude* certainly, that our groß organized Bodies, with which we perceive the Objects of Senfe, and with which we act, are no Part of ourfelves; and therefore flow us, that we have no reafon to believe Their Deftruction to be Ours: even without determining whether our living Subftances be material or immaterial. For we fee by Experience, that Men may lofe their Limbs, D

PART their Organs of Senfe, and even the greatest Part of these Bodies, and yet remain the fame living Agents. And Perfons cantrace up the Existence of themselves to a Time, when the Bulk of their Bodies was extremely fmall, in comparison of what it is in mature Age: and we cannot but think, that they might then have loft a confiderable Part of that fmall Body, and yet have remained the fame living Agents; as they may now lofe great Part of their prefent Body and remain fo. And it is: certain, that the Bodies of all Animals are in a constant Flux, from that never-ceasing Attrition which there is in every Part of them. Now Things of this Kind unavoidably teach us to: diftinguish, between these living Agents Ourselves, and large Quantities of Matter, in which we are very nearly interested; fince thefe may be alienated, and actually are in a daily Courfe. of Succeffion, and changing their Owners, whilst we are affured, that each living Agent remains one and the fame permanent living Being^d. And this general Obfervation leads us on to the: following ones.

> Firft, That we have no way of determining by Experience, what is the certain Bulk of the living Being each man calls himfelf: and yet, till it be determined that it is larger in Bulk than the folid elimentary Particles of Matter, which there is no Ground to think any known Power in Nature can diffolve, there is no fort of Reafon to think Death to be the Diffolution of it, of the living Being, even though it fhould not be abfolutely indifcerptible.

> Secondly, From our being fo nearly related to and interefted in certain Systems of Matter, suppose our Flesh and Bones, and afterwards ceasing to be at all related to them, the living Agents ourselves remaining all this while undestroyed notwithstanding such Alienation; and consequently these Systems of Mat-

^d See Differtation 1.

18

ter not being Ourfelves: it follows further, that we have no C H A P. Ground to conclude any other, fuppose internal Systems of Matter, to be the living 'Agents Ourfelves; becaufe we can have no Ground to conclude This, but from our Relation to and Intereft in fuch other Systems of Matter: and therefore we can have no Reafon to conclude, what befalls those Systems of Matter at Death, to be the Destruction of the living Agents. We have already feveral Times over loft a great Part or perhaps the whole of our Body, according to certain common established Laws of Nature; yet we remain the fame living Agents: When we shall lofe as great a Part, or the whole by another common established Law of Nature, Death; why may we not alfo remain the fame? That the Alienation has been gradual in one Cafe, and in the other will be more at once, does not prove any thing to the contrary. We have paffed undeftroyed through those many and great Revolutions of Matter, fo peculiarly appropriated to us ourfelves; why fhould we imagine Death will be fo fatal to us? Nor can it be objected, that what is thus alienated or loft, is no Part of our original folid Body, but only adventitious Matter; becaufe we may lofe intire Limbs, which must have contained many folid Parts and Veffels of the original Body: or if this be not admitted, we have no Proof, that any of these folid Parts are diffolved or alienated by Death. Though, by the way, we are very nearly related to that extraneous or adventitious Matter, whilft it continues united to and diffending the feveral Parts of our folid Body. But after all; the Relation a Perfon bears to those Parts of his Body, to which he is the most nearly related; what does it appear to amount to but this, that the living Agent, and those Parts of the Body, mutually affect each other? And the fame thing, the fame thing in Kind though not in Degree, may be faid of all foreign Matter, which gives us Ideas, and which we have any Power over. From these observations the whole Ground of the Imagination is removed, that the Diffolution of

апу

PART any Matter, is the Deftruction of a living Agent, from the In-I. tereft he once had in fuch Matter.

20

Thirdly, If we confider our Body fomewhat more diffinctly, as made up of Organs and Instruments of Perception and of Motion, it will bring us to the fame Conclusion. Thus the common optical Experiments show, and even the Observation how Sight is affisted by Glaffes shows, that we fee with our Eyes in the fame Senfe as we fee with Glaffes. Nor is there any Reafon to believe, that we fee with them in any other Senfe; any other, I mean, which would lead us to think the Eye itfelf a Percipient. The like is to be faid of Hearing: and our Feeling distant folid Matter by means of somewhat in our Hand, seems an Inftance of the like Kind, as to the Subject we are confidering. All these are Instances of foreign Matter, or such as is no Part of our Body, being inftrumental in preparing objects for, and conveying them to, the perceiving Power, in a Manner fimilar or like to the Manner, in which our Organs of Senfe prepare and convey them. Both are in a like way Inftruments of our receiving fuch Ideas from external Objects, as the Author of Nature appointed those external Objects to be the Occafions of exciting in us. However Glaffes are evidently Instances of this, namely of Matter which is no Part of our Body, preparing Objects for and conveying them towards the perceiving Power, in like Manner as our bodily Organs do. And if we fee with our Eyes only in the fame manner as we do with Glaffes, the like may justly be concluded, from Analogy, of all our other Senfes. It is not intended, by any thing here faid. to affirm, that the whole Apparatus of Vision, or of Perception by any other of our Senfes, can be traced, through all its Steps, quite up to the living Power of feeing, or perceiving: But that fo far as it can be traced by experimental Obfervations, fo far it appears, that our Organs of Sense prepare and convey on Objects, in order to their being perceived, in like manner as foreign. reign Matter does, without affording any Shadow of Appear- C H A Fance, that they themfelves perceive. And that we have no Reafon to think our Organs of Senfe Percipients, is confirmed by Inftances of Perfons lofing fome of them, the living Beings Themfelves, their former Occupiers, remaining unimpaired. It is confirmed alfo by the Experience of Dreams, by which we find we are at prefent poffeffed of a latent, and, what would be otherwife, an unimagined unknown Power of perceiving fenfible Objects, in as ftrong and lively a Manner without our external Organs of Senfe as with them.

So alfo with regard to our Power of moving, or directing Motion by Will and Choice; upon the Deftruction of a Limb, this active Power remains, as it evidently feems, unleffened, fo as that the living Being, who has fuffered this Lofs, would be capable of moving as before, if it had another Limb to move with. It can walk by the help of an artificial Leg; just as it can make use of a Pole or a Leaver, to reach towards itfelf and to move Things, beyond the Length and the Power of its natural Arm: And this last it does in the fame Manner as it reaches and moves, with its natural Arm, Things nearer and of lefs weight. Nor is there fo much as any Appearance of our Limbs being endued with a Power of moving or directing themfelves; though they are adapted, like the feveral Parts of a Machine, to be the Inftruments of Motion to each other; and fome Parts of the fame Limb, to be Inftruments of Motion to other Parts of it.

Thus a Man determines, that he will look at fuch an Object through a Microfcope; or being lame fuppofe, that he will walk to fuch a Place with a Staff a Week hence. His Eyes and his Feet no more determine in these Cases, than the Microfcope and the Staff. Nor is there any Ground to think they any more put the Determination in Practice; or that his Eyes are the

PART the Seers or his Feet the Movers, in any other than in fuch a Senfe I. as the Microfcope and the Staff are. Upon the whole then, our Organs of Senfe and our Limbs are certainly Inftruments, which the living Perfons ourfelves make ufe of to perceive and move with: There is not any Probability, that they are any more; nor confequently, that we have any other Kind of Relation to them, than what we may have to any other foreign Matter formed into Inftruments of Perception and Motion, fuppofe into a Microfcope or a Staff; I fay any other Kind of Relation, for I am not fpeaking of the Degree of it: nor confequently is there any Probability, that the Alienation or Diffolution of thefe Inftruments is the Deftruction of the perceiving and moving Agent.

> And thus our finding, that the Diffolution of Matter, in which living Beings were most nearly interested, is not their Diffolution, and that the Destruction of several of the Organs and Instruments of Perception and of Motion belonging to them, is not their Destruction; shows demonstratively, that there is no Ground to think that the Diffolution of any other Matter, or Destruction of any other Organs and Instruments, will be the Diffolution or Destruction of living Agents, from the like Kind of Relation: and we have no Reason to think we stand in any other Kind of Relation to any thing which we find diffolved by Death.

> But it is faid these Observations are equally applicable to Brutes; and 'tis thought an insuperable Difficulty that they should be immortal, and by consequence capable of everlasting Happiness. Now this Manner of Expression is both invidious and weak; but the thing intended by it, is really no Difficulty at all, either in the way of natural or moral Confideration. For 1/t. Suppose the invidious thing designed in such a manner of Expression, were really implied, as it is not in the least, in

in the natural Immortality of Brutes, namely, that they must C H A P: arrive at great Attainments, and become rational and moral Ι. Agents; even this would be no Difficulty: fince we know not what latent Powers and Capacities they may be endued with. There was once, prior to Experience, as great Prefumption against human Creatures, as there is against the brute Creatures, arriving at that Degree of Understanding, which we have in mature Age. For we can trace up our own Existence to the fame Original with Theirs. And we find it to be a general Law of Nature, that Creatures endued with Capacities of Virtue and Religion, should be placed in a Condition of Being, in which they are altogether without the use of Them, for a confiderable Length of their Duration; as in Infancy and Childhood. And great Part of Mankind go. out of the prefent World, before they come to the Exercife of these Capacities in any Degree at all. But then 2dly. The natural Immortality of Brutes, does not in the leaft imply, that they are endued with any latent Capacities of a rational or moral Nature. And the Oeconomy of the Universe might require; that there should be living Creatures without any Capacities of this Kind. And all Difficulties as to the manner how they are to be disposed of, are so apparently and wholly founded in our Ignorance, that 'tis wonderful they should be infisted upon by any, but such as are weak enough to think they are acquainted with the whole Syftem of Things. There is then abfolutely nothing at all in this Objection, which is fo rhetorically urged, against the greateft Part of the natural Proofs or Prefumptions of the Immortality of human Minds: I fay the greatest Part; for 'tis. lefs applicable to the following Obfervation, which is more peculiar to Mankind :.

III. That as 'tis evident our *present* Powers and Capacities of Reason, Memory, and Affection, do not depend upon our gross 3

 PART Bodies in the Manner in which Perception by our Organs of Senfe does; fo they do not appear to depend upon it at all in any fuch Manner, as to give Ground to think, that the Diffolution of this Body, will be the Deftruction of these our prefent Powers of Reflection, as it will of our Powers of Senfation; or to give Ground to conclude, even that it will be fo much as a Suspension of the former.

24

Human Creatures exist at present in two States of Life and Perception, greatly different from each other; each of which has its own peculiar Laws, and its own peculiar Enjoyments and Sufferings. When any of our Senfes are affected or Appetites gratified with the Objects of Them, we may be faid to exift or live in a State of Senfation. When none of our Senfes are affected or Appetites gratified, and yet we perceive and reafon and act; we may be faid to exift or live in a State of Reflection. Now it is by no means certain, that any thing which is diffolved by Death, is any way neceffary to the living Being in this its State of Reflection, after Ideas are gained. For, though from our prefent Constitution and Condition of Being, our external Organs of Senfe are necessary for conveying in Ideas to our reflecting Powers, as Carriages and Leavers and Scaffolds are in Architecture: yet when thefe Ideas are brought in, we are capable of reflecting in the most intense Degree, and of enjoying the greatest Pleasure and feeling the greatest Pain by Means of that Reflection, without any Afliftance from our Senfes; and without any at all, which we know of, from that Body which will be diffolved by Death. It does not appear then, that the Relation of this grofs Body to the reflecting Being, is, in any Degree, neceffary to Thinking; to our intellectual Enjoyments or Sufferings: nor confequently, that the Diffolution or Alienation of the former by Death, will be the Destruction of those prefent Powers, which render us capable of this State of Reflection.

Further, there are Inftances of mortal Difeafes, CHAP, flection. which do not at all affect our present intellectual Powers; 1. and this affords a Prefumption, that those Difeases will not U deftroy these present Powers. Indeed, from the Observations made above^e, it appears, that there is no Prefumption that the Diffolution of the Body, is the Deftruction of the living Agent, from their mutually affecting each other. And by the fame Reafoning, it must appear too, that there is no Prefumption, that the Diffolution of the Body, is the Deftruction of our prefent reflecting Powers, from their mutually affecting each other : But Inftances of their not affecting each other, afford a Prefumption of the contrary. Instances of mortal Diseases not impairing our prefent reflecting Powers, evidently turn our Thoughts even from imagining fuch Difeafes to be the Deftruction of them. Several things indeed greatly affect all our living Powers, and at length fufpend the Exercise of them; as for Inftance Drowfinefs, increafing till it ends in found Sleep: and from hence we might have imagined it would deftroy them, till we found by Experience the Weakness of this Way of judging. But in the Difeafes now mentioned, there is not fo much as this Shadow of Probability, to lead us to any fuch Conclusion, as to the reflecting Powers which we have at prefent. For in those Diseases, Persons the moment before Death, appear to be in the highest Vigour of Life. They difcover Apprehenfion, Memory, Reafon, all entire; with the utmost Force of Affection; Sense of a Character, of Shame and Honour; and the highest mental Enjoyments and Sufferings, even to the last Gasp: and these furely prove even greater Vigour of Life than bodily Strength does. Now what Pretence is there for thinking, that a progreffive Difeafe when arrived to fuch a Degree, I mean that Degree which is mortal, will deftroy those Powers, which were not impaired, which were not affected by it, during its whole Progress quite up to that De-

° p. 18, 19.

gree?

P A R T gree? And if Death by Difeafes of this Kind, is not the De-I. ftruction of our prefent reflecting Powers, 'twill fcarce be thought that Death by any other Means is.

26

It is obvious that this general Observation may be carried on further; and there appears fo little Connection between our bodily Powers of Senfation, and our prefent Powers of Reflection, that there is no Reafon to conclude, that Death, which deftroys the former, does fo much as fufpend the Exercife of the latter, or interrupt our continuing to exift in the like State of Reflection which we do now. For Sufpenfion of Reafon, Memory, and the Affections which they excite, is no Part of the Idea of Death, nor is implied in our Notion of it. And our daily experiencing these Powers to be exercised, without any Affiftance, that we know of, from those Bodies, which will be diffolved by Death; and our finding often, that the Exercife of them is fo lively to the laft; thefe Things afford a fenfible Apprehension, that Death may not perhaps be fo much as a Discontinuance of the Exercise of these Powers, nor of the Enjoyments and Sufferings which it implies^f. So that our posthumous Life, whatever there may be in it additional to our prefent, yet may not be intirely beginning anew; but going on. Death may, in fome fort, and in fome Respects, answer to our Birth, which is not a Suspension of the Faculties which we had before it, or a total Change of the State of Life in which we exifted when in the Womb; but a Continuation of both, with fuch and fuch great Alterations.

Ivay,

f There are three didined Queflions, relating to a future Life, here confidered: Whether Death be the Deflruction of living Agents; If not, Whether it be the Deflruction of their *prefent* Powers of Reflection, as it certainly is the Deflruction of their prefent Powers of Sentation; And if not, Whether it be the Suspension, or Discontinuance of the Exercife, of these prefent reflecting Powers. Now if there be no Reason to believe the last, there will be, if that were possible, less for the next, and less ftill for the first.

27

 \sim

Nay, for ought we know of Ourfelves, of our present Life CHAP. and of Death; Death may immediately, in the natural Courfe of I. Things, put us into a higher and more enlarged State of Life, as our Birth does 3; a State in which our Capacities, and Sphere of Perception and of Action, may be much greater than at prefent. For as our Relation to our external Organs of Senfe, renders us capable of exifting in our prefent State of Senfation; fo it may be the only natural Hindrance to our exifting, immediately and of courfe, in a higher State of Reflection. The Truth is, Reafon does not at all shew us, in what State Death naturally leaves us. But were we fure that it would fufpend all our perceptive and active Powers; yet the Sufpenfion of a Power and the Destruction of it, are Effects fo totally different in Kind, as we experience from Sleep and a Swoon, that we cannot in any wife argue from one to the other; or conclude even to the lowest Degree of Probability, that the fame Kind of Force which is fufficient to fufpend our Faculties, though it be increafed ever fo much, will be fufficient to deftroy them.

These Observations together may be fufficient to shew, how little Prefumption there is, that Death is the Deftruction of human Creatures. However there is the Shadow of an Analogy, which may lead us to imagine it is; the fuppofed Likenefs which is obferved between the Decay of Vegetables, and of living Creatures. And this Likeness is indeed fufficient to afford the Poets very apt Allusions to the Flowers of the Field, in their Pictures of the Frailty of our prefent Life. But in Reafon, the Analogy is fo far from holding, that there appears no Ground even for the Comparison, as to the present Question;

" This according to Strabo was the Opinion of the Brachmans, replicer pier of Sh + pier Chedde Bior, wy ar anpur nooperar eirar T) Davator, gereter eig T ortas Bior, n' T evolusiona τοις φιλοσοφήσασι Lib. XV. p. 1039 Ed. Amil. 1707. To which Opinion perhaps Antorinas may allude in these Words, is in were equivers, nore querer on the yarges the yourness as Κίλου, έτας απόεχεος την όγαν ch y το ψυχάριον συ το ελυτρυ τυτυ Οαπιστείται. Lib. 1X. c. 3. begnufe

P A R T becaufe one of the two Subjects compared, is wholly void of I. That, which is the principal and chief thing in the other, the Power of Perception and of Action; and which is the only thing we are inquiring about the Continuance of. So that the Deftruction of a Vegetable, is an Event not fimilar or analogous to the Deftruction of a living Agent.

23

But if, as was above intimated, leaving off the delufive Cuftom of fubfituting Imagination in the Room of Experience, we would confine ourfelves to what we do know and underftand; if we would argue only from That, and from That form our Expectations; it would appear at firft Sight, that as no Probability of living Beings ever ceafing to be fo, can be concluded from the Reafon of the thing; fo none can be collected from the Analogy of Nature; becaufe we cannot trace any living Beings beyond Death. But as we are confcious that we are endued with Capacities of Perception and of Action, and are living Perfons; what we are to go upon is, that we fhall continue fo, till we forefee fome Accident or Event, which will endanger thofe Capacities, or be likely to deftroy us: which Death does in no wife appear to be.

And thus, when we go out of this World, we may pafs into new Scenes, and a new State of Life and Action, juft as naturally as we came into the prefent. And this new State may naturally be a focial one. And the Advantages of it, Advantages of every Kind, may naturally be beftowed, according to fome fixt general Laws of Wifdom, upon every one in Proportion to the Degrees of his Virtue. And though the Advantages of that future natural State, fhould not be beftowed, as thefe of the prefent in fome Meafure are, by the Will of the Society; but entirely by his more immediate Action, upon whom the whole Frame of Nature depends: Yet this Diftribution may be juft as natural, as their being diftributed here by the

the Inftrumentality of Men. And indeed, though one fhould C H A P. allow any confused undetermined Senfe, which People pleafe to put upon the Word natural, it would be a Shortnefs of Thought fcarce credible, to imagine, that no Syftem or Courfe of things can be fo, but only what we fee at prefent^h: efpecially whilft the Probability of a future Life, or the natural Immortality of the Soul, is admitted upon the Evidence of Reafon; becaufe this is really both admitting and denying at once, a State of Being different from the prefent to be natural. But the only diffinct Meaning of that Word is, flated, fixed, or *fettled*; fince what is natural, as much requires and prefuppofes an intelligent Agent to render it fo, i. e. to effect it continually or at flated Times; as what is fupernatural or miraculous does to effect it for once. And from hence it must follow, that Perfons Notion of what is natural, will be enlarged in Proportion to their greater Knowledge of the Works of God, and the Difpenfations of his Providence. Nor is there any Abfurdity in fuppofing, that there may be Beings in the Universe, whose Capacifies, and Knowledge, and Views, may be fo extensive, as that the whole Christian Dispensation may to them appear natural, i. e. analogous or conformable to God's Dealings with other Parts of his Creation; as natural as the visible known Course of things appears to us. For there feems fearce any other poffible Senfe to be put upon the Word, but that only in which it is here used; fimilar, stated, or uniform.

This Credibility of a future Life, which has been here infifted upon, how little foever it may fatisfy our Curiofity, feems to anfwer all the Purpofes of Religion, in like manner as a demonftrative Proof would: Indeed a Proof, even a demonftrative one, of a future Life, would not be a Proof of Religion. For, that we are to live Hereafter, is just as reconcileable with the Scheme of Atheifm, and as well to be accounted for by it,

* See Ch. ii. Part II. p. & Ch. iii. Part II. p.

PART as that we are now alive, is: and therefore nothing can be I. more abfurd than to argue from That Scheme, that there can be no future State. But as Religion implies a future State, any Prefumption against This, is a Prefumption against Religion. And the foregoing Observations remove all Prefumptions of that Sort, and prove, to a very confiderable Degree of Probability, one fundamental Doctrine of Religion; which, if believed, would greatly open and dispose the Mind feriously to attend to the general Evidence of the whole.

30

CHAP.

CHAP. II.

Of the Government of God by Rewards and Punishments; and particularly of the latter.

HAT which makes the Question concerning a future CHAP. Life, to be of fo great Importance to us, is our Capa-II. city of Happiness and Misery. And that which makes I the Confideration of it, to be of fo great Importance to us, is the Supposition of our Happiness and Milery Hereafter, depending upon our Actions Here. Curiofity indeed could not but fometimes bring a Subject, in which we may be fo highly interefted, to our Thoughts; especially upon the Mortality of Others. or the near Prospect of our own. But reasonable Men would not take any farther Thought about Hereafter, than what fhould happen thus occasionally to rife in their Minds, if it were certain that our future Intereft no way depended upon our prefent Behaviour : Whereas on the contrary, if there be Ground. either from Analogy or any thing elfe, to think it does; then there is Reafon alfo for the most active Thought and Sollicitude, to fecure that Intereft; to behave fo as that we may efcape That Mifery, and obtain that Happines in another Life. which we not only suppose ourselves capable of, but which we apprehend alfo may be put in our own Power. And whether there be Ground for this last Apprehension, certainly would deferve to be most feriously confidered, were there no other Proof **of**

Of the Government of God

P A R T of a future Life and Interest, than That presumptive one, which I. the foregoing Observations amount to.

32

Now in the prefent State, all which we enjoy, and a great Part of what we fuffer, is put in our own Power. For Pleasure and Pain are the Confequences of our Actions; and we are endued by the Author of our Nature with Capacities of forefeeing these Consequences. We find by Experience He does not fo much as preferve our Lives, exclusive of our own Care and Attention, to provide ourfelves with, and to make use of, that Suftenance, by which he has appointed our Lives shall be preferved; and without which, he has appointed, they shall not be preferved at all. And in general we forefee, that the external things, which are the Objects of our various Paffions, can neither be obtained nor enjoyed, without exerting ourfelves in fuch and fuch Manners: But by thus exerting Ourfelves, we obtain and enjoy these Objects, in which our natural Good confist; or by this means God gives us the Poffeffion and Enjoyment of them. I know not, that we have any one Kind or Degree of Enjoyment, but by the means of our own Actions. And by Prudence and Care, we may for the most part, pass our Days in tolerable Eafe and Quiet: Or on the contrary, we may by Rashness, ungoverned Passion, Willfulness, or even by Negligence, make Ourfelves as miferable as ever we pleafe. And many do pleafe to make themfelves extreamly miferable, i.e. to do what they know beforehand will render them fo. They follow those ways, the Fruit of which they know, by Instruction, Example, Experience, will be Difgrace and Poverty and Sicknefs and untimely Death. This every one observes to be the general Course of things; though it is to be allowed, we cannot find by Experience, that all our Sufferings are owing to our own Follies.

Why

Why the Author of Nature does not give his Creatures pro- C H A P. mifcuoufly, fuch and fuch Perceptions without Regard to their И. Behaviour; why he does not make them happy without the U V Instrumentality of their own Actions, and prevent their bringing any Sufferings upon themfelves; is another Matter. Perhaps there may be fome Impoffibilities in the Nature of things, which we are unacquainted with ¹. Or lefs Happinefs, it may be, would upon the whole be produced by fuch a Method of Conduct, than is by the prefent. Or perhaps divine Goodnefs, with which, if I miftake nor, we make very free in our Speculations, may not be a bare fingle Difpolition to produce Happinefs; but a Disposition to make the good, the faithful, the honeft Man happy. Perhaps an infinitely perfect Mind may be pleafed with feeing his Creatures behave fuitably, to the Nature which he has given them; to the Relations which He has placed them in to each other; and to That, which they ftand in to Himfelf: That Relation to himfelf, which, during their Exiftence, is even neceffary, and which is the most important one of all. Perhaps, I fay, an infinitely perfect Mind may be pleafed with this moral Piety of moral Agents, in and for itfelf; as well as upon Account of its being effentially conducive to the Happiness of his Creation. Or the whole End, for which, God made, and thus governs the World, may be utterly beyond the Reach of our Faculties: There may be fomewhat in it as impoffible for us to have any Conception of, as for a blind Man to have a Conception of Colours. But however this be, it is certain Matter of universal Experience, that the general Method of divine Administration, is, forewarning us, or giving us Capacities to forefee, with more or lefs Clearnefs, that if we act fo and fo, we shall have fuch Enjoyments, if fo and fo, fuch Sufferings; and giving us those Enjoyments, and making us feel those Sufferings, in consequence of our Actions.

[‡] Ch. vii p.

" But

Of the Government of God

34

" But all this is to be afcribed to the general Courfe of Na-PART " ture." True. This is the very thing which I am observing. It is to be afcribed to the general Courfe of Nature, *i. e.* not furely to the Words or Ideas, Course of Nature; but to him who appointed it, and put things into it: Or to a Course of Operation, from its Uniformity or Constancy, called natural k; and which neceffarily implies an operating Agent. For when Men find themselves necessitated to confess an Author of Nature, or that God is the natural Governor of the World; they must not deny this again, because his Government is uniform : They must not deny that he does things at all, because he does them conftantly; becaufe the Effects of his acting are permanent, whether his acting be fo or not; though there is no Reafon to think it is not. In fhort, every Man, in every thing he does, naturally acts upon the Forethought and Apprehenfion of avoiding evil or obtaining good : And if the natural Courfe of things be the Appointment of God, and our natural Faculties of Knowledge and Experience, are given us by him; then the good and bad Confequences which follow our Actions, are his Appointment, and our Forefight of those Consequences, is a Warning given us by Him, how we are to act.

> " Is the Pleafure then, naturally accompanying every particular Gratification of Paffion, intended, to put us upon gratifying Ourfelves in every fuch particular Inftance, and as a Reward to us for fo doing?" No certainly. Nor is it to be faid, that our Eyes were naturally intended to give us the Sight of each particular Object, to which they do or can extend; Objects which are deftructive of them, or which, for any other Reafon, it may become us to turn our Eyes from: Yet there is no doubt, but that our Eyes were intended for us to fee with. So neither is there any doubt, but that the forefeen Pleafures

* Ch. i. p. 28, 29.

and

by Rewards and Punifoments.

and Pains belonging to the Pafilons, were intended, in general, C H A P. to induce Mankind to act in fuch and fuch Manners.

Now from this general Observation, obvious to every one, that God has given us to understand, he has appointed Satisfaction and Delight to be the Confequence of our acting in one Manner, and Pain and Uncafinefs of our acting in another, and of our not acting at all; and that we find these Confequences, which we were beforehand informed of, uniformly to follow; we may learn, that we are at prefent actually under his Government in the ftricteft and most proper Senfe; in fuch a Senfe, as that he rewards and punishes us for our Actions. An Author of Nature being supposed, it is not fo much a Deduction of Reafon, as a Matter of Experience, that we are thus under his Government : under his Government, in the fame Senfe, as we are under the Government of civil Magistrates. Because the annexing Pleafure to fome Actions, and Pain to others, in our Power to do or forbear, and giving Notice of this Appointment beforehand to those whom it concerns; is the proper formal Notion of Government. Whether the Pleasure or Pain which thus follows upon what we do, be owing, to the Author of Nature's acting upon us every Moment which we feel it; or to his having at once contrived and executed his own Part in the Plan of the World; makes no Alteration as to the Matter before us. For if civil Magistrates could make the Sanctions of their Laws take Place, without interpoling at all, after they had paffed them; without a Trial, and the Formalities of an Execution: If they were able to make their Laws execute themselves, or every Offender to execute them upon himself; we should be just in the fame Sense under their Government then, as we are now: but in a much higher Degree, and more Vain is the Ridicule, with which, one foreperfect Manner. fees, fome Perfons will divert themselves, upon finding leffer Pains confidered as Instances of divine Punishment. There is

no

Of the Government of God

PART no Poffibility of anfwering or evading the general thing here intended, without denying all final Caufes. For final Caufes be-1. ing admitted, the Pleafures and Pains now mentioned, must be admitted too as Instances of them. And if they are; if God annexes Delight to fome Actions, and Uneafinefs to others, with an apparent Defign to induce us to act fo and fo; then He not only difpenses Happiness and Misery, but also rewards and punishes Actions. If, for Example, the Pain which we feel, upon doing what tends to the Deftruction of our Bodies, fuppofe upon too near approaches to Fire, or upon wounding Ourfelves, be appointed by the Author of Nature to prevent our doing what thus tends to our Deftruction; this is altogether as much an Inftance of his punishing our Actions, and confequently of our being under his Government, as declaring by a Voice from Heaven, that if we acted fo, he would inflict fuch Pain upon us, and inflicting it, whether it be greater or lefs.

> Thus we find, that the true Notion or Conception of the Author of Nature, is That of a Mafter or Governor, prior to the Confideration of his moral Attributes. The Fact of our Cafe, which we find by Experience, is, that He actually exercifes Dominion or Government over us at prefent, by rewarding and punishing us for our Actions, in as strict and proper a Senfe of these Words, and even in the same Senfe, as Children, Servants, Subjects, are rewarded and punished by those who govern them.

> And thus the whole Analogy of Nature, the whole prefent Courfe of things, most fully shows, that there is nothing incredible in the general Doctrine of Religion; that God will reward and punish Men for their Actions Hereafter: nothing incredible, I mean, arising out of the Notion of rewarding and punishing. For the whole Course of Nature is a prefent

> > 4

by Punishments.

a prefent Inftance of his exercifing That Government over us, C H A P. which implies in it rewarding and punifhing.

37

B UT as divine Punishment is what Men chiefly object againft, and are most unwilling to allow; it may be proper to mention fome Circumstances in the natural Course of Punishments at prefent, which are analogous to what Religion teaches us concerning a future State of Punishment: Indeed fo analogous to it, that as they add a farther Credibility to this latter, fo they cannot but raise a most ferious Apprehension of it in those who will attend to them.

It has been now obferved, that fuch and fuch Miferies naturally follow fuch and fuch Actions of Imprudence and Willfulnefs, as well as Actions more commonly and more diffinctly confidered as vitious; and that these Confequences, when they may be forefeen, are properly natural Punishments annexed to fuch Actions: for the general thing here infifted upon, is, not that we fee a great deal of Mifery in the World, but a great deal which Men bring upon themfelves by their own Behaviour, which they might have forefeen and avoided. Now the Circumstances of these natural Punishments, particularly deferving our Attention, are fuch as thefe; That oftentimes they follow, or are inflicted in confequence of, Actions, which procure many prefent Advantages, and are accompanied with much prefent Pleafure; for Inftance, Sicknefs and untimely Death, in confequence of Intemperance, though accompanied with the higheft Mirth and Jollity: That these Punishments are often much greater, than the Advantages or Pleafures obtained by the Actions, of which they are the Punifhments or Confequences: That though we may imagine a Conflitution of Nature, in which these natural Punishments, which are in Fact to follow, would follow, immediately upon fuch Actions being done,

Of the Government of God

38

PART done, or very foon after; we find on the contrary in our World, that they are often delayed a great while, fometimes even till long after the Actions occasioning them are forgot; fo that the Constitution of Nature is fuch, that Delay of Punishment, is no Sort nor Degree of Prefumption of final Impunity: That after fuch Delay, these natural Punishments or Miseries often come, not by Degrees, but fuddenly, with Violence, and at once; however the chief Mifery often does: That as Certainty¹ of fuch diftant Mifery following fuch Actions, is never afforded Perfons; fo perhaps during the Actions, they have feldom a diftinct full Expectation of its following: And many Times the Cafe is only thus, that they fee in general, or may fee, the Credibility, that Intemperance, fuppofe, will bring after it Difeafes; civil Crimes, civil Punishments; when yet the real Probability often is, that they shall escape : but things take their deftined Courfe, and the Mifery inevitably follows at its appointed Time, in very many of these Cases. Thus also though Youth may be alledged as an Excufe for Rafhnefs and Folly, as being naturally thoughtlefs, and not clearly forefeeing all the Confequences of being untractable and profligate; this does not hinder, but that these Consequences follow, and are grievously felt, throughout the whole Course of mature Life. Habits contracted even in that Age, are often utter Ruin: And Men's Succefs in the World, not only in the common Senfe of worldly Success, but their real Happiness and Misery, depends, in a great Degree, and in various Ways, upon the Manner in which they pafs their Youth; which Confequences they for the most part neglect to confider, and perhaps feldom can properly be faid to believe, beforehand. It requires also to be mentioned, that in numberless Cafes, the natural Course of things affords us Opportunities for procuring Advantages to Ourfelves at certain Times, which we cannot procure when we will, nor ever recall the Opportunities, if we have neglected them. The Example last mentioned, is

¹ See Chap. vi. Part II.

an

by Punishments.

an Example of this alfo; as indeed the general Courfe of Na- C H A P. ture is. If, during the Opportunity of Youth, Perfons are - H. indocile and felfwill'd; they fuffer greatly in their future Life. for want of those Acquirements, which they neglected the natural Seafon of attaining. If the Husbandman lets his Seedtime pafs without fowing, the whole Year is loft to him beyond Recovery. In like Manner, though after Men have been guilty of Folly and Extravagance up to a certain Degree, it is often in their Power, for instance, to retrieve their Affairs, to recover their Health and Character; at least in good measure: yet real Reformation is in many Cafes, of no Avail at all towards preventing the Miferies, Poverty, Sicknefs, Infamy, naturally annexed to Folly and Extravagance exceeding that Degree. There is a certain Bound to Imprudence and Misbehaviour, which being transgreffed, there remains no Place for Repentance in the natural Courfe of things. It is further very much to be remarked, that Neglects from Inconfideratenefs. Want of Attention^m, not looking about us to fee what we have to do, are often attended with Confequences altogether as dreadful, as any active Misbehaviour, from the most extravagant Paffion. And laftly, civil Government being natural, the Punishments of it are so too: And some of these Punishments are capital; as the Effects of a diffolute Course of Pleafure are often mortal. So that many natural Punifhments are final " to him, who

^m Chap. vi. Part II.

ⁿ The general Confideration of a future State of Punifhment, mofl evidently belongs to the Subject of natural Religion. But if any of these Retlections should be thought to relate more peculiarly to this Doctrine, as taught in Scripture; the Reader is defired to observe, that gentile Writers, both Moralists and Poets, speak of the future Punishment of the wicked, both as to the Duration and Degree of it, in a like mauner of Expression and of Description, as the Scripture does: So that all which can positively be afferted to be Matter of more Revelation, with regard to this Doctrine, feems to be, that the great Diflinction between the righteous and the wicked, shall be made at the End of this World; that each shall *Then* receive according to his Deferts. Reason did, as it well might, conclude that it should, finally and upon the whole, be well with the righteous, and ill with the wicked: But it could not be determined upon any Principles of Keafore.

Of the Government of God

PART who incurs them, if confidered only in his temporal Capacity:
 I. and feem inflicted by natural Appointment, either to remove the Offender out of the Way of being further mifchievous; or as an Example, though frequently a difregarded one, to those who are left behind.

40

These things are not, what we call accidental, or to be met with only now and then; but they are things of every Day's Experience; which proceed from general Laws, very general ones, by which God governs the World, in the natural Courfe of his Providence. And they are fo analogous, to what Religion teaches us concerning the future Punishment of the wicked, fo much of a piece with it, that both would naturally be expressed in the very fame Words, and Manner of Description. In the Book of Proverbs°, for Inftance, Wildom is introduced. as frequenting the most publick Places of Refort, and as rejected when the offers herfelf as the natural appointed Guide of human Life. How long, fpeaking to those who are passing through it, how long, ye fimple ones, will ye love folly, and the fcorners delight in their scorning, and fools hate knowledge? Turn ye at my Reproof. Behold, I will pour out my Spirit upon you, I will make known my words unto you. But upon being neglected. Becaufe I have called, and ye refused, I have firetched out my band, and no man regarded; But ye have fet at nought all my Counfel, and would none of my Reproof: I also will laugh at your calamity, I will mock when your fear cometh; when your fear cometh as defolation, and your destruction cometh as a whirlwind ;

fon, whether human Creatures might not have been appointed to pass through other States of Life and Being, before that distributive Justice should finally and effectually take Place. Revelation teaches us, that the next State of things after the prefent, is appointed for the Execution of this Justice; that it shall be no longer delayed: But the Myslery of God, the great Mystery of his fuffering Vice and Confusion to prevail, *shall then be finished*; and he will take to him his great Power and will reign, by rendring to every one according to his Works.

° Chap. i.

when

by Punishments.

when distress and anguish cometh upon you. Then shall they call CHAP' upon me, but I will not answer; they shall feck me carly, but they H. Shall not find me. This Paffage, every one fees, is poetical, and \searrow fome Parts of it are highly figurative; but their Meaning is obvious. And the thing intended, is expressed more literally in the following Words; For that they hated knowledge, and did not chufe the fear of the Lord --- therefore shall they eat of the fruit of their own way, and be filled with their own devices. For the Security of the simple shall slay them, and the Prosperity of fools *fhall deftroy them.* And the whole Paffage is fo equally applicable, to what we experience in the prefent World, concerning the Confequences of Men's Actions, and to what Religion teaches us, is to be expected in another, that it may be queftioned which of the two was principally intended.

Indeed when one has been recollecting the proper Proofs of a future State of Rewards and Punishments, nothing methinks can give one fo fenfible an Apprehension of the latter, or Reprefentation of it to the Mind, as obferving; that after the many difregarded Checks, Admonitions and Warnings, which People meet with in the ways of Vice and Folly and Extravagance; Warnings from their very Nature; from the Examples of Others; from the leffer Inconveniences which they bring upon themselves; from the Instructions of wife and virtuous Men: After these have been long despised, scorned, ridiculed : after the chief bad Confequences, temporal Confequences, of their Follies, have been delayed for a great while; at length they break in irrefiftibly, like an armed Force: Repentance is too late to relieve, and can ferve only to aggravate, their Diftres: The Cafe is become desperate : and Poverty, and Sickness, Remorfe and Anguish, Infamy and Death, the Effects of their own Doings, overwhelm them, beyond Poffibility of Remedy This is an Account of what is in Fact the geneor Efcape. ral Constitution of Nature.

4 I

Of the Government of God

42

PART It is not in any fort meant, that according to what appears at present of the natural Course of things, Men are always Ι. S uniformly punished in proportion to their Misbehaviour: But that there are very many Instances of Misbehaviour punished in the feveral Ways now mentioned, and very dreadful Instances too; fufficient to show what the Laws of the Universe may admit; and, if thoroughly confidered, fufficient fully to anfwer all Objections against the Credibility of a future State of Punifhments; from any Imaginations, that the Frailty of our Nature and external Temptations, almost annihilate the Guilt of human Vices: as well as Objections of another Sorr; from Neceffity; from Suppositions, that the Will of an infinite Being cannot be contradicted ; or that He must be uncapable of Offence and Provocation P.

> Reflections of this Kind are not without their Terrors to ferious Perfons, the most free from Enthusialm, and of the greateft Strength of Mind : But it is fit things be stated and confidered as they really are. And there is, in the prefent Age, a certain Fearlefsnefs, with regard to what may be hereafter under the Government of God, which, nothing but an univerfally acknowledged Demonstration on the Side of Atheisim, can justify; and which makes it quite neceffary, that Men be reminded, and if poffible made to feel, that there is no Sort of Ground for being thus prefumptuous, even upon the most fceptical Principles. For, may it not be faid of any Perfon upon his being born into the World, he may behave fo, as to be of no Service to it, but by being made an Example of the woful Effects of Vice and Folly? That he may, as any one may, if he will, incur an infamous Execution, from the Hands of civil Juffice; or in some other Course of Extravagance shorten his Days : or bring upon himfelf Infamy and Difeafes worfe than Death? So

that

P See Chap. iv. & vi.

by Punishments. 43

that it had been better for him, even with regard to the prefent C H A P. World, that he had never been born. And is there any pretence II. of Reafon, for People to think themfelves fecure, and talk as if they had certain Proof; that let them act as licentioufly as they will, there can be nothing analogous to This, with regard to a future and more general Intereft, under the Providence and Government of the fame God?

G 2

CHAP.

CHAP. III.

Of the Moral Government of God.

PART I. S the manifold Appearances of Defign and of final Caufes, in the Conftitution of the World, prove it to be the Work of an intelligent Mind; fo the particular final Caufes of Pleafure and Pain diftributed amongft his Creatures, prove that they are under his Government: what may be called His natural Government of Creatures endued with Senfe and Reafon. This implies fomewhat more than feems ufually attended to, when we fpeak of God's natural Government of the World. It implies Government of the very fame Kind with That, which a Mafter exercifes over his Servants, or a civil Magiftrate over his Subjects. Thefe latter Inftances of final Caufes, as really prove an intelligent Governor of the World, in the Senfe now mentioned, and before a diftinctly treated of; as any other Inftances of final Caufes, prove an intelligent Maker of it.

> But this alone, does not appear at first Sight to determine any thing certainly, concerning the moral Character of the Author of Nature, confidered in this Relation of Governor; does not afcertain his Government to be moral, or prove that he is the righteous Judge of the World. Moral Government confist, not barely in rewarding and punishing Men for their Actions, which the most tyrannical Person may do: but in rewarding the Righteous and punishing the Wicked; in rendring to Men ac-

a Chap ii.

cording

cording to their Actions confidered as good or evil. And the C H A P. Perfection of moral Government confifts in doing this, with III. regard to all intelligent Creatures, in an exact Proportion to their perfonal Merits or Demerits.

4.5

Some Men feem to think, the only Character of the Author of Nature, to be That of fimple abfolute Benevolence. This, confidered as a Principle of Action and infinite in Degree, is a Difposition to produce the greatest possible Happines, without Regard to Perfons Behaviour, otherwife than as fuch Regard would produce higher Degrees of it. And fuppoling this to be the only Character of God, Veracity and Justice in Him, would be nothing but Benevolence conducted by Wifdom. Now furely this ought not to be afferied, unlefs it can be proved; for we should speak with cautious Reverence upon such a Subject. And whether it can be proved or no, is not the thing here to be inquired into; but whether in the Conflictution and Conduct of the World, a righteous Government be not differnibly planned out, which neceffarily implies a righteous Governor. There may poffibly be in the Creation Beings, to whom the Author of Nature manifests himself under this most amiable of all Characters, this of infinite abfolute Benevolence; for it is the most amiable, supposing it not, as perhaps it is not, incompatible with Juffice : but he manifests himself to Us under the Character of a righteous Governor. Confiftently with this, He may be fimply abfolutely benevolent in the Senfe now explained; but he is, for he has given us a Proof in the Conftitution and Conduct of the World, that he is, a Governor over Servants, as he rewards and punifhes us for our Actions: And in the Constitution and Conduct of it, he may also have given, befides the Reafon of the thing, and the natural Prefages of Confcience, clear and diffinct Intimations, that his Government is righteous or moral; clear to fuch as think the Nature of it deferving their 4

PART their Attention: and yet not to every careless Person who cast: I. a transient Reflection upon the Subject^b.

46

But it is particularly to be observed, that the divine Government, which we experience Ourfelves under in the prefent State, taken alone, is allowed not to be the Perfection of moral Government. And yet this by no means hinders, but that there may be fomewhat, be it more or lefs, truly moral in it. A righteous Government may plainly appear to be carried on to fome Degree: enough to give us the Apprehension that it shall be compleated, or carried on to that Degree of Perfection which Religion teaches us it shall; but which cannot appear, till much more of the divine Administration be seen, than can in the present Life. And the Design of this Chapter is to inquire, how far this is the Cafe; how far, over and above the moral Nature^c which God has given us, and our natural Notion of Him as righteous Governor of those his Creatures, to whom he has given this Nature^d; I fay how far befides this, the Principles and Beginnings of a moral Government over the World, may be difcerned, notwithftanding and amidft all the Confusion and Diforder of it.

Now one might mention here, what has been often urged with great Force, that in general, lefs Uneafinefs and more Satisfaction, are the natural Confequences ° of a virtuous than of a vitious Courfe of Life, in the prefent State, as an Infrance

⁶ The Objections againft Religion, from the Evidence of it not being univerfal, nor fo frong as might poffibly have been, may be urged againft natural Religion, as well as againft revealed. And therefore the Confideration of them, belongs to the fift Part of this Freatilt, as well as the fecond. But as thefe Objections are chiefly urged againft revealed Religion, I chofe to confider them in the fecond Part. And the Anfwer to them there, Ch. vi. as urged againft Chriftianity, being almoft equally applicable to them as urged againft the Religion of Nature, to avoid Repetition, the Reader is referred to that Chapter.

Chap. vj. p.

^{*} See Lord Shaftsbury's Inquiry concerning Virtue, Part II.

of a moral Government established in Nature; an Instance CHAP. of it, collected from Experience and prefent Matter of Fact. III. But it must be owned a thing of Difficulty to weigh and INN balance Pleafures and Uneafineffes, each amongft themfelves. and also against each other, so as to make an Estimate. with any Exactness, of the Overplus of Happiness on the Side of Virtue. And it is not impossible, that, amidst the infinite Diforders of the World, there may be Exceptions to the Happiness of Virtue; even with regard to them, whose Courfe of Life from their Youth up, has been blamelefs; and more with regard to those, who have gone on for fome time in the ways of Vice, and have afterwards reformed. For suppose an Inftance of the latter Cafe; a Perfon with his Paffions inflamed, his natural Faculty of Self-Government impaired by Habits of Indulgence, and with all his Vices about him, like fo many Harpies, craving for their accustomed Gratification: who can fay how long it might be, before fuch a Perfon would find, more Satisfaction in the Reafonableness and prefent good Confequences of Virtue, than Difficulties and Self-denial in the Rostraints of it? Experience also shows, that Men can, to a great Degree, get over their Senfe of Shame, fo as that by profeffing themfelves to be without Principle, and avowing even direct Villany, they can support themselves against the Infamy of it. But as the ill Actions of any one, will probably be more talked . of and oftener thrown in his way, upon his Reformation; fo the Infamy of them will be much more felt, after the natural Senfe of Virtue and of Honour is recovered. Uneafineffes of this Kind ought indeed to be put to the Account of former Vices, yet it will be faid, they are in Part the Confequences of Reformation. Still I am far from allowing it doubtful, whether Virtue upon the whole be happier than Vice in the prefent World: But if it were, yet the Beginnings of a righteous Administration, may beyond all Question be found in Nature, if we will attentively inquire after them. And,

I. In.

1.

48

PART I. In whatever Manner the Notion of God's moral Government over the World, might be treated, if it did not appear, I. whether he were in a proper Senfe our Governor at all, yet when it is certain Matter of Experience, that He does manifest himfelf to us under the Character of a Governor in the Senfe explained '; it must deferve to be confidered, whether there be not reason to apprehend, that he may be a righteous or moral Governor. Since it appears to be Fact, that God does govern Mankind by the Method of Rewards and Punishments, according to fome fettled Rules of Distribution, it is furely a Question to be asked; what Prefumption is there against his finally rewarding and punishing them, according to this particular Rule, namely, as they act reafonably or unreafonably, virtuoufly or vitioufly? Since rendring Men happy or miferable by this Rule, certainly falls in, much more falls in, with our natural Apprehenfions and Senfe of things, than doing fo by any other Rule whatever : Since rewarding and punishing Actions by any other Rule, would appear much harder to be accounted for, by Minds formed as He has formed ours. Be the Evidence of Religion then more or lefs clear, the Expectation which it raifes in us, that the righteous shall, upon the whole, be happy, and the wicked miferable, cannot however poffibly be confidered as abfurd or chimerical; becaufe it is no more than an Expectation, that a Method of Government already begun, shall be carried on, the Method of rewarding and punishing Actions; and shall be carried on by a particular Rule, which unavoidably appears to us at first Sight more natural than any other, the Rule which we call distributive Justice. Nor,

> II. Ought it to be entirely paffed over, that Tranquillity, Satisfaction, and external Advantages, being the natural Confequences of prudent Management of Ourfelves, and our Affairs;

f Chap. ii.

and

and Rafhnefs, profligate Negligence, and willful Folly, bringing C H A P. after them many Inconveniencies and Sufferings; thefe afford HI. Inftances of a Right Conftitution of Nature: as the Correction of Children, for their own Sakes, and by way of Example, when they run into Danger or hurt themfelves, is a Part of right Education. And thus, that God governs the World by general fixt Laws, that He has endued us with Capacities of reflecting upon this Conftitution of things, and forefeeing the good and bad Confequences of our Behaviour; plainly implies fome fort of Moral Government: fince from fuch a Conftitution of things it cannot but follow, that Prudence and Imprudence, which are of the Nature of Virtue and Vice, ^g muft be, as they are, refpectively rewarded and punifhed.

III. From the natural Courfe of things, vitious Actions are, to a great Degree, actually punished as mischievous to Society : And befides Punifiment actually inflicted upon this Account, there is also the Fear and Apprehension of it in those Persons, whofe Crimes have render'd them obnoxious to it, in Cafe of a Discovery; this State of Fear being itself often a very confiderable Punishment: We must add too That Fear and Apprehenfion of it, by which Men are reftrained from fuch Crimes. It is neceffary to the very being of Society, that Vices deftructive of it, should be punished as being fo; the Vices of Falfhood, Injuffice, Cruelty: Which Punishment therefore is as natural as Society; and fo is an Inftance of a Kind of moral Government, naturally eftablished and actually taking place. And, fince the certain natural Course of Things, is the Conduct of Providence or the Government of God, though carried on by the Inftrumentality of Men; the Obfervation here made amounts to this, that Mankind find themfelves placed

g See Differt. II.

H

by

P A R T by Him in fuch Circumftances, as that they are unavoidably ac I. countable for their Behaviour, and are often punifhed, and fome times rewarded under His Government, in the view of their being mifchievous, or eminently beneficial to Society.

50

If it be objected that good Actions, and fuch as are beneficial to Society, are often punished, as in the Cafe of Perfecution and in other Cafes; and that ill and mifchievous Actions are often rewarded : It may be answered diffinctly; first, that this is in no fort neceffary, and confequently not natural, in the fenfe in which it is neceffary, and therefore natural, that ill or mifchievous Actions should be punished : And in the next Place, that good Actions are never punished, confidered as beneficial to Society, nor ill Actions rewarded, under the view of their being hurtful to it. So that it ftands good, without any thing on the fide of vice to be fet over against it, that the Author of Nature has as truely directed, that vitious Actions confidered as mischievous to Society, should be punished, and put Mankind under a Necessity of thus punishing them; as he has directed and neceffitated us to preferve our Lives by Food.

IV. In the natural Courfe of things, Virtue as fuch is actually rewarded, and Vice as fuch punished: which seems to afford an Instance or Example, not only of Government, but of moral Government, begun and established; moral in the strictest Sense; though not in that Perfection of Degree, which Religion teaches us to expect. In order to see this more clearly, we must diffinguish between Actions themselves, and That Quality ascribed to them, which we call virtuous or vitious. The Gratification itself of every natural Passion, must be attended with Delight: And Acquisitions of Fortune, however made, are Acquisitions of the Means or Material, of

of Enjoyment. An Action then, by which any natural Paffion CHAP. is gratified or Fortune acquired, procures Delight or Advan-III. tage; abstracted from all Confideration of the Morality of fuch Action. Confequently the Pleafure or Advantage in this Cafe, is gained by the Action itfelf, not by the Morality, the Virtuoufnefs or Vitiousnefs of it; though it be, perhaps, virtuous or vitious. Thus, to fay fuch an Action or Courfe of Behaviour, procured fuch Pleafure or Advantage, or brought on fuch Inconvenience and Pain, is quite a different thing from faying, that fuch good or bad Effect was owing to the Virtue or Vice of fuch Action or Behaviour. In one Cafe, an Action abstracted from all moral Confideration, produced its Effect: In the other Cafe, for it will appear that there are fuch Cafes, the Morality of the Action, the Action under a moral Confideration, i. e. the Virtuousness or Vitiousness of it, produced the Effect. Now I fay Virtue as fuch, naturally procures confiderable Advantages to the Virtuous, and Vice as fuch, naturally occafions great Inconvenience and even Mifery to the Vitious, in very many Inftances. The immediate Effects of Virtue and Vice upon the Mind and Temper, are to be mentioned as Inftances of it. Vice as fuch is naturally attended, with fome fort of Uneafinefs, and, not uncommonly, with great Diffurbance and Apprehenfion. That inward Feeling, which, refpecting leffer Matters, and in familiar Speech, we call being vexed with onefelf, and in matters of Importance and in more ferious Language, Remorfe; is an uneafinefs naturally arifing from an Action of a Man's own, reflected upon by himfelf as wrong, unreasonable, faulty, i. e. Vitious in greater or less Degrees: And this manifestly is a different Feeling from that Uneafinefs, which arifes from a Senfe of mere Lofs or Harm. What is more common than to hear a Man lamenting an Accident or Event, and adding ---- but however he has the Satisfaction that he cannot blame himfelf for it; or on the contrary, that H 2 he

P A R T he has the Uneafinefs of being fenfible it was his own Doing?
I. Thus alfo the Diffurbance and Fear, which often follow upon a Man's having done an Injury, arife from a Senfe of his being blame-worthy; otherwife there would, in many Cafes, be no Ground of Diffurbance, nor any Reafon to fear Refentment or Shame. On the other hand, inward Security and Peace, and a Mind open to the feveral Gratifications of Life, are the natural Attendants of Innocence and Virtue. To which muft be added the Complacency, Satisfaction, and even Joy of Heart, which neceffarily, and often, accompany the Exercife, the real Exercife, of Gratitude, Friendship, Benevolence.

52

And here, I think, ought to be mentioned, the Fears of future Punishment, and peaceful Hopes of a better Life, in those who fully believe, or have any ferious Apprehension of Religion: because these Hopes and Fears are present Uneasiness and Satisfaction to the Mind; and cannot be got rid off by great Part of the World, even by Men who have thought most thoroughly upon the Subject of Religion. And no one can fay, how considerable this Uneasiness and Satisfaction may be, or what upon the whole it may amount to.

In the next Place, comes in the Confideration, that all honeft and good Men are difpoled to befriend honeft good Men as fuch, and to difcountenance the vitious as fuch, and do fo in fome Degree; indeed in a confiderable Degree: from which Favour and Difcouragement cannot but arife confiderable Advantage and Inconvenience. And though the Generality of the World have little Regard to the Morality of their own Actions, and may be fuppoled to have lefs to that of Others, when they Themfelves are not concerned; yet let any One be known to be a Man of Virtue, fome how or other, he will be favoured, and good offices will be done him, from Regard

53

Regard to his Character without remote Views, occafionally, CHAP. and in fome low Degree, I think, by the Generality of the III. Publick Ho- V World, as it happens to come in their Way. nours too and Advantages are the natural Confequences, are fometimes at least the Confequences in Fact, of virtuous Actions; of eminent Justice, Fidelity, Charity, Love to our Country, confidered in the view of being virtuous. And fometimes even Death itself, often Infamy and external Inconveniencies, are the publick Confequences of Vice as Vice. For instance, the Senfe which Mankind have of Tyranny, Injustice, Oppression, additional to the meer Feeling or Fear of Misery, has doubtlefs been inftrumental in bringing about Revolutions, which make a Figure even in the Hiftory of the World. For it is plain, Men refent Injuries as implying Faultiness, and retaliate, not merely under the notion of having received Harm, but of having received wrong; and they have this Refentment in Behalf of Others, as well as of Themfelves. So likewife even the Generality are, in fome Degree, grateful and difpofed to return good offices, not merely becaufe fuch an one has been the Occasion of good to Them, but under the view, that fuch good offices implied kind Intention and good Defert in To all this may be added two or three partithe Doer. cular things, which, many Perfons will think frivolous; but to me nothing appears fo, which at all comes in towards determining a Queftion of fuch Importance, as, whether there be, or be not, a moral Inftitution of Government, in the strictest Sense moral, visibly established and begun in Nature. The particular things are thefe; that in domeftick Government, which is doubtless natural, Children and Others also. are very generally punished for Falshood, and Injustice, and Ill-behaviour, as fuch, and rewarded for the contrary; which are Inftances of Veracity, and Juffice, and right Behaviour as fuch, naturally inforced by Rewards and Punishments,

54 Of the Moral Government of God.
 PART ments, whether more or lefs confiderable: That, though civil Government be fuppofed to take Cognizance of Actions in no other view than as prejudicial to Society, without refpect to the Immorality of them; yet as fuch Actions are immoral, fo the Senfe which Men have of the Immorality of them, very greatly contributes, in different ways, to bring Offenders to Juffice: And that intire Abfence of all Crime and Guilt in the moral Senfe, when plainly appearing, will almost of course procure, and Circumstances of aggravated Guilt prevent, a Remission of the Penalties annexed to civil Crimes, in many Cafes, though by no means in all.

Upon the whole, befides the good and bad Effects of Virtue and Vice upon Men's own Minds, the Courfe of the World does, in fome Measure, turn upon the Approbation and Difapprobation of them as fuch, in Others. The Senfe of well and ill Doing, the Prefages of Confcience, the Love of good Characters and Diflike of bad ones, Honour, Shame, Refentment, Gratitude; all thefe, confidered in themfelves, and in their Effects, do afford manifest real Instances of Virtue as fuch naturally favoured, and of Vice as fuch difcountenanced, more or lefs, in the daily courfe of human Life; in every Age, in every Relation, in every general Circumstance of it. That God has given us a moral Nature h, may most justly be urged as a Proof of our being under his moral Government: But that he has placed us in a Condition, which gives this Nature, as one may fpeak, Scope to operate, and in which it does unavoidably operate, i. e. influence mankind to act, fo as thus to favour and reward Virtue, and difcountenance and punish Vice; this is not the same, but a further, additional Proof of his moral Government: for it is an Instance

h See Differt. II.

of

of it. The first is a Proof, that he will finally favour and C H A Pfupport Virtue effectually; the fecond is an Example of III. His favouring and fupporting it at prefent, in fome Degree.

If a more diffinct Inquiry be made, whence it arifes, that Virtue as fuch is often rewarded, and Vice as fuch is punified, and this Rule never inverted; it will be found to proceed, in Part, immediately from the moral Nature itself, which God has given us; and alfo in Part, from his having given Us, together with this Nature, fo great a Power over each other's Happinefs and Mifery. For first, it is certain, that Peace and Delight, in fome Degree and upon fome Occafions, is the neceffary and prefent Effect of virtuous Practice; an Effect arifing immediately from that Constitution of our Nature. We are fo made, that Well-doing as fuch gives us Satisfaction, at leaft, in fome Inftances; Ill-doing as fuch, in none. And fecondly, From our Moral Nature, joined with God's having put our Happinels and Mifery in many Respects in each other's Power, it cannot but be, that Vice as fuch, fome Kinds and Inftances of it at leaft, will be infamous, and Men will be difpofed to punish it as in itself detestable; and the Villain will by no means be able always to avoid feeling that Infamy, any more than he will be able to escape this further Punithment, which Mankind will be disposed to inflict upon him, under the Notion of his deferving it. But there can be nothing on the fide of Vice, to answer this; because there is nothing in the human Mind, contradictory, as the Logicians speak, to Virtue. For Virtue confist, in a Regard to what is Right and Reasonable, as being fo; in a Regard to Veracity, Juffice, Charity, in themfelves : and there is furely no fuch thing as a like natural Regard to Falfhood, Injuftice, Cruelty. If it be thought, that there are Inftances of an

56

PART an Approbation of Vice, as fuch, in itfelf, and for its own fake, though it does not appear to me, that there is any fuch 1. thing at all; but fuppofing there be, it is evidently monflrous : as much fo, as the most acknowledged Perversion of any Such Instances of Perversion then being Paffion whatever. left out, as merely imaginary, or, however, unnatural; from the Frame of our Nature, and from our Condition, in the Refpects now defcribed, it must follow, that Vice cannot at all be, and Virtue cannot but be upon fome Occafions, favoured as fuch by Others, and happy in itfelf, in fome Degree. For what is here infifted upon, is not the Degree in which Virtue and Vice are thus diffinguished, but only the thing itfelf, that they are fo in fome Degree; though the whole good and bad Effect of Virtue and Vice as fuch, is not inconfiderable in Degree. But that they must be thus distinguished in some Degree, is in a manner necessary: It is Matter of Fact of daily Experience, even in the greatest Confusion of human Affairs.

> It is not pretended, but that in the natural Courfe of Things, Happinefs and Mifery appear to be diffributed by other Rules than only the perfonal Merit and Demerit of Characters. They may fometimes be diffributed by way of mere Difcipline: There may be the wifeft and beft Reafons, why the World fhould be governed by general Laws, from whence fuch promifcuous Diffribution perhaps muft follow; and alfo why our Happinefs and Mifery fhould be put in each other's Power, in the Degree which they are. And thefe things, as they contribute to the rewarding Virtue and punifhing Vice, as fuch: fo alfo they contribute, not to the Inverfion of this, which is impoffible; but often to the rendring Perfons profperous, though wicked, afflicted, though righteous; and, which is worfe, to the *Rewarding fome Actions*, though vitious

ous, and punifying other Actions though virtuous. But all this CHAP. cannot drown the Voice of Nature in the conduct of Provi-III. dence, plainly declaring itself for Virtue, by way of Diftinction from Vice, and Preference to it. For, our being fo conflituted, as that Virtue and Vice are thus naturally favoured and difcountenanced, rewarded and punished respectively as such, is an intuitive Proof of the Intent of Nature, that it should be fo; otherwife the Constitution of our Mind, from which it thus immediately and directly proceeds, would be abfurd. But it cannot be faid, becaufe virtuous Actions are sometimes punished, and vicious Actions rewarded, that Nature intended it. For, though this great Diforder is brought about, as all Actions are done, by means of fome natural Paffion; yet This may be, as it undoubtedly is, brought about by the Perversion of fuch Paffion, implanted in us for other, and those very good Purpofes. And indeed thefe other and good Purpofes, even of every Paffion, may be clearly feen.

We have then a Declaration, in fome Degree of prefent Effect, from Him who is fupreme in Nature, which Side He is of, or what Part He takes; a Declaration for Virtue and againft Vice. So far therefore as a Man is true to Virtue, to Veracity and Juftice, to Equity and Charity and the right of the Cafe, in whatever he is concerned; fo far he is on the Side of the divine Administration, and co-operates together with it : and from hence, to fuch a Man, arifes naturally a fecret Satisfaction and Senfe of Security, and implicite Hope of fomewhat further. And,

V. This Hope is confirmed, by the neceffary Tendencies of Virtue, which, though not of prefent Effect, yet are at prefent difcernible in Nature; and fo afford an Inftance of fomewhat moral in the effential Conftitution of it. There is, in the Nature of I Things,

58

PART Things, a Tendency in Virtue and Vice to produce the good and bad Effects now mentioned, in a greater Degree than they Ι. \sim do in Fact produce them. For Inftance; good and bad Men as fuch, would be much more rewarded and punished, were it not, that Justice is often artificially eluded, that Characters are not known, and many, who would thus favour Virtue and discourage Vice, are hindered from doing fo by accidental These Tendencies of Virtue and Vice are obvious with Caufes. regard to Individuals. But it may require more particularly to be confidered, that Power in a Society, by being under the Direction of Virtue, naturally increases, and has a necessary Tendency to prevail over opposite Power, not under the Direction of it; in like Manner as Power, by being under the Direction of Reason, increases, and Las a Tendency to prevail over brute Force. There are feveral brute Creatures of equal, and feveral of fuperior Strength, to That of Men; And poffibly the Summ of the whole Strength of Brutes, may be greater than That of Mankind: but Reafon gives us the Advantage and Superiority over them; and thus Man is the acknowledged governing Animal upon the Earth. Nor is this Superiority confidered by any as accidental, but as what Reafon has a Tendency, in the Nature of the Thing, to obtain. And yet perhaps Difficulties may be raifed about the Meaning, as well as the Truth, of the Affertion, that Virtue has the like Tendency.

> To obviate thefe Difficulties, let us fee more diffinctly, how the Cafe ftands with Regard to Reafon, which is fo readily acknowledged to have this advantageous Tendency. Suppofe then two or three Men, of the beft and most improved Understanding, in a defolate open Plain, attacked by ten times the number of Beasts of Prey: Would their Reason secure them the Victory in this unequal Combat? Power then, though joined with Reason, and under its Direction, cannot be expected to prevail

59

prevail over oppofite Power, though merely brutal, unless the CHAP. one bears fome Proportion to the other. Again'; Put the ima-Ш. ginary Cafe, that rational and irrational Creatures were of like external Shape and Manner: it is certain, before there were Opportunities for the first, to distinguish each other, to separate from their Adverfaries, and to form an Union among themfelves, they might be upon a Level, or in feveral Respects upon great Difadvantage; though united they might be vaftly fuperior: Since Union is of fuch Efficacy, that ten Men united, might be able to accomplifh, what ten thousand of the same natural Strength and Understanding wholly ununited, could not. In this Cafe then, brute Force might more than maintain its Ground against Reason, for Want of Union among the rational Creatures. Or fuppofe a Number of Men to land upon an Island inhabited only by wild Beafts; a Number of Men, who, by the Regulations of civil Government, the Inventions of Art, and the Experience of fome Years could they be preferved fo long, would be really fufficient, to fuelte the wild Beafts, and to preferve themselves in Security from m: Yet a Conjuncture of Accidents might give fuch Advantage to the irrational Animals, as that they might at once over-power, and even extirpate, the whole Species of rational ones. Length of time then, fuch and fuch Scope and Opportunities, for Reafon to exert itfelf, may be abfolutely neceffary to its prevailing over brute Force. Further ftill, there are many Inftances of Brutes fucceeding in Attempts, which they could not have undertaken, had not their irrational Nature rendered them uncapable of forefeeing the Danger of fuch Attempts, or the Fury of Paffion hindred their attending to it; and Inftances of Reafon and real Prudence preventing Men's undertaking what, it hath appeared afterwards, they might have fucceeded in by a lucky Rashness. And in certain Conjunctures, Ignorance and Folly, Weaknefs and Difcord, may have their Advantages. So that rational Animals I 2 have

PART have not neceffarily the Superiority over irrational ones; but, I. how improbable foever it may be, it is evidently poffible, that, in fome Globes, the latter may be fuperior. And were the former wholly at variance and difunited, by falfe Self-intereft and Envy, by Treachery and Injuffice, and confequent Rage and Malice againft each other, whilft the latter were firmly united among themfelves by Inftinct; this might greatly contribute to the introducing fuch an inverted Order of things. For every one would confider it as inverted: Since Reafon has, in the Nature of it, a Tendency to prevail over brute Force; notwithftanding, the Poffibility it may not prevail, and the Neceffity, which there is, of many concurring Circumftances to render it prevalent.

60

Now I fay, Virtue in a Society has a like Tendency to procure Superiority and additional Power; whether this Power be confidered as the Means, of Security from oppofite Power, or of obtaining other Advantages. And it has this Tendency, by rendring publick Good, an Object, and End, to every Member of the Society; by putting every one upon Confideration and Diligence, Recollection and Self-government, both in order to fee what is the most effectual Method, and alfo in order to perform their proper Part, for obtaining and preferving it; by uniting a Society within itfelf, and fo increasing its Strength; and, which is particularly to be mentioned, uniting it by Means of Veracity and Juffice. For as these last are principal Bonds of Union, fo Benevolence or publick Spirit, undirected, unreftrained, by them, is, no body knows what.

And fuppofe the invisible World, and the invisible Difpenfations of Providence, to be, in any fort analogous to what appears: or that both together make up one uniform Scheme, the two Parts of which, are analogous to each other; the Part

Part which we fee, and That which is beyond our Obfervation : C H A P. Then, there must be a like natural Tendency in the derived Power. throughout the Univerfe, under the Direction of Virtue, to prevail in general over That, which is not under its Direction ; as there is in Reafon, derived Reafon in the Universe, to prevail over brute Force. But then, in order to the Prevalence of Virtue, or that it may actually produce, what it has a Tendency to produce; the like Concurrences are neceffary, as are, to the Prevalence of Reafon. There must be fome Proportion, between the natural Power or Force which is, and That which is not, under the Direction of Virtue : There must be fusicient Length of Time; for the compleat Success of Virtue, as of Reafon, cannot, from the Nature of Thing, be otherwife than gradual: There must be, as one may speak, a fair Field of Trial, a Stage large and extensive enough, proper Occasions and Opportunities, for the virtuous to join together, to exert themfelves against lawless Force, and to reap the Fruit of their united Labours. Now indeed it is to be hoped, that the Difproportion between the good and bad, even here on Earth, is not fo great, but that the former have natural Power fufficient to their prevailing, to a confiderable Degree; if Circumstances would permit this Power to be united. For, much lefs, very much lefs, Power under the Direction of Virtue, would prevail over much greater not under the Direction of it. However, good Men over the Face of the Earth, cannot unite; as for other Reafons, fo becaufe they cannot be fufficiently afcertained of each other's Characters. And the known Courfe of human Things, the Scene we are now passing through, particularly the Shortness of Life, denies to Virtue its full Scope, in feveral other Respects. The natural Tendency, which we have been confidering, though real, is bindred from being carried into Effect in the present State : But these Hindrances may be removed in a future one. Virtue, to borrow the Christian Allufion,

61

III.

PART fion, is militant Here; and various untoward Accidents contribute to its being often overborn: But it may combat with greater Advan-I. tage Hereafter, and prevail compleatly, and enjoy its confequent Rewards, in fome future States. Neglected as it is, perhaps unknown, perhaps defpifed and oppreffed, here; there may be Scenes in Eternity, lafting enough, and in every other way adapted, to afford it a fufficient Sphere of Action; and a fufficient Sphere for the natural Confequences of it to follow in Fact. If the Soul be naturally immortal, and this State be a Progrefs towards a future one, as Childhood is towards mature Age; good Men may naturally unite, not only amongst themselves, but alfo with other Orders of virtuous Creatures, in that future State. For Virtue, from the very Nature of it, is a Principle and Bond of Union, in fome Degree, amongst all who are endued with it and known to each other; fo as that by it, a good Man cannot but recommend himfelf to the Favour and Protection of all virtuous Beings, throughout the whole Univerfe, who can be acquainted with his Character, and can any way interpose in his Behalf, in any Part of his Duration. And one might add, that suppose all this advantageous Tendency of Virtue to become Effect, amongst one or more Orders of Creatures, in any diftant Scenes and Periods, and to be feen by any Orders of vitious Creatures, throughout the universal Kingdom of God; this happy Effect of Virtue, would have a Tendency, by way of Example, and poffibly in other Ways, to amend those of them, who are capable of Amendment, and being recovered to a just Sense of Virtue. If our Notions of the Plan of Providence were enlarged, in any fort proportionably to what late Difeoveries have enlarged our Views, with Refpect to the material World; Reprefentations of this Kind, would not appear abfurd or extravagant. However they are not to be taken, as intended for a literal Delineation of what is in Fact the particular Scheme of the Universe, which cannot be known without Revelation;

63

velation; for Suppositions are not to be looked on as true, be- C H A P. caufe not incredible: But they are mentioned to fhew, that our III. finding Virtue to be hindred from procuring to itfelf fuch Superiority and Advantages, is no Objection against its having, in the effential Nature of the thing, a Tendency to procure them. And the Suppositions now mentioned, do plainly shew this; for they shew, that these Hindrances are so far from being necessary, that we ourfelves can eafily conceive, how they may be removed in future States, and full Scope be granted to Virtue. And all these advantageous Tendencies of it, are to be confidered as Declarations of God in its Favour. This however is taking a pretty large Compass; though it is certain, that, as the material World appears to be, in a manner, boundlefs and immense, there must be some Scheme of Providence vast in Proportion to it.

But let us return to the Earth our Habitation; and we shall fee this happy Tendency of Virtue, by imagining an Inftance not fo vaft and remote : by fuppofing a Kingdom or Society of Men upon it, perfectly virtuous, for a Succeffion of many ages; to which, if you pleafe, may be given a Situation advantageous for univerfal Monarchy. In fuch a State, there would be no fuch thing as Faction: but Men of the greatest Capacity would of Courfe, all along, have the chief Direction of Affairs willingly yielded to them; and they would fhare it among themfelves without Envy. Each of thefe would have the Part affigned him, to which his Genius was peculiarly adapted; and others, who had not any diftinguished Genius, would be fafe, and think themfelves very happy, by being under the Protection and Guidance of those who had. Publick Determinations would really be the Refult of the united Wifdom of the Community; and they would faithfully be executed, by the united Strength of it. Some would in a higher Way

64

PART Way contribute, but all would in fome Way contribute, to the publick Profperity; and in it, each would enjoy the Fruits of his own Virtue. And as Injustice, whether by Fraud or Force, would be unknown among themfelves; fo they would be fufficiently fecured from it in their Neighbours. For Cunning and falle Self-intereft, Confederacies in Injustice, ever flight, and accompanied with Faction and inteffine Treachery; these on one hand, would be found mere childish Folly and Weakness, when fet in Oppofition, against Wifdom, publick Spirit, Union inviolable, and Fidelity on the other : allowing both a fufficient Length of Yeats to try their Force. Add the general Influence, which fuch a Kingdom would have over the Face of the Earth, by Way of Example particularly, and the Reverence which would be paid it. It would plainly be fuperior to all others, and the World must gradually come under its Empire: not by Means of lawless Violence; but partly by what must be allowed to be just Conquest; and partly by other Kingdoms submitting themfelves voluntarily to it, throughout a Courfe of Ages, and claiming its Protection, one after another, in fucceflive Exigencies. The Head of it would be an universal Monarch, in another Senfe than any Mortal has yet been; and the eastern Stile would be literally applicable to him, that all People, Nations, and Languages should ferve him. And though indeed our Knowledge of human Nature, and the whole Hiftory of Mankind, fhew the Impoffibility, without fome miraculous Interpositions, that a Number of Men, here on Earth, should unite in one Society or Government, in the Fear of God and universal Practice of Virtue; and that such a Government should continue fo united for a Succession of Ages: yet admitting or fuppofing this, the Effect would be as now drawn out. And thus, for Inftance, the wonderful Profperity promifed to the Jewish Nation in the Scripture, would be, in a great Meafure, the Confequence of what is predicted of them; that the People

People flould be all righteous and inherit the Land for ever³. The C H A P. Predictions of this Kind, for there are many of them, cannot III. come to pafs, in the prefent known Courfe of Nature; but fuppofe them come to pafs, and then the Profperity promifed muft naturally follow, to a very confiderable Degree.

Confider now, the general System of Religion; that the Government of the World is uniform, and one, and moral; that Virtue and Right shall finally have the Advantage, and prevail over Fraud and lawlefs Force, over the Deceits as well as the Violence of Wickedness, under the Conduct of one supreme Governor: And from the Obfervation above made, it will appear, that God has, by our Reafon, given us to fee, a peculiar Connection in the feveral Parts of this Scheme, and a Tendency towards the Completion of it, arising out of the very Nature of Virtue; which Tendency is to be confidered as fomewhat moral in the effential Constitution of Things. If any fhould think all this to be of little Importance, I defire him to confider, what he would think, if Vice had, effentially and in its Nature, these advantageous Tendencies; or if Virtue had effentially the direct contrary ones.

But it may be objected, that, notwithstanding all these natural Effects and these natural Tendencies of Virtue; yet Things may be Now going on throughout the Universe, and may go on Hereafter, in the same mixt way as here at present upon Earth; Virtue fometimes prosperous, sometimes depressed, Vice sometimes successful, sometimes punished. The Answer to which is, that it is not the Purpose of this Chapter, nor of this Treatife, properly to prove God's perfect moral Government over the World, or the Truth of Religion; but to observe what there is in the Constitution and Course of Nature, to confirm the proper Proof of it, supposed to be known: And that the

^a If. lx. 21.

Weight

66

PART Weight of the foregoing Observations to this Purpole, may be thus diffinctly proved. Pleafure and Pain are to a certain De-S gree, fay to a very high Degree, diftributed amongst us without any apparent Regard to the Merit or Demerit of Characters. And were there nothing elfe, concerning this Matter, difcernible in the Conftitution and Courfe of Nature, there would be no Ground from the Conftitution and Courfe of Nature, to hope or to fear, that Men would be rewarded or punished hereafter according to their Deferts ; which however, it is to be remarked, implies, that even then there would be no Ground from Appearances to think, that Vice upon the whole would have the Advantage, rather than that Virtue would. And thus the Proof of a future State of Retribution, would reft upon the usual known Arguments for it; which are I think plainly unanfwerable, and would be fo, though there were no additional Confirmation of them from the Things above infifted on: But these Things are a very strong Confirmation of them. For,

> First, They shew, that the Author of Nature is not indifferent to Virtue and Vice. They amount to a Declaration from Him, determinate and not to be evaded, in Favour of one, and against the other; such a Declaration, as there is nothing to be set over against or answer, on the Part of Vice. So that were a Man, laying asside the proper Proof of Religion, to determine from the Course of Nature only, whether it were most probable, that the Righteous or the Wicked, would have the Advantage in a future Life; there can be no Doubt, but that he would determine the Probability to be, that the former would. And therefore, since in general there is not any Medium between Virtue and Vice, though possibly in particular Cafes there may, fince in general a Man must behave either well or ill; the Course of Nature, in the View of it now given, furnishes us with a real practical Proof of the Obligations of Religion.

Secondly,

67

Secondly, When, conformably to what Religion teaches us, CHAP. God shall reward and punish Virtue and Vice as such, fo as that III. every one shall, upon the whole, have his Deferts; this distributive Justice will not be a thing different in Kind, but only in Degree, from what we experience in His prefent Government: it will be That in Effect, toward which we now fee a Tendency : it will be no more than the Completion of that moral Government, the Principles and Beginning of which, have been thewn, beyond all Difpute, difcernible in the prefent Conflicution and Courfe of Nature. And from hence it follows,

Thirdly, That, as, without taking into Confideration the moral Government of God, our Experience of the Kinds and Degrees of Happiness and Misery, which we do experience at prefent; gives natural Ground to hope for and to fear, higher Degrees, and other Kinds of both in a future State, a future State admitted: fo the moral Government of God, which we experience, or that Virtue and Vice are, in the Manners abovementioned, actually rewarded and punished at prefent, in a certain Degree; gives natural Ground to hope and to fear, that they may be rewarded and punished in an higher Degree Hereafter : though this alone is not fufficient Ground to think, that they will be rewarded and punished in a higher Degree, rather than in a lower. But then,

Lafly, There is fufficient Ground to think fo, from the good and bad Tendencies of Virtue and Vice. For these Tendencies are effential, and founded in the Nature of Things; whereas the Hindrances to their becoming Effect, are, in numberlefs Cafes, not neceflary, but artificial only. Now it may be much more ftrongly argued, that thefe Tendencies, as well as the actual Rewards and Punishments, of Virtue and Vice, which arife directly out of the Nature of things, will remain K 2

PART remain Hereafter, than that the accidental Hindrances of them will. I. And if these Hindrances do not remain, those Rewards and Punishments cannot but be carried on much further towards the Perfection of Moral Government, *i. e.* the Tendencies of Virtue and Vice will become Effect: But when, or where, or in what particular Way, cannot be known at all but by Revelation.

> Upon the whole: There is a Kind of moral Government implied in God's natural Government; i Virtue and Vice are naturally rewarded and punished as beneficial and mischievous to Society; k and rewarded and punished respectively as such. The Notion then of a moral Scheme of Government, is not fictitious, but natural; for it is fuggefted to our Thoughts by the Conftitution and Courfe of Nature: and the Execution of this Scheme is actually begun, in the Inftances here mentioned. And thefe things are to be confidered, as a Declaration of the Author of Nature, for Virtue, and against Vice; they give a Credibility to the Supposition of their being rewarded and punished Hereafter; and alfo Ground to hope and to fear, that they may be rewarded and punished in higher Degrees than they are Here. And as all this is confirmed, fo the Argument for Religion, from the Conftitution and Courfe of Nature, is carried on farther, by obferving; that there are natural Tendencies, and, in innumerable Cafes, only artificial Hindrances, to this moral Scheme's being carried on much farther towards Perfection, than it is at prefent^m. The Notion then of a moral Scheme of Government, much more perfect than what is feen, is not a fictitious, but a natural Notion; for it is fuggested to our Thoughts, by the effential Tendencies of Virtue and Vice. And thefe Tendencies are to be confidered, as Intimations, as implicit Promifes and Threatnings, from the Author of Nature, of much greater Rewards and Pu-

¹ p. 48, 49. ^k p. 49, 50. ¹ p. 50, &c. ^m p. 57, &c. nifhments

nishments to follow Virtue and Vice, than do at prefent. And C H A P. indeed, every natural Tendency, which is to continue, but which III. is hindred from becoming Effect by only accidental Caufes, affords a Prefumption, that fuch Tendency will, fome Time or other, become Effect; a Prefumption in Degree proportionable to the Length of the Duration, through which fuch Tendency will continue. And from these things together, arises a real Prefumption, that the Moral Scheme of Government established in Nature. shall be carried on much farther towards Perfection hereafter; and, I think, a Prefumption that it will be abfolutely compleated. But from these things, joined with the moral Nature which God has given us, confidered as given us by Him, arifes a practical Proof m that it will; a Proof from Fact, and therefore a diffinct one from That, which is deduced from the eternal and unalterable Relations, the Fitness and Unfitness of Actions.

P See this Proof drawn out briefly, Ch. vi. p.

CHAP.

CHAP. IV.

Of a State of Probation, as implying Trial, Difficulties and Danger.

PART THE general Doctrine of Religion, that our present Life is a State of Probation for a future one, comprehends under it feveral particular things, diffinct from each other. But the first and most common Meaning of it, feems to be, that our future Interest is now depending, and depending upon Ourfelves; that we have Scope and Opportunities Here, for that good and bad Behaviour, which God will reward and punish Hereafter; together with Temptations to one, as well as Inducements of Reafon to the other. And this is, in great meafure, the fame with faying, that we are under the moral Government of God, and to give an Account of our Actions to Him. For the Notion of a future Account and general righteous Judgment, implies fome Sort of Temptations to what is wrong; otherwife there would be no moral Poffibility of Doing wrong, nor Ground for Judgment, or Diferimination. But there is this Difference, that the Word Probation is more diffinctly and particularly expressive of, Allurements to wrong, or Difficulties in adhering uniformly to what is right, and the Danger of Mifcarrying by fuch Temptations, than the Words Moral Government. A State of Probation then, as thus particularly implying in it, Trial, Difficulties and Danger, may require to be confidered diffinctly by iffelf.

And as the moral Government of God which Religion teach- C H A P. es us, implies, that we are in a State of Trial with regard to a IV. S future World; fo alfo his natural Government over us, implies, that we are in a State of Trial, in the like Senfe, with regard to the prefent World. Natural Government by Rewards and Punichments, as much implies natural Trial, as moral Government does moral Trial. The natural Government of God here meant,^a confifts, in his annexing Pleafure to fome Actions, and Pain to others, in our Power to do or forbear, and giving us Notice of fuch Appointment beforehand. This neceffarily implies, that he has made our Happiness and Mifery, or our Intereft, to depend in Part upon Ourselves. And so far as Men have Temptations to any Courfe of Action, which will probably,bcca u them greater temporal Inconvenience and Uneafinefs, than Sacisfaction; fo far, their temporal Interest is in Danger from themfelves, or they are in a State of Trial with respect to it. Now People often blame others, and even themfelves, for their Misconduct in their temporal Concerns. And we find many are greatly wanting to themfelves, and mils of that natural Happinels, which they might have obtained in the prefent Life a perhaps every one does in some Degree. But many run themfelves into great Inconvenience, and into extream Diftrefs and Mifery; not through Incapacity of knowing better, and doing better for themselves, which would be nothing to the prefent Purpofe; but through their own Fault. And these things neceffarily imply Temptation, and Danger of miscarrying, in a greater or lefs Degree, with refpect to our worldly Intereft or Happinefs. Every one too, without having Religion in his Thoughts, fpeaks of the Hazards which young People run, upon their fetting out in the World; Hazards from other Caufes than their Ignorance merely, and unavoidable Accidents. And

^a Ch. ii.

fome

P A R T fome Courfes of Vice, at leaft, being contrary to Men's worldly
 I. Intereft or Good, Temptations to thefe, muft at the fame time be Temptations to foregoe our prefent, and our future Intereft. Thus, in our natural or temporal Capacity, we are in a State of Trial, *i. e.* of Difficulty and Danger, analogous, or like to our moral and religious Trial.

72

This will, more diffinctly, appear to any one, who thinks it worth while, more diffinctly, to confider, what it is which conflitutes our Trial in both Capacities, and obferve how Mankind behave under it.

And that which constitutes this our Trial, in both these Capacities, must be, either somewhat in our external Circumstances, or in our Nature. For, on the one hand, Persons may be betrayed into wrong Behaviour upon Occasions of Surprize, or, overcome upon any other very fingular and extraordinary external Occafions, who would, otherwife, have preferved their Character of Prudence and of Virtue: And in fuch Cafes, every one, in fpeaking of these Person's wrong Behaviour, would impute it to fuch particular external Circumstances. On the other hand. Men who have contracted Habits of Vice and Folly of any kind, or have fome particular Paffions in Excefs, will feek Opportunities, and, as it were, go out of their way, to gratify themselves in these Respects, at the Expence of their Wisdom and their Virtue; led to it, as every one would fay, not by external Temptations, but by fuch Habits and Paffions. And the Account of this last is, that particular Passions are no more coincident with Prudence, or that reafonable Self-love, the End of which is our worldly Intereft, than they are with the Principle of Virtue and Religion; but often draw contrary ways to one as well as to the other: and fo fuch particular Paffions are as much Temptations, to act imprudently with regard to our worldly

Ŧ

worldly Intereft, as to act vitioufly." However, as when we CHAP. fay, Men are mifled by external Circumstances of Temptation; IV. it cannot but be understood, that there is fomewhat within them- \sim felves, to render those Circumstances Temptations, or to render them fusceptible of Imprefiions from them: So when we fay, they are mifled by Paffions; it is always fuppofed, that there are Occasions, Circumstances, and Objects, exciting these Passions, and affording Means for gratifying them. And therefore, Temptations from within, and from without, coincide, and mutually imply each other. Now the feveral external Objects of the Appetites, Passions, and Affections, being prefent to the Senfes, or offering themfelves to the Mind, and fo exciting the Paffions; not only in Cafes where they can be gratified confiftently with Innocence and Prudence, but alfo in Cafes where they cannot, and yet can be gratified imprudently and vitioufly: this, as really puts them in Danger of voluntarily foregoing their prefent Interest or Good, as their future, and as really renders Self-denial neceffary to fecure one, as the other; i. e. We are in a like State of Trial with Refpect to both, by the very fame Paffions, excited by the very fame means. Thus Mankind having a temporal Interest depending upon themselves, and a prudent Course of Behaviour being neceffary to fecure it; Paffions inordinately excited, by Means of Example, or by any other external Circumstance; or Paffions excited towards Objects, at Times, or in Degrees, impofible to be gratified confistently with worldly Prudence: these are Temptations, dangerous, and too often successful Temptations, to forego a greater temporal Good for a lefs; i. e. to forego what is, upon the whole, our temporal Interest, for the fake of a present Gratification. This is a Description of our State of Trial in our temporal Capacity. Substitute now the Word future for temporal, and Virtue for Prudence ; and it

will

b See Sermons preached at the Rolls, 1726. 2d. Ed. p. 205. Ec. Pref. p. 25, Ec. Serm. p. 21, Ec.

PART will be just as proper a Description of our State of Trial in I. our religious Capacity : so analagous are they to each other.

74

If, from Confideration of this our like State of Trial in both Capacities, we go on to observe farther how Mankind behave under it; we shall find, there are some, who have so little Sense of it, that they fcarce look beyond the passing Day: They are fo taken up with prefent Gratifications, as to have, in a manner, no Feeling of Confequences, no regard to their future Eafe or Fortune in this Life; any more than to their Happiness in another. Some appear to be blinded and deceived by inordinate Paffion, in their worldly Concerns, as much as in Religion. Others are, not deceived, but, as it were, forcibly carried away by the like Paffions, against their better Judgment, and feeble Refolutions too of acting better. And there are Men, and truly they are not a few, who shamelessly avow, not their Interest, but their mere Will and Pleasure, to be their Law of Life; and who, in open Defiance of every thing that is reafonable, will go on in a Course of vitious Extravagance, foreseeing, with no Remorfe and little Fear, that it will be their temporal Ruin: and fome of them, under the Apprehenfion of the Confequences of Wickedness in another State. And to speak in the most moderate Way, human Creatures are not only continually liable to go wrong voluntarily, but we fee likewife that they often actually do fo, with regard to their temporal Interests, as well as with regard to Religion.

Thus our Difficulties and Dangers, or our Trials, in our temporal and our religious Capacity, as they proceed from the fame Caufes, and have the fame Effect upon Men's Behaviour, are evidently analogous, and of the fame Kind.

It may be added, that the Difficulties and Dangers of Mifcarry- C H A P. ing in our religious State of Trial, are greatly increafed, one is rea-IV. dy to think, are in a manner wholly made, by the ill Behaviour of Others; by a Wrong Education, wrong in a moral Senfe, fometimes politively vitious; by general bad Example; by the difhoneft Artifices, which are got into Bufinefs of all Kinds; and, in very many Parts of the World, by Religion's being corrupted into Superftitions, which indulge Men in their Vices: In like manner, the Difficulties of conducting ourfelves prudently in respect to our present Interest, and our Danger of being led afide from purfuing it, are greatly increased, by a foolish Education; and, after we come to mature Age, by the Extravagance and Carelefsnefs of Others, whom we have Intercourfe with; and by miftaken Notions, very generally prevalent, and taken up from common Opinion, concerning temporal Happinefs, and wherein it confifts. And by Perfons own Negligence and Folly in their temporal Affairs, no lefs than by a Courfe of Vice, they bring themfelves into new Difficulties; and, by Habits of Indulgence, become lefs qualified to go through them : And one Irregularity after another, embarraffes things to fuch a Degree, that they know not where about they are; and often makes the Path of Conduct fo intricate and perplexed, that it is difficult to trace it out; difficult even to determine what is the prudent or the moral Part. Thus, for Instance, wrong Behaviour in one Stage of Life, Youth; wrong, I mean, confidering ourfelves only in our temporal Capacity, without taking in Religion; this, in feveral ways, increases the Difficulties of right Behaviour in mature Age; i. e. puts us into a more difadvantageous State of Trial in our temporal Capacity.

We are an inferior Part of the Creation of God.. There are natural Appearances of our being in a State of Degrada-L 2 sion,

76

PART tion. And we certainly are in a Condition, which does not seem, by any means, the most advantageous we could imagine or defire, either in our natural or moral Capacity; for fecuring either our present or future Interest. However, this Condition, low, and careful, and uncertain as it is, does not afford any just Ground of Complaint. For, as Men may manage their temporal Affairs with Prudence, and fo pafs their Days here on Earth in tolerable Ease and Satisfaction, by a moderate Degree of Care; fo likewife with regard to Religion, there is no more required than what they are well able to do, and what they must be greatly wanting to themfelves, if they neglect. And for Perfons to have That put upon them, which they are well able to go through, and no more, we naturally confider as an equitable thing; fuppoling it done by proper Authority: Nor have we any more reason to complain of it, with regard to the Author of Nature, than of his not having given us other Advantages, belonging to other Orders of Creatures.

> But the thing here infifted upon is, that the State of Trial, which Religion teaches us we are in, is rendered credible, by its being throughout uniform and of a piece with the general Conduct of Providence towards us, in all other Refpects within the Compafs of our Knowledge. Indeed if Mankind confidered in their natural Capacity, as Inhabitants of this World only, found themfelves, from their Birth to their Death, in a fettled State of Security and Happinefs, without any Sollicitude or Thought of their own : or if they were in no Danger of being brought into Inconveniences and Diftrefs, by Carelefsnefs, or the Folly of Paffion, through bad Example, the Treachery of others, or the deceitful Appearances of things : Were This our natural Condition ; then it might feem ftrange, and be fome Prefumption againft the Truth of Religion, that it reprefents

" Fait II. Chap. v. p.

our

77

our future and more general Interest, as not fecure of course, C H A P. but as depending upon our Behaviour, and requiring fuch Re- IV. collection and Self-government to obtain it. For it might be alledged, what you fay is our Condition in one Respect, is not in any wife of a Sort with what we find, by Experience, our Condition is in another. Our whole prefent Interest is fecured to our hands, without any Sollicitude of ours; and why fhould not our future Intereft, if we have any fuch, be fo too? But fince, on the contrary, Thought and Confideration, the voluntary denying ourfelves many Things which we defire, and a Courfe of Behaviour, far from being always agreeable to us; are abfolutely neceffary to our acting even a common decent, and common prudent Part, fo as to pass with any Satisfaction through the prefent World, and be received upon any tolerable good Terms in it: fince this is the Cafe, all Prefumption against Self-denyal and Attention being neceffary to fecure our higher Interest, is removed. Had we not Experience, it might, perhaps speciously, be urged, that it is improbable any thing of Hazard and Danger fhould be put upon us by an infinite Being; when every thing which is Hazard and Danger in our manner of Conception, and will end in Error, Confusion, and Misery, is now already certain in his Fore-knowledge. And indeed, why any thing of Hazard and Danger should be put upon fuch frail Creatures as we are, may well be thought a Difficulty in Speculation; and cannot but be fo till we know the whole, or, however, much more of the Cafe. But still the Constitution of Nature is as it is. Our Happiness and Mifery are trusted to our Conduct, and made to depend upon it. Somewhat, and, in many Circumstances, a great deal too, is put upon Us, either to do, or to fuffer, as we chufe; of which, all the various Miferies of Life, which People bring upon themfelves by Negligence and Folly, and might have avoided by proper Care, are Inftances : Which Miferies

PART Miferies are beforehand, just as contingent and undetermined as I. their Conduct, and left to be determined by it.

78

These Observations are an Answer to the Objections against the Credibility of a State of Trial, as implying Temptations, and real Danger of miscarrying, with regard to our general Intereft, under the moral Government of God: and they fhew, that, if we are at all to be confidered in fuch a Capacity, and as having fuch an Interest; the general Analogy of Providence must lead us to apprehend ourselves in Danger of miscarrying, in different Degrees, as to this Interest, by our neglecting to act the proper Part belonging to us in that Capacity. For we have a prefent Interest, under the Government of God which we experience here upon Earth. This Interest, as it is not forced upon us, fo neither is it offered to our Acceptance, but to our Acquisition; in such Sort, as that we are in Danger of miffing it, by means of Temptations to neglect, or act contrary to it; and without Attention and Self-denial, must and do mils of It is then perfectly credible, that this may be our Cafe, it. with Respect to that chief and final Good, which Religion propofes to us,

CHAP.

CHAP. V.

Of a State of Probation, as intended for moral Discipline and Improvement.

ROM the Confideration of our being in a Probation-CHAP. state, of fo much Difficulty and Hazard, naturally arifes the Queftion, how we came to be placed in it. But fuch a general Inquiry as this, would be found involved in unanfwerable Difficulties. For, though fome of these Difficulties would be leffened by obferving, that all Wickednefs is voluntary, as is implied in its very Notion; and many of the Miferies of Life have apparent good Effects: yet, when we confider other Circumftances belonging to both, and what must be the Confequence of the former in a Life to come; it cannot but be acknowledged plain Folly and Prefumption, to pretend to give an Account of the whole Reafons of this Matter; the whole Reafons of our being allotted a Condition, out of which, fo much Wickednefs and Mifery, fo circumstanced, would in Fact arife. Whether it be not beyond our Facultics, not only to find out, but even to understand, the whole Account of This; or, though we should be supposed capable of understanding it, yet, whether it would be of Service or Prejudice to us to be informed of it; is impofilble to fay. But as our prefent Condition, can in no wife be fhewn inconfiftent with the perfect moral Government of God; fo Religion teaches us, we were placed in it, that by the Practice of Virtue, we might qualifie ourfelves for That to follow it : Which, though but a partial Anfwer, a very partial one indeed, to the Inquiry now mentioned; vet, is a more fatisfactory Anfwer to Another.

PART Another, which is of real, and of the utmost Importance to us to have answered; the Inquiry, what is our Business here? Ι. The End then, the known End, why we are placed in a State of fo much Affliction, Hazard, and Difficulty, is, our Improvement in Virtue and Piety, as the requifite Qualification for a future State of Happiness and Security.

So

Now the Beginning of Life, confidered as an Education for mature Age in the prefent World, appears plainly, at first fight, analagous to this our Trial for a future one; the former being in our temporal Capacity, what the latter is in our religious Capacity. But fome Obfervations common to both of them, and a more diffinct Confideration of each, will more diffinctly flew, the Extent and Force of the Analogy between them; and the Credibility, which arifes from hence, as well as from the Nature of the thing, that the prefent Life was intended to be a State of Discipline for a future one.

I. Every Species of Creatures is, we fee, defigned for a particular way of Life; to which, the Nature, the Capacities, Temper, and Qualifications, of each Species, are as neceffary, as their external Circumstances. Both come into the Notion of fuch State, or particular way of Life, and are conftituent Parts of it. Change a Man's Capacities or Character to the Degree, in which it is conceivable they may be changed, and he would be altogether uncapable of a human Course of Life, and human Happiness; as uncapable, as if, his Nature continuing unchanged, he were placed in a World, where he had no Sphere of Action, nor any Objects to answer his Appetites, Passions, and Affections of any Sort. One thing is fet over against another, as an antient Writer expresses it. Our Nature corresponds to our external Condition. Without this Correspondence, there would be no Poffibility of any fuch thing as human Life and human Happinefs; which Life and Happinefs are, therefore, a Refult from

from our Nature and Condition jointly: meaning by human CHAP. Life, not living in the literal Senfe, but the whole complex V_{\cdot} Notion commonly underftood by those Words. So that, without determining, what will be the Employment and Happinefs, the particular Life, of good Men hereafter; there must be some determinate Capacities, fome neceffary Character and Qualifications, without which, Perfons cannot but be utterly uncapable of it: in like manner, as there must be fome, without which, Men would be uncapable of their prefent State of Life. Now,

SI

II. The Conftitution of human Creatures, and indeed of all Creatures which come under our Notice, is fuch, as that they are capable of naturally becoming qualified for States of Life, for which they were once wholly unqualified. In Imagination we may indeed conceive of Creatures, uncapable of having any of their Faculties naturally enlarged, or as being unable naturally to acquire any new Qualifications: But the Faculties of every Species known to us, are made for Enlargement; for Acquirements of Experience and Habits. We find ourfelves in particular indued with Capacities, not only of perceiving Ideas, and of Knowledge or perceiving Truth, but also of ftoring up our Ideas and Knowledge by Memory. We are capable, not only of acting, and of having different momentary Imprefilons made upon us; but of getting a new Facility in any Kind of Action, and of fettled Alterations in our Temper or Character. The Power of the two last is the Power of Habits. But neither the Perception of Ideas, nor Knowledge of any Sort, are Habits; though abfolutely neceffary to the forming of them. However, Apprehenfion, Reafon, Memory, which are the Capacities of acquiring Knowledge, are greatly improved by Exercife. Whether the Word Habit is applicable to all thefe Improvements, and in particular how far the Powers of Memory and of Habits, may be Powers of the fame Nature, I shall not inquire. M

PART inquire. But that Perceptions come into our Minds readily and of Course, by means of their having been there before, feems a 1. S thing of the fame Sort, as Readinefs in any particular Kind of Action, proceeding from being accustomed to it. And Aptuels to recollect practical Obfervations of Service in our Conduct, is plainly Habit in many Cafes. There are Habits of Perception, and Habits of Action. Instances of the former, are our conftant and even involuntary Readiness, in correcting the Impreffions of our Sight, concerning Magnitudes and Diftances, fo as to fubflitute Judgment in the Room of Senfation imperceptibly to ourfelves. And it feems as if all other Affociations of Ideas not naturally connected, might be called paffive Habits; as properly as our Readiness in understanding Languages upon Sight, or hearing of Words. And our Readiness in speaking and writing of them, are Instances of the latter, of active Habits. For Diffinctness, we may confider Habits, as belonging to the Body, or the Mind; and the latter will be explained by the former. Under the former are comprehended all bodily Activities or Motions, whether graceful or unbecoming, which are owing to Use : Under the latter, general Habits of Life and Conduct, such as those of Obedience and Submission to Authority, or to any particular Person; those of Veracity, Justice, and Charity; those of Attention, Industry, Self-government, Envy, Revenge. And Habits of this latter Kind, feem produced by repeated Acts, as well as the former. And in like manner as Habits belonging to the Body, are produced by external Acts; fo Habits of the Mind are produced by the Exertion of inward practical Principles, i. e. by carrying them into Act, or acting upon them; the Principles of Obedience, of Veracity, Juffice, and Charity. Nor can those Habits be formed by any external Course of Action, otherwise than as it proceeds from thefe Principles: becaufe it is only thefe inward Principles exerted, which are ftrictly Acts of Obedience, of Veracity, of Juftice, and of Charity. So likewife Habits of Attention, Industry, Selfgovernment, are in the fame manner acquired by Exercife; and Habits

Habits of Envy and Revenge by Indulgence, whether in out- CHAP. ward Act, or in Thought and Intention, i. e. inward Act: for fuch Intention is an Act. Refolutions also to do well, are properly Acts. And endeavouring to enforce upon our own Minds, a practical Senfe of Virtue, or to beget in Others that practical Senfe of it, which a Man really has himfelf, are virtuous Acts. All thefe, therefore, may and will contribute towards forming good Habits. But going over the Theory of Virtue in ones Thoughts, talking well, and drawing fine Pictures, of it; this is fo far from neceffarily or certainly conducing to form an Habit of it, in him who thus employs himfelf; that it may harden the Mind in a contrary Courfe, and render it gradually more infenfible, i. e. form an Habit of Infenfibility, to all moral Confiderations. For, from our very Faculty of Habits, paffive Impreffions, by being repeated, grow weaker: Thoughts, by often passing through the Mind, are felt less fenfibly : Being accustomed to Danger, begets Intrepidity, i. e. leffens Fear; to Diftress lessens the Passion of Pity; to Instances of Others Mortality, leffens the fenfible Apprehenfion of our And from these two Observations together, that pracown. tical Habits are formed and ftrengthed by repeated Acts; and that paffive Impreffions, by being repeated upon us, grow weaker; it must follow, that active Habits may be gradually forming and ftrengthening, by a Courfe of acting upon fuch and fuch Motives and Excitements, whilft these Motives and Excitements themfelves are, by proportionable Degrees, growing lefs fenfible, i.e. are continually lefs and lefs fenfibly felt, even as the active Habits ftrengthen. And Experience confirms this; for active Principles, at the very time that they are lefs lively in Perception than they were, are found to be, fome how, wrought more thoroughly into the Temper and Character, and become more effectual in influencing our Practice. The three things just mentioned, may afford Inftances of it. Perception of Danger, is a natural M 2 Excite-

83

V.

84

P A R T Excitement of paffive Fear, and active Caution: And by being inured to Danger, Habits of the latter are gradually wrought, NU at the fame time that the former gradually leffens. Perception of Diftress in others, is a natural Excitement, passively to pity, and actively to relieve it : But let a man fet himfelf to attend to, inquire out, and relieve distressed Persons, and he cannot but grow lefs and lefs fenfibly affected with the various Miferies of Life, with which he must become acquainted; when yet, at the fame time, Benevolence considered, not as a Passion, but as a practical Principle of Action, will ftrengthen : and whilft he paffively compafiionates the diffreffed lefs, he will acquire a greater Aptitude actively to affift and befriend them. So alfo at the fame time that the daily Inftances of Mens dying around us, gives us daily a lefs fenfible paffive Feeling or Apprehenfion of our own Mortality, fuch Inftances greatly contribute to the ftrengthening a practical Regard to it in serious Men; i. e. to forming an Habit of acting with a constant View to it. And this feems again further to shew, that passive Impressions made upon our Minds by Admonition, Experience, Example, though they may have a remote Efficacy, and a very great one, towards forming active Habits, yet, can have this Efficacy no otherwife than by inducing us to fuch a Courfe of Action; and that it is, not being affected fo and fo, but Acting, which forms those Habits: only it must be always remembered, that real Endeavours to enforce good Impreffions upon ourfelves, is a Species of virtuous Action. Nor do we know how far it is possible, in the nature of things, that Effects should be wrought in us at once, equivalent to Habits, i. e. what is wrought by Use and Exercise. However, the thing infifted upon, is, not what may be poffible, but what is in Fact the Appointment of Nature; which is that active Habits are to be formed by Exercife. Their Progrefs may be fo gradual, as to be imperceptible in its Steps: It may be hard, to explain throughout its feveral Parte; and to trace up the Faculty

culty by which we are capable of Habits to its Original, fo as C H A Pto diffinguish it from all others in our Mind : And it seems as if V. contrary Effects were to be ascribed to it. But the thing in general, that our Nature is formed to yield, in some such Manner as this, to Use and Exercise, is Matter of certain Experience.

85

Thus, by accuftoming ourfelves to any Courfe of Action, we get an Aptnefs to go on, a Facility, Readinefs, and often Pleafure, in it. The Inclinations which rendered us averfe to it; grow weaker ; the Difficulties in it, not only the imaginary but the real ones, leffen ; the Reafons for it, offer themfelves of courfe to our Thoughts upon all Occafions ; and the leaft Glimpfe of them is fufficient to make us go on, in a Courfe of Action, to which we have been accuftomed. And practical Principles appear to grow ftronger, abfolutely in themfelves, by Exercife ; as well as relatively, with regard to contrary Principles, which, by being accuftomed to fubmit, do fo habitually, and of Courfe. And thus a new Character, in feveral Refpects, may be formed ; and many Habitudes of Life, not given by Nature, but which Nature directs us to acquire.

III. Indeed we may be affured, that we fhould never have had thefe Capacities of improving by Experience, acquired Knowledge, and Habits, had they not been neceffary, and intended to be made ufe of. And accordingly we find them fo neceffary, and fo much intended, that without them we fhould be utterly uncapable of That, which was the End for which we were made, confidered in our temporal Capacity only; the Employments and Satisfactions of our mature State of Life.

Nature does in no wife qualify us wholly, much lefs at once, for this mature State of Life. Even Maturity of Understanding and bodily Strength, are not only arrived to gradually, but are

86

PAR T are alfo very much owing to the continued Exercife of our Powers of Body and Mind, from Infancy. But if we suppose a I. Perfon brought into the World with both thefe in Maturity, as far as this is conceivable; he would plainly at first be as unqualified for the human Life of mature Age, as an Ideot. He would be in a manner diffracted, with Aftonishment, and Apprehension, and Curiofity, and Sufpence: Nor can one guefs, how long it would be, before he would be familiarized to himfelf and the Objects about him enough, even to fet himfelf to any thing. It may be queftioned too, whether the natural Information of his Sight and Hearing, would be of any manner of use at all to him in acting, before Experience. And it feems, that Men would be ftrangely headftrong and felf-willed, and disposed to exert themfelves with an Impetuofity, which would render Society infupportable, and the living in it impracticable; were it not for fome acquired Moderation and Self-government, fome Aptitude and Readinefs in reftraining themfelves, and concealing their Senfe of things. Want of every thing of this Kind which is learnt, would render a Man as uncapable of Society, as Want of Language would: or as his natural Ignorance of any of the particular Employments of Life, would render him uncapable of providing himfelf with the common Conveniences, or fupplying the neceffary Wants of it. In these Respects, and probably in many more, of which we have no particular Notion, Mankind is left, by Nature, an unformed, unfinished Creature; utterly deficient and unqualified, before the Acquirement of Knowledge, Experience, and Habits, for that mature State of Life, which was the End of his Creation, confidering him as related only to this World.

> But then, as Nature has endued us with a Power of fupplying those Deficiencies, by acquired Knowledge, Experience, and Habits; fo likewife we are placed in a Condition, in Infancy, Childhood.

87

Childhood, and Youth, fitted for it; fitted for our acquiringC H A P. those Qualifications of all Sorts, which we fland in need of, in V. mature Age. Hence Children, from their very Birth, are daily growing acquainted, with the Objects about them, with the Scene in which they are placed, and to have a future Part; and learning fomewhat or other, neceffary to the Performance of it. The Subordinations, to which they are accustomed in domestick Life, teach them Self-government in common Behaviour abroad, and prepare them for Subjection and Obedience to civil Authority. What paffes before their Eyes, and daily happens to them, gives them Experience, Caution against Treachery and Deceir, together with numberless little Rules of Action and Conduct, which we could not live without; and which are learnt fo infenfibly and fo perfectly, as to be miftaken perhaps for Inftinct: though they are the Effect of long Experience and Exercise; as much fo as Language, or Knowledge in particular Bufinefs, or the Qualifications and Behaviour belonging to the feveral Ranks and Professions. Thus the Beginning of our Days, is adapted to be, and is, a State of Education in the Theory and Practice of mature Life. We are much aflifted in it by Example, Inftruction, and the Care of Others; but a great deal is left to Ourfelves to do. And of this, as Part is done eafily and of Courfe; fo Part requires, Diligence and Care, the voluntary Foregoing many things which we defire, and fetting ourfelves to what we should have no Inclination to, but for the Necessity or Expedience of it. For, That Labour and Industry, which the Station of fo many absolutely requires, they would be greatly unqualified for, in Maturity; as those in other Stations would be, for any other Sort of Application; if both were not accuftomed to them in their Youth. And as Perfons behave themfelves, in the general Education which all go through, and in the particular ones adapted to particular Employments; their Character is formed, and made appear; they recommend

PAR T recommend themfelves more or lefs; and are capable of, and I. placed in, different Stations in the Society of Mankind.

88

The former Part of Life then, is to be confidered as an important Opportunity, which Nature puts into our Hands; and which, when loft, is not to be recovered. And our being placed in a State of Difcipline throughout this Life, for another World, is a providential Difpolition of things exactly of the fame Kind, as our being placed in a State of Difcipline during Childhood, for mature Age. Our Condition in both Refpects is uniform and of a piece, and comprehended under one and the fame general Law of Nature.

And if we were not able at all to difcern, how or in what Way, the prefent Life could be our Preparation for another; this would be no Objection against the Credibility of its being fo. For we do not difcern, how Food and Sleep contribute to the Growth of the Body; nor could have any Thought that they would, before we had Experience: Nor do Children at all think, on the one hand, that the Sports and Exercifes, to which they are fo much addicted, contribute to their Health and Growth; nor on the other, of the Neceffity which there is for their being reftrained in them : Nor are they capable of understanding the Ufe of many Parts of Difcipline, which nevertheless they must be made to go through, in order to qualify them for the Bufinefs of mature Age. Were we not able then to difcover, in what Refpects, the prefent Life could form us for a future one; yet nothing would be more supposeable than that it might, in fome Refpects or other, from the general Analogy of Providence. And this, for ought I fee, might reafonably be faid, even though we fhould not take in the Confideration of God's moral Government over the World. But,

IV. Take

IV. Take in this Confideration, and, confequently, that the C II A P. Character of Virtue and Piety, is a neceffary Qualification for the future State; and then we may diffinctly fee, how, and in what Refpects, the prefent Life may be a Preparation for it: fince we want, and are capable of, Improvement in That Character, by moral and religious Habits; and the prefent Life is fit to be a State of Difcipline for fuch Improvement : In like manner as we have already obferved, how, and in what Refpects, Infancy, Childhood, and Youth, are a neceffary Preparation, and a natural State of Difcipline, for mature Age.

Nothing which we at prefent fee, would lead us to the Thought of a folitary unactive State hereafter; but we must fuppofe, according to the Scripture Account of it, if we judge at all from the Analogy of Nature, that it will be a Community: and there is no Shadow of any thing unreafonable in conceiving, though there be no Analogy for it, that this Community will be, as the Scripture represents it, under the more immediate, or, if fuch an Expression may be used, the more sensible Government of God. Nor is our Ignorance, what will be the Employments of this happy Community, nor our confequent Ignorance, what particular Scope or Occafion there will be, for the Exercise of Veracity, Justice, and Charity, amongst the Members of it, with regard to each other; any Proof, that there will be no Sphere of Exercise for those Virtues. Much lefs, if that were poffible, is our Ignorance any Proof, that there will be no Occasion for that Frame of Mind, or Character, which is formed by the daily Practice of those particular Virtues here, and which is a Refult from it. This at leaft must be owned in general, that, as the Government established in the Universe, is moral, the Character of Virtue and Piety, muft, in fome way

or

PART or other, be the Condition of our Happiness, or the Qualificati-I. on for it.

00

Now from what is above observed concerning our natural Power of Habits, it is easy to fee, that we are capable of moral Improvement by Difcipline: And how greatly we want it, need not be proved to any one who is acquainted, with the great Wickedness of Mankind, or even with those Imperfections, which the best are confcious of. But it is not perhaps distinctly attended to by every one, that the Occasion which human Creatures have for Discipline, to improve in them this Character of Virtue and Piety, is to be traced up higher than to Excess in the Paffions, by Indulgence and Habits of Vice. Mankind, and perhaps all finite Creatures, from the very Conftitution of their Nature, before Habits of Virtue, are deficient, and in danger of deviating from what is right; and therefore ftand in need of virtuous Habits for a Security against this Danger. For, together with the general Principle of moral Understanding, we have in our inward Frame, various Affections towards particular external Objects. These Affections are naturally, and of right, fubject to the Government of the moral Principle, as to the Occafions upon which they may be gratified; as to the Times, Degrees, and Manner in which the Objects of them may be purfued: But then the Principle of Virtue can neither excite them, nor prevent their being excited. On the contrary, they are naturally felt, when the Objects of them are prefent to the Mind, not only before all Confideration, whether they can be obtained by lawful Means, but after it is found they cannot. For the natural Objects of Affection continue fo; the Necessaries, Conveniences, and Pleafures of Life, remain naturally defireable; though they cannot be obtained innocently: nay, though they cannot possibly be obtained at all. And when the Objects of any Affection whatever, cannot be obtained without unlawful Means

Means, but may by them; fuch Affection, though its being ex- C H A P. cited, and its continuing fome time in the Mind, be as innocent V. ~~J as it is natural and neceffary; yet cannot but be conceived to 4 have a Tendency to incline Perfons to venture upon fuch unlawful Means: and therefore must be conceived as putting them in fome Danger of it. Now what is the general Security against this Danger, against their actually deviating from Right? As the Danger is, fo alfo must the Security be, from within; from the practical Principle of Virtue^a. And the ftrengthening or improving this Principle, confidered as practical, or as a Principle of Action, will leffen the Danger, or increase the Security against it. And this moral Principle is capable of Improvement, by proper Difcipline and Exercife: by recollecting the practical Imprefiions made upon us, by Example and Experience: and, inftead of following Humour and mere Inclination, by continually attending to the Equity and Right of the Cafe, in whatever we are engaged, be it in greater or lefs Matters; and accuftoming ourfelves always to act upon it; as being itself the just and natural Motive of Action: and as this moral Courfe of Behaviour, must necessarily, under divine Government, be our final Interest. Thus the Principle of Virtue, improved into an Habit, of which Improvement we are thus capable, will plainly be, in Proportion to the Strength of it, a Security

^a It may be thought, that a Senfe of Intereft, would as effectually reftrain Creatures from doing wrong. But if by a *Senfe of Intereft*, is meant a fpeculative Conviction or Belief, that fuch and fuch Indulgence would occafion them greater Uncafinefs, upon the whole, than Satisfaction; it is contrary to prefent Experience to fay, that this Senfe of Intereft is fufficient to reftrain them from thus indulging themfelves. And if by a *Senfe of Intereft*, is meant a practical Regard to what is upon the whole our Happinefs; this is not only coincident with the Principle of Virtue or moral Reftitude, but is a Part of the Idea itfelf. And it is evident this reafonable Self-love wants to be improved, as really as any Principle in our Nature. For we daily fee it overmatched, not only by the more boilterous Paffions, but by Curiofity, Shame, Love of Imitation, by any thing, even Indolence : efpecially if the Intereft, the temporal Intereft, fuppofe, which is the End of fuch Selflove, be at a Diflance. So greatly are profligate Men mittaken, when they affirm they are wholly governed by Intereftednefs and Self-love. And fo little Caufe is there for Moralifts to difelaim this Principle. See p. 72, 73.

againf

PART against the Danger which finite Creatures are in, from the very Na-I. ture of Propension, or particular Affections. This way of putting the Matter, supposes particular Affections to remain in a future State, which it is fearce possible to avoid supposing. And if they do, we clearly see, that acquired Habits of Virtue and Selfgovernment, may be necessary for the Regulation of them. However, though we were not diffinctly to take in this Supposition, but to speak only in general; the thing really comes to the fame. For Habits of Virtue, thus acquired by Discipline, are Improvement in Virtue; and Improvement in Virtue, must be Advancement in: Happines, if the Government of the Universe be moral.

92

From thefe things we may obferve, and it will farther flew. this our natural and original Need of being improved by Discipline, to observe, how it comes to pass; that Creaturesmade upright, fall; and those who preferve their Uprightness, by fo doing, raife themfelves to a more fecure State of Virtue. To fay that the former is accounted for by the Nature of Liberty, is to fay no more, than that an Event's actually happening, is accounted for by a mere Poffibility of its happening. But it feems diffinctly conceivable, from the very Nature of particular Affections or Propensions. For, suppose Creatures intended for fuch a particular State of Life, for which, fuch Propensions were neceffary: Suppose them endued with fuch Propensions, together with moral Understanding, as well including, a practical Senfe of Virtue, as a speculative Perception of it; and that all these feveral Principles, both natural and moral, forming an inward Conftitution of Mind, were in the most exact Proportion possible, i. e. in a Proportion the most exactly adapted to their intended State of Life. Such Creatures would be made upright, or finitely perfect. Now particular Propensions, from their very Nature, must be felt, the Objects of them being present; though they cannot be gratified at all, or not with the Allowance

93

ance of the moral Principle: But if they can without, then C H A P, fuch Propensions must be conceived to have some Tendency, in V. how low a Degree foever, yet they cannot but be conceived to have fome Tendency, to induce Perfons to fuch forbidden Gratification. This Tendency, in fome one particular Propension, may be increased, by Occasions naturally exciting it oftener occurring, than Occasions exciting others. The least voluntary Indulgence in forbidden Circumstances, though but in Thought, will increase this wrong Tendency; and may increase it further, till, peculiar Conjunctures perhaps confpiring, it becomes Effect; and Danger of deviating from Right, ends in actual Deviation from it: a Danger neceffarily arifing from the very Nature of Propension, and which therefore could not have been prevented ;. though it might have been efcaped, or got innocently through. The Cafe would be, as if we were to fuppofe a firait Path marked out for a Perfon, in which, fuch a Degree of Attention would keep him fleady: But if he would not attend in this Degree, any one of a thousand Objects catching his Eye, might lead him out of it. Now it is impossible to fay, how much, even the first full overt Act of Irregularity, might diforder the inward Conftitution; unfettle the Adjustments, and alter the Proportions, which formed it, and in which the Uprightness of its Make confisted : But Repetition of Irregularities would produce Habits. And thus the Conftitution would be spoiled; and Creatures made upright, become corrupt and depraved, in their fettled Character, proportionablyto their repeated Irregularities, in occafional Acts. But on the contrary, these Creatures might have improved and raifed themfelves, to an higher and more fecure State of Virtue, by the contrary Behaviour; by fleadily following the moral Principle, fupposed to be one Part of their Nature, and thus withstanding their unavoidable Danger of Defection; unavoidable, becaufe arifing neceffarily from Propension, the other Part of their Nature. For by thus preferving their Integrity for fome

94

PAR T fome Time, their Danger would leffen, fince Propensions by being inured to fubmit, would do it more eafily and of Courfe; and Ι. S their Security against this lessening Danger would increase, fince the moral Principle would gain additional Strength by Exercife: both which are implied in the Notion of virtuous Habits. Thus vitious Indulgence, is not only criminal in itfelf, but alfo depraves the inward Constitution and Character. And virtuous Self-government, is not only right in itself, but also improves the inward Constitution or Character: and may improve it to fuch a Degree, that though we should suppose it impossible, for particular Affections to be absolutely coincident with the moral Principle, and confequently fhould allow, that those Creatures would for ever remain defectible; yet their Danger of actually deviating from Right, may be almost infinitely leffened, and they fully fortified against what remains of it: if That may be called Danger, against which, there is an adequate effectual Security. But still, this their higher Perfection may remain to confift in Habits of Virtue formed in a State of Difcipline, and this their more compleat Security remain to proceed from them. And thus it is plainly conceivable, that Creatures without Blemish, as they come out of the Hands of God, may be in Danger of going wrong; and fo may ftand in need of the Security of virtuous Habits, additional to the moral Principle wrought into their Natures by Him. That which is the Ground of their Danger, or their Want of Security, may be confidered as a Deficiency in themfelves, to which virtuous Habits are the natural Supply. And as they are naturally capable of being raifed and improved by Difcipline, it may be a thing fit and requifite, that they should be placed in Circumstances with an Eye to it; in Circumstances peculiarly fitted to be, to them, a State of Discipline for their Improvement in Virtue.

But how much more ftrongly muft this hold with Refpect C H A P. to those, who have corrupted their Natures, are fallen from their original Rectitude, and whose Passions are become excessive by repeated Violations of their inward Constitution. Upright Creatures may want to be improved; depraved Creatures want to be renewed. Education and Discipline, which may be in all Degrees and Sorts of Gentleness and of Severity, is expedient for those; but must be absolutely necessary for these. For these, Discipline of the severer Sort too, and in the higher Degrees of it, must be necessary in order, to wear out vitious Habits; to recover their primitive Strength of Self-government, which Indulgence must have weakned; to repair, as well as raise into an Habit, the moral Principle, in order to their arriving at a fecure State of virtuous Happines.

Now whoever will confider the thing, may clearly fee, that the prefent World is *peculiarly fit* to be a State of Discipline for this Purpofe, to fuch as will fet themfelves to mend and improve. For, the various Temptations with which we are furrounded; our Experience of the Deceits of Wickednefs; having been in many Inftances led wrong Ourfelves; the great Vitiousness of the World; the infinite Disorders consequent upon it; our being made acquainted with Pain and Sorrow, either from our own Feeling of it, or from the Sight of it in Others; these things, though some of them may indeed produce wrong Effects upon our Minds, yet when duly reflected upon, have, all of them, a direct Tendency to bring us to a fettled Moderation and Reafonablenefs of Temper: the contrary both to thoughtlefs Levity, and alfo to that unreftrained Self-will, and violent Bent to follow prefent Inclination, which may be observed in undifciplined Minds. Such Experience as the prefent State affords, of the Frailty of our Nature; of the boundless Extravagances

96

PART vagance of ungoverned Paffion; of the Power which an infinite Being has over us, by the various Capacities of Mifery which S he has given us; in fhort, that Kind and Degree of Experience, which the prefent State affords us, that the Constitution of Nature is fuch as to admit, the Poffibility, the Danger, and the actual Event, of Creatures lofing their Innocence and Happinefs, and becoming vitious and wretched; has a Tendency to give us a practical Senfe of things, very different from a mere speculative Knowledge, that we are liable to Vice, and capable of Mifery. And who knows, whether the Security of Creatures in the highest and most settled State of Perfection, may not in part arife, from their having had fuch a Senfe of things as this, formed, and habitually fixt within them, in fome State of Probation. And paffing through the prefent World with That moral Attention, which is neceffary to the acting a right Part in it, may leave everlafting Impreffions of this Sort upon Our But to be a little more diffinct: Allurements to what Minds. is wrong; Difficulties in the Difcharge of our Duty; our not being able to act an uniform right Part without fome Thought and Care; and the Opportunities which we have, or imagine we have, of avoiding what we diflike, or obtaining what we defire, by unlawful Means, when we either cannot do it at all, or at least not fo easily, by lawful ones ; i. e. the Snares and Temptations of Vice; are what render the prefent World peculiarly fit to be a State of Discipline, to those who will preserve their Integrity: because they render being upon our Guard, Resolution, and the Denial of our Paffions, necefiary in order to That End. And, from the Make of our Nature, the Exercise of such particular Recollection, Intention of Mind, and Self-government, in the Practice of Virtue, has a peculiar Tendency to form Habits of it; as implying, not only a real, but also a more continued Exercife of the virtuous Principle; and perhaps alfo as implying a more intenfe Exercife of it: or a more conftant and a ftronger

ftronger Effort of Virtue exerted into Act. Thus suppose a C H A P. Perfon to know himfelf to be in particular Danger, of doing any V_{\cdot} thing wrong, for fome Time, which yet he fully refolves not to **** V do: Continued Recollection, and keeping upon his Guard, in order to make good his Refolution, is a continued exerting of that Act of Virtue in a bigb Degree, which need have been, and perhaps would have been, only inftantaneous and weak, had the Temptation been fo. It is indeed ridiculous to affert, that Self-denial is effential to Virtue and Piety: But it would have been nearer the Truth, though not frictly the Truth itfelf, to have faid, that it is effential to Difcipline and Improvement. For though Actions materially virtuous, which have no Sort of Difficulty, but are perfectly agreeable to our particular Inclinations, may poffibly be done only from these particular Inclinations, and fo may not be any Exercife of the Principle of Virtue, *i. e.* not be virtuous Actions at all; yet on the contrary, they may: and when they are, they have a Tendency to form and fix the Habit of Virtue : But when the Exercise of the virtuous Principle, is more continued oftener repeated and more intenfe, as it must be in Circumstances of Danger Temptation and Difficulty of any Kind and in any Degree, this Tendency is increafed proportionably; and a more confirmed Habit is the Confequence.

This undoubtedly holds to a certain Length, but how far it may hold, I know not. Neither our intellectual Powers, nor our bodily Strength, can be improved beyond fuch a Degree; and both may be over-wrought. Poflibly there may be fomewhat analogous to this, with refpect to the moral Character; which is fearce worth confidering. And I mention it only, left it fhould come into fome Perfons Thoughts, not as an Exception to the foregoing Obfervations, which perhaps it is; but as a Confutation of them, which it is not. And there may be feveral

4

PART veral other Exceptions. Obfervations of this Kind cannot be I. Supposed to hold minutely, and in every Cafe. It is enough that they hold in general. And these plainly hold so far, as that from them may be seen diffinctly, which is all that is intended by them, that the present World is peculiarly fit to be a State of Difcipline, for our Improvement in Virtue and Piety: in the same Sense as some Sciences, by requiring and engaging the Attention, not to be sure of such Persons as will not, but of such as will, set themselves to them; are fit to form the Mind to Habits of Attention.

93

Indeed the prefent State is fo far from proving in Event, a Difcipline of Virtue to the Generality of Men, that, on the contrary, they feem to make it a Difcipline of Vice. And the Vitiousness of the World is, in different ways, the great Temptation, which renders it a State of virtuous Discipline, in the Degree it is, to good Men. The whole End, and the whole Occafion, of Mankind's being placed in fuch a State as the prefent, is not pretended to be accounted for. That which appears amidst the general Corruption, is, that there are fome Perfons, who, having within them the Principle of Amendment and Recovery, attend to and follow the Notices of Virtue and Religion, be they more clear or more obscure, which are afforded them: And that the prefent World is, not only an Exercise of Virtue in these Persons, but an Exercise of it in Ways and Degrees, peculiarly apt to improve it; apt to improve it in fome Respects, even beyond what the Exercise of it required in a perfectly virtuous Society, or in a Society of equal imperfect Virtue with themfelves, would be. But that the prefent World does not actually become a State of moral Discipline to many, even to the Generality, i. e. that they do not improve or grow better in it, cannot be urged as a Proof, that it was not intended for moral Difcipline, by any who at all obferve the Analogy of

99

of Nature. For, of the numerous Seeds of Vegetables and CHAP. Bodies of Animals, which are adapted and put in the way, to V_{+} improve to fuch a Point or State of natural Maturity and Perfection, we do not fee perhaps one in a million actually to improve to it. Far the greatest Part of them decay before they are improved to it; and appear to be abfolutely deftroved. Yet no one, who does not deny all final Caufes, will deny, that those Seeds and Bodies, which do attain to that Point of Maturity and Perfection, answer the End for which they were really defigned by Nature; and therefore that Nature defigned them for fuch Perfection. And I cannot forbear adding, though it is not to the prefent Purpofe, that the Appearance of fuch an amazing Wafte in Nature, with Refpect to these Seeds and Bodies, by foreign Caufes, is to us as unaccountable, as, what is much more terrible, the prefent and future Ruin of fo many moral Agents, by themfelves, i. e. by Vice.

Against this whole Notion of moral Discipline, it may be objected, in another Way; that fo far as a Courfe of Behaviour materially virtuous, proceeds from Hope and Fear, fo far it is only a Difcipline and Strengthening of Self-love. But Doing what God commands, becaufe he commands it, is Obedience, though it proceeds from Hope or Fear. And a Courfe of fuch Obedience will form Habits of it. And a conftant Regard to Veracity Justice and Charity, may form diffinet Habits of these particular Virtues; and will certainly form Habits of Selfgovernment, and of denying our own Inclinations, whenever Veracity Juffice or Charity requires it. Nor is there any Foundation for this great Nicety, with which fome affect to diflinguish in this Cafe, in order to depreciate all Religion proceeding from Hope or Fear. For, Veracity Juffice and Charity, Regard to God's Authority, and to our own chief Intereft, are not only all three coincident; but each of them is, in itfelf 0 2

P A R T itfelf, a juft and natural Motive or Principle of Action. And I.
I. he who begins a good Life from any one of them, and perfeveres in it, as he is already in fome Degree, fo he cannot fail of becoming more and more, of That Character, which is correfpondent to the Conftitution of Nature as moral; and to the Relation which God ftands in to us as moral Governor of it: nor confequently can he fail of obtaining That Happinefs, which this Conftitution and Relation neceffarily fuppofe connected with that Character.

These several Observations, concerning the active Principle of Virtue and Obedience to God's Commands, is applicable to paffive Submiffion or Refignation to his Will; which is another effential Pare of a right Character, connected with the former, and very much in our Power to form ourfelves to. It may be imagined, that nothing but Afflictions can give Occafion for or require this Virtue, that it can have no Respect to, nor be any way neceffary to qualifie for, a State of perfect Happinefs: But it is not Experience which can make us think thus: Prosperity itself, whilst any thing supposed defireable is not ours, begets extravagant and unbounded Thoughts. Imagination is altogether as much a Source of Difcontent, as any thing in our external Condition. It is indeed true, that there can be no Scope for Patience when Sorrow shall be no more; but there may be Need of a Temper of Mind, which shall have been formed by Patience. For, though Self-love confidered merely as an active Principle, leading us to purfue our chief Intereft, cannot but be uniformly coincident with the Principle of Obedience to God's Commands, our Interest being rightly understood; becaufe this Obedience, and the Purfuit of our own chief Intereft, must be in every Cafe one and the fame thing: yet it may be questioned, whether Self-love confidered merely as the Defire of our own Interest or Happiness, can, from its Nature, be thus. ,Ā

thus abfolutely and uniformly coincident with the Will of God; C H A P. any more than particular Affections can: b coincident in fuch V. Sort, as not to be liable to be excited upon Occafions and in Degrees, impossible to be gratified confistently with the Constitution of things, or the divine Appointments. So that Habits of Refignation may, upon this Account, be requifite for all Creatures; Habits, I fay, which fignify what is formed by Ufe. However, in general it is obvious, that both Self-love and particular Affections in human Creatures, confidered only as paffive Feelings, diffort and rend the Mind; and therefore ftand in need of Difcipline. Now Denial of those particular Affections, in a Courfe of active Virtue and Obedience to God's Will, has a Tendency to moderate them; and feems also to have a Tendency to habituate the Mind, to be easy and fatisfied with that Degree of Happiness which is allotted us, i. e. to moderate Selflove. But the proper Difcipline for Refignation, is Affliction. For a right Behaviour under That Trial; Recollecting ourfelves fo as to confider it in the View, in which Religion teaches us to confider it, as from the Hand of God; Receiving it as what He appoints, or thinks proper to permit, in His World and under His Government; this will habituate the Mind to a dutiful Submiffion. And fuch Submiffion, together with the active Principle of Obedience, make up the Temper and Character in Us, which answers to His Sovereignty; and which abfolutely belongs to the Condition of our Being, as dependent Creatures. Nor can it be faid, that this is only breaking the Mind to a Submiffion to mere Power; for mere Power may be accidental, and precarious, and ufurped: But it is forming within Ourfelves the Temper of Refignation to His rightful Authority, who is, by Nature, fupream over all.

^b p. 90.

Upen

IO2

PART Upon the whole: Such a Character, and fuch Qualifications, I. are neceflary for a mature State of Life in the provide upon us, in Nature alone does in no wife beftow; but has put it upon us, in great Part, to acquire, in our Progress from one Stage of Life to a_ nother, from Childhood, to mature Age: put it upon us to acquire them; by giving us Capacities of Doing it; and by placing us, in the Beginning of Life, in a Condition fit for it. And this is a general Analogy to our Condition in the prefent World, as in a State of moral Difcipline for another. It is in vain then to object, against the Credibility of the present Lifes being intended for this Purpofe; that all the Trouble and the Danger unavoidably accompanying fuch Difcipline, might have been faved us, by our being made at once the Creatures and the Characters, which we were to be. For we experience, that what we were to be, was to be the Effect of what we would Do; and that the general Conduct of Nature is, not to fave us Trouble or Danger, but to make us capable of going through them, and to put it upon us to do fo. Acquirements of our own, Experience and Habits, are the natural Supply to our Deficiencies, and Security against our Dangers; fince it is as plainly natural to fet ourfelves to acquire the Qualifications, as the external things, which we ftand in need of. In particular, it is as plainly a general Law of Nature, that we fhould, with regard to our temporal Interest, form and cultivate practical Principles within us, by Attention, Ufe and Discipline, as any thing whatever is a natural Law; chiefly in the Beginning of Life, but also throughout the whole Course of it. And the Alternative is left to our Choice, either to improve Ourfelves, and better our Condition; or, in Default of fuch Improvement, to remain deficient and It is therefore perfectly credible, from the Analowretched. gy of Nature, that the fame may be our Cafe, with respect to

to the Happineis of a future State, and the Qualifications ne- C H A P. ceffary for it.

There is a third thing, which may feem implied in the prefent World's being a State of Probation; that it is a Theatre of Action, for the Manifestation of Perfons Characters, with refpect to a future one: not to be fure to an All-knowing Being, but to his Creation or Part of it. This may, perhaps, be only a Confequence of our being in a State of Probation, in the other Senfes. However it is not impoffible, that Mens flewing and making manifest, what is in their Heart, what their real Character is, may have Refpect to a future Life, in Ways and Manners which we are not acquainted with: particularly it may be a Means, for the Author of Nature does not appear to do any thing without Means, of their being difpofed of fuitably to their Characters; and of its being known to the Creation, by way of Example. that they are thus difposed of. But not to enter upon any conjectural Account of this; One may just mention, that the Manifestation of Perfons Characters, contributes, very much in various Ways, to the carrying on a great Part of that general Course of Nature, respecting Mankind, which comes under our Obfervation at prefent. I shall only add, that Probation, in both these Senfes, as well as in That treated of in the foregoing Chapter, is implied in moral Government; fince by Perfons Behaviour under it, their Characters cannot but be manifested, and if they behave well, improved.

CHAP.

104

CHAP. VI.

Of the Opinion of Necessity, confidered as influencing Practice.

PART HROUGHOUT the foregoing Treatife it appears, I. that the Condition of Mankind, confidered as Inhabitants of this World only, and under the Government of God which we experience, is greatly analogous to our Condition, as defigned for another World, or under that farther Government, which Religion teaches us. If therefore any affert, as a Fatalist must, that the Opinion of universal Necessity is reconcileable with the former; there immediately arifes a Queftion in the way of Analogy, whether he must not also own it to be reconcileable with the latter, i. e. the System of Religion itself, and the Proof of it. The Reader then will observe, that the Queftion now before us, is not abfolute, Whether the Opinion of Fate be reconcileable with Religion; but hypothetical, Whether, upon Supposition of its being reconcileable with the Constitution of Nature, it be not reconcileable with Religion alfo: Or, what Pretence a Fatalist, not other Persons, but a Fatalist, has to conclude from his Opinion, that there can be no fuch thing as Religion. And as the Puzzle and Obscurity, which must unavoidably arife, from arguing upon to abfurd a Supposition as That of universal Necessity, will, I fear, eafily be feen, it will, I hope, as eafily be excufed.

> But fince it has been all along taken for granted, as a thing proved, that there is an intelligent Author of Nature, or natural

Of the Opinion of Necessity, &c. 105

tural Governor of the World; and fince an Objection may be C II A Pmade against the Proof of this, from the Opinion of universal VI. Neceffity, as it may be supposed, that such Neceffity will itself account for the Origin and Prefervation of all things: it is requiste, that this Objection be distinctly answered; or that it be shewn, that a Fatality, supposed consistent with what we certainly experience, does not destroy the Proof of an intelligent Author and Governor of Nature; before we proceed to consider, whether it destroys the Proof of a moral Governor of it, or of our being in a State of Religion.

Now when it is faid by a Fatalist, that the whole Constitution of Nature and the Actions of Men, that every thing, and every Mode and Circumstance of every thing, is necessary and could not poffibly have been otherwife; it is to be observed, that this Neceffity does not exclude Deliberation, Choice, Preference, and acting from certain Principles, and to certain Ends: becaufe all this is matter of undoubted Experience, acknowledged by all, and what every man may, every moment, be confcious of. And from hence it follows, that Neceffity alone and of itfelf, is in no fort an Account of the Constitution of Nature, and how Things came to be and to continue as they are; but only an Account of this Circumstance relating to their Origin and Continuance, that they could not have been otherwife than they are, and have been. The Affertion that every thing is by Neceffity of Nature, is not an Anfwer to the Queftion; Whether the World came into Being as it is, by an intelligent Agent forming it thus, or not: But to quite another Queftion; Whether it came into Being as it is, in that Way and Manner which we call neceffarily, or in that Way and Manner which we call freely. For suppose farther, that one who was a Fatalist, and one who kept to his natural Senfe of things, and believed himfelf a free Agent, were disputing together, and vindicating their respective \mathbf{p}

Of the Opinion of Necessity,

PAR T respective Opinions; and they should happen to instance in a House: They would agree, that it was built by an Architect. I. LM Their Difference concerning Neceflity and Freedom, would occafion no Difference of Judgment concerning this; but only concerning another Matter; whether the Architect built it neceffarily or freely. Suppose then they should proceed to enquire concerning the Conflitution of Nature : In a lax way of fpeaking, One of them might fav, it was by Neceffity; and the Other, by Freedom: But, if they had any Meaning to their Words, as the latter must mean a free Agent, so the former must at length be reduced to mean an Agent, whether he would fay one or more, acting by Neceffity: for abstract Notions can do nothing. Indeed we afcribe to God a neceffary Exiftence, uncaufed by any Agent. For we find within ourfelves the Idea of Infinity, i. e. Immenfity and Eternity, impoffible, even in Imagination, to be removed out of Being: We feem to difcern intuitively, that there muft, and cannot but be fomewhat external to ourfelves, answering this Idea, or the Archetype of it. And from hence (for This abstract, as much as any other, implies a Concrete) we conclude, that there is and cannot but be, an infinite, an immense eternal Being existing, prior to all Defign contributing to his Existence, and exclusive of it. And from the Scantinefs of Language, a manner of fpeaking has been introduced; that Neceffity is the Foundation, the Reafon, the Account of the Existence of God. But it is not alledged, nor can it be at all intended, that every thing exifts as it does, by this Kind of Neceffity; a Neceffity antecedent in Nature to Defign: it cannot, I fay, be meant that every thing exifts as it does, by this Kind of Neceffity, upon feveral Accounts; and particularly becaufe it is admitted, that Defign, in the Actions of Men, contributes to many Alterations in Nature. For if any deny this, I shall not pretend to reason with them.

3

106

From

confidered as influencing Prastice. 107

From these things it follows; First, That when a Fatalist af- C H A P. ferts, that every thing is by Necessity, he must mean, by an Agent VI. acting neceffarily; he must I fay mean this, for I am very fensi-くこ ble, he would not chufe to mean it: And Secondly, That the Neceffity by which fuch an Agent is supposed to Act, does not exclude Intelligence and Defign. So that, were the Syftem of Fatality admitted; it would just as much account for the Formation of the World, as for the Structure of an Houle, and no more. Neceflity as much requires and fuppoles a neceflary Agent, as Freedom requires and fuppofes a free Agent, to be the Former of the World: And the Appearances of Delign and of final Caufes in the Conftitution of Nature, as really prove this acting Agent, to be an intelligent Designer, or to act from Choice; upon the Scheme of Neceffity, fuppofed poffible, as upon That of Freedom.

It appearing thus, that the Notion of Neceflity does not deftroy the Proof, that there is an intelligent Author of Nature and natural Governor of the World; the prefent Queftion, which the Analogy before mentioned fuggefts, and which, I think, it will anfwer, is this: Whether the Opinion of Neceffity fuppofed confiftent, with Poffibility, with the Confficution of the World, and the natural Government which we experience exercifed over it; deftroys all reafonable Ground of Belief, that we are in a State of Religion: or whether That Opinion be reconcileable with Religion; with the Syftem, and the Proof of it.

Suppose then a Fatalist to educate any one, from his Youth up, in his own Principles t that the Child should reason upon them, and conclude, that since he cannot possibly behave otherwise

° 🗍 104.

than

Of the Opinion of Necessity,

PART than he does, he is not a Subject of Blame or Commendation, nor can deferve to be rewarded or punished : Imagine him to eradicate the very Perceptions of Blame and Commendation out of his Mind, by means of this System; to form his Temper, and Character, and Behaviour to it; and from it to judge of the Treatment he was to expect, fay, from reafonable Men, upon his coming abroad into the World : as the Fatalist judges from this Syftem, what he is to expect from the Author of Nature, and with regard to a future State. I cannot forbear ftopping here to afk, whether any one of common Senfe would think fit, that a Child should be put upon these Speculations, and be left to apply them to Practice. And a Man has little Pretence to Reafon, who is not fenfible, that we are all Children in Speculations of this Kind. However, the Child would doubtlefs be highly delighted to find himfelf freed from the Reftraints of Fear and Shame, with which his Play-fellows were fettered and embarraffed; and highly conceited in his fuperior Knowledge, fo far beyond his Years. But Conceit and Vanity would be the least bad Part of the Influence, which these Principles must have, when thus reafoned and acted upon, during the Courfe of his Education. He must either be allowed to go on and be the Plague of all about him, and himfelf too, even to his own Deftruction: or else Correction must be continually made use of, to fupply the Want of those natural Perceptions of Blame and Commendation, which we have supposed to be removed; and to give him a practical Impression, of what he had reasoned himfelf out of the Belief of, that he was in Fact an accountable Child, and to be punified for doing what he was forbid. It is therefore in reality impossible, but that the Correction which he must meet with, in the Course of his Education, must convince him, that if the Scheme he was inftructed in were not falfe; yet that he reafoned inconclusively upon it, and fome how or other misapplyed it to Practice and common Life: As what

confidered as influencing Practice.

what the Fatalist experiences of the Conduct of Providence at C H A P. prefent, ought in all reafon to convince him, that this Scheme is VI. misapplied, when applied to the Subject of Religion.^d But fuppoling the Child's Temper could remain ftill formed to the Syftem, and his Expectation of the Treatment he is to have in the World be regulated by it; fo as to expect that no reafonable Man would blame or punish him, for any thing which he should do, becaufe he could not help doing it: Upon this Suppolition, it is manifest he would, upon his coming abroad into the World, be infupportable to Society, and the Treatment which he would receive from it, would render it fo to kim; and he could not fail of doing fomewhat, very foon, for which he would be delivered over into the hands of civil luftice. And thus, in the End, he would be convinced of the Obligations he was under to his wife Instructor. Or suppose this Scheme of Fatality, in any other way, applied to Practice, fuch practical Application of it, will be found equally abfurd; equally fallacious in a practical Senfe: For Inftance, that if a Man be deftined to live fuch a Time, he shall live to it, though he take no Care of his own Prefervation; or if he be deftined to die before that Time, no Care can prevent it: therefore all Care about preferving one's Life is to be neglected; which is the Fallacy inftanced in by the Ancients. But now on the contrary, none of these practical Absurdities can be drawn, from reafoning upon the Supposition, that we are free; but all fuch Reafoning with regard to the common Affairs of Life, is justified by Experience. And therefore, though it were admitted that this Opinion of Neceffity were fpeculatively true, yet, with regard to Practice, it is as if it were falle; fo far as our Experience reaches, that is, to the whole of our prefent Life. For, the Conflitution of the prefent World, and the Condition in which we are actually placed, is, as if we were free. And it may per-

2 p.123.

haps

Of the Opinion of Necessity,

PART haps justly be concluded, that fince the whole Process of Action, through every Step of it, Sufpence, Deliberation, inclining I. one way, determining, and at last Doing as we determine, is as if we were free, therefore we are fo. But the thing here infifted upon is, that under the prefent natural Government of the World, we find we are treated and dealt with, as if we were free, prior to all Confideration whether we are or not. Were this Opinion therefore of Neceffity admitted to be ever fo true, yet fuch is in Fact our Condition and the natural Course of things, that whenever we apply it to Life and Practice, this Application of it, always misleads us; and cannot but mislead us, in a most dreadful Master, with regard to our prefent Intereft. And how can People think themfelves fo very fecure then, that the fame Application of the fame Opinion, may not miflead them alfo, in fome analogous manner, with respect to a future, a more general, and more important Intereft? For, Religion being a practical Subject, and the Analogy of Nature shewing us, that we have not Faculties to apply this Opinion, were it a true one, to practical Subjects; whenever we do apply it to the Subject of Religion, and thence conclude, that we are free from its Obligations, it is plain, this Conclusion cannot be depended upon. There will ftill remain just Reason to think, whatever Appearances are, that we deceive Ourfelves; in fomewhat of a like manner, as when People fancy they can draw contradictory Conclusions from the Idea of Infinity.

> From these things together, the attentive Reader will see it follows, that if upon Supposition of Freedom, the Evidence of Religion be conclusive, it remains so, upon Supposition of Necessity; because the Notion of Necessity is not applicable to practical Subjects: not applicable, *i. e.* with respect to them, is as if it were not true. Nor does this contain any Ressection upon Reason; but only upon what is unreasonable. For, to pretend to

to act upon Reafon, in Oppofition to practical Principles, which C H A P. the Author of our Nature gave us to act upon; and to pretend VI. to apply our Reafon to Subjects, with regard to which, our own fhort Views, and even our Experience, will fhew us, it cannot be depended upon, and fuch, at beft, the Subject of Neceffity muft be: this is Vanity, Conceit, and Unreafonablenefs.

But this is not all: For, we find within ourfelves a Will, and are confcious of a Character. Now if this, in us, be reconcileable with Fate, it is reconcileable with it, in the Author of Nature. And befides, natural Government and final Caufes, imply a Character and a Will in the Governor and Defigner; ° a Will concerning the Creatures whom He governs. The Author of Nature then being certainly of fome Character or other, notwithftanding Neceffity; it is evident this Neceffity is as reconcileable with the particular Character of Benevolence, Veracity, and Juffice in Him, which Attributes are the Foundation of Religion, as with any other Character: Since we find this Neceffity no more hinders Men from being benevolent than, cruel, true, than faithlefs, just, than unjust; or if the Fatalist pleases, what we call unjust. For it is faid indeed, that what, upon Supposition of Freedom, would be just Punishment, upon Suppolition of Necellity, becomes manifeftly unjust; becaule it is Punishment inflicted for Doing That, which Persons could not avoid Doing. As if the Neceffity, which is supposed to deftroy the Injustice of Murder, for Instance, would not also deftroy the Injuffice of punishing it. However, as little to the Purpose as this Objection is in itself, it is very much to the Purpole to observe from it, how the Notions of Justice and In-

⁶ By Will and Chara 7er is meant That, which, in fpeaking of Men, we thould express, not only by these Words, but also by the Words, Temper, Tafte, Dispositions, practical Principles; That avhole Frame of Mind, from avhence are act in one Manner rather than another, and from avhence all our Happiness and Milery arise.

juffice

Of the Opinion of Necessity,

112

P A R T justice remain, even whilst we endeavour to suppose them removed; how they force themfelves upon the Mind, even whilft we are making Suppositions destructive of them: For there is not, perhaps, a Man in the World, but would be ready to make this Objection at first Thought. But though it is most evident, that universal Necessity, if it be reconcileable with any thing, is reconcileable with That Character in the Author of Nature, which is the Foundation of Religion; "Yet, does it " not plainly deftroy the Proof, that He is of That Character, " and confequently the Proof of Religion?" By no means. For we find, that Happiness and Misery are not our Fate, in any fuch Senfe as not to be the Confequences of our Behaviour; but that they are the confequences of it.² We find God exercifes the fame kind of Government over us, with That, which a Father exercifes over his Children, and a civil Magistrate over his Subjects. Now, whatever becomes of abstract Questions concerning Liberty and Neceffity, it evidently appears to us, that Veracity and Juffice must be the natural Rule and Measure of exercifing this Authority or Government, to a Being, who can have no Competitions, or Interfering of Interefts, with his Creatures and his Subjects.

> But as the Doctrine of Liberty, though we experience its Truth, may be perplexed with Difficulties, which run up into the moft abftrufe of all Speculations; and as the Opinion of Neceffity feems to be the very Bafis, upon which Infidelity grounds itfelf; it may be of fome Ufe to offer a more particular Proof of the Obligations of Religion, which may diffinctly be fhewn, not to be deftroyed by this Opinion.

> The Proof from final Caufes of an intelligent Author of Nature, is not affected by the Opinion of Neceffity, fuppoling Neceffity a thing poffible in itfelf, and reconcileable with the

> > ^a Ch. ii.

Conftitution

Conftitution of Things.^f And He governs the World by the C H A P. Method of Rewards and Punifhments.^g He has alfo given us a -VI.moral Faculty, by which, we diffinguish between Actions, and approve fome as virtuous and of Good-defert, and difapprove others as vitious and of Ill-defert: h which moral Difcernment implies, in the Notion of it, a Rule of Action : and a Rule of a very peculiar Kind, for it carries in it Authority and a right of Direction; Authority in fuch a Senfe, as that we cannot depart from it without being Self-condemned.ⁱ Now, that this Rule, or the Dictates of this moral Faculty, are moreover the Laws of God, Laws in a Senfe including Sanctions; may be thus proved. Confcioufnefs of a Rule or Guide of Action, in Creatures who are capable of confidering it as given them by their Maker, not only raifes immediately a Senfe of Duty, but alfo a Senfe of Security in following it, and of Danger in deviating from it. A Direction of the Author of Nature, given to Creatures capable of looking upon it as fuch, is plainly a Command from Him: and a Command from Him, necessarily includes in it, at leaft, an implicit Promife and Threatning in Cafe of Obedience and Difobedience. But then the Senfe or Perception of good and ill Defert, k which is contained in the moral Difcernment, renders the Sanction explicit, and makes it appear, as one may fay, expressed. For if every Rule from Him, be of the Nature of a Command, and every Command carries an implicit Sanction; the Senfe of good and ill Defert annexed to the Actions required and forbidden, evidently makes the Sanction explicit. And fince His Method of Government is to reward and punish Actions, His having annexed to fome Actions an inteparable Senfe of good Defert, and to others of ill, this furely amounts to declaring, upon whom his Punithments shall be inflicted, and his Rewards be beftowed. For he must have gi-

f p. 105, &c. ² Ch. ii. ^k Differt. IL ⁱ Serm. 2. at the *Rol'r*. ^k Differt II. p. Q Ven

Of the Opinion of Necessity,

P A R T ven us this Difcernment and Senfe of things, as a Pre-fentiment I. of what is to be hereafter; or by way of Information before hand, what we are finally to expect in His World. There is then most evident Ground to think, that the Government of God, upon the whole, will be found to correspond to the Nature which he has given us; and that in the Upshot and Issue of things, Happiness and Mifery shall, in Fact and Event, be made to follow Virtue and Vice respectively, as He has already, in fo peculiar a Manner, associated the Ideas of them in our Minds.

Now I fay no Objection, from Neceflity, can lie againft this general Proof of Religion. None againft the Proposition reasoned upon, that we have fuch a moral Faculty and Difcernment; because this is a mere Matter of Fact, a thing of Experience, that human Kind is thus conflicted: None against the Conclusion; because it is immediate and wholly from this Fact. For the Conclusion, that God will finally reward the righteous and punish the wicked, is not here drawn, from its appearing to us fit,¹ that *He fbould*; but from its appearing, that He has told us, *He will*; in the Promise and Threatning just now observed to be contained, implicitly, in the Notion of a Command, and more diffinctly and expressly, in the Sense of

¹ However, I am far from intending to deny, that the Will of God is determined, by what is fit, by the Right and Reafon of the Cafe; though one chufes to decline Matters of fuch abftract Speculation, and to fpeak with Caution when one does fpeak of them. But if it be intelligible to fay, that it is fit and reafonable for every one to confult bis own Happinefs, then, Fitnefs of Action, or the Right and Reafon of the Cafe, is an intelligible manner of fpeaking. And it feems as inconceiveable, to fuppofe God to approve one Courfe of Action, or one End, preferably to another, which yet His acting at all from Defign implies that He does, without fuppofing fomewhat prior in That End, to be the Ground of the Preference; as to fuppofe Hum to difeern an abftract Proposition to be true, without fuppofing fomewhat prior in it, to be the Ground of the Difeernment. It doth not therefore appear, that moral Right is any more relative to Perception, than abftract Truth is : Or that it is any more improper, to fpeak of the Fitnefs and Rightnefs of Actions and Ends, as founded in the Nature of things, than to fpeak of abftract Truth, as thus founded.

good

II4

confidered as influencing Practice.

good and ill Defert which he has given us. And this Reafoning C H A P. from Fact is confirmed, and in fome Degree even verified, by other Facts; by the natural Tendencies of Virtue and of Vice;^m and by this, that God, in the natural Courfe of his Providence, punifies vitious Actions as mifchievous to Society; and alfo vitious Actions as fuch in the ftricteft Senfe.ⁿ So that the general Proof of Region is unanfwerably real, even upon the wild Supposition which we are arguing upon.

It must likewife be observed farther, that natural Religion hath, befides this, an external Evidence, which the Doctrine of Neceffity, if it could be true, would not affect. For fuppofe a Perfon, by the Obfervations and Reafoning above, or by any other, convinced of the Truth of Religion; that there is a God, who made the World, who is the moral Governor and Judge of Mankind, and will upon the whole deal with every one according to his Works: I fay, fuppofe a Perfon convinced of this by Reason; but to know nothing at all of Antiquity, or the prefent State of Mankind. It would be natural for fuch an one to be inquisitive, what was the History of this System of things; at what time, and in what manner, it came first into the World, and whether it were believed by any confiderable Part of it. And were he upon Inquiry to find, that a particular Perfon, in a late Age, first of all proposed it, as a Deduction of Reason, and that Mankind were before wholly ignorant of it; then, though its Evidence from Reafon would remain, there would be no additional Probability of its Truth, from the Account of its Difcovery. But instead of this being the Fact of the Cafe, on the contrary, he would find, what could not but afford him a very strong Confirmation of its Truth: First, That fomewhat of this Syftem, with more or fewer Additions and Alterations, hath been professed in all Ages and Countries, of which

II5

we

116

Of the Opinion of Necessity,

PART we have any certain Information relating to this Matter. Secondly, That it is certain hiftorical Fact, fo far as we can trace V V things up, that this whole System of Belief, that there is one God the Creator and moral Governor of the World, and that Mankind is in a State of Religion, was believed in the first Ages. And Thirdly, That as there is no Hint or Intimation in Hiftory, that this Syftem was first reasoned out; fo there is express historical or traditional Evidence, as antient as History, that it was taught first by Revelation. Now thefe things must be allowed to be of great Weight. The first of them, general Confent, flews this Syftem to be conformable to the common Senfe of Mankind. The Second, namely, that Religion was believed in the first Ages of the World, especially as it does not appear that there were then any Superfitions or falfe Additions to it, cannot but be a farther Confirmation of its Truth. For it is a Proof of this Alternative; either that it came into the World by Revelation, or that it is natural, obvious, and forces itfelf upon the Mind. The former of thefe is the Conclusion of learned Men. And whoever will confider, how unapt for Speculation, rude and uncultivated Minds are, will, perhaps from hence alone, be ftrongly inclined to believe it the Truth. And as it is shewn in the fecond Part of this Treatife, that there is nothing of fuch peculiar Prefumption against a Revelation in the Beginning of the World, as there is supposed to be against subsequent ones; a Sceptick could not, I think, give any Account, which would appear more probable even to himfelf, of the early Pretences to Revelation, than by fuppofing fome real original one, from whence they were copied. And the third thing abovementioned, that there is express hiftorical or traditional Evidence as antient as Hiftory, of the Syftem of Religion being taught Mankind by Revelation; this must be admitted as fome Degree of real Proof, that it was fo taught.

For

[°] Chap. ii.

confilered as influencing Practice.

For why fhould not the moft antient Tradition be admitted, as C H A P fome additional Proof of a Fact, againft which there is no Prefumption? And this Proof is mentioned here, becaufe it has its Weight to fhew, that Religion came into the World by Revelation, prior to all Confideration of the proper Authority of any Book fuppofed to contain it; and even prior to all Confideration, whether the Revelation itfelf be uncorruptly handed down and related, or mixed and darkned with Fables. Thus the hiftorical Account, which we have, of the Origin of Religion, taking in all Circumftances, is a real Confirmation of its Truth, no way affected by the Opinion of Neceffity. And the *external* Evidence even of natural Religion, is by no means inconfiderable.

But it is carefully to be obferved, and ought to be recollected after all Proofs of Virtue and Religion, which are only general; that as fpeculative Reafon may be neglected, prejudiced, and deceived : fo alfo may our moral Understanding be impaired and perverted, and the Dictates of it not impartially attended to. This indeed proves nothing against the Reality of our speculative or practical Faculties of Perception; against their being intended by Nature, to inform us in the Theory of things, and inftruct us, how we are to behave, and what we are to expect in Confequence of our Behaviour. Yet our Liablenefs, in the Degree we are liable, to Prejudice and Pervertion, is a most ferious Admonition to us to be upon our Guard, with respect to what is of fuch Confequence, as our Determinations concerning Virtue and Religion: And particularly not to take Cuftom, and Fashion, and slight Notions of Honour, or Imaginations of present Ease, Use, and Convenience, to Mankind, for the only moral Rule, P

P Differt. II.

The

Of the Opinion of Necessity,

PART The foregoing Obfervations together, drawn from the Nature I. of the thing, and the Hiftory of Religion, amount to a real practical Proof of it, not to be confuted: Such a Proof as, confidering the infinite Importance of the thing, I apprehend, would be admitted fully fufficient, in Reafon, to influence the Actions of Men, who act upon Thought and Reflection; if it were admitted, that there is no Proof of the contrary. But it may be faid : " There are many Probabilities, which cannot in-" deed be confuted, i. e. fhewn to be no Probabilities, and yet " may be overbalanced, by greater Probabilities on the other " Side; much more by Demonstration. And there is no Occa-" fion to object against particular Arguments alledged for an " Opinion, when the Opinion itfelf may be clearly fhewn to " be falfe, without medling with fuch Arguments at all, but " leaving them just as they are.9 Now the Method of Govern-" ment by Rewards and Punishments, and especially rewarding " and punishing good and ill Defert as fuch respectively, must go " upon Supposition, that we are free and not necessary Agents. " And it is incredible, that the Author of Nature should go-" vern us upon a Supposition as true, which he knows to be " falfe: and therefore abfurd to think, he will reward or pu-" nish us for our Actions hereafter; especially that he will " do it under the Notion, that they are of good or ill De-Here then the Matter is brought to a Point. And " fert." the Anfwer to all this is full, and not to be evaded; that the whole Conftitution and Courfe of things, the whole Analogy of Providence, shews beyond Possibility of Doubt, that the Conclusion from this Reafoning is false; wherever the Fallacy lies. The Doctrine of Freedom indeed clearly fhows where; in fuppofing ourfelves neceffary, when in Truth we are free Agents. But upon the Supposition of Necessity, the Fallacy lies in taking

9 p. 1. 9.

118

for

confidered as influencing Practice.

for granted, that it is incredible neceffary Agents should be re- C H A'P. warded and punithed. But that fome how or other, the Conclu-VI. fion now mentioned, is false, is most certain. For it is Fact, that God does govern even Brute Creatures by the Method of Rewards and Punishments, in the natural Course of things. And Men are rewarded and punished for their Actions, punished for Actions mifchievous to Society as being fo, punified for vicious Actions as fuch; by the natural Inftrumentality of each other, under the prefent Conduct of Providence. Nay even the Affection of Gratitude, and the Paffion of Refentment, and the Rewards and Punifhments following from them, which in general are to be confidered as natural, *i. e.* from the Author of Nature; thefe Rewards and Punifhments being naturally rannexed to Actions confidered as implying, good Intention and good Defert, ill Intention and ill Defert; these natural Rewards and Punishments, I fay, are as much a Contradiction to the Conclufion above, and shew its Falshood, as a more exact and compleat rewarding and punishing of good and ill Defert as fuch. So that if it be incredible, that neceffary Agents flould be thus rewarded and punished, then, Men are not necessary but free; fince it is matter of Fact, that they are thus rewarded and punifhed. But if, on the contrary, which is the Supposition we have been arguing upon, it be infifted, that Men are neceffary Agents, then, there is nothing incredible in the farther Supposition of neceffary Agents being thus rewarded and punished; fince we Ourfelves are thus dealt with.

From the whole therefore it must follow, that a Necessity fuppofed possible, and reconcileable with the Constitution of things, does in no Sort prove that the Author of Nature will not, nor deflroy the Proof that he will, finally and upon the whole, in his eternal Government, render his Creatures happy

⁵ Serm. 8th, at the Rolls.

Of the Opinion of Necessity, &c.

P A R T or miferable, by fome means or other, as they behave well or ill.
 I. Or, to express this Conclusion in Words conformable to the Title of the Chapter, the Analogy of Nature shews us, that the Opinion of Necessity, confidered as practical, is false. And if Necessity, upon the Supposition abovementioned, doth not defined the Proof of natural Religion, it evidently makes no Alteration in the Proof of revealed.

120

From these things likewise we may learn, in what Sense to understand That general Affertion, that the Opinion of Neccssity is effentially destructive of all Religion. First in a practical Sense; that by this Notion, atheistical Men pretend to fatasfy and encourage Themselves in Vice, and justify to Others their Disregard to all Religion. And secondly, in the strictest Sense; that it is a Contradiction to the whole Constitution of Nature, and to what we may every moment experience in Ourselves, and so overturns every thing. But by no means is this Affertion to be understood, as if Necessity, supposing it could possibly be reconciled with the Constitution of things and with what we experience, were not also reconcileable with Religion; for upon this Supposition, it demonstrably is so.

CHAP.

CHAP. VII.

Of the Government of God, confidered as a Scheme or Constitution, imperfectly comprehended.

HOUGH it be, as it cannot but be, acknowledged, CHAP. that the Analogy of Nature gives a ftrong Credibility, VII. to the general Doctrine of Religion, and to the feveral particular things contained in it, confidered as fo many Matters of Fact; and likewife that it shews, this Credibility not to be deftroyed by any Notions of Neceflity: Yet still, Objections may be infifted upon, against the Wifdom Equity and Goodnefs, of the divine Government implied in the Notion of Religion, and against the Method by which this Government is conducted; to which Objections, Analogy can be no direct Anfwer. For the Credibility, or the certain Truth, of a Matter of Fact, does not immediately prove any thing concerning the Wifdom or Goodness of it : and Analogy can do no more, immediately or directly, than fhew fuch and fuch things to be true or credible, confidered only as Matters of Fact. But still, if, upon Supposition of a moral Constitution of Nature, and a moral Government over it, Analogy fuggefts and makes it credible, that this Government must be a Scheme System or Conflicution of Government, as diffinguified from a number of fingle unconnected Acts of distributive Justice and Goodnefs; and likewife, that it must be a Scheme, fo imperfectly comprehended, and of fuch a Sort in other Respects, as to afford R

The Government of God,

 P A R T afford a direct general Anfwer to all Objections against the Juf- L. tice and Goodness of it: then Analogy is, remotely, of great Service in answering those Objections, both by fuggesting the Answer, and shewing it to be a credible one.

> Now this, upon Inquiry, will be found to be the Cafe. For, Firft, Upon Supposition God exercises a moral Government over the World, the Analogy of his natural Government fuggests and makes credible, that his moral Government must be a Scheme, quite beyond our Comprehension: and this affords a general Answer to all Objections against the Justice and Goodness of it. And, Secondly, A more distinct Observation of some particular things contained in God's Scheme of natural Government, the like to which, being scheme of natural Government, the like to which, being fupposed, by Analogy, to be contained in his moral Government, will farther shew, how little Weight is to be laid upon these Objections.

> I. Upon Supposition God exercises a moral Government over the World, the Analogy of his natural Government fuggefts and makes credible, that his moral Government must be a Scheme, quite beyond our Comprehension: And this affords a general Answer to all Objections against the Justice and Goodness of It is most obvious, Analogy renders it highly credible, it. that upon Supposition of a moral Government, it must be a Scheme, for the World and the whole natural Government of it, appears to be fo; to be a Scheme System or Constitution, whose Parts correspond to each other, and to a Whole: as really as any Work of Art, or as any particular Model of a civil Constitution and Government. In this great Scheme of the natural World, Individuals have various peculiar Relations to other Individuals of their own Species. And whole Species are, we find, varioufly related to other Species, upon this Earth. Nor do we know, how much farther these Kinds of Relations may extend. And, as there is not any Action or natural Event, which we are acquainted with,

with, fo fingle and unconnected, as not to have a Refpect to C H A P. fome other Actions and Events; fo poffibly each of them. VII. when it has not an immediate, may yet have a remote, natural Relation to other Actions and Events, much beyond the Compass of this present World. There seems indeed nothing from whence, fo much as to make a Conjecture, whether all Creatures Actions and Events, throughout the whole of Nature, have Relations to each other. But as it is obvious, that all Events have future unknown Confequences: fo, if we trace any, as far as we can go, into what is connected with it, we shall find, that if such Event were not connected with somewhat farther in Nature unknown to us, fomewhat both paft and prefent; fuch Event could not poffibly have been at all. Nor can we give the whole Account of any one thing whatever : of all its Caufes, Ends, and neceffary Adjuncts; those Adjuncts, I mean, without which, it could not have been. By this most astonishing Connexion, these reciprocal Correspondencies and mutual Relations; every thing which we fee in the Courfe of Nature, is actually brought about. And things feemingly the most infignificant imaginable, are perpetually observed to be necessary Conditions to other things of the greatest Importance: So that any one thing whatever, may, for ought we know to the contrary, be a neceffary Condition to any other. The natural World then, and natural Government of it, being fuch an incomprehensible Scheme; so incomprehensible, that a Man must, really in the literal Senfe, know nothing at all, who is not fenfible of his Ignorance in it : this immediately fuggefts, and ftrongly fhews the Credibility, that the moral World and Government of it, may be fo too. Indeed the natural and moral Conftitution and Government of the World, are fo connected, as to make up together but one Scheme : and it is highly probable, that the first is formed and carried on merely in Subferviency to the latter; as the vegetable World is for the Animal, and organized

124

The Government of God,

PART nized Bodies for Minds. But the thing intended here, is, without inquiring how far the Administration of the natural World is fubordinate to That of the moral, only to observe the Credibility, that one fhould be analogous or fimilar to the other: that therefore every Act of divine Justice and Goodness, may be supposed to look much beyond itself, and its immediate Object; may have some Reference to other Parts of God's moral Administration, and to a general moral Plan: and that every Circumstance of this his moral Government, may be adjusted beforehand with a View to the whole of it. Thus for Example : the determined Length of Time, and the Degrees and Ways, in which Virtue is to remain in a State of Warfare and Difcipline, and in which Wickedness is permitted to have its Progress; the Times appointed for the Execution of Justice; the appointed Instruments of it; the Kinds of Rewards and Punishment, and the Manners of their Distribution : all particular Inftances of divine Justice and Goodness, and every Circumstance of them, may have fuch Respects to each other, as to make up altogether a Whole, connected and related in all its Parts; a Scheme or Syftem, which is as properly One, as the natural World is, and of the like Kind. And fuppoling this to be the Cafe, it is most evident, that we are not competent Judges of this Scheme, from the finall Parts of it, which come within our View in the prefent Life: and therefore no Objections against any of these Parts, can be infifted upon by reasonable Men.

> This our Ignorance, and the Confequence here drawn from it, are univerfally acknowledged, upon other Occafions; and, though fcarce denied, yet are univerfally forgot, when Perfons come to argue against Religion. And it is not perhaps eafy, even for the most reasonable Men, always to bear in Mind the Degree of our Ignorance, and make due Allowances for it. Upon

Upon these Accounts, it may not be useles to go on a little far- C H A P. ther, in Order to shew more distinctly, how just an Answer, VII. our Ignorance is, to Objections against the Scheme of Provi-く Suppose then a Perfon boldly to affert, that the things dence. complained of, the Origin and Continuance of Evil, might eafily have been prevented by repeated Interpolitions;^f Interpolitions fo guarded and circumstanced, as would preclude all Mifchief arifing from them: Or, if this were impracticable, that a Scheme of Government is itself an Imperfection, fince more Good might have been produced, without any Scheme Syftem or Conftitution at all, by continued fingle unrelated Acts of diftributive Juffice and Goodnefs; becaufe thefe would have occafioned no Irregularities. And farther than this, it is prefumed, the Objections will not be carried. Yet the Anfwer is obvious: that were thefe Affertions true, still the Observations above, concerning our Ignorance in the Scheme of divine Government, and the Confequence drawn from it, would hold, in great meafure; enough to vindicate Religion, against all Objections from the Diforders of the prefent State. Were thefe Affertions true, yet the Government of the World might be just and good notwithstanding; for, at the most, they would infer nothing more than that it might have been better. But indeed they are mere arbitrary Affertions; no Man being fufficiently acquainted with the Poffibilities of things, to bring any Proof of them, to the loweft Degree of Probability. For however poffible what is afferted may feem; yet many Inftances may be alledged, in things much lefs out of our Reach, of Suppositions absolutely impoffible, and to be reduced to the most palpable Self-contradictions, which, by no Means, every one would perceive to be fuch, From thefe things, it nor perhaps any one at first fight fuspect. is easy to fee diffinctly, how our Ignorance, as it is the common, is really a fatisfactory Anfwer to all Objections against the Justice

f p. 128, 129.

The Government of God,

PAR T and Goodnefs of Providence. If a Man contemplating any one I. providential Difpenfation, which had no Relation to any others, fhould object, that he difcerned in it a Difregard to Juffice, or a Deficiency of Goodnefs; Nothing would be lefs an Anfwer to fuch Objection, than our Ignorance, in other Parts of Providence, or in the Poffibilities of things, no way related to what he was contemplating. But when we know not, but the Parts objected againft, may be relative to other Parts unknown to us; and when we are unacquainted with what is, in the Nature of the thing, practicable in the Cafe before us; then our Ignorance is a fatisfactory Anfwer: Becaufe, fome unknown Relation, or fome unknown Impoffibility, may render what is objected againft, juft and good; nay good in the higheft practicable Degree.

> II. And how little Weight is to be laid upon fuch Objections, will farther appear, by a more diffinct Obfervation of fome particular things contained in the natural Government of God, the like to which, may be fuppofed, from Analogy, to be contained in his moral Government.

> Firft, As in the Scheme of the natural World, no Ends appear to be accomplifhed without Means; fo we find that Means very undefireable, often conduce to bring about Ends in fuch a Meafure defireable, as greatly to overbalance the Difagreeablenefs of the Means. And in Cafes where fuch Means are conducive to fuch Ends, it is not Reafon, but Experience, which fhews us, that they are thus conducive. Experience alfo fhews us many Means to be conducive and neceffary to accomplifh Ends, which Means, before Experience, we fhould have thought, would have had even a contrary Tendency. Now from thefe Obfervations relating to the natural Scheme of the World, the moral being fuppofed analogous to it, arifes a great Credibility, that the

> > I

a Scheme incomprehensible.

the putting our Mifery in each others Power to the Degree it C H A P. is, and making Men liable to Vice to the Degree we are; and VII. in general, that those things which are objected, against the moral Scheme of Providence, may be, upon the whole, friendly and affiftant to Virtue, and productive of an Over-balance of Happinefs : *i. e.* the things objected against, may be Means, by which, an Overbalance of Good will, in the End, be found produced: And that it is no Prefumption against This, that we do not, if indeed we do not, fee those Means to have any fuch Tendency; or that they appear to us to have a contrary one. Thus those things, which we call Irregularities, may not be fo at all; becaufe they may be Means of accomplifning wife and good Ends more confiderable. And it may be added, as above, ^b that they may also be the only Means, by which, these wife and good Ends are capable of being accomplished.

It may be proper to add, in order to obviate an abfurd and wicked Conclusion from any of these Observations; that though the Conftitution of our Nature from whence we are capable of Vice and Mifery, may, as it undoubtedly does, contribute to the Perfection and Happiness of the World: and though the actual Permiffion of Evil may be beneficial to it; i. e. it would have been more mifchievous, (not that a wicked Perfon had himfelf abstained from his own Wickedness, but) that any one had forcibly prevented it, than that it was permitted: Yet notwithftanding, it might have been much better for the World, if this very Evil had never been done. Nay it is most clearly conceivable, that Vice may be beneficial to the World, in the Senfe which fome have afferted; and yet, that it would be infinitely more beneficial for Men to refrain from it. For thus in the wife and good Conftitution of the natural World; there are Diforders which bring their own Cures: Difeafes which are themfelves Remedies.

t p. 125, 126.

Anl

The Government of God.

PART And many a Man would have died, had it not been for the Gout or a Fever: yet it would be thought Madness to affert, I. that Sickness is a better or more perfect State than Health; though the like, with regard to the moral World, has been afferted. But.

> Secondly, The natural Government of the World is carried on by general Laws. For this, there may be wife and good Reasons; the wifest and best, for ought we know to the contrary. And that there are fuch Reafons, is fuggested to our Thoughts, by the Analogy of Nature; by our being made to experience good Ends to be accomplished, even all the Good which we enjoy, by this Means, that the Laws, by which the World is governed, are general. For we have fcarce any Kind of Enjoyments, but what we are, in fome way or other, inftrumental in procuring ourfelves; by acting in a manner which we foresee likely to procure us such Enjoyments : which Forefight could not be at all, were not the Government of the World carried on by general Laws. And though, for ought we know to the contrary, every fingle Cafe may be, at length, found to have been provided for even by thefe; yet to prevent all Irregularities, or remedy them as they arife, by the wifeft and beft general Laws, may be impossible in the Nature of things: as we fee it is abfolutely impoffible in civil Government. But then we are ready to think, that, the Conflicution of Nature remaining as it is, and the Course of things being permitted to go on, in other Respects, as it does, there might be Interpositions to prevent Irregularities; though they could not have been prevented or remedied by any general Laws. And there would indeed be reason to wish, which, by the way, is very different from a Right to claim, that all Irregularities were prevented or remedied by present Interpolitions, if these Interpolitions would have no other Effect than this. But it is plain they would have some visible and immediate bad Effects: for Instance, they

they would encourage Idleness and Negligence; and they would C H A P render doubtful the natural Rule of Life, which is afcertained VII. by this very thing, that the Courfe of the World is carried on \swarrow by general Laws. And farther, it is certain they would have diftant Effects, and very great ones too; by means of the wonderful Connexions before mentioned.^c So that we cannot fo much as guefs, what would be the whole Refult of the Interpolitions defired. It may be faid, any bad Refult might be prevented by farther Interpolitions, whenever there was occalion for them: But this again is talking quite at random, and in the dark.^d Upon the whole then, we fee wife Reafons, why the Courfe of the World should be carried on by general Laws, and good Ends accomplished by this Means: And, for ought we know, there may be the wifeft Reafons for it, and the beft Ends accomplified by it. We have no Ground to believe, that all Irregularities could be remedied as they arife, or could have been precluded, by general Laws. We find that Interpolitions would produce Evil, and prevent Good: And, for ought we know, they would produce greater Evil than they would prevent, and prevent greater Good than they would produce. And if this be the Cafe, then the not interpoling is fo far from being a Ground of Complaint, that it is an Inftance of Goodnefs. This is intelligible and fufficient; and going farther, feems bevond the utmost Reach of our Faculties.

But it may be faid, that after all, thefe fuppofed Impoffibilities and Relations are what we are unacquainted with; and we must judge of Religion, as of other things, by what we do know, and look upon the rest as Nothing: Or however, that the Answers here given to what is objected against Religion, may equally be made use of to invalidate the Proof of it; fince their Stress lies fo very much upon our Ignorance. But,

The Government of God,

PART First, Though total Ignorance in any Matter, does indeed equally deftroy, or rather preclude, all Proof concerning it, and Objections against it; yet partial Ignorance does not. For we may, in any Degree, be convinced, that a Perfon is of fuch a Character, and confequently will purfue fuch Ends; though we are greatly ignorant, what is the proper Way of acting, in order, the most effectually, to obtain those Ends: And in this Cafe, Objections against his Manner of acting, as feemingly not conducive to obtain them, might be anfwered by our Ignorance ; though the Proof that fuch Ends were intended, might not at all be invalidated by it. Thus, the Proof of Religion is a Proof of the moral Character of God, and confequently that his Government is moral, and that every one upon the whole shall receive according to his Deferts; a Proof that this is the defigned End of his Government. But we are not competent Judges, what is the proper Way of acting, in order the most effectually to accomplish this End.^c Therefore our Ignorance is an Answer to Objections against the Conduct of Providence, in permitting Irregularities, as feeming contradictory to this End. Now, fince it is fo obvious, that our Ignorance may be a fatisfactory Anfwer to Objections against a thing, and yet not affect the Proof of it; till it can be fhewn, it is frivolous to affert, that our Ignorance invalidates the Proof of Religion, as it does the Objections against it.

> Secondly, Suppose unknown Impossibilities, and unknown Relations, might justly be urged to invalidate the Proof of Religion, as well as to answer Objections against it: And that in Confequence of this, the Proof of it were doubtful. Yet still, let it be despised, or let it be ridiculed, it is undeniably true, that moral Obligations would remain certain; though it

> > ° p. 7, 8.

were

were not certain what would, upon the whole, be the Confe- C H A P. quences of obferving or violating them. For, thefe Obligations VII. arife immediately from the Judgment of our own Mind, unlefs perverted, which we cannot violate without being Self-condemned. And they would be certain too, from Confiderations of Intereft. For though it were doubtful, what will be the future Confequences of Virtue and Vice; yet it is, however, credible, that they may have those Confequences, which Religion teaches us they will: And this Credibility is a certain ^f Obligation in point of Prudence, to abstain from all Wickedness, and to live in the confecientious Practice of all that is Good. But,

Thirdly, The Anfwers above given to the Objections against Religion, cannot be made Ufe of to invalidate the Proof of it, as they do invalidate those Objections. For, upon Supposition, that God exercifes a moral Government over the World, Analogy does most strongly lead us to conclude, that this moral Government must be a Scheme or Constitution, beyond our Comprehension. And a thousand particular Analogies shew us, that Parts of fuch a Scheme, from their Relation to other Parts, may conduce to accomplish Ends, which we should have thought, they had no Tendency at all to accomplifh; nay Ends. which before Experience, we fhould have thought fuch Parts were contradictory to, and had a Tendency to prevent. And therefore all these Analogies shew, that the Way of arguing made use of in objecting against Religion, is delusive : because they shew, it is not all incredible, that, could we comprehend the Whole, we should find the Permission of the Diforders objected against, to be confistent with Justice and Goodness; and even to be Instances of them. Now This, not being applicable to the Proof of Religion, as it is to the Objections against it, s cannot invalidate That Proof, as it does these Objections.

⁵ p. 3. And Part II. Ch. vi. ⁸ Serm. at the *Rolls*, p. 312. 2d. Ed. S 2 *Laftly*,

The Government of God, &c.

Lastly, From the Observation now made, it is easy to see, PART that the Anfwers above given to the Objections against Provi-Ι. dence, though in a general way of fpeaking, they may be faid to be taken from our Ignorance; yet they are by no means taken merely from That, but from fomewhat which Analogy fhews us concerning it. For Analogy fhews us politively, that our Ignorance in the Poffibilities of things, and the various Relations in Nature, renders us incompetent Judges, and leads us to false Conclusions, in Cases fimilar to This, in which we pretend to judge and to object. So that the things above infifted upon, are not mere Suppositions of unknown Imposibilities and Relations; but they are fuggefted to our Thoughts, and even forced upon the Obfervation of ferious Men, and rendered credible too, by the Analogy of Nature. And therefore, to take these things into the Account, is to judge by Experience and what we do know; and it is not judging fo, to take no Notice of them.

CON-

CONCLUSION.

THE Observations of the last Chapter, lead us to consi-PAR der this little Scene of human Life, in which we are I. fo bufily engaged, as having a Reference, of fome Sort or other, to a much larger Plan of things. Whether we are, any Way, related to the more distant Parts of the boundless Universe, into which we are brought, is altogether uncertain. But it is evident, that the Courfe of things, which comes within our View, is connected with fomewhat, paft, prefent, and future, beyond it." So that we are placed, as one may speak, in the Middle of a Scheme, not a fixt but a progressive one, every way incomprehenfible; incomprehenfible, in a manner equally, with Refpect to, what has been, what now is, and what shall be hereafter. And this Scheme cannot but contain in it fomewhat, as wonderful, and as much beyond our Thought and Conception, b as any thing in That of Religion. For, will any Man in his Senfes fay, that it is lefs difficult to conceive, how the World came to be and to continue as it is, without, than with, an intelligent Author and Governor of it? Or, admitting an intelligent Governor of it, that there is fome other Rule of

^a p. 123. ^b See Part II. Ch. 2.

Government,

CONCLUSION.

PART Government, more natural, and of eafier Conception, than That, which we call moral? Indeed, without an intelligent Au-V thor and Governor of Nature, no Account at all can be given, how this Univerfe, or the Part of it particularly in which we are concerned, came to be, and the Course of it to be carried on, as it is: Nor any, of its general End and Defign, without a Moral Governor of it. That there is an intelligent Author of Nature and natural Governor of the World, is a Principle gone upon in the foregoing Treatife; as proved, and generally known and confessed to be proved. And the very Notion of an intelligent Author of Nature, proved by particular final Caufes, implies a Will and a Character.^c Now, as our whole Nature, the Nature which He has given us, leads us to conclude His Will and Character to be moral, just, and good; fo we can scarce in Imagination conceive, what it can be otherwife. However, in Confequence of this his Will and Character, whatever it be, he formed the Universe as it is, and carries on the Course of it as he does, rather than in any other Manner; and has affigned to Us, and to all living Creatures, a Part and a Lot in it. Irrational Creatures act this their Part, and enjoy and undergo, the Pleafures and the Pains allotted them, without any Reflection. But one would think it impoffible, that Creatures endued with Reafon, could avoid reflecting fometimes upon all This: reflecting, if not from whence we came, yet, at leaft, whether we are going; and what the mysterious Scheme, in the Midst of which we find ourselves, will, at length, come out, and produce: a Scheme in which it is certain we are highly interested, and in which we may be interested even beyond Conception. For many things prove it palpably abfurd to conclude, that we shall cease to be, at Death. Particular Analogies do most fensibly shew us, that there is nothing to be thought strange, in our being to exist in another State of Life. And

° p. 111, 114.

that

that we are now living Beings, affords a ftrong Probability, that P A R T we shall continue fo; unless there be some positive Ground, and I. there is none from Reafon or Analogy, to think Death will deftroy us. Were a Perfuation of this Kind ever fo well grounded, there would, furely, be little Reafon to take Pleafure in it. But indeed it can have no other Ground, than fome fuch Imagination, as That of our grofs Bodies being Ourfelves; which is contrary to Experience. Experience too most clearly shews us the Folly of concluding, from the Body and the living Agent affecting each other mutually, that the Diffolution of the former, is the Deftruction of the latter. And there are remarkable Inftances of their not affecting each other, which lead us to a contrary Conclusion. The Supposition then, which in all Reafon we are to go upon, is, that our living Nature will continue after Death. And it is infinitely unreasonable to form an Inftitution of Life, or to act, upon any other Supposition. Now all Expectation of Immortality, whether more or lefs certain, opens an unbounded Profpect to our Hopes and our Fears: fince we fee the Conftitution of Nature is fuch, as to admit of Mifery, as well as to be productive of Happiness, and experience ourfelves to partake of both in fome Degree; and fince we cannot but know, what higher Degrees of both we are capable of. And there is no Prefumption against believing farther, that our future Interest depends upon our prefent Behaviour : For we fee our prefent Interest doth; and that the Happiness and Milery, which are naturally annexed to our Actions, very frequently, do not follow till long after the Actions are done, to which they are respectively annexed. So that were Speculation to leave us uncertain whether it were likely, that the Author of Nature, in giving Happiness and Milery to his Creatures, hath Regard to their Actions or not; yet, fince we find by Experience that he hath fuch Regard, the whole Senfe of things which he has given us, plainly leads us, at once and without any elaborate Inquiries,

CONCLUSION.

PART quiries, to think, that it may, indeed must, be to good Actions chiefly that he hath annexed Happinefs, and to bad Actions, 1. Mifery; or that he will, upon the whole, reward those who do well, and punish those who do evil. To confirm this from the Conftitution of the World, it has been observed; that some Sort of moral Government is neceffarily implied, in That natural Government of God, which we experience ourfelves under: that good and bad Actions, at prefent, are naturally rewarded and punished, not only as beneficial and mischievous to Society: but also as virtuous and vitious: and that there is, in the very Nature of the thing, a Tendency to their being rewarded and punished in a much higher Degree, than they are at prefent. And though this higher Degree of distributive Justice, which Nature thus points out and leads towards, is prevented for a Time from taking place; it is by Obftacles, which the State of this World unhappily throws in its Way, and which therefore are in their Nature temporary. Now, as these things in the natural Conduct of Providence, are observable on the Side of Virtue: fo there is nothing to be fet against them, on the Side of Vice. A moral Scheme of Government then, is visibly established, and, in fome Degree, carried into Execution: And this, together with the effential Tendencies of Virtue and Vice duly confidered, naturally raifes in us an Apprehenfion, that it will be carried on farther towards Perfection, in a future State, and that every one shall there receive according to his Deferts. And if this be fo, then our future and general Interest, under the moral Government of God, is appointed to depend upon our Behaviour; notwithstanding the Difficulty, which this may occasion, of fecuring it, and the Danger of lofing it : just in the fame manner as our temporal Intereft, under his natural Government, is appointed to depend upon our Behaviour; notwithstanding the like Difficulty and Danger. For, from our original Conftitution. 3

tution, and That of the World which we inhabit, we are na- P A R T turally trufted with Ourfelves; with our own Conduct and our I. own Intereft. And from the fame Conflitution of Nature, cfpecially joined with That Courfe of Things which is owing to Men, we have Temptations to be unfaithful in this Truft; to forfeit this Intereft, to neglect it, and run ourfelves into Mifery and Ruin. From these Temptations arise, the Difficulties of of behaving fo as to fecure our temporal Intereft, and the Hazard of behaving fo as to mifcarry in it. There is therefore nothing incredible in fuppofing, there may be the like Difficulty and Hazard with regard to That chief and final Good, which Religion lays before us. Indeed the whole Account, how it came to pafs, that we were placed in fuch a Condition as this, must be beyond our Comprehension. But it is in part accounted for by what Religion teaches us, that the Character of Virtue and Piety must be a necessary Qualification, for a future State of Security and Happiness, under the moral Government of God; in like Manner, as fome certain Qualifications or other are neceffary, for every particular Condition of Life, under his natural Government : And that the prefent State was intended to be a School of Discipline, for improving in Ourselves That Character. Now this Intention of Nature is rendred highly credible by obferving; that we are plainly made for Improvement of all Kinds; that it is a general Appointment of Providence, that we cultivate practical Principles, and form within Ourfelves Habits of Action, in order to become fit for, what we were wholly unfit for before; that in particular, Childhood and Youth is naturally appointed to be a State of Discipline for mature Age; and that the prefent World is peculiarly fitted for a State of moral Difci-And whereas Objections are urged against the whole pline. Notion of moral Government and a Probation-state, from the Opinion of Neceffity; it has been shewn, that God has given us,

CONCLUSION.

P A R T us, the Evidence, as it were, of Experience, that all Objections againft Religion, on this Head, are vain and delufive. He has alfo, in his natural Government, fuggefted an Anfwer to all our fhort-fighted Objections, againft the Equity and Goodnets of his moral Government: And in general He has exemplified to us, the latter, by the former.

138

These things, which, it is to be remembred, are Matters of Fact, ought, in all common Senfe, to awaken Mankind; to induce them to confider in earnest their Condition, and what they have to do. It is abfurd, if the Subject were not of fo ferious a kind, abfurd to the Degree of being ridiculous, for Men to think themselves secure, in a vitious Life; or even in that immoral Thoughtleffnefs, which far the greatest Part of them are fallen into. And the Credibility of Religion, arifing from Experience and Facts here confidered, is fully fufficient, in Reafon, to engage them to live in the general Practice of all Virtue and Piety; under the ferious Apprehension, though it should be mixed with fome Doubt, ^d of a righteous Administration established in Nature, and a future Judgment in Confequence of it: Especially when we confider, how very questionable it is, whether any thing at all can be gained by Vice; how unqueftionably little, as well as precarious, the Pleafures and Profits of it are at the beft; and how foon they must be parted with at the longest. For, in the Deliberations of Reason, concerning what we are to purfue, and what to avoid, as Temptations to any thing from mere Paffion, are fuppofed out of the Cafe: So Inducements to Vice, from cool Expectations of Pleafure and Intereft io imall and uncertain and fhort, are really fo infignificant, as, in the View of Reafon, to be almost Nothing in themselves: And in Comparison with the Importance of Religion, they quite difappear and are loft. Mere Paffion indeed may be alledged,

^d Part H. Ch. 6. ° p. 46, 47.

though

CONCLUSION.

though not as a Reafon, yet as an Excuse, for a vitious Course PART of Life. And how forry an Excufe it is, will be manifeft by Ι. obferving, that we are placed in a Condition, in which we are unavoidably inured to govern our Paffions, by being neceffitated to govern them; and lay ourfelves under the fame Kind of Reftraints, and as great ones too, from temporal Regards, as Virtue and Piety, in the ordinary Courfe of things, require. The Plea of ungovernable Paffion then, on the Side of Vice, is the pooreft of all things; for it is no Reafon, and a poor Ex-But the proper Motives to Religion, are the proper cufe. Proofs of it, from our moral Nature, from the Prefages of Confcience, and our natural Apprehension of God under the Character of a righteous Governor and Judge; a Nature and Confcience and Apprehenfion given us by Him: and from the Confirmation of the Dictates of Reafon, by Life and Immortality brought to light by the Gospel; and the wrath of God revealed from Heaven, against all ungodliness, and unrighteousness of Men.

The End of the First PART.

T 2

TIF

(141)

ANALOGY ^{of} RELIGION

ΤΟΤΗΕ

Constitution and Course of NATURE.

PART II.

Of REVEALED RELIGION.

CHAP. I.

Of the Importance of Christianity.

OME Perfons, upon Pretence of the Sufficiency of the CHAP. Light of Nature, avowedly reject all Revelation, as, in its very Notion, incredible, and what must be fictitious. And indeed it is certain, there would have been none, had the Light

PART Light of Nature been sufficient in such a Sense, as to render a Revelation not wanting and ufelefs. But no man, in Serioufnefs II. and Simplicity of Mind, could possibly have thought it fo, who had confidered, the State of Religion in the heathen World, before Revelation, and its prefent State in those Places which have borrowed no Light from it; particularly, the Doubtfulnefs of fome of the greatest Men, concerning things of the utmost Importance, as well as the natural Inattention and Ignorance of Mankind in general. It is impossible to fay, who would have been able to have reasoned out That whole System, which we call natural Religion, in its genuine Simplicity, clear of Superstition; but there is certainly no Ground to affirm, that the Generality could. If they could, there is no Sort of Probability, that they would. Admitting there were, they would highly want a ftanding Admonition, to remind them of it, and inculcate it upon them. And farther still, were they as much difpofed to attend to Religion, as the better Sort of Men are; yet, even upon this Supposition, there would be various Occasions for fupernatural Instruction and Affiftance, and the greatest Advantages might be afforded by them. So that to fay, Revelation is a thing fuperfluous, what there was no Need of, and what can be of no Service; is, I think, to talk quite wildly and at random. Nor would it be more extravagant to affirm, that Mankind is fo entirely at eafe in the prefent State, and Life fo compleatly happy, that it is a Contradiction to fuppofe our Condition capable of being, in any Refpect, better.

> There are other Perfons, not to be ranked with thefe, who feem to be getting into a way of neglecting and, as it were, overlooking Revelation, as of fmall Importance, provided natural Religion be kept to. With little Regard, either to the Evidence of the former, or to the Objections againft it, and even upon Supposition of its Truth; the only Defign of it, fay they, muft

I42

must be, to establish a Belief of the moral System of Nature, C H A P. and to enforce the Practice of natural Piery and Virtue. The - I. Belief and Practice of thefe, were, perhaps, much promoted W by the first Publication of Christianity : But whether these things are believed and practiced, upon the Evidence and Motives of Nature or of Revelation, is no great Matter.^a This way of confidering Revelation, though it is not the fame with the former, yet borders nearly upon it, and very much, at length, runs up into it: and requires to be particularly confidered, with regard to the Perfons, who feem to be getting into this Way. The Confideration of it, will likewife farther fhew, the Extravagance of the former Opinion, and the Truth of the Obfervations in Anfwer to it, just mentioned. And an Inquiry into the Importance of Christianity, cannot be an improper Introduction to a Treatife concerning the Credibility of it.

Now if God has given a Revelation to Mankind, and commanded thole things, which are commanded in Chriftianity; it is evident, at first fight, that it cannot in any wife be an indifferent matter, whether we obey or difobey thole Commands: unlefs we are certainly affured, that we know all the Reafons for them, and that all thole Reafons are now ceafed, with regard to Mankind in general, or to Ourfelves in particular. And it is abfolutely impossible, we can be affured of this. For our Ignorance of these Reafons proves nothing in the Cafe; fince the whole Analogy of Nature shews, what is indeed in itself evident, that there may be infinite Reafons for things, with which we are not acquainted.

^a Invenis multos—propterea nolle fieri Christianos, quia quafi fufficiant fibi de bona vita fua. Bene vivere Opus eft, ait. Quid mihi procepturus eft Christas? Ut bene vivam? Jam bene vivo. Quid mihi neceffurius eft Christas? Nallum homicidium, nullum furtum, nullam rapinam facio, res alienas non concupiteo, nullo adulterio contaminor. Nam inveniatur in vita mea aliquid quod rej eliendatar, et qui reprehenderit faciat Christianum. Arg. in Pfal. xxxi.

PART II.

I 4.4.

But the Importance of Christianity will more diffinelly appear, by confidering it more diffinelly: Fir/t, as a Republication, and external Inftitution, of natural or effential Religion, adapted to the prefent Circumstances of Mankind, and intended to promote natural Piety and Virtue: And Secondly, as containing an Account of a Dispensation of things, not discoverable by Reason, in Confequence of which, several distinct Precepts are enjoined us. For though natural Religion is the Foundation and principal Part of Christianity, it is not in any Sense the whole of it.

I. Chriftianity is a Republication of natural Religion. It inftructs Mankind in the moral Syftem of the World: that it is the Work of an infinitely perfect Being, and under his Government; that Virtue is his Law; and that He will finally judge Mankind in Righteoufnefs, and render to all according to their Works, in a future State. And, which is very material, it teaches natural Religion, in its genuine Simplicity; free from thofe Superflitions, with which, it was totally corrupted, and under which, it was in a manner loft.

Revelation is farther, an authoritative Publication of natural Religion, and fo affords the Evidence of Teftimony for the Truth of it. Indeed the Miracles and Prophecies recorded in Scripture, were intended to prove a particular Difpenfation of Providence, the Redemption of the World by the Meffiah: But this does not hinder, but that they may alfo prove God's general Providence over the World, as our moral Governor and Judge. And they evidently do prove it; becaufe This Character of the Author of Nature, is neceffarily connected with and implied in That particular revealed Difpenfation of things: It is likewife continually taught expressly, and 4

infifted upon, by those Persons, who wrought the Miracles and C H A P. delivered the Prophecies. So that indeed natural Religion seems I. as much proved by the Scripture Revelation, as it would have voo been, had the Design of Revelation been nothing else than to prove it.

145

But it may poffibly be disputed, how far Miracles can prove natural Religion; and notable Objections may be urged against this Proof of it, confidered as a Matter of Speculation: But confidered as a practical thing, there can be none. For fuppofe a Perfon to teach natural Religion to a Nation, who had lived in total Ignorance or Forgetfulness of it; and to declare he was commiffioned by God fo to do: Suppose him, in Proof of his Commission, to foretel things future, which no human Forefight could have gueffed at; to divide the Sea with a Word; feed great Multitudes with Bread from Heaven; cure all manner of Difeafes; and raife the dead, even himfelf, to Life: Would not this give additional Credibility to his Teaching, a Credibility bevond what That of a common Man would have, and be an authoritative Publication of the Law of Nature, i. e. a new Proof of it? It would be a practical one, perhaps, of the ftrongest Kind which human Creatures are capable of having given them. The Law of Moles then, and the Golpel of Chrift, are authoritative Publications of the Religion of Nature: They afford a Proof, of God's general Providence as moral Governor of the World; as well as of his particular Difpenfations of Providence towards finful Creatures, revealed in the Law and the Gospel. As they are the only Evidence of the latter, they are an additional Evidence of the former.

To fhew this farther, let us fuppofe a Man of the greateft and most improved Capacity, who had never heard of Revelation, convinced upon the whole, notwithstanding the Diforders U of

14.6

PAR T of the World, that it was under the Direction and moral Government of an infinitely perfect Being; but ready to queftion, П. \sim whether he were not got beyond the Reach of his Faculties: Suppose him brought, by this Suspicion, into great Danger of being carried away, by the universal bad Example of almost every one around him, who appeared to have no Senfe, no practical Senfe at leaft, of these things: And this, perhaps, would be as advantageous a Situation with regard to Religion, as Nature alone ever placed any Man in. What a Confirmation now must it be to such a Person, all at once, to find, that this moral System of things was revealed to Mankind, in the name of That infinite Being, whom he had from Principles of Reafon believed in; and that the Publishers of the Revelation proved their Commission from Him, by making it appear, that he had intrusted them, with a Power of fufpending and changing the general Laws of Nature.

> Nor must it by any Means be omitted, for it is a thing of the utmost Importance, that Life and Immortality are eminently brought to Light by the Gospel. The great Doctrines of a future State, the Danger of a Course of Wickedness, and the Efficacy of Repentance, are not only confirmed in the Gospel, but are taught, especially the last is, with a Degree of Light, to which That of Nature is but Darkness.

> Farther: As Chriftianity ferved thefe Ends and Purpofes, when it was first published, by the miraculous Publication itself; fo it was intended to ferve the fame Purpofes, in future Ages, by Means of the Settlement of a visible Church: of a Society, distinguished from common ones and from the rest of the World, by peculiar religious Institutions; by an instituted Method of Instruction, and an instituted Form of external Religion. Mitaculous Powers were given to the first Preachers of Christianity, in

in Order to their introducing it into the World: A visible CHAP. Church was eftablished, in order to continue it, and carry it on I. fucceffively throughout all Ages. Had Moles and the Prophets, \sim Chrift and his Apoftles, only taught, and by Miracles proved, Religion to their Cotemporaries; the Benefits of their Instructions would have reached but to a finall Part of Mankind. Chriflianity must have been, in a great Degree, funk and forgot in a very few Ages. To prevent this, appears to have been one Reafon, why a visible Church was instituted; to be, like a City upon a Hill, a standing Memorial to the World, of the Duty which we owe our Maker; to call Men continually, both by Example and Inftruction, to attend to it, and, by the Form of Religion, ever before their Eyes, remind them of the Reality; to be the Repofitory of the Oracles of God; and hold up the Light of Revelation in Aid to That of Nature, and propagate it throughout all Generations to the End of the World the Light of Revelation, confidered here in no other View, than as defigned to enforce natural Religion. And in Proportion as Christianity is professed and taught in the World, Religion, natural or effential Religion, is thus diffinctly and advantageoufly laid before Mankind; and brought again and again to their Thoughts, as a Matter of infinite Importance. A visible Church has alfo a farther Tendency to promote natural Religion, as being an inftituted Method of Education, intended to be of more peculiar Advantage to those who would conform to it. For one End of the Inftitution was, that by Admonition and Reproof, as well as Inftruction, by a general regular Difcipline, and publick Exercifes of Religion; the body of Chrift, as the Scripture speaks, should be edified, i. e. trained up in Piety and Virtue, for a higher and better State. This Settlement then appearing thus beneficial, tending in the Nature of the thing to anfwer, and in fome Degree actually answering, those Ends; it is to be remembred, that the very Notion of it implies politive Inftitu-

tions;

PART tions: for the Vifibility of the Church confifts in them. Take II. away every thing of this Kind, and you loofe the very Notion itfelf. So that if the things now mentioned are Advantages, the Reafon and Importance of politive Inflitutions in general, is most obvious; fince without them, these Advantages could not be fecured to the World. And it is mere idle Wantonness, to infift upon knowing the Reafons, why fuch particular ones were fixt upon, rather than others.

148

The Benefit arifing from this fupernatural Affiftance, which Chriftianity affords to natural Religion, is what fome Perfons are very flow in apprehending. And yet it is a thing diftinct in itfelf, and a very plain obvious one. For will any in good earneft really fay, that the Bulk of Mankind in the heathen World, were in as advantageous a Situation with regard to natural Religion, as they are now amongft us: That it was laid before them, and enforced upon them, in a Manner as diftinct, and as much tending to influence their Practice?

The Objections againft all this, from the Perversion of Chriftianity, and from the Supposition of its having had but little good Influence, however innocently they may be proposed, yet cannot be infisted upon as conclusive, upon any Principles, but fuch as lead to downright Atheism: Because the Manifestation of the Law of Nature by Reason, which, upon all Principles of Theism, must have been from God, has been perverted and rendred ineffectual in the fame Manner. It may indeed, I think, truly be faid, that the good Effects of Christianity have not been simil; nor its supposed ill Effects, any Effects at all of it, properly speaking. Perhaps too the things themselves done, have been aggravated: And if not, Christianity hath been often only a Pretence; and the fame Evils in the Main would have been done, upon some other Pretence. However, great

great and fhocking as the Corruptions and Abufes of it, have really C H A P. been, they cannot be infifted upon as Arguments against it, upon Principles of Theifm. For, one cannot proceed one Step in reafoning upon natural Religion, any more than upon Chriftianity, without laying it down as a first Principle, that the Difpensations of Providence are not to be judged of, by their Perversions, but by their genuine Tendencies: not by what they do actually feem to effect, but by what they would effect if Mankind did their Part; That Part which is justly put and left upon them. It is altogether as much the Language of one, as of the other; He that is unjust, let him be unjust still: and he that is holy, let him be holy still.b The Light of Reason does not, any more than That of Revelation, force Men to fubmit to its Authority: Both admonish them of what they ought to do and avoid; together with the Confequences of each: And after this, leave them at full Liberty to act just as they pleafe, till the appointed Time of Judgment. Every Moment's Experience flews, that this is God's general Rule of Government.

To return then : Christianity being a Promulgation of the Law of Nature; being moreover an authoritative Promulgation of it; with new Light, and other Circumstances of peculiar Advantage, adapted to the Wants of Mankind; these things fully shew its Im-And it is to be observed farther, that, as the Nature of portance. the Cafe requires, fo all Chriftians are commanded to contribute, by their Profession of Christianity, to preferve it in the World, and render it fuch a Promulgation and Enforcement of Religion. For it is the very Scheme of the Gofpel, that each Christian should, in his Degree, contribute towards continuing and carrying it on : all by uniting in the publick Profession and external Practice of. Chriftianity; fome by inftructing, by having the Overfight and taking Care of, this religious Community, the Church of God.

^b Rev. xxii. 11.

Now

I 4.9

Ι. Y 2

PART Now this farther fhews, the Importance of Chriftianity; and, which is what I chiefly intend, its Importance in a practical Senfe: or the high Obligations we are under, to take it into our most ferious Confideration; and the Danger there must neceffarily be, not in treating it defpitefully, which I am not now fpeaking of, but in difregarding and neglecting it. For this is neglecting to do what is expressly injoyned us, for continuing those Benefits to the World, and transmitting them down to future Times. And all this holds, even though the only thing to be confidered in Chriftianity, were its Subferviency to natural Religion. But,

150

II. Chriftianity is to be confidered in a further View; as containing an Account of a Difpenfation of things, not at all difcoverable by Reafon, in Confequence of which, feveral diffinct Precepts are injoined us. Chriftianity is not only an external Inflitution of natural Religion, and a new Promulgation of God's general Providence, as righteous Governor and Judge of the World; but it contains alfo a Revelation of a particular Difpensation of Providence, carrying on by his Son and Spirit, for the Recovery and Salvation of Mankind, who are reprefented, in Scripture, to be in a State of Ruin. And in Confequence of this Revelation being made, we are commanded to be baptized, not only in the name of the Father, but also, of the Son and of the boly Ghoft : and other Obligations of Duty, unknown before, to the Son and the Holy Ghoft, are revealed. Now the Importance of these Duties may be judged of, by observing that they arife, not from positive Command merely; but alfo from the Offices, which appear, from Scripture, to belong to those divine Persons in the Gospel Dispensation; or from the Relations, which, we are there informed, they fland in to us. By Reafon is revealed the Relation, which God the Father flands in to us. Hence arifes the Obligation of Duty, which we are under

under to Him. In Scripture are revealed the Relations, which C H A P. the Son and Holy Spirit stand in to us. Hence arife the Obli-Ι. \sim gations of Duty, which we are under to them. The Truth of the Cafe, as one may fpeak, in each of these three Respects being admitted, that God is the Governor of the World, upon the Evidence of Reafon: that Chrift is the Mediator between God and Man, and the holy Ghoft our Guide and Sanctifier, upon the Evidence of Revelation-the Truth of the Cafe, I fay, in each of these Respects being admitted; it is no more a Queftion, why it fhould be commanded, that we be baptized in the name of the Son and of the holy Ghoft, than that we be baptized in the name of the Father. And we are not now confidering Baptifm itfelf, as an external politive Inftitution, for the Importance of politive Inftitutions in Religion has been above remarked; but only the general Duty to be paid to the Son and holy Ghoft, abstracted from any Confideration of the particular external Manner, in which it is to be paid. This Matter feems to require to be more fully stated °

Let it be remembred then, that Religion comes under the twofold Confideration of internal and external; for the latter is as real a Part of Religion, of true Religion, as the former. Now when Religion is confidered under the firft Notion, as an inward Principle, to be exerted in fuch and fuch inward Acts of the Mind and Heart; the Effence of natural Religion may be faid to confift, in religious Regards to God the Father Almighty: and the Effence of revealed Religion, as diftinguished from natural, to confift, in religious Regards, to the Son, and to the Holy Ghost. And the Obligation we are under, of paying these religious Regards to each of these divine Perfons respectively, arises

^c See, The Nature, Olligation, and Efficacy, of the Christian Sacraments, & c. and Collibur of revealed Religion, as there quoted.

from

152

PART from the respective Relations, which they each stand in to us. II. How these Relations are made known, whether by Reason or m Revelation, makes no Alteration in the Cafe: becaufe the Duties arife out of the Relations themfelves, not out of the Manner in which we are informed of them. The Son and Spirit have each their proper Office, in that great Dispensation of Providence, the Redemption of the World; one our Mediator, the other our Sanctifier. Does not then the Duty of religious Regards to both these divine Persons, as immediately arise, to the View of Reafon, out of the very Nature of these Offices and Relations; as the inward Good-will and kind Intention, which we owe to our Fellow-creatures, arifes out of the common Relations between us and them? But it will be afked, What are the inward religious Regards, appearing thus obvioufly due to the Son and holy Spirit; as arifing, not merely from Command in Scripture, but from the very Nature of the revealed Relations, which they ftand in to us? I answer, the religious Regards of Reverence, Honour, Love, Truft, Gratitude, Fear, Hope. In what external Manner, this inward Worship is to be expressed, is a Matter of pure revealed Command; as perhaps the external Manner, in which, God the Father is to be worshipped, may be more fo, than we are ready to think : But the Worship, the internal Worship itself, to the Son and Holy Ghoft, is no farther Matter of pure revealed Command. than as the Relations they stand in to us, are Matter of pure Revelation; for the Relations being known, the Obligations to fuch internal Worship, are Obligations of Reason, arising out of those Relations themselves. In short, the History of the Gospel as immediately shews us the Reason of these Obligations, as it shews us the Meaning of the Words, Son and Holy Ghost.

If

If this Account of the Chriftian Religion be juft; those Per-CHAP fons who can speak lightly of it, as of little Confequence, provided natural Religion be kept to, plainly forget, that Chriftianity, even what is peculiarly fo called, as diffinguished from natural Religion, has yet somewhat very important, even of a moral Nature. For the Office of our Lord being made known, and the Relation he flands in to us, the Obligation of religious Regards to Him, is plainly moral; as much as Charity to Mankind is : fince this Obligation arifes, before external Command, immediately out of That his Office and Relation itfelf. Those Perfons appear to forget, that Revelation is to be confidered, as informing us of fomewhat New, in the State of Mankind, and in the Government of the World; as acquainting us with fome Relations we ftand in, which could not otherwife have been known. And these Relations being real, (though before Revelation we could be under no Obligations from them, yet upon their being revealed,) there is no Reafon to think, but that Negleft of behaving fuitably to them, will be attended with the fame Kind of Confequences under God's Government; as neglecting to behave fuitably to any other Relations made known to us by Reafon. And Ignorance, whether unavoidable or voluntary, fo far as we can poffibly fee, will, just as much and just as little, excufe in one cafe as in the other; the Ignorance being fuppofed equally unavoidable, and equally voluntary, in both Cafes.

If therefore Chrift be indeed the Mediator between God and Man, *i. e.* if Chriftianity be true; if he be indeed our Lord, our Saviour, and our God; no one can fay, what may follow, not only the obftinate, but the carclefs Difregard to him, in those high Relations. Nay no one can fay, what may follow fuch X Difregard,

P A R T Difregard, even in the way of natural Confequence.^d For, as the natural Confequences of Vice in this Life, are doubtlefs to be confidered, as judicial Punifhments inflicted by God; fo likewife, for ought we know, the judicial Punifhments of the future Life, may be, in a like Way or a like Senfe, the natural Confequence of Vice:^o of Men's violating or difregarding the Relations, which God has placed them in here, and made known to them.

I54

Again: If Mankind have corrupted themfelves, are depraved in their moral Character, and fo are unfit for that State, which Chrift is gone to prepare for his Disciples; and if the Aflistance of God's Spirit be neceffary to renew their Nature, in the Degree requifite to their being qualified for That State; all which is implied in the express, though figurative Declaration, Except a Man be born of the Spirit, he cannot enter into the kingdom of God : f Supposing this, is it possible any ferious Person can think it a flight matter, whether or no he makes use of the Means, exprefsly commanded by God, for obtaining this divine Affiftance? Efpecially fince the whole Analogy of Nature fhews, that we are not to expect any Benefits, without making use of the appointed Means for obtaining or injoying them. Now Reafon shews us nothing, of the particular immediate Means of obtaining, either temporal or fpiritual Benefits. This therefore we must learn, either from Experience or Revelation. And Experience, the prefent Cafe does not admit of.

The Conclusion from all this evidently is; that, Christianity being fuppofed either true or credible, it is unspeakable Irreverence, and really the most prefumptuous Rashness, to treat it as a light Matter. It can never justly be esteemed of little Confequence, till it be positively supposed false. Nor do I know a higher and more important Obligation which we are under,

^d r. 28, 29. ^c Ch. v. ^f John. iii. 5.

than

than That, of examining most feriously into the Evidence of it, C H A P. supposing its Credibility; and of embracing it, upon Suppositi- I. on of its Truth.

155

The two following Deductions may be proper to be added, in order, to illustrate the foregoing Observations, and to prevent their being mistaken.

First, Hence we may clearly see, where lies the Distinction between what is positive and what is moral in Religion. Moral Precepts are Precepts, the Reafons of which we fee. Positive Precepts are Precepts, the Reasons of which we do not fee.⁵ Moral Duties arife out of the Nature of the Cafe itfelf, prior to external Command. Politive Duties do not arife out of the Nature of the Cafe; but from external Command: Nor would they be Duties at all, were it not for fuch Command. received from Him whofe Creatures and Subjects we are. But the Manner in which, the Nature of the Cafe, or the Fact of the Relation, is made known, this doth not denominate any Duty either politive or moral. That we be baptized in the Name of the Father, is as much a positive Duty, as that we be baptized in the Name of the Son; because both arise equally from revealed Command : though the Relation which we ftand in to God the Father, is made known to us by Reafon, the Relation we ftand in to Chrift, by Revelation only. On the other hand, the Difpenfation of the Gofpel admitted, Gratitude as immediately becomes due to Chrift, from his being the voluntary Minister of this Dispensation; as

⁸ This is the Diffinction between moral and politive Precepts, confidered refpéctively as fuch. But yet, fince the latter have fomewhat of a moral Nature, confidered in this View, we may fee the Reafon of them. Moral and politive Precepts are, in fome Refpects able, in other Refpects different: So far as they are alike, we different the Reafons of both; So far as they are different, we different the Reafons of the former, but not of the latter. See p. 147, 148. & p. 150

PART it is due to God the Father, from his being the Fountain of all Good : though the first is made known to us, by Revelation only, II. the fecond, by Reafon. Hence also we may fee, and, for Diftinctnels fake, it may be worth mentioning, that politive Inftitutions come under a two-fold Confideration. They are either Institutions founded on natural Religion, as Baptism in the name of the Father; though this has also a particular Reference to the Gospel-dispensation, for it is in the Name of God, as the Father of our Lord Jefus Chrift: Or they are external Inftitutions founded on revealed Religion; as Baptifm in the name of the Son, and of the holy Ghoft.

156

Secondly, From the Diffinction between what is moral and what is politive in Religion, appears the Ground of That peculiar Preference, which the Scripture teaches us to be due to the former.

The Reafon of politive Institutions in general, is very obvious; though we should not see the Reason, why such particular ones are pitched upon, rather than others. Whoever therefore, instead of cavilling at Words, will attend to the thing itself, may clearly fee, that politive Inftitutions in general, as diffinguished from this or that particular one, have the Nature of moral Commands; fince the Reafons of them appear. Thus, for Inftance, the external Worfhip of God, is a moral Duty, though no particular Mode of it be fo. Care then is to be taken, when a Comparifon is made between politive and moral Duties, that they be compared, no farther than as they are different: no farther than, as the former are politive, or arife out of mere external Command, the Reafons of which we are not acquainted with; and as the latter are moral, or arife out of the

the apparent Reafon of the Cafe, without fuch external Com- C H A P. mand. Unlefs this Caution be obferved, we fhall run into endlefs Confusion.

Of the Importance of Christianity.

Now this being premifed, fuppofe two ftanding Precepts enjoined by the fame Authority; that, in certain Conjunctures, it is, impoffible to obey both; that the former is moral, i. e. a Precept of which we fee the Reafons, and that they hold in the particular Cafe before us; but that the latter is politive, i. e. a Precept of which we do not fee the Reafons: it is indifputable that our Obligations are to obey the former ; becaufe, there is an apparent Reafon for this Preference, and none against it. Farther, politive Inftitutions, I fuppofe all of them which Chriftianity injoins, are Means to a moral End; and the End muft be acknowledged more excellent, than the Means. Nor is Obfervance of these Institutions, any religious Obedience at all, or of any Value, otherwife than as it proceeds from a moral Principle. This feems to be the ftrict logical way of flating and determining this Matter; but will, perhaps, be found lefs applicable to Practice, than may be thought at first fight.

And therefore, in a more practical, though more lax way of Confideration, and taking the Words, *moral Law* and *politive Inftitutions*, in the popular Senfe; I add, that the whole moral Law is as much Matter of revealed Command, as politive Inftitutions are: for the Scripture injoins every moral Virtue. In this Refpect then they are both upon a Level. But the moral Law is, moreover, written upon our Hearts; interwoven into our very Nature. And this is a plain Intimation of the Author of it, which is to be preferred when they interfere.

158

PART But there is not altogether fo much Necefiity, for the Determination of this Question, as some Persons seem to think. II. S Nor are we left to Reafon alone to determine it For, Firft, Though Mankind have, in all Ages, been greatly prone to place their Religion in peculiar positive Rites, by way of Equivalent for Obedience to moral Precepts; yet, without making any Comparison at all between them, and confequently without determining which is to have the Preference, the Nature of the thing abundantly shews, all Notions of That Kind to be utterly fubverfive of true Religion: as they are, moreover, contrary, to the whole general Tenor of Scripture; and likewife, to the most express particular Declarations of it, that nothing can render us accepted of God, without moral Virtue. Secondly, Upon the Occasion of mentioning together positive and moral Duties, the Scripture always puts the Strefs of Religion upon the latter, and never upon the former: Which, though no Sort of Allowance to neglect the former, when they do not interfere with the latter; yet, is a plain Intimation, that when they do, the latter are to be preferred. And farther, as Mankind are for placing the Strefs of their Religion any where, rather than upon Virtue; left both the Reafon of the thing, and the general Spirit of Christianity, appearing in the Intimation now mentioned, should be ineffectual against this prevalent Folly: Our Lord himfelf, from whofe Command alone, the Obligation of politive Inflitutions arifes, has taken Occasion to make the Comparifon between Them and moral Precepts; when the Pharifees cenfured him, for eating with Publicans and Sinners; and alfo when they cenfured his Difciples, for plucking the ears of corn on the Sabbath-day. Upon this Comparison, he has determined expressly, and in Form, which finall have the Preference when they interfere. And by delivering his authoritative Determination in a proverbial Manner of Expression, he has made it general;

159

neral; I will have Mercy, and not facrifice. h The Propriety CHAP. of the Word, proverbial, is not the thing infifted upon; though Ι. I think the Manner of fpeaking is to be called fo. But, that the N Manner of speaking, very remarkably renders the Determination general, is furely indifputable. For, had it been faid only, that God preferred Mercy to the rigid Obfervance of the Sabbath, even then, by Parity of Reafon, most justly might we have argued, that he preferred Mercy likewife, to the Obfervance of other ritual Inftitutions; and in general, moral Duties, to politive ones. And thus the Determination would have been general; though its being fo, were inferred and not expreffed. But as the Paffage really ftands in the Gofpel, it is much ftronger. For, the Senfe and the very literal Words of our Lord's Anfwer, are as applicable to any other Inftance of a Comparison, between positive and moral Duties, as to That upon which they were spoken. And if, in Case of Competition, Mercy is to be preferred to positive Institutions, it will fearce be thought, that Justice is to give Place to them. It is remarkable too, that, as the Words are a Quotation from the Old Teftament, they are introduced, on both those Occasions, with a Declaration, that the Pharifees did not underfland the Meaning of them. This, I fay, is very remarkable. For, fince it is fearce poflible, for the most ignorant Perfon, not to understand the literal Senfe of the Paffage, in the Prophet; i and fince, understanding the literal Senfe, would not have prevented Their condemning the guiltles; k it can hardly be doubted, that the thing which our Lord really intended in That Declaration, was, that the Pharifees had not learnt from it, as they might, wherein the general Spirit of Religion confifts: that it confifts in moral Piery and Virtue, as diftinguished from ritual Observances. However, it .

^b Matth. ix. 13. and xii. 7. ¹ Hof vi. ² See Matth. xii. 7. IS--

P A R T is certain we may learn this from his divine Application of the II.
 Paffage, in the Golpel.

160

But, as it is one of the peculiar Weakneffes of human Nature, when, upon a Comparifon of two things, one is found to be of greater Importance than the other, to confider this other as of fearce any Importance at all: it is highly neceffary that we remind ourfelves; how great Prefumption it is, to make light of pofitive Inftitutions of divine Appointment; that our Obligations to obey all God's Commands whatever, are abfolute and indifpenfable; And that Commands merely pofitive, admitted to be from Him, lay us under a moral Obligation to obey them : an Obligation moral in the ftricteft and moft proper Senfe.

To thefe things I cannot forbear adding, that the Account now given of Christianity, most strongly shews and enforces upon us, the Obligation of fearching the Scriptures, in order to see, what the Scheme of Revelation really is, instead of determining beforehand, from Reason, what the Scheme of it must be.^a Indeed if in Revelation there be found any Passages, the seeming Meaning of which, is contrary to natural Religion; we may most certainly conclude, such seeming Meaning not to be the real one. But it is not any Degree of a Presumption against an Interpretation of Scripture, that such Interpretation contains a Doctrine, which the Light of Nature cannot discover,^b or a Precept, which the Law of Nature does not oblige to.

^a See alfo Ch. iii. Part II. ^b p. 162.

CHAP.

CHAP. II.

Of the supposed Presumption against a Revelation, considered as miraculous.

AVING thewn the Importance of the Chriftian Reve- C H A P. lation, and the Obligations which we are under ferioufly to attend to it; upon Supposition of its Truth, or its Credibility: The next thing in Order, is to confider, the fupposed Prefumptions against Revelation in general; which shall be the Subject of this Chapter: and the Objections against the Chriftian in particular; which shall be the Subject of some following ones.^a For it feems the most natural Method, to remove these Prejudices against Chriftianity; before we proceed to the Confideration of the positive Evidence for it, and the Objections against that Evidence.^b

It is, I think, commonly fuppofed, that there is fome peculiar Prefumption, from the Analogy of Nature, against the Christian Scheme of things, at least against Miracles; so as that stronger Evidence is necessary to prove the Truth and Reality of them, than would be fufficient to convince us of other Events, or Matters of Fact. Indeed the Consideration of this suppofed Presumption, cannot but be thought very insignificant, by many Persons: Yet, as it belongs to the Subject of this Treatife; so it may tend to open the Mind, and remove fome Prejudices: however needless the Consideration of it be, upon its own Account.

Ch. iii, iv, v,	vi. ^b Ch. vii.		
	Y I.	I fi	nd

Of the supposed Presumption

162

PART I. I find no Appearance of a Prefumption, from the Analogy II. of Nature, against the general Scheme of Christianity, that God created and invisibly governs the World by Jefus Christ; and by him alfo will hereafter judge it in Righteoufnefs, *i. e.* render to every one according to his Works: and that good Men are under the fecret Influence of his Spirit. Whether these things are, or are not, to be called miraculous, is, perhaps, only a Question about Words; or however, is of no Moment in the Cafe. If the Analogy of Nature raises any Prefumption against this general Scheme of Christianity, it must be, either because it is not discoverable by Reason or Experience; or elfe, because it is unlike That Course of Nature, which is. But Analogy raises no Prefumption against the Truth of this Scheme, upon either of these Accounts.

> First, There is no Prefumption, from Analogy, against the Truth of it, upon Account of its not being discoverable by Reafon or Experience. For fuppole one who never heard of Revelation, of the most improved Understanding, and acquainted with Our whole Syftem of natural Philosophy and natural Religion; fuch an one could not but be fenfible, that it was but a very finall Part of the natural and moral Syftem of the Universe, which he was acquainted with. He could not but be fenfible, that there must be innumerable things, in the Difpenfations of Providence paft, in the invifible Government over the World at prefent carrying on, and in what is to come; of which he was wholly ignorant, c and which could not be difcovered without Revelation. Whether the Scheme of Nature be, in the fricteft Senfe, infinite or not; it is evidently vaft, even beyond all poffible Imagination. And doubtless That Part of it, which is opened to our View, is but as a Point, in Comparison

against Miracles.

163

of the whole Plan of Providence, reaching throughout Eternity C H A P. paft and future; in Comparifon of what is now going on, in II. the remote Parts of the boundless Universe; nay in Comparison of the whole Scheme of This World. And therefore, that Things lye beyond the natural Reach of our Faculties, is no Sort of Prefumption against the Truth and Reality of them; becaufe it is certain, there are innumerable things, in the Conftitution and Government of the Universe, which are thus beyond the natural Reach of our Faculties. Secondly, Analogy raifes no Prefumption, against any of the things contained in this general Doctrine of Scripture now mentioned, upon Account of their being unlike the known Courfe of Nature. For there is no Prefumption at all from Analogy, that the whole Courfe of things, or divine Government, naturally unknown to us, and every thing in it, is like to any thing in That which is known; and therefore no peculiar Prefumption against any thing in the former, upon Account of its being unlike to any thing in the latter. And in the Conftitution and natural Government of the World, as well as in the moral Government of it, we fee things, in a great Degree, unlike one another: and therefore ought not to wonder at fuch Unlikeness between things visible and invisible. However, the Scheme of Christianity is by no means entirely unlike the Scheme of Nature; as will appear in the following Part of this Treatife.

The Notion of a Miracle, confidered as a Proof of a divine Miffion, has been flated with great Exactnefs by Divines; and is, I think, fufficiently underflood by every one. There are alfo invifible Miracles, the Incarnation of Chrift, for Inflance, which, being fecret, cannot be alledged as a Proof of fuch a Miffion; but require themfelves to be proved by vifible Miracles. Revelation itfelf too, is miraculous; and Miracles are the Proof of it; and the fuppofed Prefumption against these, fhall pre-Y 2

Of the Supposed Presumption

PART fently be confidered. All which I have been obferving here is, II. that, whether we chufe to call every thing in the Difpenfations of Providence, not difcoverable without Revelation, nor like the known Courfe of things, miraculous; and whether the general chriftian Difpenfation now mentioned, is to be called fo, or not; the foregoing Obfervations feem certainly to fhew, that there is no Prefumption against it, from the Analogy of Nature.

164

II. There is no Prefumption, from Analogy, against Operations, fome or other, which, we fhould now call miraculous, particularly none against a Revelation, at the Beginning of the World; nothing of fuch Prefumption against it, as is supposed to be implied or expressed in the Word, miraculous. For a Miracle, in its very Notion, is relative to a Courfe of Nature ; and implies fomewhat different from it, confidered as being fo. Now, either there was no Courfe of Nature at the Time which we are fpeaking of; or if there were, we are not acquainted, what the Courfe of Nature is, upon the first peopling of Worlds. And therefore the Question, whether Mankind had a Revelation made to them at That Time, is to be confidered, not as a Question concerning a Miracle, but as a common Question of Fact. And we have the like Reafon, be it more or lefs, to admit the Report of Tradition, concerning this Question, and concerning common Matters of Fact of the fame Antiquity; for Instance, what Part of the Earth was first peopled.

Or thus: When Mankind was first placed in this State, there was a Power exerted, totally different from the prefent Course of Nature. Now, whether this Power, thus wholly different from the prefent Course of Nature, for we cannot properly apply to it, the Word miraculous; whether This Power stopped immediately after it had made Man, or went on, and exerted itself

against Miracles.

itfelf farther in giving him a Revelation, is a Queftion of the C H A P. fame Kind, as whether an ordinary Power exerted itfelf in fuch II. a particular Degree and Manner, or not.

Or fuppofe the Power exerted in the Formation of the World, be confidered as miraculous, or rather, be called by that Name; the Cafe will not be different: fince it muft be acknowledged, that fuch a Power was exerted. For fuppofing it acknowledged, that our Saviour fpent fome Years in a Courfe of working Miracles: there is no more Prefumption, worth mentioning, againft his having exerted this miraculous Power, in a certain Degree greater, than in a certain Degree lefs; in one or two more Inftances, than in one or two fewer; in this, than in another Manner.

It is evident then, that there can be no peculiar Prefumption, from the Analogy of Nature, against supposing a Revelation, when Man was first placed upon the Earth.

Add, that there does not appear the leaft Intimation in Hiftory or Tradition, that Religion was first reasoned out; but the whole of History and Tradition makes for the other Side, that it came into the World by Revelation. Indeed the State of Religion in the first Ages, of which we have any Account, feems to suppose and imply, that this was the Original of it amongst Mankind. And these Reflections together, without taking in the peculiar Authority of Scripture, amount to real and a very material Degree of Evidence, that there was a Revelation at the Beginning of the World. Now this, as it is a Confirmation of natural Religion, and therefore mentioned in the former Part of this Treatife;^d fo likewise it has a Tendency to remove any Prejudices against a subsequent Revelation.

^ар. 115, 116.

III. But

Of the supposed Presumption

PART III. But fill it may be objected, that there is fome peculiar
 II. Prefumption, from Analogy, againft Miracles; particularly againft Revelation, after the Settlement and during the Continuance of a Courfe of Nature.

Now with regard to this fuppofed Prefumption, it is to be observed in general; that before we can have Ground for raising what can, with any Propriety, be called an Argument from Analogy, for, or against, Revelation confidered as fomewhat miraculous, we must be acquainted with a fimilar or parallel Cafe. But the Hiftory of fome other World, feemingly, in like Circumstances with our own, is no more than a parallel Cafe; and therefore Nothing short of This, can be fo. Yet, could we come at a prefumptive Proof, for, or against, a Revelation, from being informed, whether fuch World had one, or not; fuch a Proof, being drawn from one fingle Instance only, must be infinitely precarious. More particularly: First of all; There is a very ftrong Prefumption, against common speculative Truths, and against the most ordinary Facts, before the Proof of them; which yet is overcome by almost any Proof. There is a Prefumption of Millions to one, against the Story of Cælar, or of any other Man. For fuppose a Number of common Facts fo and fo circumstanced, of which, one had no kind of Proof. should happen to come into one's Thoughts; every one would, without any poffible Doubt, conclude them to be falfe. And the like may be faid of a fingle common Fact. And from hence it appears, that the Question of Importance, as to the Matter before us, is, concerning the Degree of the peculiar Prefumption fuppofed against Miracles; not whether there be any peculiar Prefumption at all against them. For, if there be the Prefumption of Millions to one, against the most common Facts; What can a fmall Prefumption additional to this, amount to, though it be peculiar? It cannot be effimated, and is as Nothing. The only 3

against Miracles.

only material Question is, whether there be any fuch Prefumpti- C H A P. ons against Miracles, as to render them in any Sort incredible. Н. S Secondly, If we leave out the Confideration of Religion, we are in fuch total Darknefs, upon what Caufes, Occafions, Reafons, or Circumstances, the prefent Courfe of Nature depends; that there does not appear any Improbability for or against supposing, that five or fix thousand Years may have given Scope for, Caufes, Occafions, Reafons, or Circumstances, from whence miraculous Interpolitions may have arilen. And from this, joined with the foregoing, Obfervation, it will follow, that there must be a Prefumption, beyond all Comparison, greater, against the particular common Facts just now instanced in, than against Miracles in general; before any Evidence of either. But, Thirdly, Take in the Confideration of Religion, or the moral System of the World, and then we fee distinct particular Reafons for Miracles; to afford Mankind Instruction additional to That of Nature, and to atteft the Truth of it. And this gives a real Credibility to the Supposition, that it might be Part of the original Plan of things, that there should be miraculous Interpositions. Then, Lastly, Miracles must not be compared, to common natural Events, or to Events which, though uncommon, are fimilar to what we daily experience ; but to the extraordinary Phenomena of Nature. And then the Comparison will be between, the Prefumption against Miracles; and the Prefumption, against fuch uncommon Appearances, suppose, as Comets, and against there being any such Powers in Nature as Magnetifin and Electricity, fo contrary to the Properties of other Bodies not endued with these Powers. And before any one can determine, whether there be any peculiar Prefumption against Miracles, more than against other extraordinary things; he must confider, what, upon first hearing, would be the Prefumption against the last mentioned Appearances and Powers, to a Perfon acquainted

168 Of the fuppofed Prefumption, &c. PART acquainted only with the daily, monthly, and annual, Courfe of II. Nature refpecting this Earth, and with those common Powers of Matter which we every Day see.

> Upon all this I conclude ; That there certainly is no fuch Prefumption againft Miracles, as to render them in any wife incredible: That on the contrary, our being able to difcern Reafons for them, gives a pofitive Credibility to the Hiftory of them, in Cafes where those Reafons hold: And That it is by no Means certain, that there is any peculiar Prefumption at all, from Analogy, even in the loweft Degree, againft Miracles, as diffinguished from other extraordinary Phenomena ; though it is not worth while to perplex the Reader, with Inquiries into the abstract Nature of Evidence, in order to determine a Question, which, without fuch Inquiries, we fee * is of no Importance.

> > ³ p. 166.

CHAP.

CHAP. III.

Of our Incapacity of judging, what were to be expected in a Revelation; and the Credibility, from Analogy, that it must contain things appearing liable to Objections.

ESIDES the Objections against the Evidence for Chri-CHAP. flianity, many are alledged against the Scheme of it; III. against the whole Manner in which it is put and left with the World; as well as against feveral particular Relations in Scripture: Objections drawn, from the Deficiencies of Revelation; from things in it appearing to Men Foolifhnefs; a from its containing matters of Offence, which have led, and must have been forefeen would lead, into strange Enthusiasin and Superfition, and be made to ferve the Purpofes of Tyranny and Wickednefs; from its not being universal; and, which is a thing of the fame Kind, from its Evidence not being fo convincing and fatisfactory as it might have been: for this laft is fometimes turned into a politive Argument against its Truth.^b It would be tedious, indeed impofible, to enumerate the feveral Particulars comprehended under the Objections here referred to; they being fo various, according to the different Fancies of Men. There are Perfons, who think it a ftrong Objection againft the Authority of Scripture, that it is not compofed by Rules of Art, agreed upon by Criticks, for polite and correct Writing.' And the Scorn is inexpreffible, with which fome of

^a 1 Cor. i. 28.

The Credibility, that a Revelation

PART the prophetick Parts of Scripture are treated: partly through the Rafhness of Interpreters; but very much also, on Account H. S of the hieroglyphical and figurative Language, in which they are left us. Some of the principal things of this Sort, shall be particularly confidered, in following Chapters: But my Defign at prefent, is to obferve in general, with refpect to this whole way of arguing, that, upon Supposition of a Revelation, it is highly credible beforehand, we fhould be incompetent Judges of it, to a great Degree; and that it would contain many things appearing to us liable to great Objections: in cafe we judge of it otherwife, than by the Analogy of Nature. And therefore, though Objections against the Evidence of Chriftianity, are most feriously to be confidered; yet Objections against Christianity itself, are, in a great measure, frivolous: almost all Objections against it, excepting those which are alledged, against the particular Proofs of its coming from God. I express myself with Caution, left I should be mistaken to vilify Reafon; which is indeed the only Faculty we have wherewith to judge concerning any thing, even Revelation itfelf: or be mifunderftood to affert, that a fuppofed Revelation cannot be proved false, from internal Characters. For, it may contain clear Immoralities or Contradictions; and either of these would prove it falfe: Nor will I take upon me to affirm, that Nothing elfe can poffibly render any fuppofed Revelation incredible. Yet full the Obfervation above, is, I think, true beyond Doubt, that Objections against Christianity, as distinguished frem Objections against its Evidence, are frivolous. To make out This, is the general Defign of the following Chapter. And with regard to the whole of it, I cannot but particularly with, that the Proofs might be attended to; rather than the Affertions cavelled at, upon Account of any unacceptable Confequences, whether real or fuppofed, which may be drawn from them. For, after all,

must appear liable to Objections.

all, That which is true, muft be admitted, though it fhould fhew C H \land P. us, the Shortnefs of our Faculties; and that we are in no wife III. Judges of many things, of which we are apt to think ourfelves very competent ones. Nor will this be any Objection with reafonable Mcn, at leaft upon fecond Thought, it will not be any Objection with fuch, againft the Juffnefs of the following Obfervations.

As God governs the World, and inftructs his Creatures, according to certain Laws or Rules, in the known Courfe of Nature; known by Reafon together with Experience: fo the Scripture informs us of a Scheme of divine Providence additional to this. It relates, that God has, by Revelation, inftructed Men in things concerning his Government, which they could not otherwife have known; and reminded them of things, which they might: and attefted the Truth of the whole, by Miracles. Now if the natural and the revealed Difpensation of things, are both from God, coincide with each other, and together make up one Scheme of Providence; our being incompetent Judges of one, must render it credible, that we may be incompetent Judges also of the other. Since, upon Experience, the acknowledged Conftitution and Courfe of Nature, is found to be greatly different from what, before Experience, would have been expected, and fuch as, Men fancy, there lie great Objections againft; this renders it beforehand highly credible, that they may find the revealed Difpenfation likewife, if they judge of it as they do of the Conftitution of Nature, very different from Expectations formed beforehand, and liable, in Appearance, to great Objections: Objections, against the Scheme itself, and against the Degrees and Manners of the miraculous Interpolitions, by which it was attefted and carried on. Thus fuppofe a Prince to govern his Dominions in the wifeft Manner poffible, by common known Laws; and that upon fome Exigencies he fhould Z 2 fufpend

172 The Credibility, that a Revelation

P A R T fufpend thefe Laws, and govern, in feveral Inftances, in a different Manner: If one of his Subjects were not a competent Judge Π. S beforehand, by what common Rules, the Government fhould or would be carried on; it could not be expected, that the fame Perfon would be a competent Judge, in what Exigencies, or in what Manner, or to what Degree, those Laws commonly obferved, would be fuspended or deviated from. If he were not a Judge of the Wifdom of the ordinary Administration, there is no Reafon to think, he would be a Judge of the Wifdom of the extraordinary. If he thought he had Objections against the former, doubtlefs, it is highly fuppofeable, he might think alfo, that he had Objections against the latter. And thus, as we fall into infinite Follies and Miftakes, whenever we pretend, otherwife than from Experience and Analogy, to judge of the Conflitution and Courfe of Nature; it is evidently supposeable beforehand, that we should fall into as great, in pretending to judge, in like Manner, concerning Revelation. Nor is there any more Ground to expect, that this latter should appear to us, clear of Objections, than that the former fhould.

> Thefe Obfervations relating to the Whole of Chriftianity, are applicable to Infpiration in particular. As we are in no Sort Judges beforehand, by what Laws or Rules, in what Degree, or by what Means, it were to have been expected, that God would naturally inftruct us; fo, upon Supposition of his affording us Light and Inftruction by Revelation, additional to what he has afforded us by Reafon and Experience, we are in no Sort Judges, by what Methods and in what Proportion, it were to be expected, that this fupernatural Light and Inftruction would be afforded us. We know not beforehand, what Degree or Kind of natural Information, it were to be expected God would afford Men, each by his own Reafon and Experience; nor how far He would enable, and effectually difpofe them to communicate

must appear liable to Objections.

nicate it, whatever it should be, to each other; nor whether the CHAP. Evidence of it would be, certain, highly probable, or doubtful; nor whether it would be given with equal Clearnefs and Conviction to all: Nor could we guefs, upon any good Ground I mean, whether natural Knowledge, or even the Faculty itfelf, by which we are capable of attaining it, Reafon, would be given us, at once, or gradually. In like Manner, we are wholly ignorant, what Degree of new Knowledge, it were to be expected, God would give Mankind by Revelation, upon Supposition of his affording one: or how far, or in what Way, he would interpofe miraculoufly, to qualify them, to whom he fhould originally make the Revelation, for communicating the Knowledge given by it; and to fecure their doing it to the Age in which they fhould live; and to fecure its being transmitted to Posterity. We are equally ignorant, whether the Evidence of it would be, certain, or highly probable, or doubtful; or whether all who should have, any Degree of Instruction from it, and any Degree of Evidence of its Truth, would have the fame; or whether the Scheme would be revealed at once, or unfolded gradually. Nay we are not in any Sort able to judge, whether it were to have been expected, that the Revelation should have been committed to Writing; or left to be handed down, and confequently corrupted, by verbal Tradition, and at length funk under it; If Mankind fo pleafed, and during fuch Time as they are permitted, in the Degree they evidently ate, to act as they will.

But it may be faid, that a Revelation in fome of the abovementioned Circumstances; one, for Instance, which was not committed to Writing and thus fecured against Danger of Corruption, would not have answered its Purpose. I ask, what Purpofe? It would not have answered all the Pur-

C See Ch. vi.

pofes,

173

III.

The Credibility, that a Revelation

P A R T pofes, which it has now anfwered, and in the fame Degree; but
II. it would have anfwered others, or the fame in different Degrees.
And which of thefe, were the Purpofes of God, and beft fell in with his general Government, we could not at all have determined beforehand.

174

Now if we have no Principles of Reafon, upon which to judge beforehand, how, it were to be expected, Revelation fhould have been left, or what was most fuitable to the divine Plan of Government, in any of the forementioned Respects; it must be quite frivolous to object afterwards as to any of them, against its being left in one way, rather than another: For this would be to object against things, upon Account of their being different from Expectations, which have been shewn to be without Reafon. And thus we fee, that the only Queftion concerning the Truth of Christianity, is, whether it be a real Revelation; not whether it be attended with every Circumstance which we should have looked for: and concerning the Authority of Scripture, whether it be what it claims to be; not whether it be a Book of fuch Sort, and fo promulged, as weak Men are apt to fancy, a Book containing a divine Revelation should be. And therefore, neither Obscurity, nor seeming Inaccuracy of Stile, nor various Readings, nor early Difputes about the Authors of particular Parts; nor any other things of the like Kind, though they had been much more confiderable in Degree than they are, could overthrow the Authority of the Scripture : unless the Prophets, Apostles, or our Lord, had promised, that the Book containing the divine Revelation, should be fecure from those things. Nor indeed can any Objections overthrow fuch a Kind of Revelation as the Christian claims to be, fince there are no Objections against the Morality of it, d but such as can shew, that there is no Proof of Miracles wrought originally in Attestation of it;

^d p. 182, 183.

no

must appear liable to Objections.

no Appearance of any thing miraculous in its obtaining in the C H A P. World; nor any of Prophecy, that is, of Events foretold, which III. human Sagacity could not forefee. If it can be fhewn, that the Proof alledged for all thefe, is abfolutely none at all, then is Revelation overturned. But were it allowed, that the Proof of any one or all of them, is lower than is allowed; yet, whilft any Proof of them remains, Revelation will fland upon much the fame Foot it does at prefent, as to all the Purpofes of Life and Practice, and ought to have the like Influence upon our Behaviour.

From the foregoing Obfervations too, it will follow, and thofe who will thoroughly examine into Revelation, will find it worth remarking; that there are feveral Ways of arguing, which, though just with Regard to other Writings, are not applicable to Scripture. We cannot argue, for Inftance, that This cannot be the Senfe or Intent of fuch a Paffage of Scripture; for if it had, it would have been exprest more plainly, or have been reprefented under a more apt Figure or Hieroglyphick: Yet we may juftly argue thus, with refpect to common Books. And the Reafon cf this Difference is very evident; that in Scripture, we are not competent Judges, as we are in common Books, how plainly, it were to have been expected, what is the true Senfe fhould have been express, or under how apt an Image, figured. The only Queftion is, what Appearance there is, that This is the Sente; and fearce at all, how much more determinately or accurately it might have been express or figured.

" But is it not Self-evident, that internal Improbabilities of " all Kinds, weaken external probable Proof?" Doubtlefs. But to what practical Purpofe can this be alledged here, when it has been proved before,^e that real internal Improbabilities which rife even to moral Certainty, are overcome by the most ordinary

• p. 166.

Teftimony,

The Credibility, that a Revelation

176

PART Teftimony; and when it now has been made appear, that we II. fearce know what are Improbabilities, as to the Matter we are here confidering: as it will farther appear from what follows.

> For though from the Observations above made, it is manifest, that we are not in any Sort competent Judges, what fupernatural Inftruction were to have been expected; and though it is Self-evident, that the Objections of an incompetent Judgment must be frivolous: Yet it may be proper to go one Step farther and observe; that if Men will be regardless of these things, and pretend to judge of the Scripture by preconceived Expectations, the Analogy of Nature flews beforehand, not only that it is highly credible, they may, but also probable that they will, imagine they have firong Objections against it, however really unexceptionable: for fo, prior to Experience, they would think they had, againft, the Circumstances and Degrees and the whole Manner of That Instruction, which is afforded by the ordinary Course of Nature. Were this Instruction which God affords, to brute Creatures, by Inftincts and mere Propensions, and to Mankind, by these together with Reason, Matter of probable Proof, and not of certain Observation; it would be rejected as incredible, in many Inftances of it, only upon Account of the Means, by which this Inftruction is given, the feeming Difproportions, the Limitations, neceffary Conditions, and Circumstances of it. For Instance: Would it not have been thought highly improbable, that Men should have been to much more capable of difcovering, even to Certainty, the general Laws of Matter, and the Magnitudes Paths and Revolutions of the heavenly Bodies; than the Occasions and Cures of Distempers, and many other things, in which, human Life feems fo much more nearly concerned, than in Aftronomy? How capricious and irregular a Way of Information, would it be faid, is That of Invention, by Means of which, Nature instructs us in Matters of Science, and in many

must appear liable to Objections.

many things, upon which the Affairs of the World greatly de- C H A P. pend: That a Man should, by this Faculty, be made acquaint-III. ed with a thing in an Inftant, when perhaps he is thinking of \cup fomewhat elfe, which he has in vain been fearching after, it may be, for Years. So likewife the Imperfections attending the only Method, by which Nature enables and directs us to communicate our Thoughts to each other, are innumerable. Language is, in its very Nature, inadequate, ambiguous, liable to infinite Abufe, even from Negligence; and fo liable to it from Defign, that every Man can deceive and betray by it. And, to mention but one Inftance more; that Brutes, without Reafon, should act, in many Respects, with a Sagacity and Forefight vaftly greater than what Men have in those Respects, would be thought impofiible. Yet it is certain they do act with fuch fuperior Forefight: whether it be their own indeed, is another Queffion. From these things, it is highly credible beforehand, that upon Supposition God should afford Men fome additional Instruction by Revelation, it would be with Circumstances, in Manners, Degrees and Respects, which we should be apt to fancy we had great Objections against; against the Credibility of. Nor are the Objections against the Scripture, nor against Chriflianity in general, at all more or greater, than the Analogy of Nature would before hand-not perhaps give Ground to expect; for this Analogy may not be fufficient, in fome Cafes, to ground an Expectation upon; but no more nor greater, than Analogy would fhew it, beforehand, to be supposeable and credible, that there might feem to lie against Revelation.

By applying these general Observations, to a particular Objection, it will be more diffinctly seen, how they are applicable to others of the like Kind; and indeed to almost all Objections against Christianity, as diffinguished from Objections against its Evidence. It appears from Scripture, that, as it was not A a unusfual

The Credibility, that a Revelation

178

PART unufual in the Apostolick Age, for Persons, upon their Converfion to Christianity, to have been endued with miraculous П. Gifts; fo, that fome of those Perfons exercised these Gifts in a ftrangely irregular and diforderly Manner. And this is made an Objection against their being really miraculous. Now the foregoing Obfervations quite remove this Objection, how confiderable foever it may appear at first fight. For, confider a Perfon endued with any of these Gifts; for Instance, That of Tongues: It is to be fuppofed, that he had the fame Power over this miraculous Gift, as he would have had over it, had it been the Effect of Habit, of Study and Ule, as it ordinarily is; or the fame Power over it, as he had over any other natural Endowment. Confequently, he would use it in the fame Manner he did any other; either regularly and upon proper Occasions only, or irregularly and upon improper ones: according to his Senfe of Decency, and his Character of Prudence. Where then is the Objection? Why, if this miraculous Power was indeed given to the World, to propagate Christianity and attest the Truth of it, we might, it feems, have expected, that other fort of Perfons fhould have been chosen to be invested with it; or that these should, at the fame Time, have been endued with Prudence; or that they should have been, continually, restrained and directed in the Exercife of it: *i.e.* that God fhould have miraculoufly interposed, if at all, in a different Manner or higher Degree. But from the Obfervations made above, it is undeniably evident, that we are not Judges, in what Degrees and Manners, it were to have been expected, he should miraculously interpose; upon Supposition of his doing it in fome Degree and Manner. Nor, in the natural Course of Providence, are superior Gifts of Memory, Eloquence, Knowledge, and other Talents of great Influence, conferred only on Perfons of Prudence and Decency, or fuch as are disposed to make the properest Use of them. Nor

must appear liable to Objections.

Nor is the Inftruction and Admonition naturally afforded us for C H A P. the Conduct of Life, particularly in our Education, commonly HI. the most fuited to recommend it; but often with Circumstances apt to prejudice us against fuch Instruction.

One might go on to add, that there is a great Refemblance between the Light of Nature and of Revelation, in feveral other Respects. Practical Christianity, or That Faith and Behaviour which renders a Man a Chriftian, is a plain and obvious thing; like the common Rules of Conduct with Respect to our ordinary temporal Affairs. The more diffinct and particular Knowledge of those things, the Study of which, the Apostle calls, going on unto Perfection, f and of the prophetick Parts of Revelation, like many Parts of natural and even civil Knowledge; may require very exact Thought, and careful Confideration. The Hindrances too, of natural, and of fupernatural Light and Knowledge, have been of the fame Kind. And as, it is owned, the whole Scheme of Scripture is not yet underftood, fo, if it ever comes to be understood, before the Restitution of all things, s and without miraculous Interpofitions; it must be in the fame Way as natural Knowledge is come at: by the Continuance and Progrefs of Learning and of Liberty; and by particular Perfons attending to, comparing and purfuing, Intimations fcattered up and down it, which are overlooked and difregarded by the Generality of the World. For, this is the Way, in which, all Improvements are made; by thoughtful Mens tracing on obfcure Hints, as it were, dropped us by Nature accidentally, or which feem to come into our Minds by Chance. Nor is it at all incredible, that a Book, which has been to long in the Poffeffion of Mankind, should contain many Truths as yet undifcovered. For, all the fame Phenomena, and the fame Faculties of Inveftigation, from which, fuch great Difcoveries in natural Know-

f Heb. vi. 1.

g Acts iii. 21. A a 2

ledge,

The Credibility, that a Revelation

P A R T ledge, have been made in the prefent and laft Age, were equally
 II. in the Poffeilion of Mankind, feveral thousand Years before.
 And poffibly it might be intended, that Events, as they come to pass, should open and afcertain the Meaning of scripture.

180

,

It may be objected, that this Analogy fails in a material Refpect; for, that natural Knowledge is of a little or no Confequence. But I have been fpeaking of the general Inftruction, which Nature does or does not afford us. And befides, fome Parts of natural Knowledge, in the more common reftrained Senfe of the Words, are of the greateft Confequence to the Eafe and Convenience of Life. But fuppofe the Analogy did, as it does not, fail in this Refpect; yet it might be abundantly fupplied, from the whole Conftitution and Courfe of Nature: which fhews, that God does not difpenfe his Gifts, according to our Notions of the Advantage and Confequence they would be of to us. And This in general, with his Method of difpenfing Knowledge in particular, would together make out an Analogy full to the Point before us.

But it may be objected ftill farther and more generally; "The Scripture reprefents the World as in a State of Ruin, and Chriftianity as an Expedient to recover it, to help in these Refpects where Nature fails; in particular, to fupply the Deficiencies of natural Light. Is it credible then, that fo many Ages should have been let pass, before a matter of fuch a Sort, of fo great and fo general Importance, was made known to Mankind; and then, that it should be made known to fo fmall a Part of them? Is it conceivable, that this Supply should be fo very deficient, should have the like Obscurity and Doubtfulnes, be liable to the like Perversions, in short, lie open "to

must appear liable to Objections.

" to all the like Objections, as the Light of Nature itfelf?" & C H A P. Without determining how far this in Fact is fo, I anfwer; It is HI. by no Means incredible, that it might be fo, if the Light of Nature and of Revelation, be from the fame hand. Men are naturally liable to Difeates, for which God, in his good Providence, has provided natural Remedies.^h But Remedies exifting in Nature, have been unknown to Mankind for many Ages; are known but to few now; probably many valuable ones are not known yet. Great has been and is the Obfcurity and Difficulty, in the Nature and Application of them. Circumftances feem often to make them very improper, where they are abfolutely neceffary. It is, after long Labour and Study and many unfuccefsful Endeavours, that they are brought to be as ufeful, as they are; after high Contempt and abfolute Rejection of the most useful we have; and after Disputes and Doubts, which have feemed to be endlefs. The best Remedies too, when unfkilfully, much more if difhoneftly, applied, may produce new Difeafes: what will be the Success of them, is often doubtful: for many Difeafes, these Remedies are not effectual: where they are, it is often very flowly: and the Application of them, and the neceffary Regimen accompanying it, is, not uncommonly, fo difagreeable, that fome will not fubmit to them; and fatisfy themfelves with the Excufe, that if they would, it is not certain, whether it would be fuccefsful. And many Perfons, who labour under Difeafes, for which there are known natural Remedies, are not fo happy as to be always, if ever, in the Way of them. In a Word, these Remedies which Nature has provided for Difeafes, are neither certain, perfect, nor univerfal. And indeed the fame Principles of arguing, which would lead us to conclude, that they must be fo, would lead us likewife to conclude, that there could be no Occafion for them, *i. e.* that there could be no Difeafes at all.

s Ch. vi. ^h See Ch. v.

And .

The Credibility, that a Revelation

P A R T And therefore, our Experience that there are Difeafes, fhews, II.
 II. that it is credible beforehand, upon Supposition Nature has provided Remedies for them, that these Remedies may be, as by Experience we find they are, not certain, nor perfect, nor universal; because it shews, that the Principles upon which we should expect the contrary, are fallacious.

182

And now, what is the just Confequence from all these things? Not that Reafon is no Judge of what is offered to us as being of divine Revelation. For, this would be to infer. that we are unable to judge of any thing, becaufe we are unable to judge of all things. Reafon can, and it ought to judge, not only of the Meaning, but also of the Morality and the Evidence, of Revelation. It is the Province of Reafon, first, to judge of the Morality of the Scripture; i. e. not whether it contains things different from what we should have expected, from a wife, just and good Being; for Objections from hence have been now obviated : but whether it contains things plainly contradictory to Wildom, Juffice or Goodness; to what the Light of Nature teaches us of God. And I know nothing of this Sort objected against Scripture, unless in such Objections as are formed upon Supposition, that the Constitution of Nature is contradictory to Wildom, Juffice or Goodnefs; which most certainly it is not. Indeed there are fome particular Precepts in Scripture, given to particular Perfons, requiring Actions, which would be immoral and vitious, were it not for fuch Precepts. But it is eafy to fee, that all thefe are of fuch a Kind, as that the Precept changes the whole Nature of the Cafe and of the Action; and both conftitutes, and shews, That not to be unjust or immoral, which, prior to the Precept, must have appeared and really have been fo: which may well be, fince none of these Precepts are contrary to immutable Morality. If it were commanded, to cultivate the Principles, and act from the Spirit, of Treachery, Ingratitude,

must appear liable to Objections.

titude, Cruelty; the Command would not alter the Nature of the C H A P. Cafe or of the Action, in any of these Instances. But it is III. quite otherwife in Precepts, which require only the doing an VV external Action; for Inftance, taking away the Property or Life of any. For, Men have no Right to either, but what arifes folely from the Grant of God: When this Grant is revoked, they ceafe to have any Right at all, in either: And when this Revocation is made known, as furely it is poffible it may be, it must cease to be unjust to deprive them of either. And though a Courfe of external Acts, which, without Command, would be immoral, must make an immoral Habit; yet, a few detached Commands have no fuch natural Tendency. I thought proper to fay thus much, of the few Scripture Precepts requiring, not vitious Actions, but Actions which would have been vitious but for fuch Precepts; becaufe they are fometimes weakly urged as immoral, and great Weight is laid upon Objections drawn from them. But to me, there feems no Difficulty at all in thefe Precepts, but what arifes from their being Offences, i. e. from their being liable to be perverted, as indeed they are; to ferve the most horrid Purposes, by wicked defigning Men; and, perhaps, to miflead the weak and enthufiaftick. And Objections from this Head, are not Objections against Revelation; but against the whole Notion of Religion, as a Trial, and against the general Constitution of Nature. Reafon, in the next Place, is able, and must judge, of the Evidence of Revelation, and of the Objections urged against That Evidence; which shall be the Subject of a following Chapter.ⁱ

But the Confequence of the foregoing Obfervations, is, that the Queftion, upon which the Truth of Christianity depends, is fearce at all, what Objections there are against its Scheme, fince there are none against the Morality of it; but what Objections

3 Ch vii

there

184 The Credibility, that a Revelation, &c.

PART there are against its Evidence : or, what Proof there remains of it, after due Allowances made for the Objections against That w ~ Proof: Because it has been shewn, that the Objections against Christianity, as distinguished from Objections against its Evidence, are frivolous. For furely very little Weight, if any at all, is to be laid upon a way of arguing and objecting, which, when applied to the general Conftitution of Nature, Experience flews not to be conclusive; and fuch, I think, is the Whole way of objecting treated of throughout this Chapter. It is refolveable into Principles, and goes upon Suppositions, which mislead us to think, that the Author of Nature would not act, as we experience He does; or would act, in fuch and fuch Cafes, as we experience He does not, in like Cafes. But the Unreasonableness of this Way of objecting, will appear yet more evidently from hence, that the chief things thus objected againft, are juftified, as shall be farther shown, k by diftinct, particular, and full Analogies, in the Conftitution and Courfe of Nature.

> But it is to be remembred, that, as frivolous as Objections of the foregoing Sort againft Revelation, are, yer, when a fuppofed Revelation, is more confiftent with itfelf, and has a more general and uniform Tendency to promote Virtue, than, all Circumftances confidered, could have been expected from Enthufiafm and political Views; this is a prefumptive Proof of its not proceeding from Them, and fo of its Truth: becaufe we are competent Judges, what might have been expected from Enthufiafm and political Views.

> > ^k Ch. v. vi. and the latter Part of the ivth Chapter.

CHAP.

CHAP. IV.

Of Christianity, confidered as a Scheme or Constitution, imperfectly comprehended.

THE Analogy of Nature, as hath been now shewn, a CHAP. renders it highly credible beforehand, that a Revelation IV. fupposed to be true, must contain many things very different from what we should have expected, and fuch as appear open to great Objections: And that this Obfervation, in good measure, takes off the Force of those Objections afterwards, or rather ought to preclude them. But it may be alledged, that this is a very partial Answer to fuch Objections, or a very unfatisfactory Way of obviating them; as not at all thewing, that the Things objected against, can be wife just and good, much lefs, that it is credible they are fo. It will therefore be proper to fnew this diffinctly; by applying to these Objections against the Wifdom Juffice and Goodness of Christianity, the Answer above b given to the like Objections against the Constitution of Nature: before we confider the particular Analogies in the latter, to the particular things objected against, in the former. Now that which affords a fufficient Answer, to Objections against the Wildom Justice and Goodness of the Constitution of Nature, is its being a Constitution, a System or Scheme; imperfectly comprehended; a Scheme in which Means are made use of to accomplish Ends; and which is carried on by general Laws. For from these things, it has been proved, not only to

^a in the foregoing Chapter. ^b Part II. Ch. vii: To which This all along refers. B b be

Christianity a Scheme,

PART be poffible, but alfo to be credible, that what is objected againft, II. may be confiftent with Wifdom Juffice and Goodnefs, nay may be Inftances of them; and even that the Conftitution and Government of Nature, may be perfect in the higheft poffible Degree. If Chriftianity then be a Scheme, and of the like Kind, it is evident, the like Objections againft it, must admit of the like Anfwer. And

186

I. Chriftianity is a Scheme, quite beyond our Comprehension. The moral Government of God is exercifed, by gradually conducting things fo in the Course of his Providence, that every one, at length and upon the whole, shall receive according to his Deferts; and neither Fraud nor Violence, but Truth and Right, shall finally prevail. Christianity is a particular Scheme under this general Plan of Providence, and a Part of it, conducive to its Completion, with regard to Mankind: confifting itfelf also of various Parts, and a mysterious Oeconomy, which has been carrying on from the Time the World came into its prefent wretched State, and is still carrying on, for its Recovery, by a divine Perfon, the Meffiah; who is to gather together in one, the children of God, that are scattered abroad, c and eftablish an everlasting Kingdom, wherein dwelleth Righteousne/s.d And in order to it; after various Manifestations of things, relating to this great and general Scheme of Providence, through a Succeffion of many Ages: (For the Spirit of Chrift which was in the Prophets, testified beforehand his sufferings, and the glory that should follow. Unto whom it was revealed, that not unto themselves, but unto us they did minister the things which are now reported unto us by them that have preached the Gospel; which things the Angels defire to look into: •)----after various Difpenfations, looking forward, and preparatory, to this final

* Joh. xi. 52. # 2 Pet. iii. 13. 9 1 Pet. i. 11, 12. Salvation : imperfetly comprehended.

Salvation : in the fullness of time, when infinite Wildom thought C H A P. fit; He, being in the form of God, --- made himfelf of no reputati-IV. on, and took upon bim the form of a Servant, and was made in the likeness of men: And being found in fashion as a man, be humbled himfelf, and became obedient to death, even the death of the cross: Wherefore God also hath highly exalted him, and given him a name which is above every name : That at the name of Jefus every knee should bow, of things in heaven, and things in the earth, and things under the earth; And that every tongue should confess, that Jesus Christ is Lord, to the glory of God the Father.f Parts likewife of this Oeconomy, are the miraculous Miffion of the Holy Ghoft, and the ordinary Afliftances of it given to good Men; the invisible Government, which Chrift at prefent exercifes over his Church; That which he himfelf refers to in these words, s In my Fathers house are many Mansions I go to prepare a place for you; and his future Return to judge the World in Righteou/ne/s, and compleatly re-eftablish the Kingdom of God. For the Father judgeth no Man; but hath committed all judgment unto the Son : That all Men fould honour the Son, even as they bonour the Father.h All power is given unto him in heaven and in earth. And he must reign, till he hath put all enemies under his feet. Then cometh the end, when he fall have delivered up the kingdom to God, even the Father; when he shall have put down all rule, and all authority and power. And when all things fall be fubdued unto him, then fall the Son alfo himfelf be fubject unto him that put all things under him, that God may be all in all.k Now little, furely, need be faid to fnew, that this System or Scheme of things, is but imperfectly comprehended by us. The Scripture expressly afferts it to be fo. And indeed one cannot read a Paffage relating to this great My/tery of Godlinefs, 1 but what immediately runs up into fomething

f Phil. ii. g Joh. xiv. z. h Joh. v. zz, zz, 'Matth. xxviii. 18. k 1 Cor. xv. 1 1 Tim. iii 16. B b z which

P A R T which fhews us our Ignorance in it; as every thing in Nature, II. fhews us our Ignorance in the Conftitution of Nature. And whoever will ferioufly confider That Part of the Christian Scheme, which is revealed in Scripture, will find fo much more unrevealed, as will convince him, that, to all the Purpofes of judging and objecting, we know as little of it, as of the Conftitution of Nature. Our Ignorance, therefore, is as much an Answer to our Objections against the Perfection of one, as against the Perfection of the other.^m

> II. It is obvious too, that in the Chriftian Dispensation, as much as in the natural Scheme of things, Means are made use of to accomplish Ends. And the Observation of this, furnishes us with the same Answer, to Objections against the Perfection of Christianity, as to Objections, of the like Kind, against the Constitution of Nature. It shews the Credibility, that the things objected against, how *foolish*ⁿ foever they appear to Men, may be the very best Means of accomplishing the very best Ends: And that their appearing *Foolishness* is no Prefumption against this, in a Scheme for greatly beyond our Comprehension.^o But,

> III. The Credibility, that the chriftian Dispensation may have been, all along, carried on by general Laws, P no less than the Course of Nature, may require to be more distinctly made out. Consider then, upon what Ground it is we fay, that the whole common Course of Nature is carried on according to general foreordained Laws. We know indeed several of the general Laws of Matter; and a great Part of the natural Behaviour of living Agents, is reduccable to general Laws. But we know in a manner nothing, by what Laws, Storms and Tempests, Earthquakes, Famine, Pestilence, become the Instruments of

^m p. 12 2, &c. ⁿ 1 Cor. i. ^e p. 126. ^p p. 128. Deftruction Destruction to Mankind. And the Laws, by which, Persons born C H A P. IV. into the World at fuch a Time and Place, are of fuch Capacities, Genius's, Temper; the Laws, by which, Thoughts come into our Mind, in a multitude of Cafes; and innumerable things happen, upon which, the Affairs and the State of the World, depend; thefe Laws are fo wholly unknown to us, that we call the Events which come to pass by them, accidental: though all reafonable Men know certainly, that there cannot, in Reality, be any fuch thing as Chance; and conclude, that the things which have this Appearance, are the Refult of general Laws, and are refolveable into them. It is then, but an exceeding little Way, and in but a very few Refpects, that we can trace up the natural Courfe of things before us, to general Laws. And it is only from Analogy, that we conclude, the Whole of it to be capable of being reduced into them; only from our feeing, that Part is fo. It is from our finding, that the Courfe of Nature in fome Refpects and fo far, goes on by general Laws, that we conclude this of the Whole. And if That be a just Ground for fuch a Conclusion, it is a just Ground alfo, if not to conclude, yet to apprehend, to render it fuppofeable and credible, which is fufficient for anfwering Objections, that God's miraculous Interpofitions may have been, all along in like manner, by general Laws of Wildom. Thus, that miraculous Powersshould be exerted, at such Times, upon such Occasions, in such Degrees and Manners, and with regard to fuch Perfons, rather than Others; that the Affairs of the World, being permitted to go on in their natural Course fo far, should, just at such a Point, have a new Direction given them by miraculous Interpolitions; that these Interpolitions should be exactly in fuch Degrees and Refpects only; all this may have been by general Laws: Unknown indeed to us : but no more unknown, than the Laws from whence it is, that Some die as foon as they are born, and Others live to extream Old-age; that One Man is fo fuperior

Christianity a Scheme,

PART to Another in Understanding; with innumerable more things: which, as was before obferved, we cannot reduce to any Laws Н. S or Rules at all, though it is taken for granted, they are as much reduceable to general ones, as Gravitation. Now, if the revealed Difpenfations of Providence, and miraculous Interpofitions, be by general Laws, as well as God's ordinary Government in the Courfe of Nature, made known by Reafon and Experience; there is no more Reafon to expect, that every Exigence, as it arifes, should be provided for by these general Laws of miraculous Interpolitions, than that every Exigence in Nature should, by the general Laws of Nature. Yet there might be wife and good Reafons, that miraculous Interpolitions should be by general Laws; and that thefe Laws flould not be broken in upon, or deviated from, by other Miracles.

> Upon the whole then; The Appearance of Deficiencies and Irregularities in Nature, is owing to its being a Scheme, but in part made known, and of fuch a certain particular Kind in other Refpects. Now we fee no more Reafon, why the Frame and Course of Nature should be such a Scheme, than why Christianity should. And that the former is such a Scheme, renders it credible, that the latter, upon Supposition of its Truth, may be fo too. And as it is manifest, that Christianity is a Scheme, revealed but in part, and a Scheme in which, Means are made ule of to accomplish Ends; like to That of Nature: So the Credibility, that it may have been all along carried on by general Laws, no lefs than the Courfe of Nature, has been diffinctly proved. And from all this, it is beforehand, credible that there might, I think probable that there would, be the like Appearance of Deficiencies and Irregularities in Christianity, as in Nature ; *i. e.* that Chriftianity would be liable to the like Objections, as the Frame of Nature. And these Objections are anfwered, ĩ

imperfectly comprehended. 191

anfwered, by the Obfervation of those things in Christianity; C H A P. as the like Objections against the Frame of Nature, are answer- IV. ed, by the like Observations concerning the Frame of Nature.

HE Objections against Christianity, confidered as a Matter of Fact 1 having in second but to be a matter of Fact, 4 having, in general, been obviated in the preceeding Chapter; and the fame, confidered as made against the Wifdom and Goodnefs of it, having been obviated in this: the next thing, according to the Method propofed, is to fhew, that the principal Objections, in particular, against Christianity, may be answered, by particular and full Analogies in Nature. And as one of them is made against the whole Scheme of it together, as just now defcribed, I chuse to confider it here, rather than in a diffinct Chapter by itfelf. The thing objected against this Scheme of the Gospel, is, " that it feems to suppose, " God was reduced to the Neceffity of a long Series of intricate " Means, in order to accomplifh his Ends; the Recovery and " Salvation of the World: In like Sort as Men, for Want of " Understanding or Power, not being able to come at their Ends " directly, are forced to go round-about Ways, and make ufe " of many perplext Contrivances to arrive at them." Now every thing which we fee, shews the Folly of This, confidered as an Objection against the Truth of Christianity. For, according to our Manner of Conception, God makes Use of Variety of Means, what we often think tedious ones, in the natural Courfe of Providence, for the Accomplishment of all his Ends. Indeed it is certain, there is fomewhat in this Matter quite beyond our Comprehension: But the Mystery is as great in Nature, as in Christianity. We know what we ourselves aim at, as final Ends; and what Courfes we take, merely as Means conducing to those Ends. But we are greatly ignorant, how far things are

9 p. 121.

confidered

Christianity a Scheme,

192

PART confidered by the Author of Nature, under the fingle Notion of Means and Ends; fo as that it may be faid, This is merely an End, and That merely Means, in His Regard. And whether there be not, fome peculiar Abfurdity in our very Manner of Conception, concerning this Matter; fomewhat contradictory arifing from our extreamly imperfect Views of things; it is impossible to fay. However, thus much is manifest, that the whole natural World and Government of it, is a Scheme or Syftem, not a fixt but a progreffive one; a Scheme in which, the Operation of various Means takes up a great Length of Time, before the Ends they tend to, can be attained. The Change of Seafons, the Ripening the Fruits of the Earth, the very Hiftory of a Flower, is an Instance of this: And fo is human Life. Thus vegetable Bodies, and those of Animals, though poffibly formed at once, yet grow up, by Degrees, to a mature State. And thus rational Agents, who animate thefe latter Bodies, are naturally directed to form, each his own Manners and Character, by the gradual gaining of Knowledge and Experience, and by a long Course of Action. Our Existence is not only successive, as it must be of Necessity; but one State of our Life and Being, is appointed by God, to be a Preparation for Another, and That the Means of attaining to another fucceeding one: Infancy to Childhood; Childhood to Youth; Youth to mature Age. Men are impatient and for precipitating things: but the Author of Nature appears deliberate throughout his Operations; accomplishing his natural Ends, by flow fucceffive Steps. And there is a Plan of things beforehand laid out, which, from the Nature of it, requires various Systems of Means, as well as Length of Time, in order to the carrying on its feveral Parts into Execution. Thus, in the daily Courfe of natural Providence, God operates in the very fame Manner, as in the Difpenfation of

imperfectly comprehended.

of Chriftianity; making one thing fubfervient to another, C H A P. This to fomewhat farther, and fo on through a progreffive Series of Means, which extend, both backward and forward, beyond our utmost View. Of this Manner of Operation, every thing which we fee in the Course of Nature, is as much an Instance, as any Part of the chriftian Dispensation.

C c C H A P.

CHAP: V.

Of the particular System of Christianity; the Appointment of a Mediator, and the Redemption of the World by him.

PART II. HERE is not, I think, any thing relating to Chriftianity, which has been more objected againft, than the Mediation of Chrift, in fome or other of its Parts. Yet, upon thorough Confideration, there feems nothing lefs juftly liable to it. For,

> I. The whole Analogy of Nature removes all imagined Prefumption against the general Notion of a Mediator between God and Man.^a For, we find all living Creatures are brought into the World, and their Life in Infancy is preferved, by the Inftrumentality of Others: And every Satisfaction of it, fome way or other, is beftowed by the like Means. So that the visible Government which God exercifes over the World, is by the Instrumentality and Mediation of Others. And how far his invisible Government be or be not fo, it is impossible to determine at all by Reafon. And the Supposition, that Part of it is fo, appears, to fay the leaft, altogether as credible, as the contrary. There is then no Sort of Objection, from the Light of Nature, against the general Notion of a Mediator between God and Man, confidered as a Doctrine of Chriftianity, or as an Appointment in this Difpenfation: fince we find by Experience, that God does appoint Mediators to be the Inftruments of Good

> > ? 1 Tim. ii. 5.

and

The Appointment of a Mediator, &c. 195

and Evil to us; the Inftruments of his Juffice and his Mercy. C H A P. And the Objection here referred to, is not urged, againft Mediator V. tion in That high eminent and peculiar Senfe, in which Chrift V. is our Mediator; but abfolutely againft the whole Notion itfelf of a Mediator at all.

II. As it is fuppofed, fo it is here to be diffinctly mentioned, that the World is under the proper moral Government of God, or in a State of Religion, before we can enter into Confideration of the revealed Doctrine, concerning the Redemption of it by Chrift. Now the divine moral Government which Religion teaches us, implies, that the Confequence of Vice shall be Mifery, in fome future State, by the righteous Judgment of God. That fuch confequent Punishment shall take Effect by His Appointment, is neceffarily implied. But, as it is not in any fort to be fuppofed, that we are made acquainted with all the Ends or Reafons, for which it is fit future Punishments should be inflicted, or why God has appointed, fuch and fuch confequent Mifery should follow Vice; and as we are altogether in the dark, how or in what Manner, it shall follow, by what immediate Occasions, or by the Instrumentality of what Means; there is no Abfurdity in fuppoling, it may follow in a Way analogous to That, in which many Miferies follow fuch and fuch Courses of Action at present, Poverty, Sickness, Infamy, untimely Death by Difeafes, Death from the Hands of civil Juf-There is no Abfurdity in fuppofing, future Punifliment tice. may follow Wickedness, of Course, as we speak, or in the Way of natural Confequence; from God's original Conftitution of the World; from the Nature He has given us, and from the Condition in which He places us: Or in a like Manner, as a Perfon rashly trifling upon a Precipice, in the way of natural Confequence, Cc2

The Appointment of a Mediator,

 PART Confequence, falls down; in the way of natural Confequence, II. breaks his Limbs, fuppofe; in the way of natural Confequence of this, without Help, perifhes.

196

Some good Men may perhaps be offended, with hearing it fpoken of as a fuppofeable thing, that the future Punishments of Wickednefs, may be in the way of natural Confequence; as if this were taking the Execution of Justice out of the Hands of God, and giving it to Nature. But they should remember, that when things come to pass according to the Course of Nature, this does not hinder them from being His Doing, who is the God of Nature: And that the Scripture afcribes those Punishments to divine Justice, which are known to be natural; and which must be called fo, when distinguished from God's Working in a miraculous Manner. But after all, this Supposition, or rather this way of fpeaking, is here made use of only by way of Illustration of the Subject before us. For, fince it must be admitted, that the future Punishment of Wickedness, is not a Matter of arbitrary Appointment, but of Reafon Equity and Juffice; it comes, for ought I fee, to the fame thing, whether it is supposed to be inflicted in a Way analogous to That, in which the temporal Punishments of Vice and Folly, are inflicted, or in any other Way. And were there any Difference, it is just, in the prefent Cafe, to make this Supposition, plainly not an incredible one; that the future Punishment may follow Wickedness, in the way of natural Consequence, or according to some general Laws of Government already established in the Universe.

III. Upon this Supposition, or even without it, we may obferve fomewhat, much to the prefent Purpofe, in the Conftitution of Nature or Appointments of Providence; the Provision which is made, that all the bad natural Confequences of Mens Actions,

and Redemption of the World by him.

197

Actions, fhould not always actually follow: or that fuch bad C H A P. Confequences, as, according to the fettled Course of things, V. would inevitably have followed if not prevented, fhould, in certain Degrees, be prevented. We are apt prefumptuoufly to imagine, that the World might have been fo conftituted, as that there would not have been any fuch thing as Mifery or Evil. On the contrary we find the Author of Nature permits it : But then he has provided Reliefs, and, in many Cafes, perfect Remedies for ir, after some Pains and Difficulties; Reliefs and Remedies even for That Evil, which is the Fruit of our own Misconduct, and which, in the Course of Nature, would have continued, and ended in our Destruction, but for fuch Remedies. And this is an Inftance both of Severity and of Indulgence, in the Conftitution of Nature. Thus all the bad Confequences, now mentioned, of a Man's trifling upon a Precipice, might be prevented. And though all were not, yet fome of them might, by proper Interpolition, if not rejected; by Another's coming to the rash Man's Relief, with his own laying hold on that Relief, in fuch Sort as the Cafe required. Perfons may do a great deal themfelves towards preventing the bad Confequences of their Follies; and more may be done by themfelves, together with the Afliftance of others their Fellow creatures: which Affistance Nature requires and prompts us to. This is the general Conftitution of the World. Now suppose it had been fo constituted, that after such Actions were done, as were forefeen naturally to draw after them Mifery to the Doer, it flould have been no more in human Power to have prevented That naturally confequent Mifery, in any Inftance, than it is, in all; no one can fay, whether fuch a more fevere Conftitution of things, might not yet have been really good. But, that on the contrary, Provision is made by Nature, that we may and do, to fo great Degree, prevent the bad natural Effects of our Follies; this may be called Mercy or Compassion in the original Conflitution

The Appointment of a Mediator,

P A R T Conftitution of the World: Compaffion, as diftinguished from II. Goodness in general. And, the whole known Conftitution and Course of things affording us Instances of such Compassion, it would be according to the Analogy of Nature, to hope, that, however ruinous the natural Confequences of Vice might be, from the general Laws of God's Government over the Universe; yet Provision might be made, possibly might have been originally made, for preventing those ruinous Confequences from inevitably following: at least from following universally and in all Cafes.

198

Many, I am fenfible, will wonder at finding this made a Queftion, or spoken of as in any Degree doubtful. The Generality of Mankind are fo far from having that awful Senfe of things, which the prefent State of Vice and Mifery and Darknefs, feems to make but reafonable, that they have fcarce any Apprehension or Thought at all about this Matter, any way: and fome ferious Perfons may have spoken unadvisedly concerning it. But let us observe, what we experience to be, and what, from the very Conftitution of Nature, cannot but be, the Confequences of irregular and diforderly Behaviour; even of fuch Rashness, Wilfulness, Neglects, as we scarce call vitious. Now it is natural to apprehend, that the bad Confequences of Irregularity will be greater, in Proportion as the Irregularity is fo. And there is no Comparison between these Irregularities, and the greater Inftances of Vice, or a diffolute profligate Difregard to all Religion; if there be any thing at all in Religion. For confider what it is for Creatures, moral Agents, prefumptuoufly to introduce that Confusion and Misery into the Kingdom of God, which Mankind have in Fact introduced; to blafpheme the Sovereign Lord of all; to contemn his Authority; to be injurious, to the Degree they are, to their Fellow-Creatures, the Creatures of God. Add that the Effects of Vice in the prefent World,

and Redemption of the World by him. 199

World, are often extream Mifery, irretrievable Ruin, and even C H A P. Death. And upon putting all this together, it will appear, that V. as no one can fay, in what Degree fatal, the unprevented Confequences of Vice may be, according to the general Rule of divine Government; fo it is by no means intuitively certain, how far these Confequences could, possibly in the Nature of the thing, be prevented, confistently, with the eternal Rule of Right, or with what is, in Fact, the moral Conftitution of Nature. However, there would be large Ground to hope, that the universal Government was not fo feverely strict, but that there was room for Pardon, or for having those penal Confequences prevented. Yet,

IV. There feems no Probability, that any thing we could do. would alone and of itfelf prevent them; prevent their following or being inflicted. But one would think, at leaft, it were impoffible, that the contrary fhould be thought certain. For we are not acquainted with the whole of the Cafe. We are not informed of all the Reafons, which render it fit that future Punishments should be inflicted; and therefore cannot know. whether any thing we could do, would make fuch an Alteration, as to render it fit that they should be remitted. We do not know, what the whole natural or appointed Confequences of Vice, are, nor in what Way they would follow, if not prevented; and therefore can in no Sort fay, whether we could do any thing, which would be fufficient to prevent them. Our Ignorance being thus manifeft, let us recollect the Analogy of Nature or Providence. For, though this may be but a flight Ground to raife a politive Opinion upon, in this Matter, yet it is fufficient to answer a mere arbitrary Affertion without any kind of Evidence, urged by way of Objection against a Doctrine, the Proof of which is not Reafon but Revelation. Confider then : People ruin their Fortunes by Extravagance ; they bring Difeafes upon

The Appointment of a Mediator,

PART upon themfelves by Excess; they incur the Penalties of civil Laws, and furely civil Government is natural: Will Sorrow for thefe Follies paft, and behaving well for the future, alone and of itself, prevent the natural Confequences of them? On the contrary, Mens natural Abilities of helping themfelves are often impaired: Or if not, yet they are forced to be beholden to the Affiftance of Others, upon feveral Accounts, and in different Ways: Affiftance which they would have had no Occafion for, had it not been for their Mifconduct, but which, in the difadvantageous Condition they have reduced themfelves to, is abfolutely neceffary to their Recovery, and Retrieving their Affairs. Now fince this is our Cafe, confidering ourfelves merely as Inhabitants of this World, and as having a temporal Interest in it under the natural Government of God, which however has a great deal moral in it; Why is it not fuppofeable, that this may be our Cafe alfo, in our more important Capacity, as under His perfect moral Government, and having a more general and future Interest depending? If we have misbehaved in this higher Capacity, and rendered ourfelves obnoxious to the future Punishment, which God has annext to Vice; it is plainly credible, that behaving well for the Time to come, may be --- not ufelefs; God forbid-but wholly infufficient, alone and of itself, to prevent that Punishment, or put us in the Condition. which we should have been in, had we preferved our Innocence.

> And though we ought to reafon with all Reverence, whenever we reafon concerning the divine Conduct; yet it may be added, that it is clearly contrary to all our Notions of Government, as well as to what is, in Fact, the general Conftitution of Nature, to fuppofe that Doing well for the future, fhould, in all Cafes, prevent all the judicial bad Confequences of having done Evil, or all the Punifhment annext to Difobedience : And we

200

and Redemption of the World by him.

we have manifeftly nothing from whence to determine, in what C H A P. Degree and in what Cafes, Reformation would prevent this Punifhment, even fuppofing that it would in fome. And though the Efficacy of Repentance itfelf alone, to prevent what Mankind had rendred themfelves obnoxious to, and recover what they had forfeited, is now infifted upon, in Oppofition to Chriftianity; yet, by the general Prevalence of propitiatory Sacrifices over the heathen World, this Notion, of Repentance alone being fufficient to expiate Guilt, appears to be contrary to the general Senfe of Mankind.

Upon the whole then, had the Laws, the general Laws of God's Government been permitted to operate, without any Interpofition in our Behalf, the future Punifhment, for ought we know to the contrary, or have any Reafon to think, must inevitably have followed, notwithstanding any thing we could have done to prevent it. Now,

V. In this Darknefs, or this Light of Nature, call it which you pleafe, Revelation comes in; confirms every doubting Fear, which could enter into the Heart of Man, concerning the future unprevented Confequence of Wickednefs; fuppofes the World to be in a State of Ruin, a Suppofition which feems the very Ground of the Chriftian Difpenfation, and which, if not proveable by Reafon, yet is in no wife contrary to it; teaches us too, that the Rules of divine Government are fuch, as not to admit of Pardon, immediately and directly upon Repentance, or by the fole Efficacy of it: But then teaches at the fame Time, what Nature might juftly have hoped, that the moral Government of the Univerfe was not fo rigid, but that there was Room for an Interpofition, to avert the fatal Confequences of Vice; that, by this Means, it did admit of Pardon. Revelation teaches us, that the unknown Laws of God's more general

Government.

201

The Appointment of a Mediator,

П. S

202

PART Government, no lefs than the particular Laws by which, we experience he governs us at present, are compassionate, b as well as good in the more general Notion of Goodness: And that he had mercifully provided, that there should be an Interposition to prevent the Destruction of human Kind; whatever that Deftruction unprevented would have been. God fo loved the World, that he gave his only begotten Son, that whofoever believeth, not, to be fure, in a speculative, but in a practical Sense, that who foever believeth in him, should not perish. In the fame way of Goodnefs, as he affords Men the friendly Affiftance of their Fellow-Creatures, when, without it, their temporal Ruin would be the certain Confequence of their Follies; in the fame way of Goodnefs, though in a transcendent and infinitely higher Degree. And the Son of God loved us and gave himself for us, with a Love, which he himfelf compares to That of human Friendfhip; though in this Cafe, all Comparisons must fall infinitely fhort of the thing intended to be illustrated by them. He interpofed in fuch a Manner, as was neceffary and effectual to prevent that Execution of Juffice upon Sinners, which God had appointed should otherwife have been executed upon them : Or in fuch a Manner, as to prevent That Punishment from actually following, which, according to the general Laws of divine Government, must have followed the Sins of the World, had it not been for fuch Interpolition.^d

· Joh. iii. 16. ^b p. 197.

a It cannot, I suppose, be imagined, even by the most curfory Reader, that it is, in any Sort, affirmed or implied in any thing faid in this Chapter, that none can have the Benefit of the general Redemption, but fuch as have the Advantage of being made acquainted with it, in the prefent Life. But it may be needful to mention, that feveral Queflions, which have been brought into the Subject before us, and determined, are not in the least entered into here: Questions which have been, I fear, rashly determined, and perhaps with equal Rafhness contrary Ways. For Instance, Whether God could have faved the World by other Mcans than the Death of Chrift, confiftently with the general Laws of his Government. And had not Chrift come into the World, What would have been the future Condition of the better Sort of Men; those just Persons over the Face

If

sf

If any thing here faid, should appear, upon first Thought, C H A P. inconfistent with divine Goodness; a second, I am persuaded, V. will intirely remove that Appearance. For were we to fup- \sim pole, the Constitution of things to be fuch, as that the whole Creation must have perished, had it not been for fomewhat. which God had appointed flould be, in order to prevent that Ruin; even this Supposition would not be inconfistent, in any Degree, with the most absolutely perfect Goodness. But still it may be thought, that this whole Manner of treating the Subject before us, fupposes Mankind to be naturally in a very strange State. And truly fo it does. But it is not Chriftianity, which has put us into this State. Whoever will confider the manifold Miferies, and the extream Wickedness of the World: the Wrongneffes within themfelves which the beft complain of, and endeavour to amend; but that the Generality grow more profiigate and corrupt with Age: that heathen Moralists thought the prefent State to be a State of Punishment: to all which might be added, that the Earth our Habitation has the Appearances of being a Ruin--whoever, I fay, will confider all thefe, and fome other obvious things, will think, he has little Reafon to object against the Scripture Account, that Mankind is in a State of Degradation; against this being the Fact: how difficult foever he may think it to account for, or even to form a diffinct Conception of the Occasions and Circumstances of it. And that the Crime of our first Parents, was the Occasion of our being placed in a more difadvantageous Condition, is a thing

of the Earth, for whom, *Manaffes* in his Prayer afferts, Repentance was not appointed. The Meaning of the first of these Questions is greatly ambiguous. And neither of them can properly be answered, without going upon That infinitely abfurd Supposition, that we know the whole of the Case. And perhaps the very Inquiry, *What would have followed if God bad not done as be has*, may have in it, fome very great Impropriety; and ought not to be carried on any farther, than is necessfary to help our partial and inadequate Conceptions of things.

D d 2

throughout

The Appointment of a Mediator,

P A R T throughout and particularly analogous to what we fee, in the daily Courfe of natural Providence; as the Recovery of the World by the Interpolition of Chrift, has been shewn to be fo in general.

204.

VI. The particular Manner in which Chrift interpofed in the Redemption of the World, the Satisfaction or Atonement which he made for the Sins of it; Or his Office as Mediator, in the largest Sense, between God and Man, is thus represented to us in the Scripture. He is the light of the world; the Revealer of the Will of God in the most eminent Sense. He is a propitiatory Sacrifice; the Lamb of God: and, as he voluntarily offered himfelf, he is stiled our High-priest.h And, which feems of peculiar Weight, he is defcribed beforehand in the Old Testament, under the fame Character, and as a Sacrifice to explate Sin.¹ And whereas it is objected, that all this is merely by way of Allulion to the Sacrifices of the Molaick Law, the Apostle on the contrary affirms, that the Law was a shadow of good things to come, and not the very image of the things : k and that the Priefts that offer gifts according to the law-ferve unto the example and fadow of heavenly things, as Moseswas admonished of God. when he was about to make the tabernacle. For fee, faith he, that thou make all things according to the pattern shewed to thee in the mount.1 i. e. the levitical Priesthood was a shadow of the Priesthood of Chrift, in like manner as the Tabernacle made by Moses, was according to That shewed him in the Mount. The Priesthood of Christ, and the Tabernacle in the Mount, were the Originals: of the former of which, the levitical Priesthood was a Type; and of the latter, the Tabernacle made by Mofes was a Copy. The Doctrine of this Epistle then plainly is, that the

legal

^e Joh. i. and Ch. viii. 12. ^f Rom. iii. 25. and v. 11. ^I Joh. ii. 2. Matt. xxvi. 28. ^g Joh. i. 29, 36. and throughout the Revelation. ^h Throughout the Epifle to the Hebrews. ⁱ Ifai. liii. Dan. ix. 24. Pf. cx. ^k Heb. x. 1. ¹ viii. 4, 5.

and Redemption of the World by him. 205

legal Sacrifices were Allufions to the great and final Atonement, C H A P. to be made by the Blood of Chrift, and not that This was an Al-*V*. lufion to Thofe. Nor can any thing be more express and determinate than the following Paffage. It is not poffible that the. blood of bulls and of goats fould take away Sin. Wherefore when he cometh into the world, he faith, Sacrifice and offering, i. e. of bulls and of goats, thou would ft not, but a body haft thou prepared me -- Lo I come to do thy will O God -- By which will we are fanetified, through the offering of the body of Jefus Chrift once for all.^m And to add one Paffage more of the like Kind: Chrift was once offered to bear the Sins of many; and unto them that look for him shall be appear the second time, without Sin; without Sin, i. e. without bearing Sin as he did at his first coming, by being an offering for it, without having our iniquities again laid upon bim, without being any more a Sin-offering :---unto them that look for him shall be appear the second time, without sin, unto falvation." Nor do the infpired Writers at all confine themfelves to this Manner of fpeaking concerning the Satisfaction of Chrift, but declare an Efficacy in what he did and fuffered for us, additional to and beyond mere Instruction Example and Government, in great Variety of Expression: That Jefus should die for that nation, the Jews: And not for that nation only, but that alfo, plainly by the Efficacy of his Death, he (hould gather together in one, the children of God, that were scattered abroad : " That he suffered for fins, the just for the unjuft : P That be gave bis life, bimfelf, a ranfom : 9 That we are bought, bought with a price : That he redeemed us with his blood; redeemed us from the curse of the law being made a curfe for us : 1 That he is our Advocate and Interceffor : That

^m Heb. x. 4, 5, 9, 10.
 ⁿ ix. 28.
 ^o Joh. xi. 51, 52.
 ^p I Pet. iii. 18.
 ^q Matth. xx. 28.
 ^q Mark x. 45.
 ¹ Tim. ii. 6.
 ^r 2 Pet. ii. 1.
 Rev. xiv. 4.
 1 Cor. vi. 20.
 ^f I Pet. i. 19.
 Rev. v. 9.
 Gal. iii. 13.

be

The Appointment of a Mediator,

PART be was made perfect, or confummate, through fufferings : and being thus made perfect, be became the author of jalvation : That Π. God was in Christ reconciling the world to himself; not imputing their trefpasses unto them: " And laftly, that through death be destroyed him that had the power of death." Christ having thus bumbled bimfelf, and become obedient to death, even the death of the cross. God also bath highly exalted him, and given him a name which is above every name: hath given all things into his hands: bath committed all judgment unto him; that all men (hould honour the Son, even as they bonour the Father.* For, worthy is the Lamb that was flain, to receive power, and riches, and wisdom, and strength, and bonour, and glory, and bleffing. And every creature which is in heaven, and on the earth, heard I, faying, Bleffing, and honour, and glory and power be-unto the Lamb for ever and every

> These Passages of Scripture seem to comprehend and express the chief Parts of Christ's Office, as Mediator between God and Man, so far, I mean, as the Nature of this his Office is revealed; and it is usually treated of by Divines under three Heads.

> First, He was, by way of Eminence, The Prophet; That Prophet that should come into the world, ² to declare the divine will. He published anew the Law of Nature, which Men had corrupted, and the very Knowledge of which, to some Degree, was lost among them. He taught Mankind; taught us authoritatively, to live soberly righteously and godly in this present World, in Expectation of the future Judgment of God. He confirmed the Truth of this moral System of Nature, and gave

206

^t I Joh. ii. 1. Heb. vii. 25. & ii. 10. & v. 9. ^u 2 Cor. v. 19. Røm. v. 10. Eph. ii. 16. ^w Heb. ii. 14. See alfo a remarkable Paffage in the Book of Job, ch. xxxiii. ver. 24. ^x Phil. ii. 8, 9. Joh. iii. 35. Ch. v. 22, 23. ^y Rev. v. 12, 13. ^z Joh. vi. 14.

and Redemption of the World by him. 207

us additional Evidence of it; the Evidence of Teftimony.² He C H A Pdiffinctly revealed, the Manner in which God would be worfhipped, the Efficacy of Repentance, and the Rewards and Punifhments of a future Life. Thus he was a Prophet in a Senfe, in which no other ever was. To which is to be added, that he fet us a perfect Example, that we fhould follow his Steps.

Secondly, He has a Kingdom, which is not of this World. He founded a Church to be to Mankind a ftanding Memorial of Religion, and Invitation to it; which he promifed to be with always even to the End. He exercises an invisible Government over it, himfelf, and by his Spirit: Over that Part of it, which is militant here on Earth, a Government of Discipline, for the perfecting of the faints, for the edifying his body: till we all come in the unity of the faith, and of the knowledge of the Son of God, unto a perfect man, unto the measure of the stature of the fullness of Christ.^a Of this Church, all Perfons fcattered over the World, who live in Obedience to his Laws, are Members. For these he is gone to prepare a Place, and will come again to receive them unto himfelf, that where he is, there they may be also; and reign with bim for ever and ever:^b and likewife to take vengeance on them that know not God, and obey not his gospel.^e

Against these Parts of Christ's Office, I find no Objections, but what are fully obviated in the Beginning of this Chapter.

Lastly, Christ offered himself a propitiatory Sacrifice, and made Atonement for the Sins of the World: Which is mentioned last, in regard to what is objected against it. Sacrifices of Expiation were commanded the Jews, and obtained amongst most other Nations, from Tradition, whose Original probably

² p.144, 145. ^a Eph. iv. 12, 13. ^b Joh. xiv. 2, 3 Rev. xi. 15 Ch. iii. 21. ^c 2 Theff. i. 8.

The Appointment of a Mediator,

P A R T was Revelation. And they were continually repeated, both II. Occafionally, and at the Returns of ftated Times; and made up great Part of the external Religion of Mankind. But now once in the end of the world, Chrift appeared to put away Sin by the Sacrifice of himfelf.^d And this Sacrifice was, in the higheft Degree and with the moft extensive Influence, of That Efficacy for obtaining Pardon of Sin, which the heathens may be fuppofed to have thought their Sacrifices to have been, and which the Jewifh Sacrifices really were in fome Degree, and with regard to fome Perfons.

208

How and in what particular Way it had this Efficacy, there are not wanting Perfons who have endeavoured to explain; but I do not find that the Scripture has explained it. We feem to be very much in the dark, concerning the Manner in which the Ancients underftood Atonement to be made, *i. e.* Pardon to be obtained, by Sacrifices. And if the Scripture has, as furely it has, left this Matter of the Satisfaction of Chrift myfterious, left fomewhat in it unrevealed, all Conjectures about it muft be, if not evidently abfurd, yet at leaft uncertain. Nor has any one Reafon to complain for want of farther Information, unlefs he can fhew his Claim to it.

Some having endeavoured to explain the Efficacy of what Chrift has done and fuffered for us, beyond what the Scripture has authorized; Others, probably becaufe they could not explain it, have been for taking it away, and confining His Office as Redeemer of the World, to his Inftruction Example and Government of the Church. Whereas the Doctrine of the Gofpel appears to be; not only that He taught the Efficacy of Repentance, but rendred it of the Efficacy which it is, by what he did and fuffered for us: That he obtained for us the Benefit

of

^d Heb. ix. 26.

and Redemption of the World by him.

of having our Repentance accepted unto eternal Life: Not on- C H A P. ly that he revealed to Sinners, that they were in a Capacity of V. Salvation, and how they might obtain it; but moreover that he **Solved** put them into this Capacity of Salvation, by what he did and fuffered for them; put us into a Capacity of elcaping future Punifhment, and obtaining future Happinels. And it is our Wifdom thankfully to accept the Benefit, by performing the Conditions, upon which it is offered, on our Part, without difputing how it was procured, on His. For

209

VII. Since we neither know, by what Means Punifhment in a future State, would have followed Wickedness in this; nor in what Manner it would have been inflicted, had it not been prevented; nor all the Reafons why its Infliction would have been needful; nor the particular Nature of that State of Happinefs, which Chrift is gone to prepare for his Difciples: And fince we are ignorant how far any thing which we could do, would, alone and of itfelf, have been effectual to prevent that Punishment, to which we were obnoxious. and recover that Happinefs, which we had forfeited; it is most evident we are not Judges, antecedently to Revelation. whether a Mediator was or was not necessary, to obtain those Ends: to prevent That future Punishment, and bring Mankind to the final Happiness of their Nature. And for the very fame Reafons, upon Supposition of the Necessity of a Mediator, we are no more Judges, antecedently to Revelation, of the whole Nature of his Office, or the feveral Parts which it confifts of; or what Parts were fit and requifite to be affigned him, in order to accomplish those general Ends of divine Providence in the Appointment. And from hence it follows, that to object against the Expediency or Usefulness of particular things, revealed to have been done or fuffered by him, because we do not fee how they were conducive to those Ends; is highly Ee abfurd.

The Appointment of a Mediator, 210

PART abfurd. Yet nothing is more common to be met with than-II. this Abfurdity. But if it be acknowledged beforehand, that we are not Judges in the Cafe, it is evident that no Objection can, with any Shadow of Reafon, be urged against any particular Part of Chrift's Office revealed in Scripture, till it can be shewn politively, not to be requilite or conducive to the Ends propofed to be accomplifhed; or that it is in itfelf unreafonable.

> And there is one Objection made against the Satisfaction of Chrift, which looks to be of this positive Kind; that the Doctrine of His being appointed to fuffer for the Sins of the World, represents God as being indifferent whether he punished the innocent or the guilty. Now from the foregoing Obfervations we may fee the extream Slightness of all fuch Objections; and, though it is most certain all who make them do not fee the Confequence, that they conclude altogether as much, against God'swhole original Conffitution of Nature, and the whole daily Course of divine Providence in the Government of the World, i. e. against the whole Scheme of Theism and the whole Notion of Religion; as against Christianity. For the World is a Conflitution or System, whose Parts have a mutual Reference to each other: and there is a Scheme of things gradually carrying on, called the Courfe of Nature, to the carrying on of which, God has appointed us, in various ways, to contribute. And when, in the daily Courfe of natural Providence, it is appointed that innocent People flould fuffer for the Faults of the guilty, this is liable to the very fame Objection, as the Inftance we are now confidering. The infinitely greater Importance of that Appointment of Christianity which is objected against, does not hinder but it may be, as it plainly is, an Appointment of the very fame Kind, with what the World affords us daily Examples of. Nay if there were any Force at all in the Objection, it would be stronger, in one Respect, against natural Providence, than.

and Redemption of the World by him.

than against Christianity : because under the former, we are in C H A P. many Cafes commanded, and even neceffitated whether we will V_{\cdot} or no, to fuffer for the Faults of others ; whereas the Sufferings of Chrift were voluntary. The World's being under the righteous Government of God, does indeed imply, that finally and upon the whole every one shall receive according to his perfonal Deferts: And the general Doctrine of the whole Scripture is, that this shall be the Completion of the divine Government, But during the Progrefs, and, for ought we know, even in Order to the Completion of this moral Scheme, vicarious Punifhments may be fit, and abfolutely neceffary. Men by their Follies run themfelves into extream Diftrefs, into Difficulties which would be abfolutely fatal to them, were it not for the Interpofition and Affiftance of Others. God commands by the Law of Nature, that we afford them this Affiftance; in many Cafes where we cannot do it without very great Pains, and Labour. and Sufferings to Ourfelves. And we fee in what Variety of Ways, one Person's Sufferings contribute to the Relief of another : and how or by what particular Means, this comes to pass or follows, from the Conflitution and Laws of Nature, which come under our Notice: and being familiarized to it, Men are not flocked with it. So that the Reafon of their infifting upon Objections of the foregoing Kind against the Satisfaction of Christ, is, either that they do not confider Gon's fettled and uniform Appointments as His Appointments at all; Or elfe, they forget that vicarious Punishment is a providential Appointment of every Day's Experience: And then, from their being unacquainted with the more general Laws of Nature or divine Government over the World, and not feeing how the Sufferings of Chrift could contribute to the Redemption of it, unless by arbitrary and tyrannical Appointment; they conclude his Sufferings could not contribute to it any other Way. And yet, what has been often alledged in Justification of this Doctrine, even from the Ee 2 apparent

211

The Appointment of a Mediator,

212

PART apparent natural Tendency of this Method of our Redemption; Π. its Tendency to vindicate the Authority of God's Laws and deter His Creatures from Sin; this has never yet been answered, and is I think plainly unanfwerable: though I am far from thinking it an Account of the whole of the Cafe. But without taking this into Confideration, it abundantly appears, from the Observations above made, that this Objection is, not an Objection against Christianity, but against the whole general Constitution of Nature. And if it were to be confidered as an Objection against Christianity, or confidering it as it is, an Objection against the Conflitution of Nature; it amounts to no more in Conclusion than this, that a divine Appointment cannot be neceffary or expedient, becaufe the Objector does not difcern it to be fo: though he must own that the Nature of the Cafe is fuch, as renders him uncapable of judging, whether it be fo or not; or of feeing it to be neceffary, though it were fo.

> It is indeed a Matter of great Patience to reafonable Men, to find People arguing in this Manner : objecting against the Credibility of fuch a particular Part of Chrift's Office revealed in Scripture, that they do not fee the Neceffity or Expediency of it. For though it is highly right, and the most pious Exercise of our Underftanding, to enquire with due Reverence into the Ends and Reafons of God's Difpenfations: Yet when those Reasons are concealed, to argue from our Ignorance, that fuch Difpenfations cannot be from God, is infinitely abfurd. The Prefumption of this Kind of Objections, feems almost lost in the Folly of them. And the Folly of them is yet greater, when they are urged, as ufually they are, against things in Christianity analogous or like to those natural Dispensations of Providence, which are Matter of Experience. Let Reafon be kept to: and if any Part of the Scripture-account of the Redemption of the World by Chrift, can be shewn to be really contrary to it, let the Scripture, in the

and Redemption of the World by him.

the name of God, be given up: But let not fuch poor Crea- C H A P. tures as we, go on objecting against an infinite Scheme, that we V. do not fee the Necessity or Usefulness of all its Parts, and call this Reasoning; And, which still farther heightens the Absurdity in the present Case, Parts which we are not actively concerned in. For it may be worth mentioning,

Laftly, That not only the Reafon of the thing, but the whole Analogy of Nature, should teach us, not to expect to have the like Information concerning the divine Conduct, as concerning our own Duty. God inftructs us by Experience, for it is not Reafon but Experience which inftructs us, what good or bad Confequences will follow our acting in fuch and fuch Manners; and by this he directs us how we are to behave ourfelves. But, though we are fufficiently inftructed for the common Purpofes of Life; yet it is but an almost infinitely small Part of natural Providence, which we are at all let into. The Cafe is the fame with regard to Revelation. The Doctrine of a Mediator between God and Man, against which it is objected, that the Expediency of fome things in it, is not underflood; relates only to what was done on God's Part in the Appointment, and on the Mediater's in the Execution of it. For what is required of us, in Consequence of this gracious Dispensation, is another Subject, in which none can complain for want of Information, The Conftitution of the World and God's natural Government over it, is all Mystery, as much as the Christian Dispensation. Yet under the first, He has given Men all things pertaining to Life; and under the other, all things pertaining unto Godlinefs. And it may be added, that there is nothing hard to be accounted for in any of the common Precepts of Christianity though if there were, furely, a Divine Command is abundantly fufficient to lay us under the ftrongeft Obligations to Obedience Bur

214. The Appointment of a Mediator, &cc.

PART But the Fact is, that the Reafons of all the Chriftian Precepts in are evident. Politive Inftitutions are manifeftly neceflary to keep up and propagate Religion amongft Mankind. And our Duty to Chrift, the internal and external Worfhip of him; this Part of the Religion of the Gofpel, manifeftly arifes out of what he has done and fuffered, his Authority and Dominion, and the Relation, which He is revealed to ftand in to us.^m

1

m p. 150, &c.

CHAP.

.

CHAP. VI.

Of the Want of Universality in Revelation; and of supposed Deficiency in the Proof of it.

T has been thought by fome Perfons, that if the Evidence CHAP. of Revelation appears doubtful, this itfelf turns into a pofitive Argument againft it; becaufe it cannot be fuppofed, that if it were true, it would be left to fubfift upon doubtful Evidence. And the Objection againft Revelation from its not being univerfal, is often infifted upon as of great Weight.

Now the Weaknefs of thefe Opinions may be fhewn, by obferving the Suppositions on which they are founded: Which are really fuch as thefe; that it cannot be thought God would have beftowed any Favour at all upon us, unlefs in the Degree, which, we think, he might, and which, we imagine, would be most to our particular Advantage; and also that it cannot be thought he would beftow a Favour upon any, unlefs he beftowed the fame upon all: Suppositions which we find contradicted, not by a few Inftances in God's natural Government of the World, but by the general Analogy of Nature together.

Perfons who fpeak of the Evidence of Religion as doubtful, and of this fuppoied Doubtfulnefs as a politive Argument against it, fhould be put upon confidering, what That Evidence indeed is, which they act upon with regard to their temporal Interests. For, it is not only extreamly difficult, but, in many Cafes,

Revelation not universal,

216

PART Cafes, abfolutely impoffible, to ballance Pleafure and Pain, Sa-II. tisfaction and Uneafinefs, fo as to be able to fay, on which Side UN the Overplus is. There are the like Difficulties and Impoffibilities in making the due Allowances, for a Change of Temper and Taft, for Satiety, Difgufts, Ill-health; any of which render Men incapable of injoying, after they have obtained, what they most eagerly defired. Numberless too are the Accidents, befides that one of untimely Death, which may even probably difappoint the beft concerted Schemes: And ftrong Objections are often feen to lie against them, not to be removed or answered, but which seem overballanced by Reasons on the other Side; fo as that the certain Difficulties and Dangers of the Pursuit, are, by every one, thought justly difregarded, upon Account of the appearing greater Advantages in Cafe of Succefs, though there be but little Probability of it. Laftly, every one observes our Liableness, if we be not upon our Guard, to be deceived by the Falshood of Men, and the false Appearances of things: And this Danger must be greatly increased, if there be a ftrong Bias within, fuppofe from indulged Paffion, to favour the Deceit. Hence arifes that great Uncertainty and Doubtfulnefs of Proof, wherein our temporal Intereft really confifts; what are the most probable Means of attaining it; and whether those Means will eventually be fuccessful. And numberless Instances there are, in the daily Course of Life, in which all Men think it reafonable, to engage in Purfuits though the Probability is greatly against fucceeding; and to make fuch Provision for themselves, as it is supposeable they may have Occafion for, though the plain acknowledged Probability is, that they never shall. Then those who think the Objection against Revelation, from its Light not being universal, to be of Weight, should observe, that the Author of Nature, in numberless Instances, bestows That upon fome, which he does not upon others.

and its Proof Supposed deficient.

others, who feem equally to ftand in Need of it. Indeed he ap- C H A P. pears to beftow all his Gifts, with the moft promifcuous Variety, among Creatures of the fame Species; Health and Strength, Capacities of Prudence and of Knowledge, Means of Improvement, Riches and all external Advantages. And as there are not any two Men found, of exactly like Shape and Features; fo it is probable there are not any two, of an exactly like Conflictution, Temper and Situation, with regard to the Goods and Evils of Life. Yet, notwithftanding thefe Uncertainties and Varieties, God does exercife a natural Government over the World; and there is fuch a thing as a prudent and imprudent Inftitution of Life, with regard to our Health and our Affairs, under that his natural Government.

As neither the jewish nor christian Revelation have been univerfal; and as they have been afforded to a greater and lefs Part of the World, at different Times: fo likewife at different Times, both Revelations have had different Degrees of Evidence. The Jews who lived during the Succession of Prophets, that is, from Moles till after the Captivity, had higher Evidence of the Truth of their Religion, than those had, who lived in the Interval between the last mentioned Period, and the Coming of Chrift. And the first Christians had higher Evidence of the Miracles wrought in Attestation of Christianity, than what we have now. They had alfo a ftrong prefumptive Proof of the Truth of it, perhaps of much greater Force, in way of Argument, than many think, of which we have very little remaining; I mean the prefumptive Proof of its Truth, from the Influence which it had upon the Lives of the Generality of its Professions. And we, or future Ages, may poffibly have a Proof of it, which they could not have, from the Conformity between the prophetick Hiftory, and the State of the World and of Christianity. And farther; If we were to fuppofe the Evidence, which Some have of Religion, to Ff amount

Revelation not universal,

218

PART amount to little more, than feeing that it may be true; but that they remain in great Doubts and Uncertainties about both its П. Evidence and its Nature, and great Perplexities concerning the Rule of Life: Others to have a full Conviction of the Truth of Religion, with a diffinct Knowledge of their Duty: and Others feverally to have all the intermediate Degrees of religious Light and Evidence, which lie between these two-If we put the Cafe, that for the prefent, it was intended, Revelation should be no more than a small Light, in the midst of a World greatly overfpread, notwithstanding it, with Ignorance and Darkness: that certain Glimmerings of this Light should extend, and be directed, to remote Diftances, in fuch a Manner as that those who really partook of it, should not difcern from whence it originally came: that Some in a nearer Situation to it, should have its Light obscured, and, in different Ways and Degrees, intercepted: and that Others should be placed within its clearer Influence, and be much more enlivened, cheared and directed by it; but yet that even to thefe, it should be no more than a Light (hining in a dark Place : All this would be perfectly uniform and of a piece with the Conduct of Providence, in the Distribution of its other Bleffings. If the Fact of the Cafe really were, that Some have received no Light at all from the Scripture; as many Ages and Countries in the heathen. World: that Others, though they have, by Means of it, had effential or natural Religion enforced upon their Confciences, yet have never had the genuine Scripture-revelation, with its real Evidence, proposed to their Confideration; and the ancient Perfians, and modern Mahometans, may poffibly be Inftances of People in a Situation fomewhat like to this: that Others, though they have had the Scripture laid before them as of divine Revelation, yet have had it with the System and Evidence of Christianity fo interpolated, the System fo corrupted, the Evidence fo blended with falfe Miracles, as to leave the Mind in

and its Proof Jupposed deficient.

2IQ

in the utmost Doubtfulness and Uncertainty about the whole; C H A P. which may be the State of fome thoughtful Men, in most of VLthose Nations who call themselves Christian: And lastly, that U VJ Others have had Chriftianity offered to them in its genuine Simplicity, and with its proper Evidence, as Perfons in Countries and Churches of civil and of chriftian Liberty; but however that even these Perfons are left in great Ignorance in many Refpects, and have by no means Light afforded them enough to fatisfie their Curiofity, but only to regulate their Life, to teach them their Duty and encourage them in the careful Difcharge of it: I fay, if we were to suppose This somewhat of a general true Account of the Degrees of moral and religious Light and Evidence, which were intended to be afforded Mankind, and of what has actually been and is their Situation, in their moral and religious Capacity; there would be nothing in all this Ignorance, Doubtfulnefs and Uncertainty, in all these Varieties, and suppofed Difadvantages of fome in Comparison of others, respecting Religion, but may be parallelled, by manifest Analogies in the natural Difpenfations of Providence at prefent, and though we confider ourfelves merely in our temporal Capacity.

Nor is there any thing flocking in all This, or which would feem to bear hard upon the moral Administration in Nature, if we would really keep in Mind, that every one shall be dealt equitably with; instead of forgetting this, or explaining it away, after it is acknowledged in Words. All Shadow of Injustice, and indeed all harsh Appearances, in this various Oeconomy of Providence, would be lost, if we would keep in Mind, that every merciful Allowance shall be made, and no more be required of any one, than what might have been equitably expected of him, from the Circumstances in which he was placed; and not what might have been expected, had he been Ff 2 placed P A R T placed in other Circumftances: *i. e.* in Scripture Language, that II. wery Man fhall be accepted according to what he had, not according to what he had not.ⁿ This however doth not by any means imply, that all Perfons Condition here, is equally advantageous with refpect to Futurity. And Providence's defigning to place Some in greater Darknefs with refpect to religious Knowledge, is no more a Reafon why they fhould not endeavour to get out of that Darknefs, and Others to bring them out of it; than why ignorant and flow People, in Matters of other Knowledge, fhould not endeavour to learn, or fhould not be inftructed.

220

It is not unreafonable to fuppofe, that the fame wife and good Principle, whatever it was, which difpofed the Author of Nature to make different Kinds and Orders of Creatures, difpofed him alfo to place Creatures of like Kinds, in different Situations: And that the fame Principle which difpofed him to make Creatures of different moral Capacities, difpofed him alfo to place Creatures of like moral Capacities, in different religious Situations; and even the fame Creatures, in different Periods of their Being. And the Account or Reafon of This, is alfo moft probably the Account, why the Conflitution of things is fuch, as that Creatures of moral Natures or Capacities, for a confiderable Part of that Duration in which they are living Agents, are not at all Subjects of Morality and Religion; but grow up to be fo, and grow up to be fo more and more, gradually from Childhood to mature Age.

What, in particular, is the Account or Reafon of these things, we must be greatly in the Dark, were it only that we know so very little even of our own Case. Our present State may possibly be the Consequence of somewhat past, which we are wholly ignorant of; as it has a Reference to somewhat to come, of

ⁿ 2 Cor. viii. 12.

which

and its Proof Supposed deficient.

which we know fcarce any more than is neceffary for Practice. C H A P. A Syftem or Conftitution, in its Notion, implies Variety; and - VI. fo complicated an one as this World, very great Variety. **V** So V that were Revelation universal, yet from Men's different Capacities of Understanding, from the different Lengths of their Lives, their different Educations and other external Circumstances, and from their Difference of Temper and bodily Constitution; their religious Situations would be widely different, and the Difadvantage of Some in Comparison of Others, perhaps, altogether as much as at prefent. And the true Account, whatever it be, why Mankind or fuch a Part of Mankind are placed in this Condition of Ignorance, must be supposed also the true Account of our farther Ignorance, in not knowing the Reafons, why, or whence it is, that they are placed in this Condition. But the following practical Reflections may deferve the ferious-Confideration of those Perfons, who think the Circumstances of Mankind or their own, in the forementioned Respects, a Ground of Complaint.

First, The Evidence of Religion not appearing obvious, may conftitute one particular Part of Some Mens Trial in the religious Senfe; as it gives Scope, for a virtuous Exercise, or vitious Neglect of their Understanding, in examining or not examining into That Evidence. There seems no possible Reason to be given, why we may not be in a State of moral Probation, with regard to the Exercise of our Understanding upon the Subject of Religion, as we are with regard to our Behaviour in common Affairs. The former is as much a thing within our Power and Choice, as the latter. And I suppose it is to be laid down for certain, that the same Character, the same inward Principle, which, after a Man is convinced of the Truth of Religion, renders him obedient to the Precepts of it, would,. were he not thus convinced, fet him about an Examination of.

121

221

Revelation not universal,

PAR Tit, upon its System and Evidence being offered to his Thoughts: And that in the latter State, his Examination would be with H. Sm an Impartiality Seriousness and Sollicitude, proportionable to what his Obedience is in the former. And as Inattention, Negligence, Want of all serious Concern, about a Matter of fuch a Nature and fuch Importance, when offered to Mens Confideration, is, before a diffinct Conviction of its Truth, as real immoral Depravity and Diffoluteness; as Neglect of religious Practice after fuch Conviction : fo active Sollicitude about it, and fair impartial Confideration of its Evidence before fuch Conviction, is as really an Exercise of a morally right Temper ; as is religious Practice after. Thus, that Religion is not intuitively true, but a Matter of Deduction and Inference; that a Conviction of its Truth is not forced upon every one, but left to be, by fome, collected with heedful Attention to Premifes; this as much conflitutes religious Probation, as much affords Sphere, Scope, Opportunity, for right and wrong Behaviour, as any thing whatever does. And their Manner of treating this Subject when laid before them, thews what is in their Heart, and is an Exertion of it.

> Secondly, It appears to be a thing as evident, though it is not fo much attended to, that if upon Confideration of Religion, the Evidence of it fhould feem to any Perfons doubtful, in the higheft fuppofeable Degree; even this doubtful Evidence will, however, put them into a general State of Probation in the moral and religious Senfe. For, fuppofe a Man to be really in Doubt, Whether fuch a Perfon had not done him the greateft Favour; or Whether his whole temporal Intereft did not depend upon that Perfon: No one who had any Senfe of Gratitude and of Prudence, could poffibly confider himfelf in the fame Situation with regard to fuch Perfon, as if he had no fuch Doubt. In truth it is as juft to fay, that Certainty and Doubt are

and its Proof Supposed deficient.

223

are the fame; as to fay, the Situations now mentioned, would C H A P. leave a Man as entirely at Liberty in point of Gratitude or Prudence, as he would be, were he certain he had received no Favour from fuch Perfon, or that he no way depended upon him. And thus, though the Evidence of Religion which is afforded to fome Men, should be little more than that they are given to fee. the Syftem of Christianity, or Religion in general, to be fuppofeable and credible; this ought in all Reafon to beget a ferious practical Apprehension, that it may be true. And even this will afford Matter of Exercise, for religious Suspense and Deliberation, for moral Refolution and Self-government; becaufe the Apprehension that Religion may be true, does as really lay Men under Obligations, as a full Conviction that it is true. It gives Occasion and Motives to confider farther the important Subject; to preferve attentively upon their Minds, a general implicit Senfe that they may be under divine moral Government, an awful Sollicitude about Religion whether natural or revealed. Such Apprehension ought to turn Mens Eyes to every Degree of new Light which may be had, from whatever Side it comes; and induce them to refrain, in the mean Time, from all Immoralities, and live in the confcientious Practice of every common. Virtue. Especially are they bound to keep at the greatest Diftance from all diffolute Profaneness, for this the very Nature of the Cafe forbids; and to treat with higheft Reverence a Matter. upon which their own whole Intereft and Being and the Fate of Nature depends. This Behaviour and an active Endeavour to maintain within themfelves this Temper, is the Bufinefs, the Duty and the Wildom of those Persons, who complain of the Doubtfulness of Religion; is what they are under the most proper Obligations to. And fuch Behaviour is an Exertion of. and has a Tendency to improve in Them, That Character. which the Practice of all the feveral Duties of Religion, from a full

P A R T a full Conviction of its Truth, is an Exertion of, and has a II. Tendency to improve in Others; Others, I fay, to whom God has afforded fuch Conviction. Nay, confidering the infinite Importance of Religion, revealed as well as natural, I think it may be faid in general, that whoever will weigh the Matter thoroughly may fee, there is not near fo much Difference, as is commonly imagined, between what ought in Reafon to be the Rule of Life, to those Perfons who are fully convinced of its Truth, and to those who have only a ferious doubting Apprehenfion, that it may be true. Their Hopes and Fears and Obligations will be in various Degrees: But, as the Subject-matter of their Hopes and Fears is the fame; fo the Subject-matter of their Obligations, what they are bound to do and to refrain from, is not fo very unlike.

> It is to be observed farther, that, from a Character of Underflanding, or a Situation of Influence in the World, some Perfons have it in their Power to do infinitely more Harm or Good, by fetting an Example, of Profaneness and avowed Disregard to all Religion, or, on the contrary, of a ferious though perhaps doubting Apprehension of its Truth, and of a reverend Regard to it under this Doubtfulness; than they can do, by acting well or ill in all the common Intercourses amongst Mankind. And consequently they are most highly accountable for a Behaviour, which, they may easily foresee, is of such Importance, and in which there is most plainly a Right and a Wrong, even admitting the Evidence of Religion to be as doubtful as is pretended.

> The Ground of these Observations, and That which renders them just and true, is that Doubting necessarily implies some Degree of Evidence for That, of which we doubt. For no Person would be in Doubt, concerning the Truth of a Number of Facts so and so circumstanced, which should accidentally come into his Thoughts, and of which he had no Evidence at all.

and its Proof Supposed deficient.

And though in the Cafe of an even Chance, and where C H A P. all. confequently we were in Doubt, we should in common Lan-VI. guage fay, that we had no Evidence at all for either Side; yet U V That Situation of things, which renders it an even Chance and no more, that fuch an Event will happen, renders this Cafe equivalent to all others, where there is fuch Evidence on both Sides of a Queftion, o as leaves the Mind in Doubt concerning the Truth. Indeed in all these Cafes, there is no more Evidence on one Side, than on the other; but there is (what is equivalent to) much more for either, than for the Truth of a Number of Facts which come into ones Thoughts at random. And thus in all these Cases, Doubt as much presupposes Evidence, lower Degrees of it; as Belief prefuppofes higher, and Certainty higher still. Any one who will a little attend to the Nature of Evidence, will eafily carry this Obfervation on and fee, that between no Evidence at all, and That Degree of it which affords Ground of Doubt, there are as many intermediate Degrees: as there are, between That Degree which is the Ground of Doubt, and Demonstration. And though we have not Faculties to diftinguish these Degrees of Evidence, with any Sort of Exactnefs; yet, in Proportion as they are difcerned, they ought to influence our Practice. For it is as real an Imperfection in the moral Character, not to be influenced in Practice by a lower Degree of Evidence when difcerned, as it is, in the Understanding, not to difcern it. And as, in all Subjects which Men confider, they difcern the lower as well as higher Degrees of Evidence, proportionably to their Capacity of Understanding; fo, in practical Subjects, they are influenced in Practice, by the lower as well as higher Degrees of it, proportionably to their Fairnefs and Honefty. And as, in Proportion to Defects in the Understanding, Men are unapt to fee lower Degrees of Evi-

• Introduction.

G g

dence,

Revelation not universal,

P A R T dence, are in Danger of overlooking Evidence when it is not glaring, and are eatily impofed upon in fuch Cafes; fo, in Proportion to the Corruption of the Heart, they feem capable of fatisfying themfelves with having no Regard in Practice to Evidence acknowledged real, if it be not overbearing. From thefe things it muft follow, that Doubting concerning Religion, implies fuch a Degree of Evidence for it, as joined with the Confideration of its Importance, unqueftionably lays Men under the Obligations before mentioned to have a dutiful Regard to it, in all their Behaviour.

Thirdly, The Difficulties in which the Evidence of Religion is involved, which Some complain of, is no more a just Ground of Complaint, than the external Circumstances of Temptation, which Others are placed in; or than Difficulties in the Practice of it, after a full Conviction of its Truth. Temptations render our State a more improving State of Discipline, ? than it would be otherwife; as they give Occasion for a more attentive Exercife of the virtuous Principle, which confirms and ftrengthensit more, than an eafier or lefs attentive Exercife of it could. Now speculative Difficulties are, in this Respect, of the very fame Nature with these external Temptations. For the Evidence of Religion not appearing obvious, is, to fome Perfons, a Temptation to reject it, without any Confideration at all; and therefore requires fuch an attentive Exercife of the virtuous Principle, ferioufly to confider That Evidence, as there would be no Occafion for, but for fuch Temptation. And the fuppofed Doubtfulness of its Evidence, after it has been in some Sort confidered, affords Opportunity to an unfair Mind of explaining away, and deceitfully hiding from itfelf, That Evidence which it might fee; and alfo for Mens encouraging themfelves in Vice

P Part I. Ch. v.

from

226

and its Proof supposed deficient.

from Hopes of Impunity, though they do clearly fee thus much C H A P. VI. at least, that these Hopes are uncertain : In like Manner as the \mathbf{r} common Temptation to many Inflances of Folly, which end in temporal Infamy and Ruin, is, the Ground for Hope, of not being detected, and of escaping with Impunity, i. e. the Doubtfulnefs of the Proof beforehand, that fuch foolifh Behaviour will thus end in Infamy and Ruin. On the contrary, fuppofed Doubtfulnefs in the Evidence of Religion, calls for a more careful and attentive Exercife of the virtuous Principle, in fairly yielding themfelves up to the proper Influence of any real Evidence, though doubtful; and living in the confcientious Practice of all Virtue, though under fome Uncertainty, whether the Government in the Universe may not possibly be fuch, as that Vice may efcape with Impunity. And in general, Temptation, meaning by this Word, the leffer Allurements to Wrong and Difficulties in the Difcharge of our Duty, as well as the greater ones, Temptation, I fay, as fuch and of every Kind and Degree, as it calls forth fome virtuous Efforts, additional to what would otherwife have been wanting, cannot but be an additional Difcipline and Improvement of Virtue, as well as Probation of it in the other Senfes of that Word.⁹ So that the very fame Account is to be given, why the Evidence of Religion should be left in such a Manner, as to require, in Some, an attentive, follicitous, perhaps painful Exercife of their Understanding about it; as why Others should be placed in such Circumstances, as that the Practice of its common Duties, after a full Conviction of the Truth of it, should require Attention, Sollicitude and Pains: Or, why appearing Doubtfulnefs fhould be permitted to afford Matter of Temptation to Some; as why external Difficulties and Allurements should be permitted to afford Matter of Temptation to Others. The fame Account alfo is to be given, why Some should be exercised with Temp-

9 Part I. Ch. iv, and p. 103.

Gg 2

tations

227

Revelation not universal,

P A R T tations of both these Kinds; as why Others should be exercised
 II. with the latter in such very high Degrees, as some have been, particularly as the primitive Christians were.

228

Nor does there appear any Abfurdity in fuppoling, that the speculative Difficulties in which the Evidence of Religion is involved, may make even the principal Part of fome Perfons Trial. For, as the chief Temptations of the Generality of the World, are, the ordinary Motives to Injustice or unrestrained Pleafure; or to live in the Neglect of Religion from That Frame of Mind, which renders many Perfons almost without Feeling as to any thing diftant, or which is not the Object of their Senfes: So there are other Perfons without this Shallownefs of Temper, Persons of a deeper Sense as to what is invisible and future; who not only fee, but have a general practical Feeling, that what is to come will be prefent, and that things are not lefs real for their not being the Objects of Senfe; and who, from their natural Conftitution of Body and of Temper, and from their external Condition, may have fmall Temptations to behave ill, finall Difficulty in behaving well, in the common-Course of Life. Now when these latter Persons have a distinct full Conviction of the Truth of Religion, without any poffible Doubts or Difficulties, the Practice of it is to them unavoidable, unless they will do a constant Violence to their own Minds; and Religion is fcarce any more a Difcipline to Them, than it is to Creatures in a State of Perfection. Yet these Perfons may poffibly ftand in Need of moral Discipline and Exercise in a higher Degree, than they would have, by fuch an eafy Practice of Religion. Or it may be requifite, for Reafons unknown to us, that they fhould give fome farther Manifestation' what is their moral Character, to the Creation of God, than fuch a Practice of it would be. Thus in the great Variety of

r p. 103.

religious

and its Proof Supposed deficient.

religious Situations in which Men are placed, what conflitutes, C H A P. what chiefly and peculiarly conftitutes the Probation, in all Sen-VI. fes, of fome Perfons, may be the Difficulties in which the Evidence of Religion is involved; and their principal and diffinguished Trial may be, how they will behave under and with Respect to these Difficulties. Circumstances in Mens Situation in their temporal Capacity, analagous in good Measure to This, respecting Religion, are to be observed. We find fome Perfons are placed in fuch a Situation in the World, as that their chief Difficulty with regard to Conduct, is not the Doing what is prudent when it is known, for this, in numberlefs Cafes, is as eafy as the contrary: But to fome the principal Exercife is, Recollection and being upon their Guard against Deceits, the Deceits suppose of those about them; against false Appearances of Reafon and Prudence. To Perfons in fome Situations, the principal Exercife with refpect to Conduct, is Attention in order to inform themselves, what is proper, what is really the reafonable and prudent Part to act.

But as I have hitherto gone upon Supposition, that Mens Diffatisfaction with the Evidence of Religion, is not owing to their Neglects or Prejudices; it must be added, on the other hand, in all common Reason, and as what the Truth of the Case plainly requires should be added, that such Diffatisfaction possibly may be owing to those, possibly may be Mens own Fault. For,

If there are any Perfons, who never fet themfelves heartily and in earneft to be informed in Religion: if there are any who fecretly wifh it may not prove true; and are lefs attentive to Evidence than to Difficulties, and more to Objections than to what is faid in Anfwer to them: these Perfons will fearce be thought

Revelation not universal,

220

PART thought in a likely Way of feeing the Evidence of Religion, though it were most certainly true, and capable of being ever П. \sim 9 fo fully proved. If any accustom themselves to confider this Subject usually in the Way of Mirth and Sport: if they attend to Forms and Representations and inadequate Manners of Expreffion, instead of the real Things intended by them; for Signs often can be no more than inadequately expressive of the things fignified: or if they fubflitute human Errors, in the Room of divine Truth-----why may not all or any of thefe things, hinder fome Men from feeing that Evidence which really is feen by Others; as a like Turn of Mind with respect to Matters of common Speculation and Practice, does, we find by Experience, hinder them from attaining That Knowledge and right Underftanding, in Matters of common Speculation and Practice, which more fair and attentive Minds attain to? And the Effect will be the fame, whether their Neglect of ferioufly confidering the Evidence of Religion, and their indirect Behaviour with regard to it, proceed from mere Careleffnels, or from the groffer Vices; or whether it be owing to this, that Forms and figurative Manners of Expression, as well as Errors, administer Occafions of Ridicule, when the Things intended, and the Truth itself, would not. Men may indulge a ludicrous Turn fo far as to lofe all Senfe of Conduct and Prudence in worldly Affairs, and even, as it feems, to impair their Faculty of Reafon. And in general, Levity, Careleffnefs, Paffion, and Prejudice, do hinder us from being rightly informed, with respect to common things: And they may, in like Manner, and perhaps in fome farther providential Manner, with respect to moral and religious Subjects; may hinder Evidence from being laid before us. and from being feen when it is. The Scripture ' is express, that

r See If. xxix. 13, 14. Dan. xii. 10. Matth. vi. 23. and xi. 25. and xiii. 11, 12. Joh. iii. 19. Joh. v. 44. 1 Cor. ii. 14. and 2 Cor. iv. 4. 2 Tim. iii. 13. and That affectionate, as well as authoritative, Admonition fo very many Times inculcated, He that bath

and its Proof Supposed deficient. 231

that every one fhall not underftand. And it makes no Differ- C H A P. ence, by what providential Conduct, this comes to pafs: Whether the Evidence of Christianity was, originally and with Defign, put and left fo, as that those who are defirous of evading moral Obligations, should not fee it; and that honess to pafs by any other Means.

Farther; The general Proof of natural Religion and of Chriflianity, does, I think, lay Level to common Men; even thofe, the greateft Part of whofe Time, from Childhood to Old-age, is taken up with providing themfelves and their Families, the common Conveniencies, perhaps Neceffaries of Life: thofe, I mean, of this Rank, who ever think at all of afking after Proof or attending to it. Common Men, were they as much in earnest about Religion, as about their temporal Affairs, are capable of being convinced upon real Evidence, that there is a God who governs the World; and they feel themfelves to be, of a moral Nature and accountable Creatures: And as Chriftianity intirely falls in with this their natural Senfe of things; fo they are capable, not only of being perfuaded, but of being made to fee, that there is Evidence of Miracles wrought in Atteflation of it, and many appearing Completions of Prophecy. But though this Proof is real and conclusive, yet it is liable to Objections, and may be run up into Difficulties, which Persons who are capable, not only of talking of, but of really feeing, are capable alfo of feeing through, i. e. not of clearing up and answering them, fo as to fatisfie their Curiofity, for of fuch Knowledge

bath Ears to hear, let him hear. Gretius faw fo ftrongly the thing intended in these and other Passages of Scripture of the like Sense, as to say, that the Proof given us of Christianity was less than it might have been, for this very Purpole. Ut ita Sermo Evangelii tanquam supis effet Lidius ad quem ingenia fanabilia explorarentur. De Ver. R. C. L. 2. towards the End.

PART we are not capable with respect to any one thing in Nature; П. but capable of feeing that the Proof is not loft in these Difficulties, or deftroyed by these Objections. But then a thorough Examination into Religion, with regard to these Objections, which cannot be the Business of every Man, is a Matter of pretty large Compais, and, from the Nature of it, requires fome Knowledge, as well as Time and Attention; to fee, how the Evidence comes out, upon ballancing one thing with another, and what, upon the whole, is the Amount of it. Now if Perfons who have picked up these Objections from Others, and take for granted they are of Weight, upon the Word of those from whom they received them, or, by often retailing of them, come to fee or fancy they fee them to be of Weight; will not prepare themselves for such an Examination, with a competent Degree of Knowledge; or will not give that Time and Attenti-

232

with regard to common Sciences, and Matters of common Life, if they neglect the neceffary Means of being informed in them. But ftill perhaps it will be objected, that if a Prince or common Mafter were to fend Directions to a Servant, he would take Care, that they fhould always bear the certain Marks, who they came from, and that their Senfe fhould be always plain; fo as that there fhould be no poffible Doubt, if he could help it, concerning the Authority or Meaning of them. Now the proper Anfwer to all this Kind of Objections, is, that, wherever the Fallacy lies, it is even certain, we cannot argue thus with refpect to Him who is the Governor of the World; and particularly that he does not afford us fuch Information, with refpect to our temporal Affairs and Interefts, as Experience abundantly fhews. However, there is a full Anfwer to this Objection

on to the Subject, which, from the Nature of it, is neceffary for attaining fuch Information: in this Cafe, they must remain in Doubtfulness Ignorance or Error; in the same Way as they must,

and its Proof Supposed deficient.

Objection, from the very Nature of Religion. For, the Reafon C H A P. why a Prince would give his Directions in this plain Manner, VI. is, that he absolutely defires such an external Action should be Ś done, without concerning himfelf with the Motive or Principle upon which it is done; i. e. he regards only the external Event, or the thing's being done, and not at all, properly fpeaking, the Doing of it, or the Action. Whereas the whole of Morality and Religion confifting merely in Action itfelf, there is no Sort of Parallel between the Cafes. But if the Prince be fupposed to regard only the Action, i. e. only to defire to exercife, or in any Senfe prove, the Understanding or Loyalty of a Servant; he would not always give his Orders in fuch a plain Manner. It may be proper to add, that the Will of God, refpecting Morality and Religion, may be confidered, either as abfolute, or as only conditional. If it be abfolute, it can only be thus, that we should act virtuously in such given Circumstances; not that we should be brought to act fo, by his changing of our Circumstances. And if God's Will be thus abfolute, then it is in our Power, in the highest and strictest Sense, to Do or to contradict his Will; which is a most weighty Consideration, Or His Will may be confidered only as conditional, that if we act fo and fo, we shall be rewarded, if otherwife, punished; of which conditional Will of the Author of Nature, the whole Conftitution of it, affords most certain Instances.

Upon the whole; that We are in a State of Religion neceffarily implies, that we are in a State of Probation: and the Credibility of our being at all in a State of Probation, being admitted; there feems no peculiar Difficulty in fuppofing it to be, with regard to the Race of Mankind, just as it is, in those Refpects which are above objected against. There feems no Pretence, from *the Reafon of the thing*, to fay, that the Trial cannot equitably be any thing, but whether Perfons will act fuitably

to

2.33

Revelation not universal,

234

PART to certain Information, or fuch as admits no Room for Doubr; fo as that there can be no Danger of Miscarriage, but either IE. from their not attending to what they certainly know, or from overbearing Paffion hurrying them on to act contrary to it. For, fince Ignorance and Doubt afford Scope for Probation in all Senfes, as really as intuitive Conviction or Certainty, and fince the two former are to be put to the fame Account, as Difficulties in Practice; Men's moral Probation may alfo be, whether they will take due Care to inform themfelves by impartial Confideration, and afterwards whether they will act as the Cafe requires, upon the Evidence which they have, however doubtful. And this, we find by Experience, is frequently our Probation, f in our temporal Capacity. For, the Information which we want with Regard to our worldly Interefts, is by no means always given us of Courfe, without any Care of our own. And we are greatly liable to Self-deceit from inward fecret Prejudices, and alfo to the Deceits of; others. So that to . be able to judge what is the prudent Part, often requires much and difficult Confideration. Then after we have judged the very best we can, the Evidence upon which we must act, if we will live and act at all, is perpetually doubtful to a very high De-And the Conftitution and Courfe of the World in Fact gree. is fuch, as that Want of impartial Confideration what we have, to do, and venturing upon extravagant Courfes because it is doubtful what will be the Confequence, are often naturally i. e. pro-. videntially, altogether as fatal, as Mifconduct occafioned by heedlefs Inattention to what we certainly know, or difregarding it from overbearing Paffion.

> Several of the Obfervations here made, may well feem ftrange; perhaps unintelligible, to many good Men. But if the Perfons for whofe Sake they are made, think fo, Perfons who object as

> > f p. 38, 227, 229.

above,

and its Proof Supposed deficient. 235

above, and throw off all Regard to Religion under Pretence of C H A P. Want of Evidence; I defire Them to confider again, whether their thinking fo, be owing to any thing unintelligible in thefe Obfervations, or to their own not having fuch a Senfe of Religion and ferious Sollicitude about it, as even their State of Scepticifm does in all Reafon require? It ought to be forced upon the Reflection of thefe Perfons, that our Nature and Condition neceffarily require us, in the daily Courfe of Life, to act upon Evidence much lower than what is commonly called probable; to guard, not only againft what we fully believe will, but alfo againft what we think it fuppofeable may, happen; and to engage in Purfuits when the Probability is greatly againft Succefs, if it be credible, that poffibly we may fucceed in them.

Hh 2

CHAP.

236.

CHAP. VII.

Of the particular Evidence for Christianity.

PART HE Prefumptions againft Revelation, and Objections againft the general Scheme of Chriftianity, and particular things relating to it, being removed; there remains to be confidered, What politive Evidence we have for the Truth of it: chiefly in Order to fee, What the Analogy of Nature fuggefts with regard to That Evidence, and the Objections againft it: Or to fee what is, and is allowed to be, the plain natural Rule of Judgment and of Action, in our temporal Concerns, in Cafes where we have, the fame Kind of Evidence, and the fame Kind of Objections againft it, that we have in the Cafe before us.

> Now in the Evidence of Chriftianity, there feem to be feveral things of great Weight, not reduceable to the Head, either of Miracles, or the Completion of Prophecy, in the common Acceptation of the Words. But thefe are its direct and fundamental Proofs: And those other things, however confiderable they are, yet ought never to be urged apart from its direct Proofs, but always to be joined with them. Thus the Evidence of Chriftianity will be a long Series of things, reaching, as it feems, from the Beginning of the World to the present Time, of great Variety and Compass, taking in both the direct, and also the collateral, Proofs; and making up, all of them together, one Argument: the Conviction arising from which Kind of Proof, may be compared to, what they call, the Effect in Architecture

or other Works of Art; a Refult from a great Number of C H A P. things fo and fo difpofed, and taken into one View. I fhall VII. therefore, FIRST, make fome Obfervations relating to Miracles, and the appearing Completions of Prophecy; and confider what Analogy fuggefts, in Anfwer to the Objections brought against this Evidence, And, SECONDLY, I fhall endeavour to give fome Account of the general Argument now mentioned, confisting both of the direct and collateral Evidence, confidered as making up one Argument: this being the Kind of Proof, upon which we determine most Questions of Difficulty, concerning common Facts, alledged to have happened or feeming likely to happen; especially Questions relating to Conduct.

237

FIRST I shall make fome Observations upon the direct Proof of Christianity from Miracles and Prophecy, and upon the Objections alledged against it.

I. Now the following Observations, relating to the historical Evidence of Miracles wrought in Attestation of Christianity, appear to be of great Weight.

1. The Old Teftament affords us the fame hiftorical Evidence : of the Miracles of *Mofes* and of the Prophets, as of the common civil Hiftory of *Mofes* and the Kings of *Ifrael*; or, as of the Affairs of the Jewifh Nation. And the *Gofpels* and the AEts afford us the fame hiftorical Evidence of the Miracles of Chrift and the Apoftles, as of the common Matters related in them. This indeed could not have been affirmed by any reafonable Man, if the Authors of thefe Books, like many other Hiftorians, had appeared to aim at an entertaining Manner of Writing; though they had, in their Works, interfperfed Miracles, at proper Diftances and upon proper Occafions. Thefe might have

238

PAR T have animated a dull Relation, amufed the Reader and engaged his Attention. And the fame Account would naturally have H. been given of them, as, of their Speeches and Descriptions: the fame Account, in a Manner, as is to be given, why the Poets make Ufe of Wonders and Prodigies. But the Facts, both miraculous and natural, in Scripture, are related in plain unadorned Narratives; and both of them appear, in all Refpects, to ftand upon the fame Foot of hiftorical Evidence. Farther; Some Parts of Scripture, containing an Account of Miracles fully fufficient to prove the Truth of Christianity, are quoted as genuine, from the Age in which they are faid to be written, down to the prefent: And no other Parts of them, material in the prefent Question, are omitted to be quoted in fuch Manner, as to afford any Sort of Proof of their not being genuine. And, as common Hiftory, when called in Question in any Instance, may often be greatly confirmed, by cotemporary or fubfequent Events more known and acknowledged, and as the common Scripture-hiftory, like many others, is thus confirmed; fo likewife is the miraculous Hiftory of it, -not only in particular Instances, but in general. For, the Establifhment of the Jewish and Christian Religions, which were Events fubfequent and cotemporary with the Miracles related to be wrought in Attestation of both, these Events are just what we should have expected, upon Supposition fuch Miracles were really wrought to atteft the Truth of those Religions. Thefe Miracles are a fatisfactory Account of those Events: of which, no other fatisfactory Account can be given; nor any Account at all but what is imaginary merely and invented. It is to be added, that the most obvious, the most easy and direct Account of this Hiftory, how it came to be written and to be received in the World, as a true Hiftory; is, that it really is fo: nor can any other Account of it be eafy and direct. Now, though an Account, not at all obvious, but very far-fetched and indirect, may

I

may indeed be, and often is, the true Account of a Matter; yet C H A P. it cannot be admitted on the Authority of its being afferted. VH. Mere Guefs, Supposition, and Possibility, when opposed to hiftorical Evidence, prove nothing, but that historical Evidence is not demonstrative.

Now the just Confequence from all this, I think, is, that the Scripture-hiftory in general, is to be admitted as an authentick genuine Hiftory; till fomewhat politive be alledged fufficient to invalidate it. But no Man will deny the Confequence to be, that it cannot be rejected, or thrown by as of no Authority, till it can be proved to be of none; even though the Evidence now mentioned for its Authority, were doubtful. This Evidence may be confronted, by hiftorical Evidence on the other Side, if there be any; or general Incredibility in the things related, or Inconfistence in the general Turn of the History, would prove it to be of no Authority : But fince, upon the Face of the Matter, upon a first and general View, the Appearance is, that it is an authentick Hiftory; it cannot be determined to be fictitious without fome Proof, that it is fo. And the following Obfervations, in Support of thefe and coincident with them, will greatly confirm the hiftorical Evidence for the Truth of Chriftianity.

2. The Epiftles of St. Paul, from the Nature of epiftolary Writing, and moreover from feveral of them being written, not to particular Perfons, but to Churches; carry in them Evidences of their being genuine, beyond what can be in a mere hiftorical Narrative, left to the World at large. This Evidence, joined with That which they have in common with the reft of the New Teftament, feems not to leave fo much as any particular Pretence for denying their Genuinenefs, confidered as an ordinary Matter of Fact, or of Criticifm: I fay particular Pretence,

PART Pretence, for denying it; because any fingle Fact, of such a Kind and fuch Antiquity, may have general Doubts raifed concerning it, from the very Nature of human Affairs and human Testimony. There is also to be mentioned, a distinct and particular Evidence of the Genuineness of the Epistle chiefly referred to here, the first to the Corinthians; from the Manner in which it is quoted by Clemens Romanus, in an Epistle of his own to That Church." Now these Epistles afford a Proof of Christianity, detached from all others, which is, I think, a thing of Weight; and also a Proof of a Nature and Kind peculiar to itfelf. For.

> In them the Author declares, that he received the Gofpel in general, and the Inftitution of the Communion in particular, not from the reft of the Apoftles, or jointly together with them, but alone, from Christ himself; whom he declares likewife, conformably to the Hiftory in the AEts, that he faw after his Afcenfion. So that the Teftimony of St. Paul is to be confidered, as detached from That of the reft of the Apoftles.

> And he declares farther, that he was endued with a Power of working Miracles, as what was publickly known to those very People, fpeaks of frequent and great Variety of miraculous Gifts as then fubfifting in those very Churches, to which he was writing; which he was reproving for feveral Irregularities; and where he had perfonal Oppofers: He mentions thefe Gifts incidentally, in the most easy Manner and without Effort; by way of Reproof to those who had them, for their indecent Use of them; and by way of depreciating them, in Comparison of moral Virtues: In fhort he fpeaks to these Churches, of these miraculous Powers, in the Manner, any one would fpeak to

another

П.

 \sim

^c Gal. i. 1 Cor. xi. 23, &c. ^a Clem. Rom. Ep. I. c. 47.

I Cor. xv. 8.

241

another of a thing, which was as familiar and as much known C H A P. in common to them both, as any thing in the World.⁴ And VII. this, as hath been observed by several Persons, is furely a very $\sim\sim\sim$ confiderable thing.

3. It is an acknowledged hiftorical Fact, that Chriftianity offered itself to the World, and demanded to be received, upon the Allegation, i. e., as Unbelievers would fpeak, upon the Pretence, of Miracles, publickly wrought to atteft the Truth of it, in fuch an Age; and that it was actually received by great Numbers in that very Age, and upon the professed Belief of the Reality of these Miracles. And by this, Christianity, including the Difpenfation of the Old Teftament, feems diftinguished from all other Religions: By which I mean, that this does not appear to be the Cafe with regard to any other; for furely it will not be fuppofed to lie upon any Perfon, to prove by positive historical Evidence, that it was not. It does in no Sort appear, that Mahometanifm wasfirst received in the World upon the Foot of fupposed Miracles, e i. e. publick ones; for, as Revelation is itfelf miraculous, all Pretence to it, must necessarily imply some Pretence of Miracles. And it is a known Fact, that it was immediately, at the very first, propagated by other Means. And as particular Institutions, whether in Paganism or Popery, faid to be confirmed by Miracles after those Institutions had obtained, are not to the Purpofe; So, were there, what might be called, historical Proof, of any of them being introduced by a supposed divine Command, believed to be attefted by Miracles; thefe would not be in any wife parellel. For fingle things of this Sort are eafy to be accounted for, after Parties are formed, and have Power in their Hands; and the Leaders of them are in Veneration with the Multitude; and political Interefts are

^d Rom. xv. 19. 1 Cor. xii. 8, 9, 10–28, &c. and c. xiii. 1, 2, 8, and the whole xivth ch. 2 Cor. xii. 12, 13. Gal. iii. 2, 5. ^o See the Koran c. xiii. and c. xvii. I i blended

2 Lon 2

Of the particular Evidence

PART blended with religious Claims, and religious Diftinctions. But before any thing of this Kind, for a few Perfons, and those of П. the loweft Rank, all at once, to bring over fuch great Numbers to a new Religion, and get it to be received upon the particular Evidence of Miracles; this is quite another thing. And I think it will be allowed by any fair Adverfary, that the Fact now mentioned, taking in all the Circumstances of it, is peculiar to the christian Religion. However, the Fact itself is allowed, that Christianity obtained, i. e. was professed to be received in the World upon the Belief of Miracles, immediately in the Age in which it is faid those Miracles were wrought; Or that This is what its first Converts would have alledged, as the Reafon for their embracing it. Now certainly it is not to be fuppofed, that fuch Numbers of Men, in the most distant Parts of the World, mould forfake the Religion of their Country, in which they had been educated; feparate themfelves from their Friends, particularly in their feftival Shows and Solemnities, to which the common People are fo greatly addicted, and which were of a Nature to engage them much more, than any thing of That Sort amongst us; and embrace a Religion. which could not but expose them to many Inconveniences, and indeed must have been a giving up the World in a great Degree, even from the very first, and before the Empire engaged in Form against them; it cannot be supposed, that fuch Numbers should make so great, and, to fay the least, so inconvenient a Change in their whole Inftitution of Life, unless they were really convinced of the Truth of those Miracles, upon the Knowledge or Belief of which, they professed to make it. And it will, I fuppofe, readily be acknowledged, that the Generality of the first Converts to Christianity, must have believed them: that as by becoming Christians, they declared to the World, they were fatisfied of the Truth of those Miracles; fo this Declaration was to be credited. And this their Teftimony is the fame

fame Kind of Evidencefor those Miracles, as if they had put it in C H A P. Writing, and these Writings had come down to us. And it is VII. real Evidence, becaufe it is of Facts, which they had Capacity and full Opportunity to inform themfelves of. It is also diftinct from the direct or express historical Evidence, though it is of the fame Kind, and would be allowed to be diffinct in all Cafes. For were a Fact expressly related by one or more antient Hiftorians, and difputed in after Ages; that this Fact is acknowledged to have been believed, by great Numbers of the Age in which the Hiftorian fays it was done, would be allowed an additional Proof of fuch Fact, quite diftinct from the express Teftimony of the Hiftorian. The Credulity of Mankind is acknowledged: and the Sufpicions of Mankind ought to be acknowledged too; and their Backwardnefs even to believe, and greater still to practice, what makes against their Interest. And it must particularly be remembred, that Education, and Prejudice, and Authority, were against Christianity, in the Age I am fpeaking of. So that the immediate Conversion of such Numbers, is a real Prefumption of fomewhat more than human in this Matter; I fay Prefumption, for it is not alledged as a Proof alone and by itfelf: Nor need any one of the things mentioned in this Chapter, be confidered as a Proof by itfelf; and yet all of them together may be one of the ftrongeft.^f

Upon the whole, as there is large hiftorical Evidence, both direct and circumfantial, of Miracles wrought in Atteftation of Chriftianity, collected by those who have writ upon the Subject; it lies upon Unbelievers to shew, why this Evidence is not to be credited. This Way of speaking is, I think, just; and what Persons who write in Defence of Religion, naturally fall into. Yet, in a Matter of such unspeakable Importance,

۴ p.

Ii 2

the

243

P A R T the proper Queffion is, not whom it lies upon, according to the II.
Rules of Argument, to maintain or confute Objections: but, whether there really are any, against this Evidence, fufficient, in Reason, to destroy the Credit of it. However, Unbelievers seem to take upon them the Part of shewing that there are.

244

They alledge, that numberlefs enthufiaftick People, in different Ages and Countries, expose themselves to the fame Difficulties which the primitive Christians did; and are ready to give up their Lives, for the most idle Follies imaginable. But it is not very clear, to what Purpose this Objection is brought. For, every one, furely, in every Cafe, must diftinguish between Opinions and Facts. And though Testimony is no Proof of enthusiastick Opinions, or of any Opinions at all; yet it is allowed, in all other Cafes, to be a Proof of Facts. And a Perfon's laying down his Life in Attestation of Facts or of Opinions, is the strongest Proof of his believing them. And if the Apostles and their Cotemporaries did believe the Facts, in Attestation of which, they exposed themselves to Sufferings and Death ; this their Belief, or rather Knowledge, must be a Proof of those Facts: for they were fuch as came under the Observation of their Senfes. And though it is not of equal Weight, vet it is of Weight, that the Martyrs of the next Age, notwithstanding they were not Eye-witnesses of those Facts, as were the Apostles and their Cotemporaries, had, however, full Opportunity to inform themfelves, whether they were true or not, and gave equal Proof of their believing them to be true.

But Enthufiafm, it is faid, greatly weakens the Evidence of Teffimony even for Facts, in Matters relating to Religion: Some feem to think, it totally and abfolutely deftroys the Evidence of Teffimony upon this Subject. And indeed the Powers of Enthufiafm, and of Difeafes too which operate in a like Manner, are

245

are very wonderful, in particular Inftances. But if great Num- C H A P. bers of Men, not appearing in any peculiar Degree weak, nor VH.under any peculiar Sufpicion of Negligence, affirm that they faw and heard fuch things plainly with their Eyes and their Ears, and are admitted to be in earnest; fuch Testimony is Evidence of the ftrongeft Kind we can have, for any Matter of Fact. Yet poffibly it may be overcome, ftrong as it is, by Incredibility in the things thus attefted, or by contrary Teftimony. And in an Inftance where one thought it was fo overcome, it might be just to confider, how far this could be accounted for, by Enthuliafin; for it feems as if no other imaginable Account were to be given of it. But till fuch Incredibility be fhewn, or contrary Testimony produced, it cannot, furely, be expected, that fo far-fetched, fo indirect and wonderful an Account of fuch Testimony, as That of Enthusiasm must be; an Account fo strange, that the Generality of Mankind can scarce be made to understand what is meant by it : it cannot, I fay, be expected, that fuch Account will be admitted of fuch Evidence; when there is this direct easy and obvious Account of it, that People really faw and heard a thing not incredible, which they affirm fincerely and with full Affurance, they did fee and hear. Granting then that Enthusiasin is not, strictly speaking, an absurd, but a poffible Account of fuch Teftimony; it is manifest that the very Mention of it, goes upon the previous Supposition, that the things fo attested are incredible : and therefore need not be confidered, till they are fhewn to be fo. Much lefs need it be confidered, after the contrary has been proved. And I think it has been proved, to full Satisfaction, that there is no Incredibility in a Revelation, in general, or in fuch an one as the Chriftian, in However; As Religion is supposed peculiarly particular. liable to Enthusiasm, it may just be observed, that Prejudices almost without Number and without Name, Romance, Affectation, Humour, a Defire to engage Attention or to furprize, the

 P A R T the Party-fpirit, Cuftom, little Competitions, unaccountable Lili. kings and Diflikings; thefe influence Men ftrongly in common Matters. And as thefe Prejudices are often fcarce known or reflected upon, by the Perfons themfelves who are influenced by them, they are to be confidered as Influences of a like Kind to Enthufiafm. Yet human Teftimony in common Matters is naturally and juftly believed notwithftanding.

246

It is intimated farther, in a more refined Way of Obfervation, that though it should be proved, that the Apostles and first Chriftians could not, in fome Refpects, be deceived themfelves, and, in other Respects, cannot be thought to have intended to impofe upon the World; yet it will not follow, that their general Teftimony is to be believed, though truly handed down to us: because they might also in Part, i. e in other Respects, be deceived Themfelves, and defignedly impofe upon Others; which, it is added, is a thing very credible, from that Mixture of real Enthusiasm, and real Knavery, to be met with in the same Characters. And, I must confess, I think the Matter of Fact contained in this Obfervation upon Mankind, is not to be denied; and that fomewhat very much a-kin to it, is often fuppefed in Scripture as a very common Cafe, and most feverely reproved. But it were to have been expected, that Perfons capable of applying this Obfervation as applied in the Objection, might alfo frequently have met with the like mixt Character, in Inftances where Religion was quite out of the Cafe. The thing plainly is, that Mankind are naturally endued with Reafon, or a Capacity of diftinguishing between Truth and Falf-(hood ; and as naturally they are endued with Veracity, or a Regard to Truth in what they fay: But from many Occasions, they are liable to be prejudiced and biaffed and deceived Themfelves, and capable of intending to deceive Others, in every different Degree: Infomuch that, as we are all liable to be deceived by

247

by Prejudice, fo likewife it feems to be not an uncommon thing, C H A P. for Perfons, who, from their Regard to Truth, would not invent a Lie entirely without any Foundation at all, to propagate it with heightning Circumftances, after it is once invented and fet a-going. And Others, though they would not *propagate* a Lye, yet, which is a lower Degree of Falfhood, will let it pafs without Contradiction. But notwithftanding all this, human Teftimony remains ftill a natural Ground of Affent, and this Affent, a natural Principle of Action.

It is objected farther, that however it has happened, the *Fact* is, that Mankind have, in different Ages, been ftrangely deluded with Pretences to Miracles and Wonders. But it is by no means to be admitted, that they have been oftener, or are at all more liable to be, deceived, by thefe, than by other Pretences.

It is added, that there is a very confiderable Degree of hiftorical Evidence for Miracles, which are, on all hands, acknowledged to be fabulous. But fuppofe there were even the like historical Evidence for These, to what there is for Those alledged in Proof of Christianity, which yet is in no wife allowed, but fuppofe this; the Confequence would not be, that the Evidence of the latter is not to be admitted. Nor is there a Man in the World who would conclude thus, in common Cafes. For, what would fuch a Conclusion really amount to but this, that Evidence confuted by contrary Evidence, or any way overballanced, deftroys the Credibility of other Evidence, neither confuted, nor overballanced? To argue, that because there is, if there were, like Evidence from Teftimony, for Miracles acknowledged falfe, as for those in Attestation of Christianity, therefore the Evidence in the latter Cafe is not to be credited; this is the fame as to argue, that if two Men of equally good Reputation.

PART Reputation, had given Evidence in different Caufes no way II. connected, and One of them had been convicted of Perjury, this confuted the Teftimony of the Other.

248

Upon the whole then, the general Obfervation that human Creatures are fo liable to be deceived, from Enthufiafm in Religion, and Principles equivalent to Enthusiasm in common Matters, and in both from Negligence; and that they are fo capable of difhoneftly endeavouring to deceive others; this does indeed weaken the Evidence of Teftimony, in all Cafes, but does not deftroy it, in any. And thefe things will appear, to different Men, to weaken the Evidence of Testimony, in different Degrees : in Degrees proportionable to the Observations they have made, or the Notions they have any Way taken up, concerning the Weaknefs and Negligence and Difhonefty of Mankind; or concerning the Powers of Enthuliafm, and Prejudices equivalent to it. But it feems to me, that People do not know what they fay, who affirm, these things to destroy the Evidence from Testimony, which we have of the Truth of Christianity. Nothing can deftroy the Evidence of Teftimony in any Cafe, but a Proof or Probability, that Perfons are not competent Judges of the Facts to which they give Teffimony; or that they are actually under some indirect Influence in giving it, in such particular Cafe. Till this be made out, the natural Laws of human Actions require, that Teftimony be admitted. It can never be fufficient to overthrow direct historical Evidence, indolently to fay, that there are fo many Principles, from whence Men are liable to be deceived themfelves and difposed to deceive others, especially in Matters of Religion, that one knows not what to believe. And it is furprizing Perfons can help reflecting, that this very Manner of fpeaking, fuppofes they are not fatisfied, that there is nothing in the Evidence, of which they fpeak thus :

thus; or that they can avoid obferving, if they do make this C II A P-Reflection, that it is, on fuch a Subject, a very material one.⁵ VII.

And over against all these Objections, is to be set, the Importance of Christianity, as what must have engaged the Attention of its first Converts, so as to have rendred them less liable to be deceived from Careless, than they would in common Matters; and likewise the strong Obligations to Veracity, which their Religion laid them under: So that the first and most obvious Prefumption is, that they could not be deceived themsfelves, nor would deceive others. And this Prefumption in this Degree, is peculiar to the Testimony we have been confidering.

In Argument, Affertions are nothing in themfelves, and have an Air of Politivenels, which fometimes is not very eafy: Yet they are necessary, and necessary to be repeated; in order to connect a Difcourfe, and diffinctly to lay before the View of the Reader, what is proposed to be proved, and what is left as proved. Now the Conclusion from the foregoing Obfervations, is, I think, beyond all Doubt, this: That Unbelievers must be forced to admit the external Evidence for Christianity, i. e. the Proof of Miracles wrought to atteft it, to be of real Weight and very confiderable; though they cannot allow it to be fufficient, to convince them of the Reality of those Miracles. And as they must, in all Reason, admit this, so it seems to me, that upon Confideration they would, in Fact, admit it; those of them, I mean, who know any thing at all of the Matter: In like Manner as Perfons, in many Cafes, own, they fee ftrong Evidence from Teftimony, for the Truth of things, which yet, they cannot be convinced are true : Cafes, fuppofe, where there is contrary Teftimony; or things which they think, whether with or without Reafon, to be incredible. But there is no

E See the foregoing Chapter.

Teilimony.

24.9

K k

PART Teftimony contrary to That which we have been confidering ; II. and it has been fully proved, that there is no Incredibility, in Chriftianity in general, or in any Part of it.

250

II. As to the Evidence for Christianity from Prophecy, I shall only make fome few general Observations; which are suggested, by the Analogy of Nature, *i. e.* by the acknowledged natural Rules of judging in common Matters, concerning Evidence of a like Kind to this from Prophecy.

I. The Obscurity or Unintelligibleness of one Part of a Prophecy, does not, in any Degree, invalidate the Proof of Forefight, arifing from the Appearing Completion of those other Parts which are underftood. For the Cafe is evidently the fame, as if those Parts which are not understood, were lost, or not written at all, or written in an unknown Tongue. Whether this-Observation be commonly attended to or not, it is so evident, that one fcarce knows how to fet down an Inftance in common Matters, to exemplify it. However, Suppose a Writing, partly in Cypher, and partly in plain Words at Length; and that inthe Part one understood, there appeared Mention of feveral known Facts: It would never come into any Man's Thoughts to imagine, that if he understood the Whole, perhaps he might find, that those Facts were not in Reality known by the Writer. Indeed, both in this Example and in the thing intended to be exemplified by it, our not understanding the Whole, the whole fuppose of a Sentence or a Paragraph; might fometimes occasion a Doubt, whether one understood the literal Meaning of. fuch a Part : But this comes under another Confideration.

For the fame Reafon, though a Man fhould be incapable, for Want of Learning, or Opportunities of Inquiry, or from not having turned his Studies this Way, even fo much as to judge, whether

whether particular Prophecies have been throughout compleatly C H A P. fulfilled; yet he may fee, in general, that they have been fulfil-VII. led to fuch a Degree, as, upon very good Ground, to be convinced of Forcfight more than human in fuch Prophecies, and of fuch Events being intended by them. For the fame Reafon alfo, though, by Means of the Deficiencies in civil Hiftory, and the different Accounts of Hiftorians, the moft learned fhould not be able to make out to Satisfaction, that fuch Parts of the prophetick Hiftory, have been minutely and throughout fulfilled; yet a very ftrong Proof of Forcfight may arife, from That general Completion of them, which is made out: As much Proof of Forefight, perhaps, as the Giver of Prophecy.

2. A long Series of Prophecy being applicable to fuch and fuch Events, is itfelf a Proof, that it was intended of them: as the Rules, by which we naturally judge and determine, in common Cafes parallel to this, will fhew. This Obfervation I make in Anfwer to the common Objection against the Application of the Prophecies, that confidering each of them distinctly by itfelf, it does not at all appear, that they were intended of those particular Events, to which they are applied by Christians; and therefore it is to be supposed, that, if they meant any thing, they were intended of other Events unknown to us, and not of these at all.

Now there are two Kinds of writing, which bear a great Refemblance to Prophecy, with Refpect to the Matter before us; the Mythological, and the Satyrical where the Satyr is, to a certain Degree, concealed. And a Man might be affured, that he underftood what an Author intended by a Fable or Parable, related without any Application or Moral; merely from feeing it to be, eafily, capable of fuch Application, and that fuch a K k 2 Moral

PART Moral might, naturally, be deduced from it. And he might be fully affured, that fuch Perfons and Events were intended in a П. S Satyrical Writing, merely from its being applicable to them. And, agreeably to the laft Obfervation, he might be in a good Meafure fatisfied of it, though he were not enough informed, in Affairs, or in the Story of fuch Perfons, to underftand half the Satyr. For, his Satisfaction, that he understood the Meaning, the intended Meaning, of these Writings, would be greater or lefs, in Proportion as he faw, the general Turn of them to be capable of fuch Application; and in Proportion to the Number of particular things capable of it. And thus, if a long Series of Prophecy, is applicable, to the prefent State of the Church, and to the political Situations of the Kingdoms of the World, fome thousand Years after these Prophecies were delivered, and a long Series of Prophecy delivered before the Coming of Chrift, to him; these things are in themselves a Proof, that the prophetick Hiftory was intended of Him, and of those Events: in proportion as the general Turn of it, is capable of fuch Application, and to the Number and Variety of particular Prophecies, capable of it. However, though in all just way of Confideration, the appearing Completion of Prophecies, is to be allowed to be thus explanatory of, and to determine their Meaning; yet it is to be remembred farther, that the ancient Jews applied the Prophecies to a Meffiah before his Coming, in much the fame Manner as Chriftians do now: And that the primitive Chriftians interpreted the Prophecies refpecting the State of the Church and of the World in the last Ages, in the Sense, which the Event feems to confirm and verify. And from thefe things, it may be made appear:

> 3. That the fhewing even to a high Probability, if that could be, that the Prophets thought of fome other Events, in fuch and fuch Predictions, and not those at all, which Christians alledge

_____for Christinity.

253

alledge to be Completions of those Predictions; or that such and C H A P. fuch Prophecies are capable of being applied to other Events VII. than those, to which Christians apply them--that this would not confute or deftroy the Force of the Argument from Prophecy, even with regard to those very Inflances. For, observe how this Matter really is. If one knew fuch a Perfon to be the fole Author of fuch a Book, and was certainly affured, or fatiffied to any Degree, that one knew the Whole of what he intended in it; one should be assured or fatisfied to fuch Degree, that one knew the whole Meaning of that Book: for the Meaning of a Book, is nothing but the Meaning of the Author. But if one knew a Perfon to have compiled a Book out of Memoirs, which he received from Another, of vafily fuperior Knowledge in the Subject of it, efpecially if it were a Book full of great Intricacies and Difficulties; it would in no wife follow, that one knew the whole Meaning of the Book, from knowing the whole Meaning of the Compiler: for the original Memoirs, i. e. the Author of them, might have, and there would be no Degree of Prefumption, in many Cafes, against supposing him to have, fome farther Meaning than the Compiler faw, To fay then, that the Scriptures and the things contained in them, can have no other or farther Meaning, than those Perfons thought or had, who first recited or wrote them; is evidently faying, that those Perfons were the original, proper, and fole Authors of those Books, i. e. that they are not inspired : which is abfund, whilft the Authority of these Books is under Examination, *i. e.* till you have determined they are of no divine Authority at all. Till this be determined, it must in all Reafon be supposed, not indeed that they have, for this is taking for granted that they are infpired, but that they may have, fome farther Meaning than what the Compilers faw or underftood. And upon this Supposition, it is supposeable also, that this farther Meaning may be fulfilled. Now Events corresponding to Prophecies,

254.

PAR T Prophecies, interpreted in a different Meaning from That, in which the Prophets are fuppofed to have underftood them; this II. L affords, in a Manner, the fame Proof, that this different Senfe was originally intended, as it would have afforded, if the Prophets had not understood their Predictions in the Senfe it is fupposed they did: because there is no Prefumption of Their Sense of them, being the whole Senfe of them. And it has been already shewn, that the apparent Completions of Prophecy, must be allowed to be explanatory of its Meaning. So that the Queftion is, whether a Series of Prophecy has been fulfilled, in a natural or proper, i. e. in any real, Senfe of the Words of it. For fuch Completion is equally a Proof of Forefight more than human, whether the Prophets are, or are not, supposed, to have understood it in a different Sense: I fay supposed; for. though I think it clear, that the Prophets did not understand the full Meaning of their Predictions, it is another Queftion, how far they thought they did, and in what Senfe they understood them.

> Hence may be feen, to how little Purpofe thofe Perfons bufy themfelves, who endeavour to prove, that the prophetick Hiftory is applicable to Events, of the Age in which it was written, or of Ages before it. Indeed to have proved this before there was any Appearance of a farther Completion of it, might have anfwered fome Purpofe; for it might have prevented the Expectation of any fuch farther Completion. Thus could *Porphy*ry have fhewn, that fome principal Parts of the Book of *Daniel*, for Inftance, the feventh Verfe of the feventh Chapter, which the Chriftians interpreted of the latter Ages, was applicable to Events, which happened before or about the Age of *Antiochus Epiphanes*; this might have prevented them from expecting any farther Completion of it. And, unlefs there was then, as I think there muft have been, external Evidence concerning

cerning that Book, more than is come down to us; fuch a C H A P. Difcovery might have been a Stumbling-block in the Way of VII. Chriftianity itself: confidering the Authority which our Saviour has given to the Book of *Daniel*, and how much the general Scheme of Christianity prefuppofes the Truth of it. But even This Difcovery, had there been any fuch, i would be of very little Weight with reafonable Men Now; if this Paffage, thus applicable to Events before the Age of *Porphyry*, appears to be applicable alfo to Events, which fucceeded the Diffolution of the Roman Empire. I mention this, not at all as intending to infinuate, that the Division of this Empire into ten Parts, for it plainly was divided into about that Number, were, alone and by itfelf, of any Moment in verifying the prophetick Hiftory: but only as an Example of the thing I am fpeaking of. And thus upon the whole, the Matter of Enquiry evidently muft be, as above put, Whether the Prophecies are applicable, to Chrift, and to the prefent State of the World and of the Church; applicable in fuch a Degree, as to imply Forefight: Not whether they are capable of any other Application; though I know no Pretence for faying, the general Turn of them is capable of any other.

These Observations are, I think, just, and the Evidence referred to in them, real: Though there may be People who will not accept of such imperfect Information from Scripture. Some too have not Integrity and Regard enough to Truth, to attend to Evidence, which keeps the Mind in Doubt, perhaps Perplexity, and which is much of a different Sort from what

¹ It appears, that *Porphyry* did nothing worth mentioning in this Way. For *Jerom* on the Place fays: Duas pofferiores beflias——in uno Macedonum regno ponit. And as to the ten Kings; Decem reges enumerat, qui fuerunt fæviflimi: ipfofque reges non unius ponit regni, verbi gratia, Macedoniæ, Syriæ, Afiæ, et Ægypti; fed de diverfis regnis unum efficit regum ordinem. And in this Way of Interpretation, any thing may be made of any thing.

they.

255

256

PART they expected. And it plainly requires a Degree of Modefly $\frac{\text{II.}}{\sqrt{3}}$ and Fairness, beyond what every one has, for a Man to fay, not to the World, but to Himfelf, that there is a real Appearance of somewhat of great Weight in this Matter, though he is not able thoroughly to fatisfy himfelf about it; but it shall have its Influence upon him, in Proportion to its appearing Reality and Weight. It is much more eafy, and more falls in with the Negligence Prefumption and Willfulnefs of the Generality, to determine at once, with a decifive Air, There is nothing in it. The Prejudices arifing from that abfolute Contempt and Scorn, with which this Evidence is treated in the World, I do not mention. For what indeed can be faid to Perfons, who are weak enough in their Understandings, to think This any Prefumption against it; or, if they do not, are yet weak enough in their Temper to be influenced, by fuch Prejudices, upon fuch a Subject.

> SECONDLY, I shall now endeavour to give fome Account of the general Argument for the Truth of Christianity, confifting both of the direct and circumstantial Evidence, confidered as making up one Argument. Indeed to flate and examine this Argument fully, would be a Work much beyond the Compass of this whole Treatife: Nor is fo much as a proper Abridgment of it, to be expected here. Yet the prefent Subject requires to have fome brief Account of it given. For it is the Kind of Evidence, upon which most Questions of Difficulty, in common Practice, are determined; Evidence arising from various Coincidences, which support and confirm each other, and in this Manner prove, with more or lefs Certainty, the Point under Confideration. And I chufe to do it also: First, because it seems to be of the greatest Importance, and not duly attended to by every one, that the Proof of Revelation is, not fome direct and express things only, but a great Variety

Variety of circumftantial things alfo; and that though each of C H A P. these direct and circumstantial things, is indeed to be confider-VII. ed feparately, yet they are afterwards to be joined together; for that the proper Force of the Evidence confifts in the Refult of those feveral things, confidered in their Respects to each other, and united into one View: And in the next Place, becaufe it feems to me, that the matters of Fact here fet down, which are acknowledged by Unbelievers, muft be acknowledged by them alfo, to contain together, a Degree of Evidence of great Weight; if they could be brought, to lay these feveral things before themfelves diffinctly, and then with Attention confider them together; inftead of that curfory Thought of them, to which we are familiarifed. For being familiarifed to the curfory Thought of things, as really hinders the Weight of them from being feen, as from having its due Influence upon Practice.

The thing afferted, and the Truth of which is to be enquired into, is this: That over and above our Reafon and Affections, which God has given us, for the Information of our Judgment and the Conduct of our Lives, he has alfo, by external Revelation, given us an Account of Himfelf, and his moral Government over the World, implying a future State of Rewards and Punifhments; *i. e.* hath revealed the Syftem of natural Religion: for natural Religion may be, externally, k revealed by God, as the ignorant may be taught it by Mankind their Fellow-creatures—that God, I fay, has given us the Evidence of Revelation, as well as the Evidence of Reafon, to afcertain this moral Syftem: together with an Account of, a particular Difpenfation of Providence, which Reafon could no way have difcovered, and a particular Inftitution of Religion founded on it, for the Recovery of Mankind out of their prefent wretched

^k p. 144, 145.

Condition,

257

258 Of the particular Evidence PART Condition, and raifing them to the Perfection, and final Happi-II. nefs of their Nature.

> This Revelation, whether real or fuppofed, may be confidered as wholly historical; fince Prophecy is nothing but the History of Events before they come to pass, Doctrines also are Matters of Fact, and Precepts come under the fame Notion. And the general Defign of Scripture, which contains in it this Revelation, thus confidered as hiftorical, may be faid to be, to give us an Account of the World, in this one fingle View, as God's World : by which it appears effentially diftinguished from all other Books, fo far as I have found, except fuch as are copied from it. It begins with an Account of God's Creation of the World, in order to afcertain, and diftinguish from all Others. Who is the Object of our Worship, by what He has done: In order to ascertain, who He is, concerning whose Providence Commands Promifes and Threatnings, this facred Book, all along, treats; the Maker and Proprietor of the World, He whole Creatures we are, the God of Nature: In order likewife to diftinguish him from the Idols of the Nations, which are eitherimaginary Beings, i. e. no Beings at all; or elfe Part of that Creation, the hiftorical Relation of which is here given. And St. John, not improbably, with an Eye to this Mofaick Account of the Creation, begins his Golpel with an Account, of our Saviour's Præexistence, and that All things were made by him; and without him was not any thing made that was made :1 agreeably to the Doctrine of St. Paul, that God created all things by 7efus Chrift." This being premifed, the Scripture, taken together, feems to profefs to contain a kind of an Abridgment of the Hiftory of the World, in the View just now mentioned': that is, a general Account of the Condition of Religion and its Professions, during the Continuance of that Apostacy from

> > ¹ Joh i. 3. ^m Eph. iii. 9.

God,

God, and State of Wickedness, which it every where supposes C H A P. the World to lie in. And this Account of the State of Religi-VII. on, carries with it fome brief Account of the political State of things, as Religion is affected by it. Revelation indeed confiders the common Affairs of this World, and what is going on in it, as a mere Scene of Diftraction; and cannot be supposed to concern itfelf with foretelling, at what Time, Rome or Babylon or Greece, or any particular Place, should be the most confpicuous Seat of that Tyranny and Diffoluteness, which all Places equally afpire to be; cannot I fay be fuppofed to give any Account of this wild Scene for its own Sake. But it feems to contain fome very general Account of the chief Governments of the World, as the general State of Religion, has been, is, or shall be, affected by them, from the first Transgression, and during the whole Interval of the World's continuing in its prefent State, to a certain future Period, spoken of both in the Old and New Testament, very distinctly, and in great Variety of Expression: The times of the restitution of all things:" When the my/tery of God shall be finished, as he hath declared to his servants the prophets: When the God of heaven shall set up a kingdom, which shall never be destroyed : And the kingdom shall not be left to other people, P as it is reprefented to be during this Apoftacy. but Judgment shall be given to the faints,9 and they shall reign := And the kingdom and dominion, and the greatness of the kingdom under the whole heaven, shall be given to the people of the faints of the most High.

Upon this general View of the Scripture, I would remark, how great a Length of Time the whole Relation takes up, near fix thousand Years of which, are past: and how great a Variety of things it treats of; the natural and moral System or History of the World, including the Time when it was formed,

P Acts iii. 21. ° Rev. x. 7. P Dan. ii. ° Ch. vii. 22. P. Rev. C Dan. vii. L I 2 all

260

PART all contained in the very first Book, and evidently written in a II. rude and unlearned Age; and in fubfequent Books, the vari-ous common and prophetick Hiftory, and the particular Difpenfation of Christianity. Now all this together gives the largest Scope for Criticism; and Consutation of what is capable of being confuted, either from Reafon, or from common Hiftory, or from any Inconfistence in its feveral Parts. And it is a thing which deferves, I think, to be mentioned, that whereas fome imagine, the fuppofed Doubtfulness of the Evidence for Revelation, implies a politive Argument that it is not true; it appears, on the contrary, to imply a politive Argument that it is true. For, could any common Relation, of fuch Antiquity, Extent, and Variety, for in these things the Stress of what I am now obferving lies, be proposed to the Examination of the World: that it could not, in an Age of Knowledge and Liberty, be confuted, or shewn to have nothing in it, to the Satisfaction of reafonable Men; this would be thought a ftrong prefumptive Proof of its Truth. And indeed it must be a Proof of it, just in Proportion to the Probability, that if it were falfe, it might be shewn to be so: Which, I think, is scarce pretended to be shewn, but upon Principles and in Ways of arguing, which have been clearly obviated." Nor does it at all appear, that any Sett of Men who believe natural Religion, are of the Opinion, that Christianity has been thus confuted. But to proceed;

> Together with the moral System of the World, the Old Testament contains, a chronological Account of the Beginning of it, and from thence, an unbroken Genealogy of Mankind for many Ages before common History begins; and carried on as much farther, as to make up a continued Thread of History the Length of between three

> > ^t Ch. ii, iii, &c.

and

and four thousand Years. It contains an Account, of God's CHAP. making a Covenant with a particular Nation, that they flould VII. VJ be his People, and He would be their God, in a peculiar Senfe; of his often interpoling miraculoully in their Affairs; giving them the Promise, and, long after, the Possession, of a particular Country; affuring them of the greatest national Prosperity in it, if they would worship him, in Opposition to the Idols which the reft of the World worshipped, and obey his Commands; and threatning them with unexampled Punishments, if they difobeyed him, and fell into the general Idolatry : infomuch that this one Nation should continue to be, the Observation and the Wonder of all the World. It declares particularly, that God would scatter them among all people, from one end of the earth unto the other: but that when they should return unto the Lord their God, he would have compassion upon them, and gather them from all the nations, whither he had scattered them : that Israel should be faved in the Lord, with an everlasting falvation; and not be ashamed or confounded world without end. And as fome of these Promises are conditional, others are as abfolute, as any thing can be expressed: That the Time should come, when the people should be all righteous, and inherit the land for ever : that though God would make a full end of all nations whither he had scattered them, yet would be not make a full end of them: that he would bring again the captivity of his people Israel, and plant them upon their land, and they should be no more pulled up out of their land: that the feed of Ifrael fould not cease from being a nation for ever." It foretells, that God would raife them up a particular Perfon, in whom all his Promifes (hould finally be fulfilled; the Meffiah, who should be, in an high and eminent Senfe, their anointed Prince and Saviour, This was forecold in fuch a Manner, as raifed a general Expecta-

tion

^a Deut. xxvⁱⁱⁱ. 64 Ch. xxx. 2, 3. If. xlv. 17. Ch. lx. 21. Jer. xxx. 11. Ch. xlvi. 28. Amos ix. 15. Jer. xxxi. 36.

262

P A R T tion of fuch a Perfon in the Nation, as appears from the New Testament, and is an acknowledged Fact; an Expectation of his coming at fuch a particular Time, before any one appeared claiming to be That Perfon, and when there was no Ground for fuch an Expectation but from the Prophecies: which Expectation, therefore, must in all Reason be prefumed to be explanatory of those Prophecies, if there were any Doubt about their Meaning. It feems moreover to foretell, that this Perfon should be rejected by that Nation, to whom he had been fo long promifed, and though he was fo much defired by them.* And it expressly foretells, that he should be the Saviour of the Geniles; that the Completion of the Scheme, contained in this Book, and then begun, and in its Progrefs, fhould be fomewhat fo great, that God is reprefented as declaring; It is a light thing that thou (hould it be my fervant to raife up the tribes of Jacob, and to reflore the preferved of Ifrael: I will also give thee for a light to the Gentiles, that thou may ft be for falvation unto the end of the earth: That in the last days, the mountain of the Lords house shall be established in the top of the mountains, and shall be exalted above the bills; and all nations shall flow into it ---- for out of Zion shall go forth the law, and the word of the Lord from Jerusalem. And he shall judge among the nations and the Lord alone shall be exalted in that day, And the Idols he shall utterly abolish. The Scripture farther contains an Account, that at the Time the Meffiah was expected, a Person role up, in this Nation, claiming to be that Meffiah, to be the Perfon, whom all the Prophecies referred to, and in whom they should center; that he spent some Years in a continued Course of miraculous Works; endued his immediate Difciples and Followers with a Power of doing the fame, as a Proof of the Truth of that Religion, which he commissioned

them

^{*} If. viii. 14, 15. Ch. xlix. 5. Ch. liii. Mal. i. to, 11. and Ch. iii. Y If.xlix. 6. Ch. ii. Ch. xi. Ch. lvi. 7. Mal. i. 11. To which must be added, the other Prophecies of the like Kind, feveral in the New Testament, and very many in the Old; which defcribe, what shall be the Completion of the revealed Plan of Providence.

them to publifh; that invefted with this Authority and Power, C H A P. they made numerous Converts, in the remoteft Countries, and fettled and eftablifhed his Religion in the World; to the End of which, the Scripture profeffes to give a prophetick Account of the State of this Religion amongft Mankind.

for Christianity.

Let us now fuppofe a Perfon utterly ignorant of Hiftory, tohave all this related to him, out of the Scripture. Or fuppofe fuch an one, having the Scripture put into his hands, to remark thefe things in it, not knowing but that the Whole, even its civil-Hiftory, as well as the other Parts of it, might be, from Beginning to End, an intire Invention; and to afk, What Truth was in it, and whether the Revelation here related, was real or a Fiction? And inftead of a direct Anfwer, fuppofe him, all at once, to be told the following confeft Facts; and then to unite them into ene View.

Let him first be told, in how great a Degree the Profession and Establishment of natural Religion, the Belief that there is one God to be worshipped, that Virtue is his Law, and that Mankind shall be rewarded and punished Hereaster, as they obey and disobey it Here; in how very great a Degree, I fay, the Profession and Establishment of this moral System in the World, is owing to the Revelation, whether real or supposed; contained in this Book: the Establishment of this moral System, even in those Countries which do not acknowledge the proper Authority of the Scripture.² Let him be told also, what Number of Nations do acknowledge its proper Authority. Let him then take in the Confideration of what Importance Religion is to Mankind. And upon these things, he might, I think, truly observe, that this supposed Revelation's obtaining and being received in the World, with all the Circumstances and Effects

z p. 218,

Ţ

263

264

PART of it, confidered together as one Event; is the most conspicu-П. ous and important Event in the Story of Mankind: that a Book of this Nature, and thus promulged and recommended to our Confideration, demands, as if by a Voice from Heaven, to have its Claims most feriously examined into: and that, before such Examination, to treat it with any Kind of Scoffing and Ridicule, is an Offence against natural Piety. But it is to be remembred, that how much foever the Establishment of natural Religion in the World, is owing to the Scripture-revelation, this does not deftroy the Proof of Religion from Reafon; any more than the Proof of Euclid's Elements, is deftroyed, by a Man's knowing or thinking, that he should never have feen the Truth of the feveral Propolitions contained in it, nor had those Propositions come into his Thoughts, but for that Mathematician.

> Let fuch a Perfon as we are fpeaking of, be, in the next Place, informed, of the acknowledged Antiquity of the first Parts of this Book: And that its Chronology, its Account of the Time when the Earth, and the feveral Parts of it, were first peopled with human Creatures, is no way contradicted, but is really confirmed, by the natural and civil Hiftory of the World; collected from common Historians, from the State of the Earth, and from the late Invention of Arts and Sciences. And as the Scripture contains an unbroken Thread of common and civil Hiftory, from the Creation to the Captivity, for between three and four thousand Years: Let the Person we are fpeaking of be told in the next place, that this general Hiftory, as it is not contradicted, but is confirmed by prophane Hiftory as much as there would be reafon to expect, upon Supposition of its Truth; fo there is nothing in the whole Hiftory itfelf, to give any reasonable Ground of Suspicion, of its not being, in the general, a faithful and literally true Genealogy of Men, and

and Series of things. I speak here only of the common Scrip- CHAP ture-hiftory, or of the Courfe of ordinary Events related in it; as diftinguished from Miracles, and from the prophetick Hifto- \sim ry. In all the Scripture-narrations of this Kind, following Events arife out of foregoing ones, as in all other Hiftories. There appears nothing related as done in any Age, not conformable to the Manners of that Age; nothing in the Account of a fucceeding Age, which, one would fay, could not be true, or was improbable, from the Account of things in the preceding one. There is nothing in the Characters, which would raife a Thought of their being feigned; but all the internal Marks imaginable of their being real. It is to be added alfo, that mere Genealogies, bare Narratives of the Number of Years, which Perfons called by fuch and fuch Names lived, do not carry the Face of Fiction, perhaps do carry fome Prefumption of Veracity; and all unadorned Narratives, which have nothing to furprize, may be thought to carry fomewhat of the like Prefumption too. And the domeftick and the political Hiftory is plainly credible. There may be Incidents, in Scripture, which taken alone in the naked way they are told, may appear ftrange; especially to Persons of other Manners, Temper, Education -But there are alfo Incidents of undoubted Truth, in many or most Perfons Lives, which, in the fame Circumstances, would appear to the full as strange. There may be Mistakes of Tranfcribers, there may be other real or feeming Miftakes, not eafy to be, particularly, accounted for: But there are certainly no more things of this Kind in the Scripture, than what were to have been expected in Books of fuch Antiquity; and Nothing, in any wife, fufficient to difcredit the general Narrative. Now, that a Hiftory claiming to commence from the Creation, and extending in one continued Series, through fo great a Length of Time, and Variety of Events, should have fuch Appearances of Reality and Truth in its whole Contexture, is furely a very M m remarkable

265

VII.

P A R T remarkable Circumftance in its Favour. And as all this is applicable to the common Hiftory of the New Teftament; fo there is a farther Credibility, and a very high one, given to it, by profane Authors: many of thefe writing of the fame Times, and confirming the Truth of Cuftoms and Events, which are incidentally as well as more purpofely mentioned in it. And this Credibility of the common Scripture-hiftory, gives fome Credibility to its miraculous Hiftory; efpecially as this is interwoven with the common, fo as that they imply each other, and both together make up one Relation.

Let it then be more particularly observed to this Person, that it is an acknowledged Matter of Fact, which is indeed implied in the foregoing Obfervation, that there was fuch a Nation as the Jews, of the greatest Antiquity, whose Government and general Polity was founded on the Law, here related to be given them by Moles as from Heaven; that natural Religion, with Rites additional though no way contrary to it, was their eftablifhed Religion, which cannot be faid of the gentile World : and that their very Being as a Nation, depended upon their Acknowledgment of one God, the God of the Universe. For, fuppofe in their Captivity in Babylon, they had gone over to the Religion of their Conquerors, there would have remained no Bond of Union, to keep them a diftinct People. And whilft they were under their own Kings, in their own Country, a total Apostacy from God would have been the Diffolution of their whole Government. They, in fuch a Senfe, nationally acknowledged and worshipped the Maker of Heaven and Earth, when the reft of the World were funk in Idolatry, as rendred them, in Fact, the peculiar People of God. And this fo remarkable an Establishment and Prefervation of natural Religion amongst them, feems to add fome peculiar Credibility to the hiftorical Evidence 3

266

Evidence for the Miracles of *Mofes* and the Prophets: Becaufe C H A P. thefe Miracles are a full fatisfactory Account of this Event, VII. which plainly wants to be accounted for, and cannot otherwife.

Let this Perfon, fuppofed wholly ignorant of Hiftory, be acquainted farther, that One claiming to be the Mefliah, of Jewifh Extraction, role up at the Time this Nation expected the Meffiah, from the Prophecies abovementioned : that he was rejected, as it feemed to have been foretold he fhould, by the Body of the People, under the Direction of their Rulers: that in the Course of a very few Years, he was believed on and acknowledged as the promifed Meffiah, by great Numbers among the Gentiles, agreeably to the Prophecies of Scripture, yet not upon the Evidence of Prophecy, but of Miracles, b of which Miracles we also have strong historical Evidence; by which I mean here no more than must be acknowledged by Unbelievers, for let pious Frauds and Follies be admitted to weaken, it is abfurd to fay they deftroy, our Evidence of Miracles wrought in Proof of Christianity: c that this Religion approving itself to the Reafon of Mankind, and carrying its own Evidence with it, fo far as Reafon is a Judge of its Syftem, and no way contrary to Reafon, in those Parts of it, which require to be believed upon the mere Authority of its Author; that this Religion, I fay, gradually fpread and fupported itfelf, for fome hundred Years, not only without any Affiftance from temporal Power, but under conftant Difcouragements, and often the bittereft Perfecutions from it; and then became the Religion of the World: that in the mean Time, the Jewish Nation and Government were deftroyed, in a very remarkable Manner, and the People carried away captive and difperfed through the moft diftant Countries; in which State of Difperfion, they have remained fifteen hundred Years: and that they remain a nume-

^b p. 241. ^c p. 248, 249. M m 2

rous

267

PAR T rous People, united amongst themselves, and distinguished from II. the rest of the World, as they were in the Days of Moses, by the Profession of his Law; and every where looked upon in a Manner, which one fearce knows how distinctly to express, but in the Words of the prophetick Account of it, given so many Ages before it came to pass; Thou shalt become an astonishment, a proverb, and a by-word, among all nations whither. the Lord shall lead thee.⁴

268

The Appearance of a standing Miracle, in the Jews remaining a diftinct People in their Difpersion, and the Confirmation which this Event appears to give to the Truth of Revelation; may be thought to be answered, by their Religion's forbidding them Inter-marriages with Foreigners, and prefcribing them a particular Kind of Food, by which, they are debarred from the Means of incorporating with the People, in whofe Countries they live. This is not, I think, a fatisfactory Account of That which it pretends to account for. But what does it pretend to account for? The Correspondence between this Event and the Prophecies; or the Coincidence of both, with a long Difpenfation of Providence of a peculiar Nature, towards that People formerly? No. It is only the Event itfelf, which is offered to be thus accounted for; which fingle Event taken alone, abftracted from all fuch Correspondence and Coincidence, perhaps would not have appeared miraculous: but That Correspondence and Coincidence may be fo, though the Event itfelf be fuppofed not. As the Concurrence of our Saviour's being born at Betblebem, with a long foregoing Series of Prophecy and other Coincidences, is doubtless miraculous, the Series of Prophecy, and other Coincidences, and the Event, being admitted; though the Event itfelf, his Birth at that Place, appears to have been brought

^d Deut. xxviii. 37.

about

about in a natural Way, of which, however, no one can be C H A P. certain.

And as feveral of these Events seem, in some Degree expressly, to have verified the prophetick Hiftory already; fo likewife they may be confidered farther, as having a peculiar Afpect towards the full Completion of it; as affording fome Prefumption that the Whole of it shall, one time or other, be fulfilled. Thus, that the Yews have been fo wonderfully preferved in their long and wide Difperfion; which is indeed the direct Fulfilling of fome Prophecies, but is now mentioned only as looking forward to fomewhat yet to come: that natural Religion came forth from Judea, and spread, in the Degree it has done, over the World. before loft in Idolatry; which, together with fome other things, have diftinguished that very Place, in like Manner, as the People of it are diftinguished: that this great Change of Religion over the Earth, was brought about under the Profession and Acknowledgment, that Jefus was the promifed Meffiah-Things of this Kind; naturally, turn the Thoughts of ferious Men, towards the full Completion of the prophetick Hiftory, concerning the final Reftoration of that People; concerning the Eftablifhment of the everlafting Kingdom among them, the Kingdom of the Messiah; and the future State of the World, under this facred Government. Such Circumstances and Events compared with these Prophecies, though no Completions of them, vet would not, I think, be fpoken of as Nothing in the Argument, by a Perfon upon his first being informed of them. They fall in with the prophetick Hiftory of things ftill future, give it fome additional Credibility, have the Appearance of being fomewhat in Order to the full Completion of it.

Indeed

269

270

PART Indeed it requires a good Degree of Knowledge, and great II. Calmnefs and Confideration, to be able to judge, thoroughly, of the Evidence for the Truth of Chriftianity, from that Part of the prophetick Hiftory, which relates to the Situation of the Kingdoms of the World, and to the State of the Church, from the Eftablifhment of Chriftianity to the prefent Time. But it appears, from a general View of it, to be very material. And those Perfons who have thoroughly examined it, and fome of them were Men of the cooleft Tempers, greateft Capacities, and least liable to Imputations of Prejudice, infift upon it as determinately conclusive.

> Suppose now a Person quite ignorant of History, first to recollect the Paffages abovementioned out of Scripture, without knowing but that the Whole was a late Fiction, then to be informed of the correspondent Facts now mentioned, and to unite them all into one View: That the Profession and Establishment of natural Religion in the World, is greatly owing, in different Ways, to this Book, and the fuppofed Revelation which it contains; that it is acknowledged to be of the earlieft Antiquity; that its Chronology and common Hiftory are intirely credible; that this antient Nation, the Jews, of whom it chiefly treats, appear to have been, in Fact, the People of God, in a diftinguished Senfe; that, as there was a national Expectation amongst them of a Meffiah, to appear at fuch a Time, raifed from the Prophecies, fo one at this Time appeared claiming to be that Meffiah; that He was rejected by this Nation; but received by the Gentiles, not upon the Evidence of Prophecy, but of Miracles; that the Religion he taught supported itself under the greateft Difficulties, gained Ground, and at length became the Religion of the World; that in the mean Time the Jewish Polity was utterly deftroyed, and the Nation difperfed over the Face

for Christianity.

Face of the Earth ; that notwithstanding this, they have remain- C H A P. ed a diffinct numerous People for fo many Centuries, even to this VII. Day; which not only appears to be the express Completion of Ś feveral Prophecies concerning them; but alfo renders it, as one may speak, a visible and easy Possibility, that the Promises made to them as a Nation, may yet be fulfilled. And to thefe acknowledged Truths, let the Perfon we have been fuppofing, add, as I think he ought, whether every one will allow it or no, the obvious Appearances which there are, of the State of the World, in other Respects besides what relates to the Yews, and of the Christian Church, having fo long answered, and still anfwering to the prophetick Hiftory. Suppose, I fay, thefe Facts fet over against the things before mentioned out of the Scripture, and ferioufly compared with them; The joint View of both together, must, I think, appear of very great Weight to a confiderate reafonable Perfon: of much greater indeed, upon having them first laid before him, than is easy for us, who are fo familiarifed to them, to conceive, without fome particular Attention for that Purpofe.

All thefe things, and the feveral Particulars contained under them, require to be, diffinctly and most thoroughly, examined into; that the Weight of each may be judged of, upon fuch Examination, and fuch Conclusion drawn as refults from their united Force. But this has not been attempted here. I have gone no farther than to show, that the general imperfect View of them now given, the confest historical Evidence for Miracles, and the many obvious appearing Completions of Prophecy, together with the collateral things ^f here mentioned, and there are feveral others of the like fort; that all this together, which being Fact, must be acknowledged by Unbelievers, amounts to 271

f All the particular things mentionel in this Chapter, not reduceible to the Head, of certain Miracles, or determinate Completions of Prophecy. See p. 236.

Of the particular Evidence

270

PAR Treal Evidence of fomewhat more than human in this Matter: Evidence much more important, than careless Men, who have been accustomed only to transient and partial Views of it, can imagine; and indeed abundantly fufficient to act upon. And thefe things, I apprehend, must be acknowledged by Unbelievers. For though they may fay, that the hiftorical Evidence of Miracles wrought in Attestation of Christianity, is not fufficient to convince them, that fuch Miracles were really wrought; they cannot deny, that there is fuch hiftorical Evidence, it being a known matter of Fact, that there is. They may fay, the Conformity between the Prophecies and Events, is by accident; but there are many Instances, in which fuch Conformity itself cannot be denied. They may fay, with regard to fuch Kind of collateral things as those abovementioned, that any odd accidental Events, without Meaning, will have a Meaning found in them, by fanciful People; and that fuch as are fanciful in any one certain Way, will make out a thoufand Coincidences, which feem to favour their peculiar Follies. Men, I fay, may talk thus : But no one who is ferious, can possibly think these things to be nothing, if he confiders the Importance of collateral things, and even of leffer Circumstances, in the Evidence of Probability, as diffinguished, in Nature, from the Evidence of Demonstration. In many Cafes indeed it feems to require the truest Judgment, to determine with Exactness the Weight of circumstantial Evidence; but it is very often altogether as convincing, as That, which is the most express and direct.

> This general View of the Evidence for Christianity, confidered as making one Argument, may also ferve to recommend to ferious Perfons, to fet down every thing, which they think may be of any real Weight at all in Proof of it, and particularly the many feeming Completions of Prophecy : and they will find, that, judging by the natural Rules, by which we judge of

> > R

for Christianity.

of probable Evidence in common Matters, they amount to a C H A P. much higher Degree of Proof, upon fuch a joint Review, than VH. could be supposed upon confidering them separately, at different un Times; how strong soever the Proof might before appear to them, upon fuch feparate Views of it. For probable Proofs, by being added, not only increase the Evidence, but multiply it. Nor flould I diffuade any one from fetting down, what he thought made for the contrary Side. But then it is to be remembred, not in order to influence his Judgment, but his Practice, that a Miftake on one fide, may be, in its Confequences. much more dangerous, than a Miftake on the other. And what Courfe is most fafe, and what most dangerous, is a Confideration thought very material, when we deliberate, not concerning Events, but concerning Conduct in our temporal Affairs. To be influenced by this Confideration, in our Judgment, to believe or difbelieve, is indeed as much Prejudice, as any thing whatever. And, like other Prejudices, it operates contrary Ways, in different Men. For fome are inclined to believe, what they hope, and Others, what they fear. And it is manifest Unreasonablenefs, to apply to Men's Paffions in order to gain their Affent. But in Deliberations concerning Conduct, there is nothing which Reafon more requires to be taken into the Account, than the Importance of it. For, fuppofe it doubtful, what would be the Confequence of acting in this, or in a contrary Manner; that one could be attended with little or no bad Confequence, and the other might, with the greateft, must appear to unpreindiced Reafon, of the highest Moment towards determining. how we are to act. But the Truth of our Religion, like the Truth of common Matters, is to be judged of by all the Evidence taken together. And unlefs the whole Series of things to be alledged in this Argument, and every particular thing in it, can reafonably be fuppofed to have been by Accident, for here the Strefs of the Argument for Christianity lies, then is the Truth Nn

273

Of the particular Evidence, &c.

P A R T Truth of it proved: In like manner, as if in any common II. Cafe, numerous Events acknowledged, were to be alledged in Proof of another Event difputed; the Truth of the difputed Event would be proved, not only if any one of the acknowledged ones did of itfelf clearly imply it, but, though no one of them fingly did fo, if the Whole of the acknowledged Events taken together, could not in Reafon be fuppofed to have happened, unlefs the difputed one were true.

274

It is obvious, how much Advantage, the Nature of this Evidence gives to those Persons, who attack Christianity, especially in Conversation. For it is easy to shew, in a short and lively Manner, that such and such things are liable to Objection, that this and another thing, is of little Weight in itself; but imposfible in like manner to shew, the united Force of the whole Argument in one View.

However, Laftly, as it has been made appear, that there is no Prefumption against a Revelation as miraculous, that the general Scheme of Christianity, and the principal Parts of it, are conformable to the experienced Constitution of things, and the Whole perfectly credible : So the Account now given of the positive Evidence for it, shews, that this Evidence is such, as, from the Nature of it, cannot be destroyed; though it should be leffened.

CHAP.

CHAP. VIII.

Of the Objections which may be made against arguing, from the Analogy of Nature, to Religion.

F every one would confider with fuch Attention, as they are bound, even in Point of Morality, to confider, what they judge and give Characters of; the Occafion of this Chapter would be, in fome good Meafure at leaft, fuperfeded. But fince this is not to be expected; for fome we find do not concern themfelves to underftand even what they write againft: Since this Treatife, in common with most others, lies open to Objections, which may appear very material to thoughtful Men at first fight; And, besides That, feems peculiarly liable to the Objections, of fuch as can judge without thinking, and of fuch as can cenfure without judging; it may not be amifs to fet down the chief of these Objections which occur to me, and confider them to their Hands. And they are fuch as these;

That it is a poor thing to folve Difficulties in Revelation, by faying, that there are the fame in Natural Religion; when what is wanting is to clear both of them, of thefe their common, as well as other their refpective, Difficulties: But that it is a ftrange Way indeed of convincing Men of the Obligations of Religion, to fhew them, that they have as little Reafon for their worldly Purfuits: And a ftrange Way of vindicating the Juffice and Goodnefs of the Author of Nature, and of removing the Objections against both, to which the System of Religion lies N n 2 open,

C H. VIII.

Of Objections against arguing,

276

PART open, to fhew, that the like Objections lie against natural Pro-II. vidence; a way of answering Objections against Religion, without fo much as pretending to make out, that the System of it, or the particular things in it objected against, are reasonable especially, perhaps fome may be inattentive enough to add, must this be thought strange, when it is confessed that Analogy is no Answer to such Objections: That when this Sort of Reafoning is carried to the utmost length it can be imagined capable of, it will yet leave the Mind in a very unfatisfied State : And that it must be unaccountable Ignorance of Mankind to imagine, they will be prevailed with to foregoe their prefent Interests and Pleasures, from Regard to Religion, upon doubtful Evidence.

> Now, as plaufible as this Way of talking may appear, that Appearance will be found in a great Meafure owing, to Halfviews, which fhew but Part of an Object, yet fhew That indiftinctly, and to undeterminate Language. By this Means weak. Men are often deceived by others, and ludicrous Men, by themfelves : And even those who are ferious and confiderate cannot always, readily difintangle, and at once clearly fee through the Perplexities, in which Subjects themselves are involved; and which are heightened by the Deficiencies and the Abuse of Words. To this latter fort of Perfons, the following Reply to each Part of this Objection severally, may be of some Assistance; as it may also tend a little to ftop and filence Others.

> First. The thing wanted, *i. e.* what Men require, is to have all Difficulties cleared. And this is, or, at least for any thing we know to the contrary, it may be, the fame, as requiring to comprehend the divine Nature, and the whole Plan of Providence from everlasting to everlasting. But it hath always been allowed to argue, from what is acknowledged, to what is difputed.

from the Analogy of Nature, to Religion. 277

puted. And it is in no other Senfe a poor thing, to argue from C H A P. natural Religion to revealed, in the Manner found Fault with, VIII. than it is to argue in numberlefs other ways of probable Deduction and Inference, in Matters of Conduct, which we are continually reduced to the Neceffity of doing. Indeed the Epithet *poor*, may be applied, I fear as properly, to great Part or the whole of human Life, as it is to the things mentioned in the Objection. Is it not a poor thing, for a Phyfician to have fo little Knowledge in the Cure of Difeafes, as even the moft eminent have ? To act upon Conjecture and Guefs, where the Life of Man is concerned ? Undoubtedly it is; but not in Comparifon of having no Skill at all in that ufeful Art, and being obliged to act wholly in the Dark.

Further, fince it is as unreasonable, as it is common, to urge Objections against Revelation, which are of equal Weight againft natural Religion; and Thofe who do this, if they are not confused Themselves, deal unfairly with Others, in making it feem, that they are arguing only against Revelation, or particular Doctrines of it, when in Reality they are arguing against moral Providence; it is a thing of Confequence to flow, that fuch Objections are as much levelled against natural Religion, as against revealed. And Objections which are equally applicable to both, are properly fpeaking anfwered, by its being flown that they are fo, provided the former be admitted to be true. And without taking in the Confideration how diffinctly This is admitted, it is plainly very material to observe, that as the things objected against in natural Religion, are of the same Kind with what is certain Matter of Experience, in the Courfe of Providence, and in the Information which God affords us concerning our temporal Intereft, under his natural Government; fo the Objections against the System of Christianity and the Evidence of it, are of the very fame Kind with Thofe which aremade

Of Objections against arguing,

P A R T made against the System and Evidence of natural Religion.
II. However, the Reader upon Review may see, that most of the Analogies infissed upon, even in the latter Part of this Treatise, do not necessarily require to have more taken for granted than is in the former; that there is an Author of Nature, or natural Governor of the World: and Christianity is vindicated, not from its Analogy to natural Religion, but chiefly, from its Analogy to the experienced Constitution of Nature.

278

Secondly. Religion is a practical thing, and confifts in fuch a determinate Courfe of Life; as what there is Reafon to think. is commanded by the Author of Nature, and will, upon the whole, be our Happiness under His Government. Now if Men can be convinced, that they have the like Reafon to believe this, as to believe, that taking Care of their temporal Affairs, will be to their Advantage; fuch Conviction cannot but be an Argument to them for the Practice of Religion. And if there be really any Reafon for believing one of thefe, and endeavouring to preferve Life, and fecure ourfelves the Neceffaries and Conveniences of it; then there is Reafon alfo for believing the other, and endeavouring to fecure the Intereft it propofes to us. And if the Interest which Religion proposes to us, be infinitely greater than our whole temporal Interest, then there must be proportionably greater Reason, for endeavouring to fecure one, than the other; fince, by the Supposition, the Probability of our fecuring one, is equal to the Probability of our fecuring the other. This feems plainly unanfwerable; and has a Tendency to influence fair Minds, who confider what our Condition really is, or upon what Evidence we are naturally appointed to act; and who are disposed to acquiesce in the Terms upon which we live, and attend to and follow That practical Instruction, whatever it be, which is afforded us.

3

Bur

But the chief and proper Force of the Argument referred to C H A P. in the Objection, lies in another Place. For, the Proof of Re-VIII. ligion is faid to be involved in fuch inextricable Difficulties, as to render it doubtful; and that it cannot be supposed, that if it were true, it would be left upon doubtful Evidence. Here then, over and above the Force of each particular Difficulty or Objection, these Difficulties and Objections taken together, are turned into a politive Argument against the Truth of Religion; which Argument would fland thus: If Religion were true, it would not be left doubtful, and open to Objections to the Degree in which it is; therefore that it is thus left, not only renders the Evidence of it weak, and leffens its Force, in Proportion to the Weight of fuch Objections, but also shews it to be false; or is a general Prefumption of this. Now the Observation, that from the natural Conflictution and Courfe of things. we must in our temporal Concerns, almost continually, and in Matters of great Confequence, act upon Evidence of a like Kind and Degree to the Evidence of Religion; is an Anfwer to this Argument: becaufe it shews, that it is according to the Conduct and Character of the Author of Nature, to appoint we should act upon Evidence like to That, which this Argument presumes He cannot be supposed to appoint we should act upon: It is an Instance, a general one made up of numerous particular ones, of fomewhat in His Dealing with us, fimilar to what is faid to be incredible. And as the Force of this Anfwer. lies merely in the Parallel which there is, between the Evidence for Religion and for our temporal Conduct; the Anfwer is equally just and conclusive, whether the Parallel be made out. by fhewing, the Evidence of the former to be higher, or the Evidence of the latter to be lower.

Thirdly.

Of Objections against arguing,

280

PART Thirdly. 'The Defign of this Treatife, is not to vindicate the H. Character of God, but to shew the Obligations of Men: It is not to justify His Providence, but to flew what belongs to Us to do. These are two Subjects, and ought not to be confounded: And though they may at length run up into each other, yet Obfervations may immediately tend to make out the latter, which do not appear, by any immediate Connection, to the Purpole of the former; which is lefs our Concern than many feem to think. For, First, It is not necessary we should justify the Dispensations of Providence against Objections, any farther than to shew, that the things objected against may, for ought we know, be confistent with Justice and Goodness. Suppose then, that there are things in the System of this World, and Plan of Providence relating to it, which taken alone would be unjuft; yet, it has been shewn unanswerably, that if we could take in the Reference, which these things may have, to other things present, past and to come, to the whole Scheme which the things objected against, are Parts of; these very things might, for ought we know, be found to be, not only confistent with Justice, but Infances of it. Indeed it has been fhewn, by the Analogy of what we fee, not only possible that this may be the Cafe, but credible that it is. And thus Objections drawn from fuch things, are answered, and Providence is vindicated, as far as Religion makes its Vindication neceffary. Hence it appears, Secondly, that Objections against the divine Justice and Goodness, are not endeavoured to be removed by thewing, that the like Objections allowed to be rellay conclusive, lie against natural Providence : but those Objections being supposed and shewn not to be conclusive, the things objected against, confidered as Matters of Fact, are farther shewn to be credible, from their Conformity to the Constitution of Nature; for Instance, that God will reward and punish Men for their Actions Hereafter, from the Observation, that He does reward and punish them for their Actions Here. And this, I apprehend,

is

from the Analogy of Nature, to Religion. 281

is of Weight; And, I add Thirdly, would be fo too, even though C H A P. those Objections were not answered. For, there being the VIII. Proof of Religion above fet down; and Religion implying feveral Facts, for Instance again, the Fact last mentioned, that God will reward and punish Men for their Actions Hereafter: the Obfervation, that his prefent Method of Government is by Rewards and Punishments, shews That future Fact not to be incredible: whatever Objections Men may think they have against it, as unjust or unmerciful, according to their Notions of Justice and Mercy; or as improbable from their Belief of Neceffity: I fay as improbable, for it is evident no Objection against it as unjust, can be urged from Necessity; fince this Notion as much deftroys Injustice, as it does Justice. Then Fourthly, Though Objections against the Reafonableness of the System of Religion, cannot indeed be answered without entring into Confideration of its Reasonableness; yet Objections against the Credibility or Truth of it, may. Becaufe the System of it, is reducible into what is properly Matter of Fact : And the Truth, the probable Truth, of Facts, may be shewn without Consideration of their Reafonablenefs. Nor is it neceffary, though, in fome Cafes and Respects, it is highly useful and proper, yet it is not neceffary, to give a Proof of the Reafonablenefs, of every Precept injoined us, and of every particular Difpensation of Providence, which comes into the System of Religion. Indeed the more thoroughly a Perfon of a right Difpolition, is convinced of the Perfection of the divine Nature, and Conduct, the farther he will advance towards that Perfection of Religion, which St. John^a speaks of. But the general Obligations of Religion are fully made out, by proving the Reafonablenefs of the Practice of it: And that the Practice of Religion is reasonable, may be fhewn, though no more could be proved, than that the System of it may be so, for ought we know to the contrary; and

3 1 Joh. iv. 18

0 0

even

Of Objections against arguing,

P A R T even without entring into the diffinct Confideration of this.
 II. And from hence, Fifthly, It is eafy to fee, that though the Analogy of Nature is not an immediate Anfwer to Objections againft the Wifdom, the Juftice or Goodnefs, of any Doctrine or Precept of Religion; yet, it may be, as it is, an immediate and direct Anfwer to what is really intended by fuch Objections, which is to fhew, that the things objected againft are incredible.

282

Fourthly. It is most readily acknowledged, that the foregoing Treatife is by no means fatisfactory; very far indeed from it: But fo would any natural Inftitution of Life appear, if reduced into a Syftem, together with its Evidence. Leaving Religion out of the Cafe, Men are divided in their Opinions, Whether our Pleasures overballance our Pains: And Whether it be, or be not, eligible to live in this World. And were all fuch Controverfies fettled, which, perhaps in Speculation, would be found involved in great Difficulties; and were it determined upon the Evidence of Reafon, as Nature has determined it to our Hands, that Life is to be preferved : Yet still, the Rules which God has been pleafed to afford us, for escaping the Miseries of it, and obtaining its Satisfactions, the Rules, for Inftance, of preferving Health, and recovering it when loft; are not only fallible and precarious, but very far from being exact. Nor are we informed by Nature, in future Contingencies and Accidents, fo as to render it at all certain, what is the best Method of menaging our Affairs. What will be the Success of our temporal Purfuits, in the common Senfe of the Word Success, is highly doubtful. And what will be the Success of them, in the proper Senfe of the Word; i. e. what Happiness or Enjoyment we shall obtain by them, is fo, in a higher Degree. Indeed the unfatisfactory Nature of the Evidence, with which we are obliged to take up, in the daily Course of Life, is fcarce to be expressed. Yet Men do not throw away Life, or difregard. the

from the Analogy of Nature, to Religion. 283

the Interests of it, upon Account of this Doubtfulness. The C H A P. Evidence of Religion then being admitted real, those who ob-VIII ject against it, as not fatisfactory, i.e. as not being what they てく with it, plainly forget the very Condition of our Being: For Satisfaction, in this Senfe, does not belong to fuch a Creature as Man. And, which is more material, they forget alfo the very Nature of Religion. For, Religion prefuppofes in all those who will embrace it, a certain Degree of Integrity and Honefty, which it was intended to try whether Men have or not, and to exercife in fuch as have it, in order to its Improvement. Religion prefuppofes this, as much, and in the fame fense, as speaking to a Man, presupposes he understands the Language in which you fpeak; or as Warning a Man of any Danger, prefuppofes that he hath fuch a Regard to himfelf. as that he will endeavour to avoid it. And therefore the Question is not at all, Whether the Evidence of Religion be fatisfactory, but Whether it be, in Reason, sufficient to prove and difcipline That Virtue, which it prefuppofes. Now the Evidence of it is fully fufficient, for all those Purposes of Probation; how far foever from being fatisfactory, as to the Purposes of Curiofity, or any other: And indeed it answers the Purposes of the former in several Respects, which it would not do, if it were as overbearing as is required. One might add farther; that Whether the Motives or the Evidence for any Course of Action, be fatisfactory, meaning here by that Word. what fatisfies a Man, that fuch a Courfe of Action will in Event be for his Good; this need never be, I think flrictly speaking, never is, the practical Question in common Matters. But the practical Question in all Cafes, is, Whether the Evidence for a Courfe of Action be fuch, as, taking in all Circumstances, makes the Faculty within us which is the Guide and Judge of Conduct, b determine that Course of Action to be prudent. In-

^b See Differt. II.

 $0 \circ 2$

deed

Of Objections against arguing,

P A R T deed Satisfaction that it will be for our Intereft or Happinefs,
 II. abundantly determines an Action to be prudent: But Evidence almost infinitely lower than this, determines Actions to be for too; even in the Conduct of every Day.

284

Fiftbly. As to the Objection concerning the Influence which this Argument, or any Part of it, may, or may not, be expected to have upon Men : I observe, as above, that Religion being intended for a Trial and Exercise of the Morality of every Person's Character, who is a Subject of it; And there being, as I have thewn, such Evidence for it as is sufficient, in Reason, to influence Men to embrace it : To object, that it is not to be imagined Mankind will be influenced by fuch Evidence, is nothing to the Purpofe of the foregoing Treatife. For the Purpose of it is not to inquire, what Sort of Creatures Mankind are; but what, the Light and Knowledge which is afforded them, requires they should be; to shew how, in Reason, they ought to behave, not how, in Fact, they will behave. This depends upon themfelves, and is their own Concern; the perfonal Concern of each Man in particular. And how little Regard the Generality have to it, Experience indeed does too fully shew. But Religion, confidered as a Probation, has had its End upon all Perfons, to whom it has been proposed with Evidence sufficient in Reafon to influence their Practice: For by this Means they have been put into a State of Probation; behave as they will in it. And thus, not only Revelation, but Reafon alfo, teaches us, that by the Evidence of Religion being laid before Men, the Defigns of Providence are carrying on, not only with regard to those who will, but likewife with regard to those who will not. be influenced by it. However, Lafly, The Objection here referred to, allows the things infifted upon in this Treatife, to be of fome Weight: And if fo, it may be hoped it will have 3 fome from the Analogy of Nature, to Religion. 285

fome Influence. And if there be a Probability that it will have C H A Pany at all, there is the fame Reafon in Kind though not in Degree, to lay it before Men, as there would be, if it were likely to have a greater Influence.

And farther, I defire it may be confidered, with respect to the Whole of the foregoing Objections, that in this Treatile I have argued upon the Principles of Others °, not my own; and have omitted what I think true, and of the utmost Importance, becaufe by Others thought unintelligible, or not true. Thus I have argued upon the Principles of the Fatalists, which I do not believe : and have omitted what I do believe, the moral Fitnefs and Unfitnefs of Actions, prior to all Will whatever; which as certainly determine the divine Conduct, as speculative Truth and Falshood neceffarily determine the divine Judgment : And which is undoubtedly a thing of the utmost Importance. Indeed the Principle of Liberty and That of moral Fitnefs, fo force themselves upon the Mind, that Moralists, the Ancients as well as Moderns, have formed their Language upon it. And probably it may appear in mine : though I have endeavoured to avoid it; and in order to avoid it, have fometimes been obliged to express my felf in a Manner, which will appear strange, to fuch as do not observe the Reason for it : But the general Argument here purfued, does not at all fuppofe, or proceed upon, these Principles. Now, these two abstract Principles of Liberty and moral Fitness being omitted, Religion can be confidered in no other View, than merely as a Queftion of Fact : And in this View, it is here confidered. It is obvious, that Chriftianity, and the Proof of it, are both hiftorical. And even natural Re-

⁶ By arguing upon the Principles of Others, the Reader will observe is meant; not proving any thing from those Principles, but notwith landing them. Thus Religion is proved, not from the Opinion of Necessity; which is absurd: But, notwith flanding or even though That Opinion were admitted to be true.

ligion

Of Objections against arguing,

286

PAR Tligion is, properly, a Matter of Fact: For, that there is a righteous Governor of the World, is fo; And this Proposition П. S contains the general System of natural Religion. But then, feveral abstract Truths, and in particular, those two Principles, are ufually taken into Confideration in the Proof of it. Whereas it is here treated of only as a Matter of Fact. To explain this: That the three Angles of a Triangle are equal to two right ones, is an abstract Truth; But that they appear fo to our Mind, is only a Matter of Fact. And this last must have been admitted, if any thing was, by those ancient Scepticks, who would not have admitted the former; but pretended to doubt, Whether there were any fuch thing as Truth, or Whether we could certainly depend upon our Faculties of Understanding for the Knowledge of it, in any Cafe. So likewife, that there is, in the Nature of things, an original Standard of Right and Wrong in Actions, independent upon all Will, but which unalterably determines the Will of God, to exercise That moral Government over the World which Religion teaches, i. e. finally and upon the whole to reward and punish Men respectively as they act right or wrong; this Affertion contains an abftract Truth, as well as Matter of Fact. But fuppofe in the prefent State, every Man, without Exception, was rewarded and punished, in exact Proportion, as he followed or transgreffed That Senfe of Right and Wrong, which God has implanted in the Nature of every Man: this would not be at all an abstract Truth, but only a Matter of Fact. And though this Fact were acknowledged by every one; yet the very fame Difficulties might be raifed, as are now, concerning the abstract Questions of Liberty and moral Fitnefs: And we should have a Proof, even the certain one of Experience, that the Government of the World was perfectly moral, without taking in the Confideration of those Questions; and this Proof would remain, in what way foever

from the Analogy of Nature, to Religion. 287

foever they were determined. And thus, God having given C H A P. Mankind a moral Faculty, the Object of which is Actions, and VIII. which naturally approves fome Actions as Right and of Good-S defert, and condemns others as Wrong and of Ill-defert; that He will, finally and upon the whole, reward the former and punish the latter, is not an Affertion of an abstract Truth, but of what is as meer a Fact, as his doing fo at prefent would be, This future Fact I have, not indeed proved with the Force with which it might be proved, from the Principles of Liberty and moral Fitnefs; but without them have given a really conclusive practical Proof of it, which is greatly ftrengthened by the general Analogy of Nature : a Proof, eafily cavilled at, eafily shewn not to be demonstrative, for it is not offered as such; but impoffible I think to be evaded or anfwered. And thus the Obligations of Religion are made out, exclusively of the Questions concerning Liberty and moral Fitnefs; which have been perplexed with Difficulties and abstruse Reasonings, as every thing may.

Hence therefore may be observed diffinctly, what is the Force of this Treatife. It will be, to such as are convinced of Religion upon the Proof arising out of the two last mentioned Principles, an additional Proof and a Confirmation of it: To such as do not admit those Principles, an original Proof of it, and a Confirmation of that Proof. Those who believe, will here find both the Scheme and the Evidence of Christianity, cleared of Objections, and in a peculiar Manner strengthened: Those who do not believe, will at least be shewn, the Absurdity of all Attempts to prove Christianity false, the plain undoubted Credibility of it; and, I hope, a good deal more,

288 Of Objections against arguing, &c.

PART II. And thus, though feme, ferioufly perhaps, may think, differently from me, that Analogy as here urged, has too great Strefs laid upon it; and Ridicule, unanfwerable Ridicule, may be applied, to fhew the Argument from it in a difadvantageous Light: yet there can be no Queftion, but that it is a real one. For Religion, both natural and revealed, implying in it numerous Facts; and Analogy, being a Confirmation of all Facts to which it can be applied, as it is the only Proof of moft, cannot but be admitted by every one to be a material thing, and truely of Weight on the Side of Religion, both natural and revealed : And it ought to be particularly regarded by fuch as profefs to follow Nature, and to be lefs fatisfied with abftract Reafonings.

CONCLU-

ker:

CONCLUSION.

HATEVER Account may be given, of the PART ftrange Inattention and Difregard, in fome Ages and II. Countries, to a Matter of fuch Importance as Religion; it would, before Experience, be incredible, that there fhould be the like Difregard in those, who have had the moral System of the World laid before them, as it is by Christianity, and often inculcated upon them: Becaufe this moral Syftem carries in it a good Degree of Evidence for its Truth, upon its being barely proposed to our Thoughts. There is no Need of abstruse Reasonings and Distinctions, to convince an unprejudiced Understanding, that there is a God who made and governs theWorld, and will judge it in Righteoufnefs; though they may be neceffary to answer abstruse Difficulties, when once such are raifed : When the very Meaning of those Words, which exprefs most intelligibly the general Doctrine of Religion, is pretended to be uncertain; and the clear Truth of the thing itfelf. is obfcured, by the Intricacies of Speculation. But to an unprejudiced Mind, ten thousand thousand Instances of Defign, cannot but prove a Defigner. And it is intuitively manifeft, that Creatures ought to live under a dutiful Senfe of their Ma-

290

PART ker; and that Juffice and Charity must be his Laws, to Crea-H. tures whom He has made focial, and placed in Society. Indeed in the Truth of revealed Religion, peculiarly fo called, is not felfevident; but requires external Proof, in order to its being received. Yet Inattention, among Us, to revealed Religion, will be found to imply the fame diffolute immoral Temper of Mind, as Inattention to natural Religion : Becaufe, when both are laid before us, in the Manner they are in Christian Countries of Liberty; our Obligations to inquire into both, and to embrace both upon Supposition of their Truth, are Obligations of the fame Nature. For, Revelation claims to be the Voice of God; and our Obligation to attend to His Voice, is, furely, moral in all Cafes : And as it is infifted, that its Evidence is conclusive, upon thorough Confideration of it; fo, it offers itfelf to us with manifest obvious Appearances of having fomething more than human in it, and therefore in all Reafon requires, to have its Claims most feriously examined into. It is to be added, that though Light and Knowledge, in what Manner foever afforded us, is equally from God; yet a miraculous Revelation has a peculiar Tendency, from the first Principles of our Nature, to awaken Mankind, and infpire them with Reverence and Awe: And this is a peculiar Obligation to attend to, what claims to be fo with fuch Appearances of Truth. It is therefore moft certain, that our Obligations to enquire ferioufly into the Evidence of Christianity, and, upon Supposition of its Truth, to embrace it; are of the utmost Importance, and moral in the highest and most proper Sense. Let us then suppose, that the Evidence of Religion in general, and of Christianity, has been ferioufly inquired into, by all reafonable Men among us. Yet we find many profeffedly to reject both, upon fpeculative Principles of Infidelity. And all of them do not content themfelves with a bare Neglect of Religion, and enjoying their imaginary Freedom from its Reftraints. Some go much beyond this. They deride

291

deride God's moral Government over the World. They re- PAR T nounce his Protection, and defy his Justice. They ridicule and П. vilify Chriftianity, and blafpheme the Author of it; and take all Occasions to manifest a Scorn and Contempt of Revelation. This amounts to an active fetting themfelves against Religion ; to what may be confidered as a positive Principle of Irreligion: Which they cultivate within themfelves, and, whether they intend this Effect or not, render habitual, as a good Man does the contrary Principle. And Others, who are not chargeable with all this Profligatenefs, yet, are in avowed Opposition to Religion, as if difcovered to be groundlefs. Now admitting, which is the Supposition we go upon, that these Perfons act upon, what they think, Principles of Reafon, and otherwife they are not to be argued with; it is really inconceivable that they fhould imagine, they clearly fee the whole Evidence of it, confidered in itfelf, to be Nothing at all: Nor do they pretend this. They are far indeed from having a just Notion of its Evidence : but they would not fay, its Evidence was Nothing, if they thought the Syftem of it, with all its Circumstances, were credible, like other Matters of Science, or Hiftory. So that their Manner of treating it must proceed; either from their Objections of that Kind against all Religion, which have been anfwered, or obviated, in the former Part of this Treatife : or elfe from Objections and Difficulties fuppofed more peculiar to Christianity. Thus, they entertain Prejudices against the whole Notion of a Revelation, and miraculous Interpolitions. They find things in Scripture, whether in incidental Paffages, or in the general Scheme of it, which appear to them unreafonable. They take for granted, that if Christianity were true, the Light of it must have been more general, and the Evidence of it. more fatisfactory, or rather overbearing; that it must and would have been, in fome Way, otherwife put and left, than it is. Now this is not imagining they fee the Evidence itfelf to be

PART be Nothing, or inconfiderable; but quite another thing. It is II. being fortified against the Evidence, in fome Degree acknowledged, by thinking they fee, the System of Christianity, or fomewhat which appears to them necessfarily connected with it, to be incredible or false: fortified against That Evidence, which might, otherwise, make great Impression upon them. Or, Lastly, if any of these Persons are, upon the whole, in Doubt concerning the Truth of Christianity, their Behaviour seems owing to their taking for granted, through strange Inattention, that fuch Doubting is, in a manner, the fame thing, as being certainagainst it.

> To these Persons, and to this State of Opinion concerning Religion, the foregoing Treatife is adapted. For, all the general Objections against the moral System of Nature having been obviated, it is shewn, that there is not any peculiar Prefumption. at all against Christianity confidered, either as not discoverable by Reafon, or as unlike to what is fo difcovered; nor any worth mentioning, against it as miraculous, if any at all; none certainly, which can render it in the least incredible. It is shewn, that upon Supposition of a divine Revelation, the Analogy of Nature renders it, beforehand, highly credible, I think probable, that many things in it, must appear liable to great Objections; and that we must be incompetent Judges of it, to a great Degree. This Observation is, I think, unquestionably true, and of the very utmost Importance: But it is urged, as I hope it will be understood, with great Caution of not vilifying the Faculty of Reason, which is the candle of the Lord within us d; though it can afford no Light, where it does not fhine; nor judge, where it has no Principles to judge upon. The Objections here spoken of, being first answered in the View of Objections against Christianity as a Matter of Fact, are in the

> > ^d Prov. xx. 27.

292

293

next Place confidered as urged, more immediately, against the PART Wifdom, Juffice and Goodness of the Christian Dispensation. II. And it is fully made out, that they admit of exactly the like Anfwer, in every Refpect, to what the like Objections against the Constitution of Nature admit of: That, as partial Views give the Appearance of Wrong to things, which, upon farther Confideration and Knowledge of their Relations to other things, are found just and good; fo it is perfectly credible, that the things objected, against the Wisdom and Goodness of the Chriftian Difpenfation, may be rendred Inftances of Wifdom and Goodnefs, by their Reference to other things beyond our View : Becaufe Christianity is a Scheme as much above our comprehenfion, as That of Nature; and, like That, a Scheme in which Means are made use of to accomplish Ends, and which, as is most credible, may be carried on by general Laws. And it ought to be attended to, that this is not an Anfwer taken, merely or chiefly, from our Ignorance; but from fomewhat politive, which our Obfervation flews us. For, to like Objections, the like Anfwer is experienced to be just, in numberless parallel Cafes. The Objections against the Christian Dispensation, and the Method by which it is carried on, having been thus obviated, in general and together; the chief of them are confidered diffinctly, and the particular things objected to, are shewn credible, by their perfect Analogy, each apart, to the Conflicution of Na-Thus; If Mankind be fallen from his primitive State, ture. and to be reftored, and infinite Wildom and Power engages in accomplishing our Recovery: it were to have been expected, it is faid, that this should have been effected at once; and not by fuch a long Series of Means, and fuch a various Oeconomy of Perfons and things; one Difpenfation preparatory to another, this to a farther one, and fo on through an indefinite Number of Ages, before the End of the Scheme proposed can be compleatly accomplished: a Scheme conducted by infinite Wifdom; and

PART and executed by almighty Power. But our finding that every thing in the Conftitution and Course of Nature, is Thus carried II. S on, fhews fuch Expectations concerning Revelation, to be high-Ay unreafonable; and is a fatisfactory Anfwer to them, when urged as Objections against the Credibility, that the great Scheme of Providence in the Redemption of the World, may be of this Kind, and to be accomplished in this Manner. As to the particular Method of our Redemption, the Appointment of a Mediator between God and Man; this is most obviously analogous to the general Conduct of Nature, i. e. the God of Nature, in appointing Others to be the Inftruments of his Mercy, as we experience in the daily Courfe of Providence. The Condition of this World, which the Doctrine of our Redemption by Chrift prefuppofes, fo much falls in with natural Appearances, that heathen Moralists inferred it from those Appearances; inferred, that human Nature was fallen from its original Rectitude, and, in Confequence of this, degraded from its primitive Happinefs. Or, however this Opinion came into the World, these Appearances must have kept up the Tradition, and confirmed the Belief of it. And as it was the general Opinion under the Light of Nature, that Repentance and Reformation. alone and by itfelf, was not fufficient to do away Sin, and procure a full Remiffion of the Penalties annext to it; and as the Reafon of the thing does not at all lead to any fuch Conclufion: So every Day's Experience shews us, that Reformation is not, in any Sort, fufficient to prevent the prefent Difadvantages and Miferies, which, in the natural Course of things, God has annexed to Folly and Extravagance. Yet there may be Ground to think, that the Punishments, which, by the general Laws of divine Government, are annext to Vice, may be prevented; that Provision may have been, even originally, made, that they should be prevented by some Means or other, though they could not by Reformation alone. For we have daily

294

daily Instances of fuch Mercy, in the general Conduct of Na-PART ture: Compaffion for Mifery, 4 Medicines for Difeafes, Friends II. against Enemies. There is Provision made, in the original Con- \sim flitution of the World, that much of the natural bad Confequences of our Follies, which Perfons themfelves alone cannot prevent, may be prevented by the Affiftance of Others; Affiftance, which Nature enables, and disposes, and appoints them to afford. By a Method of Goodness analagous to this, when the World lay in Wickedness and confequently in Ruin, God to loved the world, that he gave his only begotten Son to fave it. And he being made perfect by suffering, became the author of eternal falvation to all them that obey him." Indeed neither Reafon nor Analogy would lead us to think, in particular, that the Interpolition of Chrift, in the Manner in which he did interpofe, would be of that Efficacy for Recovery of the World, which the Scripture teaches us it was: But neither would Reafon nor Analogy lead us to think, that other particular Means would be of the Efficacy, which Experience flews they are, in numberless Inftances. And therefore, as the Cafe before us does not admit of Experience, fo, that neither Reafon nor Analogy can fhew, how or in what particular Way, the Interpolition of Chrift as revealed in Scripture, is of that Efficacy, which it is there reprefented to be; this is no Kind nor Degree of Prefumption against its being really of That Efficacy. Farther; The general Analogy of Nature is an Answer to Objections against Christianity, from the Light of it not being univerfal, nor its Evidence fo ftrong as might poffibly have been. That God has made fuch Variety of Creatures, is indeed an Answer to the former: But that he dispenses his Gifts in such. Variety, both of Degrees and Kinds, amongft Creatures of the fame Species, and even to the fame Inviduals at different Times;

13

295

e Serm. at the Rolls, p. 106. Solution Joh. iii. 16. Heb. v. o.

PART is a more obvious and full Answer to it. And it is so far from being the Method of Providence in other Cafes, to afford us fuch Н. V overbearing Evidence, as fome require in Proof of Christianity, that on the contrary, the Evidence upon which we are naturally appointed to act in common Matters, throughout a very great Part of Life, is doubtful in a high Degree. And admitting the Fact, that God has afforded to fome, no more than doubtful Evidence of Religion; the fame Account may be given of it, as of Difficulties and Temptations with regard to Practice. But as it is not impoffible, f furely, that this alledged Doubtfulness may be Men's own Fault; it deserves their most ferious Consideration, whether it be not fo. However, it is certain, that Doubting implies a Degree of Evidence for That, of which we doubt; and that this Degree of Evidence, as really lays us under Obligations, as demonstrative Evidence.

296

The whole then of Religion is throughout credible: Nor is there, I think, any thing relating to the revealed Difpenfation of things, more different from the experienced Conftitution and Courfe of Nature, than fome Parts of the Conftitution of Nature are, from other Parts of it. And if fo, the only Queftion which remains, is, what pofitive Evidence can be alledged for the Truth of Chriftianity. This too in general has been confidered, and the Objections against it estimated. Deduct then, what is to be deducted from that Evidence, upon Account of any Weight which may be thought to remain in these Objections, after what the Analogy of Nature has fuggested in Answer to them: and then confider, what are the practical Confequences from all this, upon the most scentral Principles, one can argue; for I am writing to Perfons who entertain these Principles. And upon such Confideration, it will be obvious, that

f p. 229, &c.

Immorality,

Immorality, as little Excuse as it admits of in itself, is greatly PART aggravated, in Perfons who have been made acquainted with H. Chriftianity, whether they believe it, or not: Becaufe the moral U \sim System of Nature, or natural Religion, which Christianity lays before us, approves itfelf, almost intuitively, to a reasonable Mind upon feeing it propofed. In the next Place, with Regard to Chriftianity, it will be observed; That there is a Middle, between a full Satisfaction of the Truth of it, and a Satisfaction of the contrary. The middle State of Mind between these two, confifts in a ferious Apprehension, that it may be true, joined with Doubt, whether it be fo. And This, upon the beft Judgment I am able to make, is as far towards speculative Infidelity, as any Sceptick can at all be fuppofed to go, who has had true Christianity, with the proper Evidence of it, laid before him, and has in any tolerable Measure confidered them. For I would not be miftaken to comprehend all, who have ever heard of it. Becaufe, as it feems evident that in many Countries called Chriftian, neither Chriftianity, nor its Evidence are fairly laid before Men: So in Places where both are, there appear to be fome, who have very little attended to either, and who reject Christianity with a Scorn proportionate to their Inattention; and yet are by no means without Understanding in ether Matters. Now it appears, that a ferious Apprehension that Chriftianity may be true, lays Perfons under the flricteft Obligations of a ferious Regard to it, throughout the whole of their Life: a Regard not the fame exactly, but in many Respects nearly the fame, with what a full Conviction of its Truth would lay them under. Laftly, It will appear, that Blafphemy and Prophanenefs, I mean with regard to Christianity, are abfolutely without Excuse. For there is no Temptation to it. but from the Wantonnefs of Vanity or Mirth : And thefe, confidering the infinite Importance of the Subject, are no fuch Temptations Qq

PART Temptations as to afford any Excufe for it. If this be a juft II. Account of things, and yet Men can go on to vilify or difregard Chriftianity, which is to talk and act, as if they had a Demonftration of its Falfhood; there is no Reafon to think they would alter their Behaviour to any Purpofe, though there were a Demonftration of its Truth.

298

The End of the Second PART.

ADVER-

ADVERTISEMENT.

I N the first Copy of these Papers, I had inserted the two following Dissertations into the Chapters, Of a future Life, and, Of the moral Government of God, with which they are closely connected. But as they do not directly fall under the Title of the foregoing Treatise, and would have kept the Subject of it too long out of Sight; it seemed more proper to place them by themselves.

Qq2

DISSER-

and all shall a section 0

.

DISSERT. I.

Of personal Identity.

W HETHER we are to live in a future State, as it is DISSER. the most important Question which can possibly be asked, so it is the most intelligible one which can be expressed in Language. Yet strange Perplexities have been raised about the Meaning of That Identity or Sameness of Person, which is implied in the Notion of our living Now and Hereaster, or in any two successive Moments. And the Solution of these Difficulties hath been stranger, than the Difficulties themset or render the Inquiry concerning a future Life, of no Confequence at all to Us the Persons who are making it. And though few Men can be misled by such Subtleties; yet it may be proper a little to confider them.

Now when it is afked, wherein perfonal Identity confifts, the Anfwer fhould be the fame, as if it were afked, wherein confifts Similitude or Equality; that all Attempts to define, would but perplex it. Yet there is no Difficulty at all in afcertaining the Idea. For as upon two Triangles being compared or viewed together, there arifes to the Mind the Idea of Similitude, or upon twice two and four, the Idea of Equality; fo likewife upon the Confcioufneffes of ones felf or ones own Exiftence in any two Moments, being compared, there as immediately arifes to the Mind the Idea of perfonal Identity. And as the two former Comparifons, not only give us the Ideas of Similitude and Equality,

Of perfonal Identity.

DISSER. Equality, but also shews us, that two Triangles are alike, and I. twice two and four are equal; fo the latter Comparison, not only gives us the Idea of perfonal Identity, but also shews us the Identity of ourfelves in those two Moments: the prefent, fuppose, and That immediately past, or the prefent, and That, a Month, a Year, or twenty Years past. Or in other Words, by reflecting upon That, which is my Self now, and That, which was my Self twenty Years agoe, I difcern they are not two, but one and the fame Self.

202

But though Confcioufnefs does thus afcertain our perfonal Identity to Ourfelves, yet to fay, that Confcioufnefs makes perfonal Identity, or is neceffary to our being the fame Perfons, is to fay, that a Perfon has not exifted a fingle Moment, nor done one Action, but what he can remember; indeed none but what he reflects upon. And one fhould really think it Self-evidont, that Confcioufnefs of perfonal Identity prefuppofes, and therefore cannot conftitute, perfonal Identity, any more than Knowledge in any other Cafe, can conftitute Truth, which it prefuppofes.

This wonderful Miftake may poffibly have arifen from hence, that to be indued with Confcioufnefs, is infeparable from the Idea of a Perfon, or intelligent Being. For, this might be expreffed inaccurately thus, that Confcioufnefs makes Perfonality; And from hence it might be concluded to make perfonal Identity. But though prefent Confcioufnefs of what we at prefent do and feel, is neceffary to our being the Perfons we now are; Yet prefent Confcioufnefs of paft Actions or Feelings, is not neceffary to our being the fame Perfons, who performed thofe Actions or had thofe Feelings.

3

The

Of perfonal Identity.

The Inquiry, what makes Vegetables the Same in the com- DISSER. mon Acceptation of the Word, does not appear to have any L. Relation to This of perfonal Identity; becaufe the Word, fame, when applied to Them and to Perfon, is not only applied to different Subjects, but it is also used in different Senses. For when a Man fwears to the fame Tree, as having flood fifty Years in the fame Place, he means only the fame as to all the Purpofes of Property and Ufes of common Life, and not that the Tree has been all that Time the fame in the ftrict philofophick Senfe of the Word. For he does not know, whether any one Particle of the prefent Tree, be the fame with any one Particle of the Tree which flood in the fame Place fifty Years agoe. And if they have not one common Particle of Matter, they cannot be the fame Tree in the proper philosophick Sense of the Word fame; it being evidently a Contradiction in Terms, to fay they are, when no Part of their Substance, and no one of their Properties, are the fame: no Part of their Substance, by the Supposition; no one of their Properties, because it is allowed, that the fame Property cannot be transferred from one Substance to another. And therefore when we fay the Identity or Sameness of a Plant confists, in a Continuation of the same Life, communicated under the fame Organization, to a Number of Particles of Matter whether the fame or not; the Word fame when applied to Life and to Organization, cannot poffibly be underflood to fignify, what it fignifies in this very Sentence when applied to Matter. In a loofe and popular Senfe then, the Life and the Organization and the Plant, are justly faid to be the fame, notwithstanding the perpetual Change of the Parts. But in a ftrict and philosophical Manner of Speech, no Man, no Being, no Mode of Being, no Any-thing, can be the fame with That, with which it hath indeed Nothing the fame. Now Samenefs is used in this latter Senfe when applied to Perfons. The

303

Of personal Identity.

DISSER. The Identity of these, therefore, cannot subsist with Diver-I. fity of Substance.

-304

The thing here confidered, and, demonstratively as I think, determined, is proposed by Mr. Locke in these Words, Whether it, i. e. the fame Self or Perfon, be the fame identical Substance? And he has fuggested what is a much better Answer to the Queftion, than That which he gives it in Form. For he defines Perfon, a thinking intelligent Being, &c. and perfonal Identity, the Samenels of a rational Being.² The Question then is, whether the fame rational Being is the fame Subftance; which needs no Anfwer, becaufe Being and Subftance, in this Place, stand for the fame Idea. The Ground of the Doubt, whether the fame Perfon be the fame Substance, is faid to be This, that the Confciousness of our own Existence, in Youth and in Old-age, or in any two joint fucceffive Moments, is not the fame individual Action.b, i. e. not the fame Confcioulnels, but different fucceflive Concioulnelles. Now it is strange that this fhould have occasioned fuch Perplexities; for it is furely conceivable, that a Perfon may have a Capacity of knowing fome Object or other, to be the fame now which it was when he contemplated it formerly: Yet in this Cafe, where, by the Supposition, the Object is perceived to be the same, the Perception of it in any two Moments, cannot be one and the fame Perception. And thus, though the fucceffive Confcioufneffes which we have of our own Existence, are not the fame, yet are they Confciousnesses of one and the fame thing or object, of the fame Perfon, Self, or living Agent. The Perfon, of whole Exiftence the Confciousness is felt now, and was felt an Hour or a Year agoe, is difcerned to be, not two Perfons, but one and the fame .Perfon ; and therefore is one and the fame.

² Lecke's Works, Vol, I. p. 146. ^b Lecke. p. 146, 147.

Mr. Locke's

Of perfonal Identity.

Mr. Locke's Obfervations upon this Subject appear hafty; and DISSER. he feems to profefs himfelf diffatisfied with Suppositions, which I. he has made relating to it b. But fome of those hafty Observations have been carried to a strange Length by Others; whose Notion when traced and examined to the bottom, amounts, I think, to this : That Perfonality is not a permanent, but a transient thing: That it lives and dies, begins and ends continually: That no one can any more remain one and the fame Perfon two Moments together, than two fucceflive Moments can be one and the fame Moment : That our Substance is indeed continually changing, but whether this be fo or not, is, it feems, nothing to the Purpofe, fince it is not Substance, but Confciousness alone, which constitutes Personality; which Consciousnefs, being fucceffive, cannot be the fame in any two Moments, nor confequently the Perfonality conftituted by it. And from hence it must follow, that it is a Fallacy upon Ourfelves, to charge our prefent Selves with any thing we did, or to imagine our prefent Selves interested in any thing which befell us, yesterday; or that our prefent Self will be interested in what will befall us to morrow : fince our prefent Self is not, in Reality, the fame with the Self of Yesterday, but another like Self or Perfon coming in its Room, and miftaken for it; to which another Self will fucceed to morrow. This, I fay, must follow: for if the Self or Perfon of to day, and That of to morrow, are not the fame, but only like Petfons; the Perfon of to Day, is really no more interested in what will befall the Perfon of to morrow, than in what will befall any other Perfon. It may be thought perhaps, that this is not a just Representation of the Opinion we are fpeaking of : becaufe those who maintain it, allow, that a Perfon is the fame as far back as his Remembrance reaches.

And

^b Locke, p. 152. ^c See an Answer to Dr. Clarke's third Desence of his Letter to Mr. Dodwell, 2^d Edit. p. 44 & 56 &c.

Of personal Identity.

DISSER. And indeed they do use the Words, Identity and same Person. Nor will Language permit these Words to be dropped; fince if Ι. they were, there must be, I know not what ridiculous Peri-S phrafis, substituted in the Room of them. But they cannot, confiftently with themfelves, mean, that the Perfon is really the fame. For, it is an identical Proposition, that the Personality cannot be really the fame, if, as they expressly affert, That in which it confifts, is not the fame. And as, confiftently with themselves, they cannot, fo, I think it appears, they do not, mean, that the Perfon is really the fame, but only that he is fo in a fictitious Senfe; in fuch a Senfe only as they affert, for this they do affert, that any Number of Perfons whatever may be the fame Perfon. The bare unfolding this Notion, and laying it thus naked and open, seems the best Confutation of it. However, fince

206

great Strefs is faid to be put upon it, I add the following things.

First. It is absolutely contradictory to that certain Conviction, which neceffarily and every Moment rifes within us, when we turn our Thoughts upon ourfelves, when we reflect upon what is paft, and look forward upon what is to come. All Imagination of a daily Change of That living Agent each Man calls himfelf, for another, or of any fuch Change throughout our whole prefent Life, is intirely born down by our natural Sense of things. Nor is it possible for a Person in his wits, to alter his Conduct, with regard to his Health or Affairs, from a Sufpicion, that though he should live to morrow, he should not, however, be the fame Perfon he is to day. And yet, if it be reasonable to act, with respect to a future Life, upon this Notion that Perfonality is transient, it is reasonable to act upon it, with respect to the prefent. Here then is a Notion equally applicable to Religion and to our temporal Concerns; And every one fees and feels the inexpreflible Abfurdity of it in the latter Cafe : If therefore any can take up with it in the former, this

Of personal Identity.

this cannot proceed from the Reason of the thing, but must be DISSER. owing to an inward Unfairness, and secret Corruption of Heart. I.

307

Secondly. It is not an Idea, or abstract Notion, or Quality, but a Being only, which is capable of Life and Action, of Happinefs and Mifery. Now all Beings confeffedly continue the fame, during the whole Time of their Existence. Confider then a living Being now exifting, and which has exifted for any Time alive; this living Being must have done and fuffered and enjoyed, what it has done and fuffered and enjoyed formerly, this living Being, I fay, and not another, as really as it this Inftant does and fuffers and enjoys, what it does and fuffers and enjoys this Inftant. All these fucceffive Actions, Enjoyments, and Sufferings, are Actions, Enjoyments, and Sufferings, of the fame living Being. And they are fo, prior to all Confideration of its remembring or forgetting; fince remembring or forgetting can make no Alteration in the Truth of past Matter of Fact. And fuppofe this Being endued with limited Powers of Knowledge and Memory, there is no more Difficulty in conceiving it to have a Power, of knowing itself to be the fame living Being which it was fome time agoe, of remembring fome of its Actions, Sufferings, and Enjoyments, and forgetting others, than in conceiving it to know or remember or forget any thing elfe.

Thirdly. Every Perfon is confcious, that he is now the fame Perfon or Self he was, as far back as his Remembrance reaches; fince when any one reflects upon a paft Action of his own, he is juft as certain of the Perfon who did that Action, namely, Himfelf, the Perfon who now reflects upon it, as he is certain that the Action was at all done. Nay very often a Perfon's Affurance of an Action having been done, of which he is abfolutely affured, arifes wholly from the Confcioufnefs that he himfelf did it. And this He, Perfon, or Self, muft either be a R r 2 Subftance,

Of personal Identity.

DISSER. Subftance, or the Property of fome Subftance. If He, if Perfon, be a Subftance, then Confcioufnefs that He is the fame Perfon, is Confcioufnefs that He is the fame Subftance. If the Perfon or He be the Property of a Subftance, ftill Confcioufnefs that He is the fame (the fame Property) is as certain a Proof that his Subftance remains the fame, as Confcioufnefs that he remains the fame Subftance would be; fince the fame Property cannot be transferred from one Subftance to another.

208

But though we are thus certain, that we are the fame Agents, living Beings, or Substances, Now, which we were as far back as our Remembrance reaches, yet it is afked, Whether we may not poffibly be deceived in it? And this Queftion may be afked at the End of any Demonstration whatever. Because it is a Queftion concerning the Truth of Perception by Memory : And he who can doubt, whether Perception by Memory can in this Cafe be depended upon, may doubt alfo, whether Perception by Deduction and Reafoning, which also include Memory, or indeed whether intuitive Perception, can. Here then we can go no farther. For it is ridiculous to attempt to prove the Truth of those Perceptions, whose Truth we can no otherwise prove, than by other Perceptions of exactly the fame Kind with them, and which there is just the fame Ground to fuspect; or to attempt to prove the Truth of our Faculties, which can nootherwife be proved, than by the Ufe or Means of those very fuspected Faculties themselves.

.

DISSER.

DISSERT. II.

Of the Nature of Virtue.

HAT which renders Beings capable of moral Go-DISSER. vernment, is their baring and the Faculties of Perception and of Action. Brute Creatures are impressed and actuated by various Instincts and Propenfions; fo alfo are We. But additional to this, We have a Capacity of reflecting upon Actions and Characters, and making them an Object to our Thought: And on doing this, we naturally and unavoidably approve fome Actions, under the peculiar View of their being virtuous and of Good-defert, and condemn Others, as vitious and of Ill-defert. That we have this moral approving and difapproving a Faculty, is certain from our experiencing it in Ourfelves, and recognizing it in each other. It appears from our exercifing it unavoidably, in the Approbation and Difapprobation even of feigned Characters: From the Words, right and wrong, odious and amiable, bafe and worthy, with many others of like Signification in all Languages, applied to Actions and Characters: From the many written Systems of Morals which suppose it; fince it cannot be imagined, that all

^a This way of speaking is taken from *Epistetus**, and is made use of as seeming the most full, and least liable to Cavil. And the moral Faculty may be understood to have these two Epithets, dosupasion and anodosupasion, upon a double Account: Because, upon a Survey of Actions, whether before or after they are done, it determines them to be good or evil; and also because it determines itself to be the Guide of Action and of Life, in Contradistintion from all other Faculties, or natural Principles of Action. In the very fame Manner, as speculative Reason directly and naturally judges of super Truth and Falshood; and, at the fame Time, is attended with a Confeiouss upon *Reflection*, that the natural Right to judge of them belongs to it. * Arr. Epist. L. 1. c. 1.

thefe

200

310

DISSER. thefe Authors, throughout all thefe Treatifes, had abfolutely no H. Meaning at all to their Words, or 2 Meaning merely chimeri- \sim cal: From our natural Senfe of Gratitude, which implies a Diflinction between, merely being the Instrument of Good, and intending it: From the like Diftinction, every one makes, between Injury and mere Harm, which, Hobbs favs, is peculiar to Mankind; And between Injury and just Punishment, a Distinction plainly natural prior to the Confideration of human Laws. It is manifest great Part of common Language, and of common Behaviour over the World, is formed upon Supposition of fuch a Moral Faculty; whether called Confcience, moral Reafon, moral Senfe, or divine Reafon ; whether confidered as a Sentiment of the Understanding, or as a Perception of the Heart, or, which feems the Truth, as including both. Nor is it at all doubtful in the general, what Course of Action, this Faculty or practical difcerning Power within us, approves, and what it disapproves. For, as much as it has been difputed wherein Virtue confifts, or whatever Ground for Doubt there may be about Particulars, yet, in general, there is in reality an univerfally acknowledged Standard of it. It is That which all Ages and all Countries have made Profession of in Publick; it is That which every Man you meet; puts on the Shew of; it is That which the primary and fundamental Laws of all civil Conftitutions over the Face of the Earth, make it their Business and Endeavour to enforce the Practice of upon Mankind, namely, Juffice, Veracity, and Regard to common Good. It being manifest then, in general, that we have fuch a Faculty or Difcernment as this, it may be of Use to remark fome things, more diffinctly, concerning it.

> First, It ought to be observed, that the Object of this Faculty is Actions, ^b comprehending under that Name active or prac-

tical

b oude ή άρετη κ) κακία is πείσει, άλλα ενεργεία. Μ. Auton. L. 9. 16. Virtutis laus omnis in Actione confiftit. Cic. Off. l. 1. c. 6.

tical Principles; these Principles from which Men would act DISSER. a if Occafions and Circumftances gave them Power; and which, II. when fixed and habitual in any Perfon, we call, his Character. \sim It does not appear, that Brutes have the leaft reflex Senfe of Actions as diffinguished from Events, or that Will and Defign, which conflitute the very Nature of Actions as fuch, are at all an Object to their Perception. But to ours they are : And they are the Object, and the only one, of the approving and difapproving Faculty. Acting, Conduct, Behaviour, abstracted from all Regard to what is, in Fact and Event, the Confequence of it, is itfelf the natural Object of the moral Difcernment; as fpeculative Truth and Falshood is, of speculative Reason. Intention of fuch and fuch Confequences, indeed, is always included ; for it is Part of the Action itself : but though the intended good or bad Confequence does not follow, we have exactly the fame Senfe of the Action as if they did. In like Manner we think well or ill of Characters, abstracted from all Confideration of the good or the evil, which Perfons of fuch Characters, have it actually in their Power to do. We never in the moral Way, applaud or blame either ourfelves or others, for what we enjoy, or what we fuffer, or for having Impressions made upon us which we confider as altogether out of our Power; but only for what we do, or would have done had it been in our Power; Or for what we leave undone which we might have done, or would have left undone though we could have done it.

Secondly. Our Senfe or Difcernment of Actions as morally good or evil, implies in it a Senfe or Difcernment of them as of good or ill Defert. It may be difficult to explain this Perception, fo as to anfwer all the Queftions which may be afked concerning it: But every one fpeaks of fuch and fuch Actions as deferving

DISSER. deferving Punishment; and it is not, I suppose, pretended that II. they have abfolutely no Meaning at all to the Expression. Now \sim the Meaning plainly is not, that we conceive it for the Good of Society, that the Doer of fuch Actions should be made to fuffer. For if unhappily it were refolved, that a Man who, by fome innocent Action, was infected with the Plague, should be left to perifh, left, by other Peoples coming near him, the Infection should spread; no one would fay, he deferved this Treatment. Innocence and Ill-defert are inconfistent Ideas: But Ill-defert fuppofes Guilt; and if one be not Part of the other, yet they are evidently and naturally connected in our Mind. The Sight of a Man in Mifery, raifes our Compafiion towards him; and, if this Mifery be inflicted on him by another, our Indignation against the Author of it. But when we are informed, that the Sufferer is a Villain, and is punished only for his Treachery or Cruelty; our Compaffion exceedingly leffens, and, in many Instances, our Indignation wholly subsides. Now what produces this Effect, is the Conception of That in the Sufferer, which we call Ill-defert. Upon confidering then, or viewing together, our Notion of Vice and That of Mifery, there refults a third, That of Ill-defert. And thus there is in human Creatures an Affociation of the two Ideas, natural and moral Evil, Wickednefs and Punishment. If this Affociation were merely artificial or accidental, it were nothing: but being most unquestionably natural, it greatly concerns us to attend to it, inftead of endeavouring to explain it away.

> It may be obferved farther concerning our Perception of good and of ill Defert, that the former is very weak with refpect to common Inftances of Virtue. One Reafon of which may be, that it does not appear to a Spectator, how far fuch Inftances of Virtue proceed from a virtuous Principle, or in what Degree this

this Principle is prevalent; fince a very weak Regard to Virtue, DISSERmay be fufficient to make Men aft well in many common Inftances. And on the other hand, our Perception of Ill-defert in vitious Aftions, leffens in Proportion to the Temptations Men are thought to have had to fuch Vices. For, Vice in human Creatures confifting chiefly in the Abfence or Want of the virtuous Principle; though a Man be overcome, fuppofe, by Tortures, it does not from thence appear, to what Degree the virtuous Principle was wanting. All that appears is, that he had it not in fuch a Degree, as to prevail over the Temptation : But poflibly he had it in a Degree, which would have rendred him Proof againft common Temptations.

Thirdly. Our Perception of Vice and Ill-defert arifes from, and is the Refult of, a Comparison of Actions with the Nature and Capacities of the Agent. For, the mere Neglect of doing what we ought to do, would, in many Cafes, be determined by all Men to be in the highest Degree vitious : And this Determination must arife from fuch Comparison, and be the Refult of it; because fuch Neglect would not be vitious in Creatures of other Natures and Capacities, as Brutes. And it is the fame also with respect to positive Vices, or such as confist in doing what we ought not. For, every one has a different Senfe of Harm done by an Ideot, Madman or Child, and by one of mature and common Understanding; though the Action of both, including the Intention which is Part of the Action, be the fame : as it may be, fince Ideots and Madmen, as well as Children, are capable not only of doing Mischief, but also of intending it. Now this Difference must arise from somewhat discerned in the Nature or Capacities of one, which renders the Action vitious; and the Want of which in the other, renders the fame Action innocent or lefs vitious : And this plainly fup-Sſ pofes

314

П.

V

DISSER. pofes a Comparison, whether reflected upon or not, between the Action and Capacities of the Agent, previous to our determining an Action to be vitious. And hence arifes a proper Application of the Epithets, incongruous, unfuitable, disproportionate, unfit, to Actions which our moral Faculty determines to be vitious.

> Fourthly. It deferves to be confidered, whether Men are more at Liberty in Point of Morals, to make themfelves miferable without Reafon, than to make other People fo; or diffolutely to neglect their own greater Good, for the fake of a prefent leffer Gratification, than they are to neglect the Good of others. whom Nature has committed to their Care. It should feem, that a due Concern about our own Interest or Happiness, and a reafonable Endeavour to fecure and promote it, which is, I think, very much the Meaning of the Word, Prudence, in our Language; it fhould feem, that this is Virtue, and the contrary Behaviour faulty and blameable: Since in the calmeft way of Reflection, we approve of the first, and condemn the other Conduct, both in Ourfelves and Others. This Approbation and Difapprobation are altogether different from mere Defire of our own or of their Happiness, and Sorrow upon missing it. For the Object or Occasion of this last Kind of Perception, is Satisfaction, Uneafinefs, or Lofs; whereas the Object of the first is active Behaviour : In one Cafe, what our Thoughts fix upon. is our Condition; in the other, our Conduct. It is true indeed. that Nature has not given in fo fenfible a Difapprobation of Imprudence and Folly, either in Ourselves or Others, as of Falshood Injustice and Cruelty : I suppose, because That constant habitual Senfe of private Interest and Good, which we always carry about with us, renders fuch fenfible Difapprobation, lefs neceffary, lefs wanting, to keep us from imprudently neglecting our own

own Happinefs, and foolifhly injuring Ourfelves, than it is ne-DISSER. ceffary and wanting to keep us from injuring Others, to whofe II. NU Good we cannot have fo ftrong and conftant a Regard : And U alfo becaufe Imprudence and Folly, appearing to bring its own Punishment more immediately and constantly than injurious Behaviour, it lefs needs the additional Punifhment, which would be inflicted upon it by Others, had they the fame fenfible Indignation against it, as against Injustice and Fraud and Cruelty. Besides, Unhappiness being in itself the natural Object of Compaffion; the Unhappiness which People bring upon Themselves, though it be wilfully, excites in us fome Pity for them : and this of course lesiens our Displeasure against them. But still it is matter of Experience, that we are formed fo, as to reflect very feverely upon the greater Inftances of imprudent Neglects and foolifh Rafhnefs, both in Ourfelves and Others. In Instances of this kind, Men often fay of Themfelves with Remorfe, and of Others with fome Indignation, that they deferved to fuffer fuch Calamities, becaufe they brought them upon themfelves, and would not take Warning. Particularly when Perfons come to Poverty and Diftrefs by a long courfe of Extravagance, and after frequent Admonitions, though without Falshood or Injustice, we plainly do not regard fuch People as alike Objects of Compafiion to those, who are brought into the fame Condition by unavoidable Accidents. From these things it appears, that Prudence is a Species of Virtue, and Folly of Vice: meaning by Folly, fomewhat quite different from mere Incapacity; a thoughtless Want of that Regard and Attention to our own Happinefs, which we had Capacity for. And this, the Word properly includes, and, as it feems, in its ufual Acceptation; for we fcarce apply it to brute Creatures.

Sf2

However

315

DISSER. П. \sim

316

However if any Perfon be difpofed to difpute the Matter, I shall very willingly give him up the Words Virtue and Vice, as not applicable to Prudence and Folly: but muft beg leave to inf.ft, that the Faculty within us which is the Judge of Actions, approves of prudent Actions, and difapproves imprudent ones; I fay prudent and imprudent Actions as fuch, and confidered diffinctly from the Happiness or Misery which they occasion. And by the way, this Obfervation may help to determine, what Juftnefs there is in that Objection against Religion, that it teaches us to be interefted and felfifh.

Fifthly. Without inquiring how far and in what Senfe, Virtue is refolvable into Benevolence, and Vice into the Want of it; it may be proper to obferve, that Benevolence and the Want of it fingly confidered, are in no fort the Whole of Virtue and Vice. For if this were the Cafe, in the Review of ones own Character or That of Others, our moral Understanding and moral Senfe would be indifferent to every thing, but the Degrees in which Benevolence prevailed, and the Degrees in which it was wanting. That is, we should neither approve of Benevolence to Some Perfons rather than to Others, nor difapprove Injuffice and Falshood upon any other Account, than merely as an Overballance of Happiness was foreseen likely to be produced by the first, and of Mifery by the fecond. But now on the contrary, suppose two Men Competitors for any thing whatever, which would be of equal Advantage to each of them : Though nothing indeed would be more impertinent, than for a Stranger to bufy himfelf to get One of them preferred to the Other; yet fuch Endeavour would be Virtue, in Behalf of a Friend or Benefactor, abstracted from all Confideration of distant Confequences: as that Examples of Gratitude, and the Cultivation of Friendship. would

would be of general Good to the World. Again, suppose one DISSER. Man should, by Fraud or Violence, take from another the Fruit II. of his Labour, with Intent to give it to a third, who, he thought, would have as much Pleafure from it, as would ballance the Pleafure which the first Possesfor would have had in the Enjoyment, and his Vexation in the Lofs of it; fuppofe alfo that no bad Confequences would follow : yet fuch an Action would furely be vitious. Nay farther, were Treachery, Violence and Injuffice, no otherwife vitious than as forefeen likely to produce an Overballance of Mifery to Society; then, if in any Cafe a Man could procure to Himfelf as great Advantage by an Act of Injustice, as the whole foreseen Inconvenience likely to be brought upon Others by it, would amount to; fuch a Piece of Injuffice would not be faulty or vitious at all: Becaufe it would be no more than, in any other Cafe, for a Man to prefer his own Satisfaction to Another's in equal Degrees. The Fact then appears to be, that we are conflituted fo, as to condemn Falshood, unprovoked Violence, Injustice, and to approve of Benevolence to Some preferably to Others, abstracted from all Confideration, which Conduct is likelieft to produce an Overballance of Happiness or Misery. And therefore, were the Author of Nature to propofe nothing as an End but the Production of Happineis, were His moral Character merely That of Benevolence; yet Ours is not fo. Upon that Supposition indeed, the only Reafon of his giving us the abovementioned Approbation of Benevolence to Some Perfons rather than Others, and Difapprobation of Falfhood, unprovoked Violence, and Injuffice, must be, that He forefaw, this Constitution of our Nature would produce more Happiness, than forming us with a Temper of mere general Benevolence : But ftill, fince this is our Conftitution, Falshood, Violence, Injustice, must be Vice in us, and Benevolence to Some preferably to Others,

DISSER. thers, Virtue; abstracted from all Confideration of the Over-II. ballance of Evil or Good, which they may appear likely to produce.

218

Now if human Creatures are endued with fuch a moral Nature as we have been explaining, or with a moral Faculty, the natural Object of which is Actions; moral Government muft confift, in rendring them happy and unhappy, in rewarding and punifhing them, as they follow, neglect, or depart from, the moral Rule of Action interwoven in their Nature, or fuggefted and enforced by this moral Faculty:^a in rewarding and punifhing them upon Account of their fo doing.

I am not fenfible that I have, in the fifth Obfervation, contradicted what any Author defigned to affert. But fome of great and diftinguished Merit, have I think expressed themselves in a Manner, which may occasion fome Danger, to careless Readers, of imagining, the whole of Virtue to confift in fingly aiming, according to the beft of their Judgment, at promoting the Happinels of Mankind in the prefent State; and the whole of Vice. in doing what they forefee, or might forefee, is likely to produce an Overballance of Unhappiness in it: than which Mistakes, none can be conceived more terrible. For it is certain, that fome of the most shocking Instances of Injustice, Adultery, Murder, Perjury, and even of Perfecution, may, in many fuppofeable Cafes, not have the Appearance of being likely to produce an Overballance of Mifery in the prefent State; perhaps fometimes may have the contrary Appearance. For this Reflection might eafily be carried on, but I forbear-The Happiness of the World is the Concern of Him, who is the Lord and the Proprietor of it: Nor do we know what we are about, when we endeavour to

^a p. 117.

promote

219

promote the Good of Mankind in any Ways but those which He DISSER. has directed; that is indeed in all Ways not contrary to Vera-П. Y city and Justice. I speak thus upon Supposition of Persons really endeavouring, in fome Sort, to do good without Regard to thefe. But the Truth feems to be, that fuch fuppofed Endeayours, proceed, almost always, from Ambition, the Spirit of Party, or fome indirect Principle, concealed perhaps in great Meafure from Perfons themfelves. And though it is our Bufinefs and our Duty to endeavour, within the Bounds of Veracity and Justice, to contribute to the Ease, Convenience, and even Chearfulnefs and Diversion of our Fellow-creatures; yet from our fhort Views, it is greatly uncertain, whether this Endeavour will, in particular Inftances, produce an Overballance of Happinefs upon the whole: fince fo many and diftant things muft come into the Account. And That which makes it our Duty, is, that there is fome Appearance that it will, and no politive Appearance fufficient to ballance this, on the contrary Side; and alfo that fuch benevolent Endeavour is a Cultivation of that most excellent of all virtuous Principles, the active Principle of Benevolence.

However, though Veracity, as well as Juffice, is to be our Rule of Life, it must be added, otherwife a Snare will be laid in the way of fome-plain Men, that the Use of common Forms of Speech generally understood, cannot be Falshood, and, in general, that there can be no defigned Falshood without defigning to deceive. It must likewise be observed, that in numberless Cases, a Man may be under the strictest Obligations to what he forefees will deceive, without his intending it. For it is impossible not to forefee, that the Words and Actions of Men in different Ranks and Employments, and of different Educations,

1

DISSER. Educations, will perpetually be miftaken by each other: And it II. cannot but be fo, whilft they will judge with the utmoft Carelefinefs, as they daily do, of what they are not, perhaps, enough informed to be competent Judges of, even though they confidered it with great Attention.

320

FINIS.